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THE SENATE COMMITTEE ON LEGAL AND CONSTITUTIONAL AFFAIRS
The Honourable A. W. Roebuck, Chairman

The Honourable Senators

Argue Giguere *Martin
Aseltine Gouin McEIman
Belisle Grosart Méthot
Choquette Haig Phillips (Rigaud)
Connolly (Ottawa Hayden Prowse
West) Hollett Roebuck

Cook Lamontagne Thompson
Croll Lang Urquhart
Eudes Langlois Walker
Everett MacDonald (Cape White
Fergusson Breton) Willis
*Flynn

(Quorum 7)
*Ex officio member



ORDER OF REFERENCE

Extract from the Minutes of the Proceedings of the Senate, Wednesday,
January 22nd, 1969:

“The Order of the Day being read,

With leave of the Senate,

The Honourable Senator Leonard resumed the debate on the motion
of the Honourable Senator Roebuck, seconded by the Honourable Sena-
tor Croll, for the second reading of the Bill S-21, intituled: “An Act to
amend the Criminal Code”.

After debate, and—
The question being put on the motion, it was—
Resolved in the affirmative.

The Bill was then read the second time.

The Honourable Senator Leonard moved, seconded by the Honour-
able Senator Fergusson, that the Bill be referred to the Standing Senate
Committee on Legal and Constitutional Affairs.

The question being put on the motion, it was—
Resolved in the affirmative.”
ROBERT FORTIER,

Clerk of the Senate.

29789—13
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MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS

THURSDAY, February 13th, 1969.

Pursuant to notice, the Senate Committee on Legal and Constitutional
Affairs met this day at 10:00 a.m.

Present: The Honourable Senators Roebuck (Chairman), Aseltine, Cho-
quette, Cook, Croll, Eudes, Flynn, Hollett, Lang, Langlois, MacDonald, (Cape
Breton), Prowse, Walker and Willis—(14).

In attendance: E. Russell Hopkins, Law Clerk and Parliamentary Counsel;
John A. Hinds, Assistant Chief, Committees’ Branch.

Following discussion, it was agreed that the Honourable Senator Phillips
(Rigaud) be appointed deputy chairman; the Honourable Senator Urquhart be
appointed committee whip.

After discussion, it was agreed that the following senators comprise a
Steering Committee: Roebuck (chairman), Choquette, Haig, Phillips, Prowse
and Urquhart.

Upon motion it was Resolved to print 800 copies in English and 300 copies
in French of the proceedings of the Committee on Bill S-21.

Bill S-21, “An Act to amend the Criminal Code”, was read and considered
and the following witness was heard:

Mr. J. A. Scollin, Director, Criminal Law Section, Department of Justice.
At 12:30 p.m. the Committee adjourned to the call of the Chairman.

ATTEST:
L. J. M. Boudreault,
Clerk of the Committee.
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THE SENATE
COMMITTEE ON LEGAL AND CONSTITUTIONAL AFFAIRS
EVIDENCE

Ottawa, Thursday, February 13, 1969.

The Senate Committee on Legal and Con-
stitutional Affairs, to which was referred Bill
S-21, to amend the Criminal Code, met this
day at 10.00 a.m. to give consideration to the
bill.

Senator Arthur W. Roebuck (Chairman) in
the Chair.

The committee agreed that a verbatim
report be made of the committee’s pro-
ceedings on the bill.

The committee agreed to report recom-
mending authority be granted for the
printing of 800 copies in English and 300
copies in French of the committee’s pro-
ceedings on the bill.

The Chairman: Honourable senators, my
first comment is to welcome you to this com-
mittee. It is going to be an important one,
and there is going to be a good deal of labour
connected with it, not a little study, and
much to learn—and perhaps the one who will
have the most to learn is your chairman.
However, I am sure it is going to be an
interesting committee.

I would like to say something about the
constitution of the committee. I read from the
Minutes of Proceedings of the Senate of
November 19, 1968, being the Third Report of
the Special Committee of the Senate on the
Rules of the Senate, as follows:

Your committee recommends that the
Standing Rules and Orders of the Senate
of Canada be amended as follows:

1. Standing Rules 78 to 82, both inclu-
sive, are repealed and the following sub-
stituted therefor:

“78 (1) The Standing -Coramittees shall
be as follows:. ..

And then:

“9. The Senate Committee on Legal and
Constitutional Affairs, composed of thirty
members, seven of whom shall constitute

1

a quorum, to which shall be referred on
motion all bills, messages, petitions,
inquiries, papers, and other matters
relating to legal and constitutional mat-
ters generally, including:

“(i) Federal-Provincial relations.

(i) Administration of Justice, Law
Reform, and all matters related thereto.

(iii) The Judiciary.

(iv) All essentially juridical matters.

(v) Private bills not otherwise specifi-
cally assigned to another committee,
including marriage and divorce.””

That is our constitution, really, but there
are these items as well that are of interest to
us:

“78A. The senators occupying the recog-
nized positions of Leader of the Govern-
ment and Leader of the Opposition in the
Senate shall be ex officio members of all
Standing Committees of the Senate. ..

80. Senators, though not members of a
Committee, may attend and participate in
its deliberations but shall not vote.

81. Members of the public may attend
any meeting of a Committee of the
Senate, unless the Committee otherwise
orders.”

I would like to put on record the names of
the members of this committee as it is now
constituted. They are: Senators Argue, Asel-
tine, Bélisle, Choquette, Connolly (Ottawa
West), Cook, Croll, Eudes, Everett, Fergusson,
Flynn, Giguere, Gouin, Grosart, Haig,
Hayden, Hollett, Lamontagne; Lang, Langlois,
Macdonald, Martin, McElman, Méthot, Phil-
lips (Rigaud), Prowse, myself, Roebuck,
Thompson, Urquhart, Walker, White and
Willis.

I should report, I think, that there was a
general meeting of the Committee of Selec-
tion—perhaps you were all present at it—at



2 Senate Committee

which I had the honour of being elected
chairman of this committee. That is why I am
in this seat this morning.

Yesterday we had a meeting of the various
chairman of all committees to arrange the
times of our meetings. I asked to have this
committee meet on Thursday, but was not
successful in that. The Whip, Senator
McDonald, had filled up Thursday. I did not
want to meet on Wednesday because many of
us attend caucus, and I did not want our
meeting broken up. It was suggested that we
might meet at 9 or 9.30 and sit until 11, and
then adjourn to meet again at 2 o’clock, but I
did not like that idea a little bit. So, the next
best, and perhaps it is a good best, is Tues-
day afternoon.

Senator Croll’s Committee on Poverty will
meet on Tuesday morning, and Senator Aird’s
Committee on Foreign Affairs will also meet
on Tuesday morning, so that if we meet at 2
o’clock on Tuesdays I would fancy that we
could get a quorum all right. We have such a
welter of committees and they are so active
that senators must not think they can take it
as easily as they have in the past. We are
going to have more meetings on Tuesday than
we have ever had before. We shall try to not
have the Senate meet on Tuesday afternoon,
but rather on Tuesday evening, which will
leave the afternoon to us.

I hope that that is satisfactory to all mem-
bers of the committee present. It was the best
I could do. I certainly do not want to have a
broken committee meeting on Wednesday.

I should say something about personnel. We
are very pleased to have with us Mr. E. Rus-
sell Hopkins, the Law Clerk and Parliamen-
tary Counsel of the Senate. He may not
always be able to be with us, but I know he
will be here when he can. Senators no doubt
will be pleased to know that while we have
Mr. John Hinds with us this morning we have
also Mr. Marcel Boudreault, who is very
experienced in the work that we will have for
him to do. He should be with us right through
to the end of the session.

I should like to say something about Mr.
Boudreault’s experience. He was a court
reporter in the army during the 1940’s. He
was a reporter—bilingual by the way—for the
former Board of Transport Commissioners for
a number of years, and for the last three
years he has been a very valuable member of

our divorce staff. He has been with the com-
missioner and has carried quite a load there,
but that load is diminishing very rapidly, so
it is my hope that we shall have him here at
all times serving this committee.

We have with us this morning Mr. J. A.
Scollin, Director of the Criminal Law Section,
Department of Justice. I will have more to
say about this later on.

There are some things we should take care
of. We have to decide whether we should
have a steering committee, and I should like
to say something about that. The Whip
informed me that it was one of the obliga-
tions, shall I say, or functions of the chair-
man to select if he wished to do so a deputy
chairman or vice-chairman. I certainly desire
that. I cannot remember when I last lost a
day from work until three weeks ago when I
was hit by a cold which kept me confined to
my own chamber for two solid weeks. I
thought it was a good idea to have a deputy
chairman. I would like very much to recog-
nize Senator Lazarus Phillips, so I asked him
if he would act in the capacity of deputy
chairman. I think it delighted him that I had
done so. He is a very distinguished solicitor
and counsel of Montreal, and a very fine gen-
tleman, whom I have know for many years.

At the meeting to which I referred a
moment ago a whip was elected—not by us,
but by them, and that is perfectly satisfactory
so far as I am concerned—for each of the
other committees. For this committee Senator
Urquhart was elected to the not particularly
attractive job of whip. He accepted it, and I
hope that that is satisfactory to all of us. It
will be his job to take care of the attendance
and, of course, some other things besides.
That makes three liberal members of the
committee and I did not think they would
constitute a proper steering committee, so I
took the liberty of asking Senator Haig if he,
as a Conservative, would be a member of the
steering committee, and he was very pleased
to do so.

That makes a steering committee of four
members. I do not think it is important that
we have an odd number on that kind of a
committee, but if the committee feels that
there should be five members then, of course,
the meeting is open to a nomination. If that is
satisfactory, would you approve a steering
committee composed of the four senators I
have mentioned, namely, myself, and Senators

‘Phillips (Rigaud), Urquhart, and Haig.
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Hon. Senators: Agreed.

The Chairman: Very well. I should like to
refer to the steering committee the question
of whether we need legal counsel, and the
matter of necessary staff.

Senator Croll: But, we have a legal counsel.

The Chairman: But he is not going to be
here all the time.

Senator Croll: He will be here often
enough. We cannot improve on him.

The Chairman: Do I get the suggestion
from the floor that we do not need a legal
counsel?

Senator Flynn: That is right, we do not
need one.

The Chairman: I am glad to have that
guidance. As a matter of fact, I agree wth it.
Then we have an order passed by the house
referring a special bill, Bill S-21, in connec-
tion with hate propaganda and other matters
to this committee. I will come to that a little
later on.

I want to say something about the history
of the present bill that is before us and to
give the references to where what I am going
to say can be found, because this is the open-
ing sitting and I should like to have some of
these routine matters covered in the record.

Bill S-49 has been referred to us.

Senator Aseltine: Was there a motion to
refer this bill to this new committee?

The Chairman: Yes, to this committee.
Senator Aseltine: When was that?

The Chairman: I can tell you that in a few
minutes. I will come to it if you will let me.

Its first predecessor was Bill S-49, an act to
amend the Criminal Code (Hate Propaganda).
It was presented and read a first time by
Senator John J. Connolly. That will be found
in Hansard of November 7, 1966, at page 1077.
I sponsored the bill on November 9, 1966
(Hansard, page 1109). It was followed by 18
speeches by senators. It was the most thor-
oughly discussed measure, I think, that has
come before us for quite a while.

The Parliament prorogued on May 8, 1967
(Hansard, page 1925), and it opened on the
same day, the second session of the 27th Par-
liament. Then, since the former measure died

on the Order Paper, Bill S-5 was introduced
by Senator Deschatelets on May 9, 1967 (Han-
sard, page 14).

On June 29, 1967 (Hansard, page 248) Sena-
tor John J. Connolly moved:

That a Special Joint Committee of the
Senate and House of Commons be
appointed to study and report upon
amendments to the Criminal Code relat-
ing to the dissemination of varieties of
“hate propaganda” in Canada as set out
in Bill S-5, intituled: “An Act amend the
Criminal Code”.

On July 7, 1967, Parliament adjourned and
resumed on October 31, 1967. On November 2,
1967, Senator John J. Connolly moved:

That the order of the Senate of 29th
June, 1967, for the appointment of a Spe-
cial Joint Committee of the Senate and
House of Commons to study and report
upon amendments to the Criminal Code
relating to the dissemination of varieties
of “hate propaganda” in Canada as set
out in Bill S-5 intituled: “An Act to
amend the Criminal Code”, be rescinded.

That will be found in the Journals of the
Senate 1967-68, at page 280. That joint com-
mittee had held only one meeting, at which
Senator Bourque was elected the Senate
chairman. I do not think it met again. I am
sure I never received any notice of another
meeting, and it was rescinded, as I have just
noted.

Also on November 2 of that year (Hansard,
page 358) the Honourable John J. Connolly
moved:

That the Special Committee of the
Senate be appointed to study and report
upon amendments to the Criminal Code
relating to the dissemination of varieties
of “hate propaganda” in Canada as set
forth in Bill S-5.

Senator Prowse became the chairman of
that committee and there were three meet-
ings. On November 21, 1967 (Hansard, page
450) that bill, S-5 was referred to that joint
committee of both houses. The committee met
on February 14, 1968, with a witness, Mr. J.
A. Scollin, Director of the Criminal Law Sec-
tion of the Department of Justice. He is here
again today to give us a further drilling on
this bill. That committee met on February
14. It met again on February 29, at which
meeting we had quite a number of distin-
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guished witnesses, largely from the Canadian
Jewish Congress. I will not enumerate them
because they are too many to do so. The third
meeting was on March 7, 1968.

Then we had dissolution, so that bill died
on the Order Paper, as did that committee.
On our resumption of the new Parliament,
the current Parliament, the bill was intro-
duced again in almost the same form and is
now before us.

That, honourable senators, is the history of
the situation up to date. We have had it
before us for a long time, and I think the
question which will arise out of that state-
ment is whether we adopt the evidence that
was given before or whether we hear it again.
Mr. Scollin is here, and I would suggest that
we certainly hear what he has to say. Then
we can take up again, if you like, considera-
tion of what we do next, or perhaps we could
refer the whole matter to the steering
committee.

Senator Choqueite: Did you have letters
from rabbis who said they were not favour-
able to this bill, that they wanted to be heard
and wished to know exactly when they could
be heard? Was there not a letter from a
Rabbi Dworkin?

The Chairman: Yes, Harry Dworkin.

Senator Choquette: Did these people change
their minds, or do they still want to come and
say what they think about this bill?

The Chairman: The last time I saw Harry
Dworkin he had not changed his mind, but
he has changed his position to some extent
because he is now Vice Dean of the Law
School at Osgoode Hall.

Senator Choquetie: Then he does not in-
tend to give evidence?

The Chairman: He wants to give evidence
as far as I know.

Senator Choquette: That is what I would
like to hear.

The Chairman: So would I.

Senator Choquette: So far we have heard
from people who wanted this bill passed, but
I am anxious to hear from people who do not
want this bill passed. We have received a lot
of letters from people who implored us, who
begged us, not to pass such legislation; we
have letters on the files.

The Chairman: Yes.

Senator Choquette: I should like to hear
some of these people.

The Chairman: In that case, had we not
better go right ahead as though nothing had
preceded us?

Senator Choquette: If we are going to hear
the people who came to us, there were two

groups. One was bona fide 100 per cent
Jewish whose presentation was well
documented.

Any people who would like to be heard
are welcome, people such as Maxwell Cohen,
the Dean of the Law Faculty of McGill Uni-
versity. He was asked the last time he was
here to prepare a brief which he would
present the next time he appeared, a brief
showing that there was little if anything in
the Criminal Code to cope with this situation.
He said he would do that.

Senator Prowse: Mr. Chairman, perhaps it
should be pointed out that leading up to the
bill the federal Government had set up a
Special Committee on Hate Propaganda in
Canada, under the chairmanship of Dean
Cohen. Professor Mark R. MacGuigan, then
Associate Professor of Law, University of
Toronto, was a member of that committee.
That special committee produced a very fine
report. Dean Cohen subsequently appeared
before our committee and gave evidence,
which is in our records. Our committee
planned to recall people like Mr. Scollin and
Dean Cohen. There was also the testimony of
a psychiatrist whose contribution was
important.

We received a great deal of correspond-
ence, not just from rabbis but from wvarious
religious groups. Some of them merely
indicated a concern that this bill would pre-
vent them from preaching the word of God as
it appears in the Bible. There were many such
letters.

Senator Choquette: There were many peo-
ple who wanted to be heard. The files are full
of names.

The Chairman: Have you those files?

Senator Prowse: They were in the hands of
the Clerk of the Committee, Mr. Jackson, and
I presume that Mr. Hinds has them now.
Some wanted to make representations in
favour of the bill, while others wanted to
oppose it. :
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There is another group in Montreal which,
as far as I have been able to ascertain, is a
bona fide labour group made up largely of
new immigrants to this country from central
Europe. They are very concerned, and I gath-
er they are in favour of this type of legisla-
tion. There is a great deal of interest on both
sides.

Senator Choquetie: Yes. A lot of people feel
we are going to be placed in a strait jacket
and they do not want that. They say, “Let’s
keep the only thing we have left, which is
liberty of speech.” They are right; I feel that
way too.

Senator Prowse: Mr. Chairman, there are a
great number of letters on file which I think
the steering commitee should examine,
because we had indicated to these people we
would give them an opportunity to be heard
but because of prorogation of Parliament and
the ensuing election it became impossible for
us to accommodate them. Our correspondence
with them indicating that they would be
given a change to be heard probably is not
binding on the present committee, but I think
we do have a moral obligation here.

Senator Choquette: Mr. Chairman, what is
your plan? As I understand it we can take
the attitude that we are not going to re-hear
representations that have already been made.

The Chairman: Well, with regard to having
heard them and not hearing them again, only
one-third of this present committee sat on the
previous committee. Two-thirds of this com-
mittee did not hear any of these witnesses. I
am in the hands of the committee in this
regard. I would suggest that we hear Mr.
Scollin by all means, because he is an official
of the department and is here to open the
discussion. I think we might hear a witness
from the Canadian Jewish Congress.

Senator Lang: Mr. Chairman, I know I can
say this, that the Minister of Justice gave an
assurance to the Canadian Jewish Congress
that they would not have to appear again in
connection with this bill. I think assurance
was probably made without-deep considera-
tion as to the constitution of our committee,
but I thought the steering committee itself
should know that fact, as it may affect the
way you address yourself by correspondence
to the Canadian Jewish Congress, and ask
them if they wish to appear again.

The Chairman: It would be in that form, of
course. v !

Senator Lang: Secondly, I would like to say
that the United Church of Canada wishes to
make representations in connection with this
bill. T do not know whether their intention to
do so is in the correspondence or amongst the
records of Senator Prowse’s committee. I
would want the steering committee and you,
Mr. Chairman, to invite them, in any event,
to make representations if their intention is
the same now as it was before.

The Chairman: I agree. We would have to
go further if we invited the United Church.
We would have to give the same opportunity
to the Catholics, the Anglicans and others.

Senator Prowse: This might not apply to
the people you want to call, but I believe
every group that wants to make representa-
tions should be required to submit briefs, in a
suitable number of copies, in advance. Had
we taken that precaution originally we would
have avoided one embarrassing situation that
occurred where we wasted the time of the
committee for an entire day.

The Chairman: We did that in the Divorce
hearings; they all had to present briefs.

Senator Prowse: The groups which were in
touch with me practically unanimously were
quite happy at the suggestion that they would
be permitted to submit their briefs in
advance.

The Chairman: Very well.
Senator Prowse: That is, the bona fide ones.

Senator Croll: Mr. Chairman, should not
everyone be heard who wants to be heard?

The Chairman: Yes, with such exceptions
as this. We had a woman who wanted to
come before us to tell us what a heel of a
husband she had. She insisted on coming, and
she was going to take the hide off that lawyer
of his.

Senator Croll: She must have thought you
were sitting on Divorce.

The Chairman: There have been several
like that.

Senator Croll: If anyone wants to be heard,
let us add them to the list that we already
have.

The Chairman: That is a pretty good gener-
al proposition.
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Senator Prowse: Mr. Chairman, may I say
this to that general proposition: one group
came in with voluminous documents to prove
something, I presume, but they had absolute-
ly nothing to do with the bill, and in our
questioning we could not tie them down. All
they were doing was using this committee as
a forum for their own particular kind of hate.

With that reservation, I would say that
Senator Croll is completely correct, but by
asking them to submit their briefs in advance
we can find out what they want to say and
whether it is going to contribute to our
understanding of this bill, or whether we are
merely being victimized or used by somebody
for some particular purpose.

The Chairman: Senator Prowse, I was
there, and I heard that same waste of time on
our part, and I can assure you that as far as I
am concerned they will not come before us
again. They were a fraud to start with, in
calling themselves the Conservative Party.

Senator Prowse: There may be others like
that, but if we have briefs in advance, your
steering committee can decide whether it is
relevant and whether or not you want to per-
mit them to come.

Senator Choquette: The

Party” sounded so good!

“Conservative

Senator Croll: Mr. Chairman, in view of
the experience that Senator Prowse has had,
which is most valuable, why not add him to
your steering committee?

The Chairman: That has been running
through my mind while he has been speaking.
Would you join the Steering Committee,
Senator Prowse?

Senator Prowse: Yes, Mr. Chairman, it
would be my pleasure. :

Senator Flynn: And Senator Choquette too,
for that matter.

The Chairman: We do not want too big a
steering committee. With Senator Prowse we
have five. Is that not enough?

Senator Walker: And Senator Choquette—
an extremely able man.

Senator Choquette: I have no objection.
The Chairman: All right.

Senator Flynn: The steering committee
could go over the evidence taken by previous
committees and see what is relevant, and
then draw the attention of this committee to
whatever is relevant at this time.

I do not know, and I did not follow the
previous committee very closely, but I wonder
if there was any evidence on facts or whether
the discussion was only on principle, or if
facts were brought before the committee to
support the necessity for this legislation.

I have been trying to find out facts that
really suggest that we need this legislation,
and I have not been able to discover any. I
was wondering whether the committee had
such evidence.

Senator Prowse: I believe there is in the
committee records at the present time a num-
ber of copies of documents. We should also
have available to us copies of Dean Cohen’s
initial report.

Senator Croll: Everybody has a copy of
that.

Senator Flynn: I have seen it. It is very
theoretical; it is not based on facts.

The Chairman: We hope to have copies of
it.

Senator Croll: The man who perhaps suf-
fered more from this than anyone else during
the last year was the present Prime Minister,
and I think he has quite a dossier of facts as
to the sort of hate literature that was used
against him in the course of his campaign to
become leader of the party. There are facts
galore there, and I have some of them.

Senator Prowse: There is some correspond-
ence on that.

Senator Flynn: I do not think you would
call him “the people” or “a group”.

The Chairman: We will have a lot of facts.
As a matter of fact, Mr. Scollin has some
facts to lay before us, new ones as well as
some fine older facts, but some are quite
modern. One of the speakers in the confer-
ence just closed made a reference to distribu-
tion of hate propaganda. I do not remember
who it was, but my secretary is going through
the records now trying to find that reference.
The speaker said that there was hate propa-
ganda distributed to those participating.

Senator Cook: That was Premier Robichaud
of New Brunswick.

The Chairman: She is going to give me
what he said. He said that they had some
hate propaganda distributed to them in the
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hotels here in Ottawa, and Mr. Scollin is
going to tell us about something else, which I
need not forecast now. We will have lots of
facts before we are through.

Is there anything else we should consider?
We know the dates for our meetings. We
know when we can meet and when we
cannot.

You are going to leave it to the Steering
Committee to decide who will be witnesses,
and we will have a program arranged, per-
haps for next week, although I understand
there is an adjournment coming up, but we
will consider all that.

At the present moment we have what we
opened with last time, an address by Mr.
Scollin and, if there is nothing more the com-
mittee wishes to bring up, I shall call upon
him.

Senator Eudes: Mr. Chairman, before we
proceed further, I was just reading the bill
and the French translation does mot give the
exact meaning of the English text. Take, for
instance, section 267a(2) (d), which in the
English version reads:

deliberately imposing measures intended
to prevent births within the group;

In French it is:

le fait d’imposer délibérément des mesu-
res destinées a prévenir les naissances au
sein du groupe;

The word “prévenir” is not the correct
word; it does not give the idea the English
text does. “Prevent” has the meaning of. ..

Senator Choquette: “Impeach”.
Senator Flynn: It is “empécher”.

Senator Eudes: Then in paragraph (b) you
have “causing serious” and in French you
have “graves” instead of ‘“serious”. It has not
the same meaning. Then, in English, there is
the word “indictable,” and in the French text
it is translated by the word “criminel,” which
does not have the same meaning at all. This
goes on all through the bill.

Senator Flynn: Could we not have this mat-
ter referred to the Department of Justice, and
have someone there go through the bill and
check it?

Senator Eudes: If you went to the courts
with this French text another lawyer would
bring in the English text and argue that what
you say is wrong.

The Chairman: We are fortunate in having
Mr. Scollin right here with us. He is head of
the particular branch, and no doubt. ..

Mr. E. Russell Hopkins (Law Clerk and
Parliamentary Counsel): Mr. Chairman, my
understanding of the new procedure with re-
spect to the bilingual form of bills is that
either the English or the French text is
amendable in committee. My suggestion
would be, if it is agreeable to Mr. Scollin, and
since questions have been raised as to the
validity of the French translation. ..

Senator Eudes: So, we are to be the

translators?

Mr. Hopkins: I suggest that Mr. Scollin
invites his bilingual associates to discuss with
the translation branch what Senator Eudes
has said, and return to the committee pre-
pared to discuss suitable amendments to the
French version of the bill after we have
completed ...

Senator Choquette: That is not necessary if
it is self-evident. Are you bilingual, Mr.
Scollin?

Mr. Scollin: No, I am not. I do not think I
am even unilingual.

Senaior Choquette: Do you not agree that
that is a false translation?

Mr. Scollin: “Criminel” is the word that is
used as a standard translation of “indictable”.

Senator Choquette: This is nonsense. Sec-
tion 267A(2)(d) is to prevent or stop—just
read that.

The Chairman: I think we are indebted to
Senator Eudes for having brought up this
matter, but we cannot settle it right now. Mr.
Hopkins’ suggestion is that we bring the per-
sons responsible here, and perhaps they can
have an interview with Mr. Scollin before
they come. Mr. Scollin will look after that for
us.

Is there anything else that should be
brought up before we hear Mr, Scollin’s pres-
entation? If not, I will ask Mr. Scollin to
address us. I remind senators that Mr. Scollin
was here on a previous occasion, but certain-
ly at that time not all of us were present. I
would like him to disregard what he said
previously, and give us an analysis of this
bill, his opinions, and so on, in regard to it.



8 Senate Committee

Mr. J. A. Scollin, Director, Criminal Law
Section, Depariment of Justice: Mr. Chairman
and honourable senators, perhaps I should
first delimit the area that I think I can cover.
I can give you a resumé of the important
legal implications of the bill. I can give you
some of the background of the bill. I can give
you some idea of the related or cognate sec-
tions of the Criminal Code and other statutes,
and I can give you some indication of the
comparable provisions in the United King-
dom. However, on the policy aspects of the
bill, as to why a particular provision is either
in there or not in there, I am sure you
understand why I cannot really be of any
assistance to you. This is a Government meas-
ure, and I am not in a position to speak on
Government policy.

The bill in its main lines derives from a
draft amendment to the Criminal Code which
was proposed by the Special Committee on
Hate Propaganda which was appointed in
1965. In the report of that committee the
draft amendments proposed are contained in
Chapter VI, at page 68 and 69. As we go
along I shall draw to your attention the
respects in which Bill S-21 varies from the
recommendations of the Special Committee.

Perhaps I should point out that Bill S-21 is
in exactly the same form as Bill S-5 of the
twenty-seventh Parliament, and with the
exception of a very minor amendment is
exactly the same as Bill S-49 of the twenty-
sixth Parliament. The only difference between
Bill S-49 of the twenty-sixth Parliament and
its successors is that towards the end of the
bill in subsection (8) of section 267C the term
“a district magistrate” has been replaced, in
respect to the Province of Quebec, by the
term ‘“‘a judge of the provincial court”. This is
done in order to bring this legislation into
line with the change in name made by the
Legislature of the Province of Quebec.

Senator Choquette: What about Ontario?
Ontario magistrates are now judges too.

Senator Croll: Yes, provincial judges.

Senator Choquette: I was wondering
whether a change is required because of that.

Mr. Scollin: I will check that. If that legis-
lation is now in force then a change may be
necessary, but I rather doubt that because the
jurisdiction is subsection (8) in provinces
other than Quebec is given to a judge of the
county or district court. It is not given to the

magistrates in those provinces. It is only in
the Province of Quebec that the jurisdiction
in the in rem proceedings is given to a judge
of the provincial court, so I think an amend-
ment is not necessary, but I will certainly
look into it.

The Chairman: Will you check on that and
report back to us?

Mr. Scollin: Yes I will.

The bill is divided into four main areas.
The first one deals with the advocating or
promoting of genocide; that is the provision
in section 267a. The next two areas, which
are dealt with in section 2678, are public
incitement of hatred and wilful promotion of
hatred anywhere, whether in public or not.
The fourth area of the bill is section 267c,
which deals with what are called in rem pro-
ceedings; that is proceedings taken in respect
of the offending article itself rather than by
way of prosecution of the offender. These in
rem proceedings cover material which offends
against either the advocating or promoting of
genocide provisions in section 267, or the
wilful promotion provision in section 267s.

Section 2674, the advocating or promoting
genocide provision, would introduce a new
offence into the criminal law of Canada. Cer-
tain substantive offences, such as murder or
causing serious bodily harm, conspiracy to
commit those offences, procuring the commis-
sion of those offences or incitement to commit
those offences would be covered under the
present Criminal Code. Other matters which
are defined as genocide would not be covered.
The definition of genocide, which is given in
subsection (2) of section 267a, follows the
terms of the international convention rather
than the recommendation for the definition
given in the report of the special committee.
You will see that subsection (2) provides:

In this section “genocide” includes any
of the following acts...

and then an important provision...

committed with intent to destroy in
whole or in part any group of persons:

First of all the definition in an “includes”
definition and not a “means” definition. The
acts which are classified as genocide are five
in number.

Senator Choquette: Section 267(2)(e) refers
to:
forcibly transferring children of the
group to another group.
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They did that to the Doukhobors some time
ago; they took the children and put them in
another school with another group and tried
to integrate them. Would that come within
that definition?

Mr. Scollin: There is a very important
intent specified in order for any such act to
be genocide, and that is the “intent to destroy
in whole or in part any group of persons”. It
does seem to me that what was done in Brit-
ish Columbia was done with a very different
intent from that specified in subsection (2).

Senator Choquette: The results were the
same. What governs the intent in a case like
this?

Mr. Scollin: I would have thought that
since the definition specifies the intent as
being quite specific there, and since it would
seem to me that the motivation of what was
done some years ago in British Columbia was
to try to create lawabiding citizens from the
younger generation of Doukhobors, there was
no intent to prevent them from being Douk-
hobors, no intent to prevent them retaining
their connection.

Senator Choquette: Where does it state that
intent will be the test?

Senator In the

paragraph?

Mr. Scollin: Subsection (2) in the definition.

Langlois: opening

Senator Eudes: There is no crime without
intent.

Senator Choquette: We know that.
Senator Eudes: It is paragraph (e).

Senator Choquette: That is the one I am
now dealing with. I say that they did that to
the Doukhobor children in B.C. about six or
seven years ago.

Senator Prowse: I would suggest that when
you read subsection (2) you have to remem-
ber that:

In this section “genecide” includes any
of the following acts committed with
intent to destroy in whole or in part...

Then you do these things. I would say that
the whole basis of the charge would be to
prove the intent, and a prosecutor who could
not prove that the act was intended to do one
of the five things in here for the purpose of
destroying the group would fail in his case.

That is perfectly clear. In the situation that is
worrying you, the Doukhobor situation, there
is a conflicting intent. The intent was to fol-
low the practice generally taken of removing
children out of a parental environment where
they were apt to become delinquents. I think
it was probably done under the Child Welfare
Act.

The Chairman: The intent was not to de-
stroy them but rather to save them.

Senator Prowse: That is right, which is an
entirely different matter.

Senator Choquette: You can always say
your intent was for a different purpose.

Senator Prowse: Intent is a very difficult
thing to prove. Even where there is not intent
the courts will inquire into it in any criminal
action. Where the words “with intent” are
used the onus on the prosecutor would be a
high one. In other words, an accidental act or
a coincidental act would have to be such that
you could imply the intent from it.

Senator Eudes: Can you prove the intent?
Senator Prowse: That is a good question.

The Chairman: There is an old saying in
English law that a man is presumed to intend
the results of his actions. That is if he hits
you with an axe the intent was to kill you. In
this instance of the Doukhobors it was the
intention to make of these children good citi-
zens instead of the really bad ones who
were blowing up bridges and things of that
kind.

Senator Lang: It was destroying the group
of Doukhobors as such.

The Chairman: I do not think it changed
their religion in any way.

Senator Lang: It breaks up the group.

The Chairman: After a rather short time in
a school, they were returned to their group as
better educated children than when they left,
but that was all.

Senator Prowse: What happened with the
Doukhobors was that the parents were con-
victed of a series of breaches of the Criminal
Code of Canada. They were taken away from
the children and the children were cared for
by the state until such time as the parents
were considered fit to look after their chil-



10

dren again. This is something which is done
under the provincial Child Welfare Act every
day.

Senator Cook: I would like to ask the
witness, for what part of this can you find no
remedy in the Criminal Code? For instance,
intent to kill members of the group, intent to
cause bodily harm.

Mr. Scollin: It is certainly arguable that to
advocate or to promote an unspecific crime,
that is we are not inciting anyone to kill or
destroy Jones, Smith or Wilson, we are talk-
ing about general incitement to destroy or to
kill a whole unnamed group of people. I
would think that from a point of view of a
prosecutor it would be extremely difficult to
establish, to the satisfaction of the court, that
you had managed to even make out a valid
charge.

Senator Prowse: With the present Biafran
situation, perhaps this is a good point to
make with respect to Nigeria, where the Bia-
frans are insisting they are going to be the
victims of genocide. But investigatory groups
sent in under the auspices of the United
Nations say that that is not so, although peo-
ple are being killed.

Senator Cook: That is right. That is in Bia-
fra, but we are talking about Canada. Is there
any incident of such a group who are promot-
ing the killing of members of a group except
a few crackpots?

Mr. Scollin: I do not think this kind of
suggestion can arise from anyone else but a
crackpot. I think the legislation is directed,
certainly in part, against the insidious results
of statements by persons who are unbalanced.
I do not think for that reason it is any less
justifiable, because much of the code is
directed against crackpots. Your average
criminal by and large is not just a normal
chap. The Criminal Code is enacted against
the abnormal and unusual and to some extent
the unbalanced. I do not think in essence that
is a basic objection to the principle of the bill.

The Chairman: The question is a good one
that the senator is asking, that is, we are
trying to find out what is in this bill, in this
section that is not in the Criminal Code. How
does this section carry us further along than
the Criminal Code already carries us?

Senator Choquette: It was the most perti-
nent question I thought at the time when

Senate Committee

Dean Cohen was here. He said, “I am glad
you asked that, senator, and I am going to
prepare a brief and I am going to give it to
you the next time I come here.” I asked what
there was in the bill that was not taken care
of by the Criminal Code and he could not
answer offhand, but he said, “I will prepare
something, and the next time I am invited
here I will give that to you.”

While the witness is on that point, I
thought that genocide—and I pointed it out at
that time—was for many reasons the weakest
point in this whole bill, but one and the best
reason was Senator Hayden’s wonderful
speech. He said this was so absurd that we
should not take it seriously, and we should
eliminate the part regarding genocide. He
said even in Hitler’s time had there been a
law such as this one here it would have made
no difference. Hitler was a maniac and he
would have ignored it. He would not have felt
bound by it, and nobody in Canada would
feel bound by this. I thought it was a weak
point, but in all of the discussions it seems
that those who made representations insisted
that it was important. I do not see the impor-
tance of it.

The Chairman: The question of Hitler
being in this country—we would have had
him in jail.

Senator Choquette: Yes, I know.

The Chairman: Look, let us be practical in
this matter. This is, as you say, a very impor-
tant part as regards to this section. Now, Mr.
Scollin has suggested on a previous occasion
that he would write a memorandum on it.

Mr. Scollin: Dean Cohen said he would.
Senator Choquette: Yes.

The Chairman: Let us have from Mr. Scol-
lin a carefully prepared considered opinion.
Would you do that?

Mr. Scollin: With respect, Mr. Chairman, I
think the position that I tried to make is the
beginning and the end of the position and
that is that genocide, as defined in there, is
not substantively made an offence but the
advocacy and the promotion of these acts is
made an offence. In my considered view. that
is not an offence under the present Criminal
Code.

Dean Cohen may or may not agree with
me; I do not care very rauch. My statement is
in reference to law; in policy it is a different
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matter as to whether or not it is worthwhile
or ought to be provided for. I cannot speak
on that, but in law there is no known offence
in Canada of advocating or promoting geno-
cide. My experience in criminal law would
tell me that there is no provision to frame a
charge that consists of a criminal offence
against a person who writes material, that
advocates or promotes killing of members of
a group or of causing serious bodily injury or
mental harm to members of a group or any
one of those subparagraphs in subsection 2.
My position is that there is no offence just
now under the Criminal Code that I, as a
prosecutor, could frame a proper valid charge
under. In respect to an individual or the iden-
tifiable individual there might be incitement
or conspiracy and there might be a charge.
There is no charge in advocacy or promoting
genocide. In law there would be no charge.
The function of the committee is to decide. As
a policy matter this is something which ought
to be or ought not to be. I really cannot say
nor can I add much more to what I have said.

Senator Cook: Of course section 153 of the
Criminal Code prevents the use of the mails
for such purposes does it not?

‘Mr. Scollin: It does.

Senator Prowse: Is this not also tied in
with the International Convention on geno-
cide of which Canada is a signatory?

Mr. Scollin: Yes, Canada is a party to the
United Nations Convention on the Prevention
and Punishment of the Crime of Genocide
which was adopted by the General Assembly
of the United Nations on December 9, 1948,
which appears on page 289 of the special
committee’s report.

This Convention, in Article II,
“genocide,” and in Article III resolves:

The following acts shall be punishable:
(a) Genocide;. ..

And Article V of that Convention says:
The Contracting Parties

. which include Canada. ..
undertake to enact, in accordance with
their respective Constitutions, the neces-
sary legislation to give effect to the
provisions of the present Convention and,
in particular, to provide effective penal-
ties for persons guilty of genocide or any
of the other acts enumerated in article
i L1 1
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defines

Senator Lang: What are ‘“the other acts”?

Mr. Scollin: They are: conspiracy to commit
genocide; direct and public incitement to
commit genocide; attempt to commit geno-
cide; complicity in genocide.

Article II defines “genocide” as follows:

In the present Convention, genocide
means any of the following acts commit-
ted with intent to destroy, in whole or in
part, a national, ethnical, racial or religi-
ous group, as such:

(a) Killing members of the group;

(b) Causing serious bodily or mental
harm to members of the group;

(c) Deliberately inflicting on the group
conditions of life calculated to bring
about its physical destruction in whole or
in part;

(d) Imposing measures intended to pre-
vent births within the group;

(e) Forcibly transferring children of the
group to another group.

Senator Lang: Is “advocating genocide”
included? I was wondering whether advocat-
ing genocide is included in the convention.

Mr. Scollin: Article III, after dealing with
genocide, deals with conspiracy, incitement,
attempt, and complicity.

Senator Walker: I suppose that incitement
is a definite form of advocacy.

Senator Prowse: The act says “advocates or
promotes”. This gave some concern last time,
as to whether “promotes” was too wide.

Senator Croll: You have to use a pretty
strong word.

Senator Walker: I can understand the Unit-
ed Nations having this, because there are
many nations in the world, some in the
Near East, where they would be very applica-
ble, but it seems to me absurd for this sort of
thing in Canada. Before we decide whether
we need all this, I want to know whether
there are any examples which justify our
using a clause like this, because the freedom
of speech, expression and action is one of our
British heritages, and to get this sort of thing
in our Criminal Code is, to me, quite absurd.
Why is it being advocated? The fact it is in
the United Nations charter does not affect
Canada. It should not be in our bill. We have
been given no reason yet why it should be.
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Senator Cook: With all due respect to that
view, I feel that the trouble is that when we
need it it is going to be too late if we do not
include it now.

Senator Walker: What has
already to make you say that?

happened

Senator Croll: There was evidence present-
ed at the hearings before Senator Prowse, in
detail, of matters that occurred, and I think
that should be looked at before we make up
our minds or reach a conclusion that there
are no such instances. There are many of
them, and I think they were recited there and
will be recited again before this committee.

Senator Lang: If the word “incites” was
substituted for the words “advocates or pro-
motes,” as in the first phrase of section
267a(1)—“Every one who incites geno-
cide...”—would not that be much more in
conformity with the spirit of the convention
than the words here?

The Chairman: The distinction between the
two words is, for example, I may advocate to
you and have no effect on you whatever; but
if I incite you, it would have to be proven
that you were incited.

Senator Prowse: That you acted as a result
of the action.

The Chairman: In other words “inciting” is
much more cogent than “advocating”.

Senator Prowse: We are saying that if any-
body goes around and says that any identifia-
ble group of people should be killed, should
not be allowed to have children, should be
got rid of or sent back somewhere, or some-
thing else of that kind—it seems to me to be
a reasonable basis, because there have been
things like that said and there will be things
like that said again. We are seeing violence in
areas of this country right today which we
thought impossible.

Senator Choquette: But who takes them
seriously?

Senator Prowse: People who break up com-
puters, we take them seriously.

Senator Choquette: You hear people say
every day, “Let’s throw all those damned
Frenchmen into the St. Lawrence, and get the
country rid of them once and for all!” Is not a
person saying that a nut or a crackpot? There
are 220,000 Jews in this country, the same

Senate Committee

number as Indians, and they want to put us
all in straitjackets just because of some crack-
pot who makes statements such as the one I
have just made. Surely, we are grown-ups,
we are not going to act like children? I do not
see the necessity at all. That may be beside
the point, but I think the witness should be
allowed to proceed.

The Chairman: I agree with the senator
that the witness should be allowed to go
ahead.

Mr. Scollin: Before going on, perhaps I
could draw to your attention. ..

Senator Lang: Could the witness answer
my question, Mr. Chairman?

Mr. Scollin: The question of “incitement” as
against “advocating”?

Senator Lang: Yes.

Mr. Scollin: I think “inciting” would
require something much more specific in the
way of an overt act than simple advocacy. I
think one could clearly draw the line between
performing advocacy before the Supreme
Court and inciting the Supreme Court to find
in your favour. There is a definite distinction
between the two.

I think section 267a is designed to strike
the lesser of these two situations, the simple
advocacy, the promotion of it, the suggestion
it is a good thing, without actually inciting
anyone to do it in a particular case.

Perhaps I could just refer to the Special
Committee’s Report and, in so far as the bill
does incorporate the general lines of the com-
mittee’s report, I think perhaps some of the
arguments pro and con are really to be found
in the report of the committee itself. At page
62 the report states:

But because existing Canadian law
already forbids most substantive aspects
of genocide in that it prohibits homicide
or murder vis-a-vis individuals, and
because it may be undesirable to have
the same acts forbidden under two differ-
ent legal categories, we deem it advisable
that the Canadian legislation which we
urge as a symbol of our country’s dedica-
tion to the rights set out in the Conven-
tion should be confined to “advocating
and promoting” genocide, acts which
clearly are not forbidden at present by
the Criminal Code.
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They go on to observe that, in their views:
...there is no social interest whatever in
allowing advocacy or promotion of vio-
lence even at the highest level of abstract
discussion. It is odious and unacceptable
at any level.

They also state:

The serious discussion, even at the
most abstract level, of genocide as a con-
ceivable political or social policy, is sim-
ply not tolerable in a civilized communi-
ty; it has no social value whatever.

At page 67 they make the observation:

The history of law and opinion as con-
current developments is replete with
instances, as A. V. Dicey long ago indicat-
ed, not only where law reflected the state
of opinion but where a fluid opinion was
itself crystallized by law. This gener-
ation of Canadians is more sensitive
to the dangers of prejudice and vicious
utterances than ever before. Such public
opinion, therefore, should now be pre-
pared to crystallize these sensitivities,
fears and doubts into positive statements
of self-protecting policy—namely state-
ments of law.

I think those statements indicate the back-
ground to section 267a which follows in large
measure what the special committee recom-
mended.

Senator Walker: This is Professor Cohen
again.

Mr. Scollin: No, this is the unanimous con-
clusion of the committee which consisted of
Professor Cohen as Chairman; Dr. Corry,
Principal of Queens University; L’Abbé
Gerard Dion of the Faculty of Social Sciences
of Laval University; Mr. Saul Hayes, Q. C.,
Executive Vie-President, Canadian Jewish
Congress; Professor Mark R. MacGuigan,
Associate Professor Law, University of
Toronto; Mr. Shane MacKay, Executive Editor,
Winnipeg Free Press; and Professor Pierre-
Elliott Trudeau, Associate Professor of Law,
University of Montreal.

Senator Lang: Am I correct in thinking,
then, that this wording goes beyond what is
contemplated by the convention?

Mr. Scollin: It is different from the wording
of the convention.

Senator Lang: It is broader, is it not.
29789—23
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Senator Walker: It is more incisive. It goes
further. “Advocates” adds nothing to that, but
“incites” is something else.

The Chairman: “Advocate”

attempt to incite.

may be an

Senator Croll: At what page are you look-
ing now, Mr. Scollin?

Mr. Scollin: I am looking at page 289 which
contains the United Nations document.

Senator Prowse: Section 266B uses the
word “incites”. The violence in the universi-
ties today is entirely the result, I would
think, of people at the academic level saying
that the only way they are going to get results
is by being rough with people.

Senator Lang:
senator.

I hope you are wrong,

Senator Prowse: I hope I am wrong, but I
am afraid I am right.

Senator Walker: Do you think that that is
what this section means?

Senator Prowse: It means that in this sec-
tion we are saying that there is no place in
Canada for anybody at any time who as a
solution to any kind of problem advocates
that any of these things be done with a par-
ticular identifiable group.

Senator Cook: In due course, Mr. Chair-
man, I would be interested to hear what is
going to be said if we put this section
through, because I cannot conceive of any-
body, except a few crackpots, being upset by
the section.

Senator Choquette: That is right.

Senator Cook: I ask: Who is going to be
upset if we put this section through?

Senator Walker: If that is so, we do not
need the section.

Senator Lang: My question is still with the
witness, I think.

Senator Walker: Yes, you are quite right.

The Chairman: Then perhaps we can
remain silent while the witness answers.

Mr. Scollin: I think, senator, I would agree
that “advocates or promotes” as used in sec-
tion 267A does go further than any of the
phrases used in the convention, namely, con-
spiracy to commit, direct and public incite-
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ment to commit, attempt to commit, and
eomplicity in, genocide. Advocating and pro-
moting do not require proof if incitement.
They do not require proof of conspiracy, and
they certainly fall far short of attempt. So, I
would agree.

Senator Lang: Thank you.

Senator Hollett: I have an idea that all of
us in the Senate are guilty of genocide
because a short time ago we passed a bill
allowing the sale of contraceptives. This sec-
tion provides that one is guilty of genocide if
he deliberately imposes measures intended to
prevent births within a group. That is exactly
‘what that measure does. It prevents births
within the group of Canadians.

Senator Prowse: But it has to be for the
purpose of destroying the group. There has to
be that particular intent.

Senator Hollett: I think you will hear
comments with respect to that particular sec-
tion. In my view we are guilty of genocide
L | S

The Chairman: But not with contraceptives.

Senator Hollett: We are allowing people to
sell those things, and they are being sold to
prevent births.

The Chairman: But it is not directed to-
wards any identifiable group. Everybody is
doing it.

Senator Holleti: But there is no need for us
to aid and abet them.

The Chairman: Gentlemen, it is 20 minutes
to 12, and I would like to hear the balance of
what Mr. Scollin has to say. We can argue
things of this kind by the hour.

Mr. Scollin: Perhaps before leaving subsec-
tion (2) I should point out that paragraph (b),
“causing serious bodily harm or mental harm
to members of the group,” which does come
from the convention, was not among the
recommendations of the special committee.
Paragraph (e), “forcibly transferring children
of the group to another group,” was also not
among the recommendations of the special
committee. Those two were designed to...

Senator Choquette: Who is responsible for
putting them in?

Senator Lang: I think that that is a ques-
tion the witness can decline to answer.

Senate Commiitee

The Chairman: I think he has tried to

answer it.

Senator Croll: Can we not let Mr. Scollin
continue?

Mr. Scollin: I said, and perhaps I do not
need to repeat it, that I really cannot speak
in respect of many of the policy matters con-
tained in this bill. I can try to explain what is
meant by the bill, but there are areas in
which I am limited to speculation, which
really would not be justifiable and which
might very well be embarrassing. These two
paragraphs, in any event, were not among the
recommendations of the committee.

Another variation in the section from the
recommendations of the committee was the
use of the words “any group of persons”. In
the committee’s report, the recommendation
was that the genocide provision should relate,
as does the rest of the bill, to what has been
defined as the identifiable group. Again, I am
not really in a position to explain as a matter
of policy the variation in wording which
occurs here. At page 69 you will see that in
subsection (5) of the principal recommenda-
tions the committee says:

“Genocide” means any of the following
acts committed with intent to destroy, in
whole or in part, any identifiable group.

Indeed, it might be thought that the logic
of subsection (2) would include any “uniden-
tifiable” groups.

Senator Lang: Would it include groups such
as, say, the Scottish Presbyterians?

Senator Prowse: That is a good idea.

Senator Lang: That may not fall within the
definition of “identifiable group,” but it would
be a group of persons.

Senator Prowse: Scottish Presbyterians are
identifiable.

Mr. Scollin: In my experience, nobody wor-
ries about advocating or promoting the de-
struction of that group!

Senator Walker: Nor any other group.
These things are very often not said seriously.
Who is going to be the judge of whether they
are or not?

Senator Lang: This
question.

is a very serious

Senator Walker: I know you are giving an
example.
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Mr. Scollin: I think the way that would be
construed is that a definite group, whether or
not it is made on the basis of the tests of
“identifiable group”, which is colour, race or
ethnic origin, would be covered by section
267a. In any event, the committee may wish
to consider whether or not if section 267a is
passed it should pass with the words ‘“any
group” or “any identifiable group”.

Senator Lang: The words “any group of
persons” is therefore much broader than the
definition “identifiable group”.

Mr. Scollin: Yes, it is.

Passing on to section 2678B, perhaps I
should read the part that I am about to deal
with immediately. Subsection (1) says:

Every one who, by communicating state-
ments in any public place, incites hatred
or contempt against any identifiable
group where such incitement is likely to
lead to a breach of the peace,

It is here necessary to refer to the defini-
tions contained in subsection (5) of that sec-
tion. First of all “every one who, by com-
municating statements”. What does “state-
ments” mean? “Statements” is defined in sub-
section (5) paragraph (c). It is defined there
to include:

words either spoken or written, gestures,
signs or other visible representations.

Senator Prowse: Would that include a

television broadcast?

Mr. Scollin: I would think if this were done
pictorially on television, by way of cartoon,
for example, it certainly would be a visible
representation. If the words were spoken, on
say a pre-recorded program, it would seem to
me they are none the less spoken words. If
the material on television, either written or
printed and reproduced, was offensive with-
in the meaning of the section, then it would
be included in the word “statements”.

Senator Prowse: Would a radio be a public
place?

Mr. Scollin: It would depend where the
radio was, I suppose. If you put it in Nathan
Phillips Square and turned up the volume, I
would think that whatever came out of it
verbally would be a statement within the
meaning of the definition, and if it were made
publicly in a public place as defined in sub-
section (5) it would be within the evil the act
is. intended to remove.
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Senator Choquette: It all depends on the
audience. If I go to a group of English-Canadi-
ans and speak for an hour against French-
Canadians I am likely to be applauded and
certainly it is not likely to lead to a breach of
the peace; but if I go to Quebec and damn
the French-Canadians it is likely to lead to a
breach of the peace. You have to choose your
audience.

Senator Prowse: You could stand outside
the church after mass on Sunday morning
and harangue them.

Mr. Scollin: This is a matter I might deal
with later. There is a variation here between
the provision in Canada and the provisions
under the British legislation where the words
“publish” and “distribute” are restricted to:

distribute to the public at large or to any
section of the public

with the qualification
not consisting exclusively of members of
an association of which the person pub-
lishing or distributing is a member.

That qualification does not appear in this bill
here. Perhaps I could go on.

Senator Lang: That is in the English act?
Mr. Scollin: That is in the 1965 English act.

Senator Choquette: How many attempts
were made in England to pass such a bill?
They came back year after year ten or twelve
times, did they not?

Mr. Scollin: I do not know how often
before 1965 incitement to racial hatred was
before the house. The first national act
designed to preserve public order was the
1936 Public Order Act, passed at the time of
the Mosley riots. Previously various munici-
pal acts prohibited much the same thing,
quite effectively, but in 1936 there was the
first act directed to insulting or abusive
behaviour in public likely to create trouble. I
do not know how often the 1965 broader
proposals were before the British house.

Senator Lang: Have you any experience of
the British people under the new act? Have
you heard anything?

Mr. Scollin: In due course, although it is
all second hand, I hope to refer to a recent
article in the 1968 Criminal Law Review, at
page 489, where Professor Dickie has
analyzed the prosecutions and the outcome of



16 Senate Committee

all the prosecutions under the race relations
act incitement to racial hatred provision.
There have been some 14 or 15 prosecutions,
and I thought that perhaps later on I could at
second hand recite the conclusions.

Senator Lang: Thank you very much.

Mr. Scollin: If I may go back to the section,
I had dealt with the meaning of the word
“statements” as defined there. The second
essential under the act is that it should be in
a public place.

“Public place” is defined on page 2, subsec-
tion (5), paragraph (a) and it follows exactly
the definition of “public place” which pres-
ently appears in section 130 of the Criminal
Code. That section 130 appears in Part IV of
the Criminal Code which deals with sexual
offences, public morals and disorderly con-
duct. As the present proposal, section 267,
would appear in Part VI it was necessary to
provide a fresh definition. The definition
given in section 130 only applies to Part IV of
the Criminal Code, but the definition is exact-
ly the same.

Senator Cook: That is why it is repeated
here.

Mr. Scollin: That is why it is repeated, yes.
“Incites hatred or contempt,” the words “ha-
tred or contempt” already appear in the
provisions of the Criminal Code dealing with
defamatory libel.

Senator Cook: What section of the code is
that?

Mr. Scollin: Section 248, subsection (1)
where defamatory libel is defined as “Matter
published without lawful justification or
excuse, that is likely to injure the reputation
of any person by exposing him to hatred,
contempt...” and then it goes on, of course,
in that section to add the words “...or ridi-
cule”, which is not included in section 267.

Senator Croll: The absence of a person.

Mr. Scollin: I will deal with the absence of
group protection later on if I may. So, the
second requirement is inciting hatred and
contempt. The third requirement is that this
hatred or contempt should be incited against
an identifiable group. An identifiable group is
defined in subsection (5), paragraph (b) as
meaning any section of the public distin-
guished by colour, race or ethnic origin.

Now, this is not the same as the recom-
mended definition that appears in the special
committee’s report, in their draft, which
appears on page 70. Six tests were set up
there as being the distinguishing marks for
the purposes of an identifiable group. The bill
uses only three of these. The special commit-
tee recommended that this definition “identifi-
able group” means any section of the public
distinguished by religion, colour, race, lan-
guage, ethnic or national origin. The bill does
not contain the tests of religion, language or
national origin. This perhaps can be com-
pared with the Race Relations Act 1965, in
the United Kingdom. This act has been
replaced by a 1968 act. I have not got a copy
of it, but we should get one shortly. It was
only passed in October or November—but in
respect to these incitement provisions I
believe the act remains the same.

On discrimination, the following provisions
have been made: section 6 of the act of 1965
uses the words “with intent to stir up
hatred”—it does not include the word “con-
tempt’—against any section of the public in
Great Britain, distinguished by colour, race
or ethnic or national origin.

Senator Choquette: Why is religion left out
or is it going to be left out? I insisted when I
spoke on this that if there is one word that
should be included it is the word “religion”.
You have got Protestants, Catholics, and Jews
in Canada, as large groups. So if you are
going to insult one group it would be one of
those three and why ‘“religious groups” or the
word “religion” is left out I do not know. I do
not understand. Senator Prowse has an
explanation.

Senator Prowse: Mr. Scollin can give it. It
is a very ingenious one. I have been quite
taken with it ever since I heard it.

Mr. Scollin: Perhaps it is ingenuity that is
more apparent than real. Certainly, some
critical observations were made by Dean
Cohen and others when they appeared later
in the course of the previous hearings. The
explanation, which perhaps I should call the
speculation, was that: it is considered that
“ethnic” covers “national”. But so far as
Canadian conditions are concerned toward
ethnic, it covers the total ground that needs
to be covered. That is the view that was
taken. With regard to the word religion it was
considered that, since this is a matter which
can be the subject of, and can be changed by
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debate and discussion, even a very vigorous
and brutal form of religion as distinct from
the other attributes, ought not to be a test.
The other tests of colour, race or ethnic ori-
gin are refutable. They are matters that can
be changed by debate in any way and the
same is basically true of language.

So, good or bad, this was an attempt to
perhaps rationalize or reason why word “reli-
gion” was omitted and why the word “lan-
guage” was omitted. I do not think any terri-
bly serious consequences flow from the fact
that the word national is omitted. The only
two that might create any problems are lan-
guage and religion.

In answer to that, Mr. Garber in the pro-
ceedings previously, on February 29, 1968,
and Mr. Hayes and Dean Cohen all expressed
the view that the omission of the word “reli-
gion” might result in the bill not reaching
anti-Semitic propaganda, on the grounds
that the Jewish people are basically a religi-
ous group. This is the one connecting link
between persons of Jewish origin who may
come from Scotland, Germany, Russia, who
may belong to wvarious different national
groups or whose descent may be traced to
different races.

All T can do, is repeat the explanation—or,
perhaps not “explanation,” perhaps ‘“rational-
ization,” or whatever it is, I gave before and
to point out that this matter was in the minds
of the legislators in the United Kingdom
when the Race Relations Act was being
debated in 1965 and, again, when the 1968 act
was being debated.

During the Second Reading of the 1965
bill—you will recall that that bill, as it was
passed into law, does not contain the word
“religion”—the Home Secretary said:

It is certainly the intention of the Gov-
ernment that people of Jewish faith
should be covered.

Perhaps somebody might read something
into the fact that he used the word “faith”.
The words have to be construed in law
according to the ordinary canons of con-
struction, as an ordinary person would
read ordinary English language. I would
have thought a person of Jewish faith, if
not regarded as caught by the word “ra-
cial” would undoubtedly be caught by the
word ‘“‘ethnic”, but if not caught by the
word “ethnic” would certainly be caught
by the scope of the word “national”’, as
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certainly having an origin which many
people would describe as an ethnic if not
a racial origin.

Certain attempts were made during the
committee stage of the 1965 bill to introduce
the word “religion”. During the committee
stage of that section of the 1965 bill dealing
with “incitement” the Home Secretary said:

Where there is clear evidence however
the propaganda is dressed up, whatever
the specious arguments are that (a per-
son) has it in mind not to criticize a per-
ticular religion but, to use it as a pre-
tence of disguise his intention to stir up
hatred against a particular section
because of origin, I do not believe that
any jury will have much difficulty in
coming to a conclusion whether the pros-
ecution have established that intent
beyond reasonable doubt.

So, the view taken in the United Kingdom
appeared to be that their legislation would
work.

In these cases which I will refer to later,
some of the charges have involved a combina-
tion of anti-Semitic and anti-coloured immi-
gration material, and convictions have result-
ed. Unfortunately, these cases have not, on
the whole, received very much in the way of
publication in the law reports, and the refer-
ences are simply to newspapers.

Senator Choquette: You see, Mr. Scollin, if
we do not include the word “religion,” any
body can say after the Encyclical of the
Pope, “Let’s get rid of that wop, that Italian,
and all his followers!” That is a tall order,
and you could not do anything against a
person who makes such a statement. A re-
ligious group is a large one, and from the rep-
resentations we have had here, the Jewish
people told us it was a faith, it was a religion.
I think Senator Roebuck will recall that they
insisted the Jewish people had one religion,
and they seemed to insist on the word “reli-
gion” being inserted. Is that not right?

The Chairman: I think they did.

Senator Prowse: I think they did. I person-
ally cannot see any reason why, in a thing
like religion, and particularly where we are
supposed to live on the basis of “Love they
neighbour,” we should give them the right to
say all kinds of nasty things about each other.
I think we are all familiar with the statement
that there have been some monstrous things
done in the name of religion.
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I think “religion” ought to be in there, de-
spite the very ingenious and plausible argu-
ment we are dealing with things people can-
not change.

You may recall at the last meeting, Mr.
Scollin, we decided to get the dictionary and
find out what “ethnic” meant. It came as a
surprise to me to find in the Oxford Diction-
ary that “ethnic” means “Gentile or non-
Jewish”. We could not find any dictionary
that gives the meaning we have in here.

It seems to me that if I were a lawyer
let us say of inciting the extermination of the
defending a person, particularly on a charge,
Jews, I would bring out my dictionary in
front of the magistrate, and I would have a
good time in front of a whole lot of magis-
trates. I do not know about the Supreme
Court of Canada, but I think I would get
quite a way with my dictionary and this act
where you see “ethnic” and you do not use
“national”. I think we should have “national
and religious” because “ethnic” does not have
a precise meaning at all.

Senator Lang: There are many spurious
groups that masquerade under “religion”. One
of them is a group called the Scientologists,
from what I read in the papers, who mas-
querade as a religion. If the press reports are
correct, this group is an aberration of a rath-
er dangerous nature.

If you use “religion” you are going to bring
in a lot of kook areas and give them protec-
tion against what may be very beneficial pub-
lic criticism. So, we have to weigh carefully
the inclusion or exclusion of any of these
words. I think there are many other groups
would fall in the same category, so-called
religious groups. They masquerade under a
religious camouflage.

Senator Prowse: And they are taken quite
seriously.

Mr. Scollin: Well, Mr. Chairman and gen-
tlemen, it may be that in the course of the
hearings the considered reaction of perhaps
the major organized church groups might be
of some assistance, if they are invited to deal
with this matter.

The Chairman: I think we can pass it now.
We have discussed it for a few minutes. We
will bear it in mind. There are others, as the
witness has suggested, who may have some
views in connection with it that we ought to
hear before we come to a conclusion.

Senate Committee

Mr. Scollin: So much then for the third
element, the question of identifiable group.

The fourth element that has to be shown
for a conviction under subsection (1) of sec-
tion 267B is that such incitement is likely to
lead to a breach of the peace. This wording is
taken from page 69 of the report of the spe-
cial committee.

The use of the word “likely” is justified by
reference to other sections of the Criminal
Code itself and also the provisions of the
Race Relations Act of the United Kingdom,
where one of the essentials of the offence of
public incitement is that it be done to invoke
a breach of the peace, or whereby a breach of
the peace is likely.

The offence under section 2678(1) is either
indictable—it would be, of course, at the
option of the Crown as to whether it is treat-
ed as indictable or on summary conviction.
The maximum penalty is imprisonment for
two years. Naturally, as with any other
offence of that sort carrying that penalty, it
would be open to the court to impose a fine
with imprisonment in default. In the alterna-
tive, the offense is punishable on summary
conviction, in which case it would carry the
standard fine provided for by the court of
$500, or a maximum of six months’ imprison-
ment, or both.

The Chairman: Six months, or two years?

Mr. Scollin: No, on summary conviction it
is six months.

The Chairman: I was mistaken.

Mr. Scollin: In the case where the Crown
elected to proceed by way of indictment—that
is, under paragraph (a) of this subsection—
the accused would have the right to elect to
be tried either by a magistrate, or by a court
composed of a judge alone, or by a court
composed of a judge and jury.

Senator Willis: Mr. Chairman, I do not like
the word “likely” in there. I think any
defence lawyer would be able to get anyone
off if a riot did not occur, or a breach of the
peace did not occur. Who is to decide whether
it is likely to occur? The accused must be
given the benefit of the doubt. I could get
anybody off under that section.

The Chairman: In the Beattie case in
Toronto the magistrate held that the words
were, in the circumstances that they were
delivered, likely to cause a breach of the
peace, and did cause a breach of the peace.
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Senator Willis: Well, if they did cause...

The Chairman: He made a distinction
between the likelihood and the actual fact.

Senator Willis: I agree that if a breach of
the peace followed then there is no problem
but if there was no actual breach of the peace
then I think the word *“likely” gives an
accused a perfect defence.

Mr. Scollin: It did not seem to give the
magistrate very much trouble in the Beattie
case, because he said:

After listening to a recording of the
speech in question given in evidence in
court, and upon reading a transcript of
the recording, I have no hesitation in
stating that the language used was most
insulting, both to Jews and Negroes and
would likely or probably cause hatred to
be stirred up in the park as against the
ethnic groups mentioned.

From the circumstances there it was quite
evident that he was prepared to find that this
was likely to cause a breach of the peace.

These words are also used in section 166 of
the Criminal Code itself, which reads:

Everyone who wilfully publishes a
statement, tale or news that he knows is
false and that causes or is likely to cause
injury or mischief to a public interest is
guilty of an indictable offence and is lia-

ble to imprisonment for two years.

So, there is legislative recognition of this as a
test, and presumably a test that a court is
regarded as being able to apply.

This is also recognized in the defamatory
libel section, section 248(1) which reads:

A defamatory libel is matter published,
without lawful justification or excuse,
that is likely to injure the reputation of
any person by exposing him to hatred,
contempt or ridicule...

It is not necessary in this case to show that
he was in fact so exposed. It is sufficient that
the material itself demonstrates beyond a
reasonable doubt the likelihood of that result
following.

As I say, it does appear in the United
Kingdom legislation as an alternative to the
proof of intent to provoke a breach of the
peace, the wording being “whereby a breach
of the peace is likely”.
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I think the object of the section is to enable
action to be taken, and if necessary a prose-
cution instituted, where the circumstances,
including the use of the words in and what is
said, indicate that if this goes on and is
allowed to continue there is going to be a
breach of the peace. I would not think, as a
practical matter, that a court would have a
great deal of difficulty in a proper case in
saying: “I am sure a breach of the peace was
going to happen if this fellow had not been
stopped.”

Senator Prowse: This permits the police to
step into an explosive situation, and take
action before it explodes?

Mr. Scollin: Quite.

Senator Prowse: And if there was no explo-
sion then this would be a factor of which the
defence would undoubtedly make quite a lot.

Senator Willis: That is my point.

Senator Walker: Have you not that protec-
tion now under the Criminal Code?

Mr. Scollin: No, I do not think the Criminal
Code at the moment does enable action of
that sort to be taken.

Senator Lang: Under what section was
Beattie prosecuted?

Mr. Scollin: Under a by-law. Section 160 of
the Code which is the causing a disturbance
section, actually requires just that.

Senator Lang: Just what?

Mr. Scollin: That a disturbance be caused.
For example, paragraph (a) deals with:
Every one who
(a) not being in a dwelling house causes
a disturbance in or near a public place,
(i) by fighting, screaming, shouting,
swearing, singing or using insulting or
obscene language,

The essential requirement there is that not
only does he use the insulting or obscene
language, but he thereby, not being in a
dwelling house, causes a disturbance in or
near a public place, so you have got to have a
pretty fair disturbance going on before the
police are entitled to intervene.

Senator Willis: Then they would just be
subject to a fine or two years imprisonment.

Mr. Scollin: This is, of course, an alterna-
tive. It is very similar to many sections of the
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Criminal Code which provide similar alterna-
tives. The object is to enable the Crown in a
very serious case, where it feels it is merited,
to proceed by indictment. For example,
assume a man had been convicted 28 times in
the course of the year of the summary convic-
tion offence. It would seem to me the Crown
could then very easily justify saying, “You
have been a very naughty fellow and this
time we will invite the court to impose a
more serious penalty to deter others.” The
fact is, it is in there and has to be left to the
discretion of the Crown, as in a number of
other similar alternative provisions in the
Criminal Code.

Senator Prowse: This is the minimum and
maximum for an indictable offence.

Mr. Scollin: There are in the Criminal law
some exceptions in which an indictment less
than two years is prescribed, but by and
large this is a fairly standard formula, two
years for an indictable offence and an alter-
native on summary conviction. Even if the
prosecution is upon indictment and the man
goes before a judge and jury, if the jury
convict him the judge may very well, not-
withstanding that the Crown proceeded by
way of indictment, fine him within the range
of penalties under summary conviction. The
mere fact that a man is convicted of an
indictable offence does not mean the penalty
will necessarily be more severe.

Senator Croll: There are dozens of such
cases under the Criminal Code where repetiti-
ous offences are dealt with in that fashion.

Mr. Scollin: Where it is open to deal with
repetitious offences.

Senator Prowse: Typically, impaired and
drunken driving.

Mr. Scollin: Impaired and drunken driving
can be treated either on indictment or by way
of summary offence.

Senator Prowse: To be charged with an
indictable offence is in a great many instances
considered an advantage by the defence
lawyer.

Mr. Scollin: In this area particularly it may
very well be an advantage to have a jury.

Senator Prowse: To have access to a jury,
and the sentence, regardless of the maximum
here, will be set by the court or the appeal
court on the basis of the public harm done.

Senate Commitiee

Senator Lang: Am I correct in understand-
ing the witness said that the provisions of the
Code are extended by the section from a case
where a breach of the peace does occur to a
case where a breach of the peace is likely to
occur?

Mr. Scollin: Yes.

Senator Lang: I should like to draw the
committee’s attention to the other edge of the
sword, to what I consider one of the great
dangers of the section. From what I have
been able to learn, in Germany, in the early
days of the National Socialist Party, the Ger-
man law had a section somewhat similar to
this. When persons who opposed the National
Socialist Party made their views public, the
Nazis would gather a crowd of their own in
front of the speaker and create a condition
likely to lead a breach of the peace, and
immediately thereupon insist that the authori-
ties arrest the speaker. This is one of the
great dangers in this sort of legislation. I can
foresee how a group, acting with completely
legitimate objectives and in the best interests
of the state, could be prosecuted because
their opponents created a situation which
was likely to lead to a breach of the peace in
front of their speaker and forced the authori-
ties to arrest them.

Mr. Scollin: This could only arise under the
section if in fact the Crown were able to
establish the essential ingredient that the
speaker had incited hatred or contempt
against an indentifiable group. On page 129 of
the Report of the Special Committee on Hate
Propaganda in Canada reference is made to
the judgment of Mr. Justice Cartwright in the
case of Frey v. Fedoruk in which he said:

I do not think that it is safe to hold as
a matter of law, that conduct, not other-
wise criminal and not falling within any
category of offences defined by the crimi-
nal law, becomes criminal because a
natural and probable result thereof will
be to provoke others to violent retribu-
tive action.

Later on he said:
The speaking of insulting words unac-
companied by any threat of violence
undoubtedly may and sometimes does
produce violent retributive action, but is
not criminal.
It is undoubtedly the case that in a prose-
cution under section 2678 the speaker brings
himself within the criminal law by his own
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action and because of the reaction of the
audience there is likely to be a breach of the
peace, but the safeguard is that he has not
committed a criminal act unless he has incit-
ed by statements that are inciting hatred or
contempt.

Senator Willis: I think, Mr. Chairman, your
experience is that things like this happen in
the early days of elections in Ontario.

The Chairman: You bet they did.

Senator Willis: They happened regularly
from 1875 until the 1920s.

The Chairman: That was when they con-
ducted the campaign with whippletrees. We
have pretty well got over that.

Senator Prowse: We do not have those
engaged in politics as an “identifiable group”
in this bill. Perhaps we should have.

The Chairman: Honourable senators, it is
half-past twelve. I know Mr. Scollin has not
covered all the ground. I think I am correct
in that, am I not?

Mr. Scollin: Yes, Mr. Chairman.

The Chairman: Perhaps it is time we
adjourned. I do not know what the committee
feels about it. Is it the consensus that we
adjourn?

Hon. Senators: Agreed.

Senator Lang: Mr. Chairman, this has been
a very useful morning. I would like to take
lots of time with our present witness. This
has been a most helpful presentation and
discussion.

The Chairman: Let us understand that we
will ask Mr. Scollin to come before us again.

Senator Croll: May I suggest that when
Senator Lang says that it has been a useful
morning he underestimates its value. It has
been more than a useful morning, but I do
not think you should call us back into meet-
ing until a record of today’s proceedings is
available so that we can see exactly what has
been said.

Senator Lang: We will not be meeting next
week, I presume, Mr. Chairman, so that the
record will be available to us.

Senator Croll: It will be available in four
or five days.

Senator Cook: Mr. Chairman, the witness
made reference to an article in the Criminal
Code. Could that be photostated and
circulated?

Mr. Scollin: Yes, I will have that done and
send the proper number of copies.

The Chairman: Thank you all for coming.
When we meet again the next time I think we
can have some very interesting evidence. I
rather expected we would have today.

In the City of Toronto someone has got a
number where you can dial and a record
plays, telling what s.0.b’s the Jews are. We
have that and I expected to have it here
today, but we will have it the next time. I
hope that all those who attended this time
will be able to come back to the next
meeting.

The committee adjourned.
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ORDERS OF REFERENCE

Extract from the Minutes of the Proceedings of the Senate, Wednesday,
January 22nd, 1969:

“The Order of the Day being read,

With leave of the Senate,

The Honourable Senator Leonard resumed the debate on the motion
of the Honourable Senator Roebuck, seconded by the Honourable Sena-
tor Croll, for the second reading of the Bill S-21, intituled: “An Act to
amend the Criminal Code”.

After debate, and—
The question being put on the motion, it was—
Resolved in the affirmative.

The Bill was then read the second time.

The Honourable Senator Leonard moved, seconded by the Honour-
able Senator Fergusson, that the Bill be referred to the Standing Senate
Committee on Legal and Constitutional Affairs,

The question being put on the motion, it was—
Resolved in the affirmative.”

Extracts from the Minutes of the Proceedings of the Senate, Thursday,
February 13th, 1969:
“With leave of the Senate,
The Honourable Senator McDonald moved, seconded by the Honour-
able Senator Langlois:

That the Standing Senate Committee on Foreign Affairs and the
Standing Senate Committee on Legal and Constitutional Affairs have
power to sit during adjournments of the Senate.

After debate, and—
The question being put on the motion, it was—
Resolved in the affirmative.”

“With leave of the Senate,
The Honourable Senator McDonald moved, seconded by the Honour-
able Senator Langlois:

That the Standing Senate Committee on Legal and Constitutional
Affairs be authorized to examine and report to the Senate from time to
time on any matter relating to legal and constitutional affairs generally,
and on any matter assigned to the said Committee by the Rules of the
Senate, and '
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That the said Committee be empowered to engage the services of such
counsel and technical, clerical and other personnel as may be necessary
for the foregoing purposes, at such rates of remuneration and reimburse-
ment as the Committee may determine, and to compensate witnesses by
reimbursement of travelling and living expenses, in such amounts as the
Committee may determine.

The question being put on the motion, it was—
Resolved in the affirmative.”

ROBERT FORTIER,
Clerk of the Senate.



MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS
TuUESDAY, February 25, 1969.

Pursuant to adjournment and notice, the Senate Committee on Legal and
Constitutional Affairs met this day at 2 p.m.

Present: The Honourable Senators Roebuck (Chairman), Argue, Aseltine,
Bélisle, Choquette, Cook, Croll, Eudes, Fergusson, Gouin, Grosart, Haig, Mac-
donald (Cape Breton), Prowse, Urquhart and Walker.

In attendance: E. Russell Hopkins, Law Clerk and Parliamentary Counsel;

The following witnesses were heard:

1. Mr. K. Leigh-Smith, Assistant Vice-President, The Bell Telephone
Company of Canada.

2. The Canadian Jewish Congress:
Mr. Monroe Abbey, Q.C., National President;

Mr. Louis Herman, Q.C., Chairman, National Joint Community
Relations;

Mr. Saul Hayes, Q.C., executive Vice-President.
At 4.30 p.m. the Committee adjourned to the call of the Chairman.
ATTEST:

L. J. M. Boudreault,
Clerk of the Committee.
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THE SENATE

THE SENATE COMMITTEE ON LEGAL AND CONSTITUTIONAL AFFAIRS

EVIDENCE

Ottawa, Tuesday, February 25, 1969

The Senate Committee on Legal and Con-
stitutional Affairs, to which was referred Bill
S-21, to amend the Criminal Code (Hate
Propaganda), met this day at 2 p.m.

Senator Arthur W. Roebuck (Chairman) in
the Chair.

The Chairman: Honourable senators, we
now have a full house, and we have a full
program.

I might say by way of introduction that we
had a meeting of the steering committee yes-
terday and will have a full program for each
weekly meeting until we recess for the Easter
vacation. What is of immediate interest is the
program for today which, as I say, is
a full one and, I think, a very good one. You
may remember that at the last meeting I
mentioned an incident that is taking place, or
has taken place, in the City of Toronto,
where an individual has obtained the right to
use a line, and is using it, for statements such
as we hope to bring before you this afternoon.

In that regard, I have the pleasure of intro-
ducing to you Mr. Ken Leigh-Smith. He is
Assistant Vice-President of the Bell Tele-
phone Company of Canada, and is located
here in Ottawa.

Mr. Leigh-Smith has a transcript which he
wishes to lay before us of the actual words
that are being used over their facilities. I will
not say anything further, because I leave that
to him.

Honourable senators, I now introduce Mr.
Ken Leigh-Smith.

Mr. Ken Leigh-Smith, Assistant Vice-Presi-
dent, Bell Telephone Company of Canada:
Thank you very much, Senator Roebuck.

Honourable senators, gentlemen: I should
like to say, as Senator Roebuck has indicat-
ed, that we have provided for this committee

a written transcript of the messages that have
been made available by means of this record-
ed announcement in Toronto by the Canadian
National Socialist Party. In addition to the
written transcript, we felt it might be helpful
for you to get a better impression of the
impact of these announcements by listening to
a recording. First of all, I should like to
apologize for these recordings, really on two
counts. The first one is that the quality of the
recording is extremely poor because, as you
will appreciate, it was obtained by simply
holding a telephone receiver as any subscri-
ber would who chose to dial this number,
except that he would hold it to his ear and
we held it to the microphone of a tape
recorder. The resulting quality is poor, and
you may have some difficulty in following it.
The second reason why I feel an apology is in
order is that with regard to anything that is
quite as vicious as these announcements obvi-
ously are, anyone should be able, in our free
society, to make use of the services of a pub-
lic utility in order to spread and disseminate
vicious material of this kind.

The Chairman: You say we should not?

Mr. Leigh-Smith: I say we feel, certainly,
most disturbed, that we are apologizing that
it is possible for a group of this kind.

Senator Croll: What have you done to avoid
coming here to apologize?

Mr. Leigh-Smith: In answer to your ques-
tion I will say that the action we have been
unable to take, and which we would have
dearly liked to have been able to take, arose
from our position and obligations as a public
utility. We have to serve within the limits of
the legislation that has been provided for
us—within the limits of the Railway Act and
within the limits of our charter.

I think those of us who are close to this
problem will realize that the one thing that
would serve the purposes of the Canadian
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National Socialist Party the best, and which
would give them the kind of publicity they
would like to have, would be a public utility’s
arbitrarily cutting their service. They could
take us to court. They could very likely
successfully sue us. The resulting publicity of
the message would give it far more coverage
and far more public attention than it would
receive otherwise.

Senator Croll: Mr. Leigh-Smith, there are
any number of Ontario Acts or Dominion
Acts under which you could have taken
action—perhaps unsuccessfully, but you could
have taken action. Why did you not take
action?

Mr. Leigh-Smith: Perhaps I might be per-
mitted to answer your question in a little
more detail. The first reason, and the reason I
have just mentioned as the guiding reason,
was that we did not feel that the provisions
of our Act of Incorporation, the Criminal
Code, or our general tariff permitted us to do
so. You now ask why we did not do it any-
way; why did we not break the law; why did
we not break the provisions of our tariffs
why did we not defy the specific provisions of
our charter...

Senator Croll: Just a minute; I did not sug-
gest that you break any law or that you defy
the charter, or that you do anything improp-
er. All I suggested was that you test the rule.
You are now doing something in connection
with cable TV, and many people say that in
that respect you are breaking the law. As a
matter of fact, the Government is looking into
the matter in order to determine whether you
are doing anything contrary to The Combines
Investigation Act. So, they are taking a good
look at you.

Mr. Leigh-Smith: I understand.

Senator Croll: What I want to know is why,
in view of what was happening you did not
test the law. I am not interested in giving the
matter publicity. I am interested in knowing
why you did not do something bold in finding
out what the law says, because I do not think
the law means what you think it means. In-
stead of that, you allowed the thing to go on.

Mr. Leigh-Smith: I am sorry if I misinter-
preted your remarks sir. It was felt that by
testing the law we would run the risk of
breaking the law, because a test is something
to decide whether or not you have broken the
law. You suggest that we should have run the
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risk of breaking the law. I can only say in
answer to that that we feel it would have
served their purposes admirably to have done
this.

Senator Croll: But the courts might have
said that you were right. Did that never occur
to you?

Mr. Leigh-Smith: It occured to us as a pos-
sibility, but let me read to you and the other
honourable senators, who are as concerned
about this problem as we are, a few excerpts
from the charter which put us in a position of
really not standing a chance of having a deci- -
sion in our favour.

Senator Cook: It might serve our under-
standing better if we have the recording now.

The Chairman: No, we will get to the
recording in a moment.

Senator Prowse: There is one point that I
think that Mr. Leigh-Smith is going to make,
and which I thought he did make in his origi-
nal presentation and before Senator Croll
asked his question. He said that the reason
why they did not take the matter to Court
was because they felt that if they did so it
would give this particular guff a publicity
which it would not otherwise have, and that
they would thereby do greater harm to the
very people they were concerned about. Per-
haps Mr. Leigh-Smith can telle me if I mis-
understood him or not.

Mr. Leigh-Smith: No, sir, this is precisely
the point that I hoped I had made clear. You
have made it much clearer than I did.

Senator Walker: You said that originally.

Mr. Leigh-Smith: This was our feeling, that
by taking any overt action we would in fact
give them the publicity they were seeking,
and which, in our opinion, they were
unsuccessfully attempting to gain.

Senator Prowse: And which they may even
have been after?

Mr. Leigh-Smith: Yes.

Senator Choquette: Mr. Leigh-Smith, why
be afraid of anybody or any organization who
wants to rent your service. If these people
come to you and say: “We are going to have a
record made. People will dial a number and
hear a little speech”, surely, the Bell Tele-
phone Company can say, “We do not like
that. We are not going to rent you that num-
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ber for that purpose.” I do not see any
difficulty in eliminating it. Surely you have a
choice. Nobody can force any type of propa-
ganda or record-playing to be transmitted
over your lines without your admitting you
are going to accept it. Is not that so?

Mr. Leigh-Smith: I am afraid it is not, sir.
Perhaps I might quote an item from the Act
of Parliament that was passed in 1968 and
which, therefore, represents the current
thinking of the Parliament of Canada:

The company shall, in the exercise of
its power under subsection (1). ..

which outlines our general powers.

... act solely as a common carrier, and
shall neither control the contents nor in-
fluence the meaning or purpose of the
message emitted, transmitted or received
as aforesaid.

Now, further on.

Senator Macdonald: That does not answer
your question.

Senator Choquette: No.

Mr. Leigh-Smith: It answers the question
as to why we cannot act as a censor of any
kind. We have no mandate or ability to act as
a censor so as to be able to tell an individual
that we, the telephone company, think his
message is unacceptable.

Senator Choquette: Surely you can say,
“We are not going to rent you the facility. We
do not need your business”? You are not act-
ing as a censor there. You do not have to give
any reason.

Senator Croll: You can decide that you will
not sell me any cable space. You arbitrarily
decided when I applied—not in my own
name, but when I made an offer for the use
of cable facilities you said: “No, we are not
going to sell to this fellow, or to that fellow.”
This is what you have admitted before the
Commission. You have done that.

Mr. Leigh-Smith: I am afraid, sir, that to
answer your question would get us embarked
on an argument that is not really germane to
what we are discussing here, but, to answer
your question, another quotation that applies
directly to our ability to serve or not to serve
reads as follows: .

Upon the application of any person, firm
or corporation within the city, town or

" village or other territory within which a
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general service is given and where a tele-
phone is required for any lawful purpose,
the company shall—

Notice the world “shall”—

the company shall, with all reasonable
despatch, furnish telephones of the latest
improved design then in use by the com-
pany in the locality and telephone service
for the premises etcetera.
This is the obligation that a public utility, the
telephone company, must observe regardless
of who the person is applying. If he is within
the territory served by our company and he
applies for a local service we cannot say, “We
do not like the colour of your hair. We do not
like your religion. We do not like your race.
We do not like your views on society.”

Senator Choquette: We would like to know
what kind of garbage you intend to serve and
let us listen to it. We want you to say, “We
do not sell that in the market”.

Mr. Leigh-Smith: I would be happy, as I
am sure my company would, to gladly accept
and apply any legislation which would permit
us to act in the way you have suggested.

Senator Choquette: No legislation forces
you to accept that kind of contract. You can-
not convince me of that. If I have a store and
do not want to sell to a man who says to me,
“You have a licence. You open your door”—

The Chairman: You do not have a franchise
to run a store. These people have one.

Senator Haig: I am getting a little puzzled
on this question. Bell Canada rented certain
time on their system to this person or persons
who produced a program so that anyone
could phone a number and listen to that pro-
gram. Is that correct?

Mr. Leigh-Smith: What we do is to provide
them...

Senator Haig: In this case we are going to
hear about what did you do?

Mr. Leigh-Smith: The National Socialist
Party came to us as an individual. The
individual’s name was Mr. Beattie. He said to
us, “I wish to rent a line in the City of
Toronto, a line of telephone service. I want a
regular telephone number.” We asked, “Is
there anything particular in the service? Do
you want a black set or not?” He said, “All I
wish to do is to make a recorded announce-
ment available.” We asked whether it was a
standard type of message such as “Dial-a-



prayer”, “Dial-a-recipe”, or dial the weather
or dial the time. If somebody dials the num-
ber they get the message on the recorded
announcement. He said, “That is the kind of
service I want, and it is in your tariff.”

Senator Haig: You just provided him with
a telephone?

Mr. Leigh-Smith: All we did was to provide
him with a line into his premises, and, as any
customer would, he connected up his record-
ed announcement.

Senator Prowse: He got the same kind of
phone as I would get if I asked for a tele-
phone service?

Mr. Leigh-Smith: That is correct, but in
addition he got the attachment—I am not able
to tell you exactly what the technical compo-
nent of the attachment is—so that he could
transmit from his tape recorder over the line
instead of speaking himself, which he could
have done, he could personally have read the
message.

Senator Haig: Nobody could hear it unless
they dialed the number?

Mr. Leigh-Smith: Nobody could hear it
unless they voluntarily chose to dial that
number and wanted to hear it.

Senator Haig: How did the public know
this number was available to get the
message?

Mr. Leigh-Smith: Unfortunately it got pub-
licity, sometimes from the people who wanted
to suppress it.

Senator Croll:
publicity.

The number did not get

Senator Haig: How did anybody know the
telephone number?

Senator Croll: They would not know unless
somebody told them.

Senator Urquhari: Were there any newspa-
per advertisements giving the number?

Mr. Leigh-Smith: I am not in a position to
know that.

Senator Urquhari: You do not know?
Mr. Leigh-Smith: No, I do not know.

Senator Haig: You do not know how many
people heard it?

Senate Commitiee

Mr. Leigh-Smith: You might be interested
in knowing that a very effective job was done
by members of the Toronto community who
chose to dial the number and leave their
receivers off the hook.

Senator Choquetie: I was going to suggest
that.

Mr. Leigh-Smith: Anybody else who then
wanted to listen to the message got the busy
signal. I understand this was done in relays,
so this man had a very frustrating experi-
ence. This is why I repeat that I think he
would have liked nothing better than for the -
telephone company to test the matter, when
he would have got front page stories for a
long time while the case was in the courts.

Senator Cook: He got it anyway. He went
to jail for something else.

Mr. Leigh-Smiih: I do not know. As far as
I know he is still out.

Senator Choquetie: Only one person at a
time can get the number, unless it is
amplified such as with the outfit you have
here. Only one person at a time could listen
to it.

Mr. Leigh-Smith: That is correct.

Senator Choquette: It would take a very
long time to convince the whole population at
that rate, especially when the line was busy,
of the good cause they are advocating. While
you are here perhaps we could deal with this.
We are dealing with statements made in a
public place. I think the whole act hinges on
that. Would you say that a telephone line
over which you relay a message of that sort
would be a public place?

The Chairman: It is not only a public place.

Senator Choquette: You would know, Mr.
Chairman.

The Chairman: No, it is not.

Senator Choquette: If it is a statement
made in a public place which incites people
to violence and is likely to cause a
disturbance ...

The Chairman: You will observe that under
those circumstances the defence of truth is
not available. The dissemination of hate liter-
ature not in a public place and not where it is
likely to bring about riot can be met by a
plea of truth. That is the distinction between
the two.
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Senator Prowse: Section 267B(2) says:
Every one who, by communicating

statements . ..
It does not say where ...

wilfully promotes hatred or contempt
against any identifiable group is guilty.

The Chairman: Gentlemen we have a big
program. I suggest that you have pretty well
cleared up what you wanted to say; Senator
Choquette, have you not?

Senator Choquette: We could go on indefi-
nitely with this, but I suggest we must take
the word of Mr. Leigh-Smith of the Bell Tele-
phone Company that their position is that
they can hardly refuse, so the next step, I
think, would be to let us hear the record.

The Chairman: Yes, let us hear the record.

Senator Prowse: Maybe he wants to add
something to this.

The Chairman: If you want to add some-
thing, Mr. Leigh-Smith, by all means go
ahead.

Mr. Leigh-Smith: The position of my com-
pany in this case has been questioned and I
was wondering if honourable senators would
do me the honour of at least letting me read
into the record of this committee one or two
exerpts from the tariff that govern us. They
are very brief, and if they were there for
your later perusal I feel they would clearly
spell out our obligation. I would feel a lot
happier if you would allow me to do this.

The Chairman: Is that agreed?
Hon. Senators: Agreed.
The Chairman: Go ahead, Mr. Leigh-Smith.

Mr. Leigh-Smith: Thank you. I have
already mentioned section 5, subsection (3), of
our act of incorporation as amended by Bill
C-104 passed last year, which indicates that
as a common carrier we

shall neither control the contents nor in-
fluence the meaning or purpose of the
message emitted, transmitted or received
as aforesaid.

Section 2 of the second year of Edward

VII, 1902, chapter 41 says:

: Upon the application of any person, firm
or corporation within the ecity, town or
village or other territory within which a
general service is given and where a tele-

" phone is required for any lawful purpose,
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the company shall with all reasonable
despatch furnish telephones ectetera,

indicating the mandatory nature of our obli-
gation as a public utility.

The third item I would like to submit is
that we have general regulations governing
the telephone company which are, of course,
provided by the Canadian Transport Commis-
sion and they fall under the Railway Act, and
have been published and have the force of
law in the Canada Gazette. An excerpt of
Rule 2 (A) of these regulations which have
the force of law reads as follows:

Telephone service and equipment
offered by the company’s tariffs, when
provided by the company, shall be fur-
nished upon and subject to the terms and
conditions contained in (I) these regula-
tions, (II) all the applicable tariffs of the
company, and (III) the written applica-
tion (f any) to the extent that it is not
inconsistent with these regulations or said
tariffs, all of which shall be binding on
the company and its customers.

Once again, a clear statement and we have
no alternative, I should say, but to give serv-
ice on demand without respect to the pur-
pose for which it is to be used.

Rule 3:

The company does not transmit mes-
sages, but merely provided the service
and equipment which enable those en-
titled to do so.

Once again, we cannot influence the content
of the message. Rule 20:

The use of the company’s service or
equipment for annoying any person and
the use of offensive language while using
or conversing over the company’s equip-
ment are prohibited.

I read this one because I think, honourable
senators, that it will raise questions in your
minds, the use of offensive language. Surely
we must ask ourselves if anything is offen-
sive, that this language is offensive. Yet, it is
not the language or the choice of words which
is offensive, it is the message which is offen-
sive, thus if it were couched in profane or
obscene language, we would clearly have a
legal stand that we could take within the law,
but because it is not couched in obscene or
profane language the language itself cannot
be termed offensive. Now, there are others,
but I would simply like to mention some
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excerpts and they are very short. These are
in the Criminal Code which we felt were
applicable to our position in this respect.

Senator Walker: What is the section where
offensive language is prohibited?

Senator Croll: Twenty-one, I think.

Mr. Leigh-Smith: Rule 20 of the General
Regulations.

Senator Croll: What you are saying, as I
understand it, is if this fellow had been so
thoughtless as to use a four-letter word you
would have thrown him off the air.

Mr. Leigh-Smith: Yes, sir.

Senator Croll: But anything short of that
goes. You hold out as the great public service.
Go ahead. My regret is that I am on your side
today. I regret it very much, because we are
both in the same camp, but I do not like what
you did.

Mr. Leigh-Smith: I think, sir, that you will
recognize that this man, although he may be
malicious, is perhaps not stupid, and for this
reason he did not use any four-letter words.
If we had cut him off he would then have
gotten a great deal of publicity and rephrased
his statement to avoid four-letter words and
get back on the air again. Nothing would be
accomplished by these childish practices. We
recognize it. Now, the Criminal Code section
315(1):

Every one who, with intent to injure or
alarm any person, conveys or causes oOr
procures to be conveyed by letter, tele-
gram, telephone, cable, radio, or other-
wise, information that he knows is false
is guilty of an indictable offence and is
liable to imprisonment for two years.

I am sure you are more familiar with this
than we are.

The Chairman: That points to an individu-
al, not a group, and it says so.

Mr. Leigh-Smith: It points to any person
here and this message was carried over a line
which would be presumably to one person at
a time.

Senator Haig: You are getting us very close
to wanting to hear that message.

Mr. Leigh-Smith: I have just two more
excerpts and they are very short. Paragraph 2
of section 315 as follows:

Everyone who, with intent to alarm or
annoy any person, makes any indecent
telephone call to such person is guilty of
an offence punishable on summary
conviction.

We look at that and we have got them. It
certainly cannot be qualified as indecent. He
is not making the telephone call; you are
when you are calling him. If you are offended
it is because you have chosen to make the
telephone call, and therefore once again, he
was not making a telephone call; he was not
initiating the contact.

Senator Walker:
amended, too.

Mr. Leigh-Smith: Yes. I hope it will be.
Section 316(1):

That could easily be

Everyone commits an offence who by
letter, telegram, telephone, cable, radio,
or otherwise, knowingly utters, conveys
or causes any person to receive a threat.

And when that threat is specifically to
cause death or injury to any person. We
looked at this possibility of taking action and
I am mentioning this, sir, because I wish I
could say that we had really felt that in serv-
ing the cause that we want to serve we could
have taken positive and helpful action. I
understand and feel for your criticism which
you wish to level to my company, but I can
assure you we did not do it and the action we
took was based on a feeling, and I can assure
you again, of frustration and of a deep wish
to try and understand. ..

Senator Walker: Did you ever try the sim-
ple expedient by asking that the Criminal
Code should be amended to include what you
are saying you have not got?

The Chairman: That is before us.

Mr. Leigh-Smith: We have had contact with
the Department of Justice since this came and
since this message started to appear on our
lines, explaining the dilemma in which we
found ourselves and suggesting the legislation
that would permit us to take action. This has
been done.

Senator Haig: When this man applied for
your service did you know what he was going
to do? ’

Mr. Leigh-Smith: No.
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Senator Choquette: He was known all over
Toronto as a self-appointed Hitler or Nazi
leader. Surely you must have known what
Beattie wanted to do. He was not advocating
that one should make his first communion
before the age of six or seven years. You
must have known what it was about.

Mr, Leigh-Smith: Sir, I respectfully suggest
that if he had told us that he wanted to give
such a message our position would have had
to have been to believe him. If he had put
such a message on the line for one week and
then changed it to a different type of mes-
sage, to object at that point would be to cen-
sure the contact and we had no control.

 The Chairman: I think we have gone far
enough. I know the senators are all anxious
to hear this record.

Mr. Leigh-Smith: I am indeed. The quality

is appalling, which perhaps is not a bad
thing.
" The Chairman: If we could have the text in
addition to the tape. (Tape recorder turned
on.) I will ask the witness to read that section
we were listening to, or trying to listen to,
and then to give us the excerpts only. We
have not time to listen to the whole speech on
each occasion, but that portion of the speech
which seems to be appropriate, shall I say.

Senator Haig: May I ask why Bell Canada
took recordings of these announcements, from
these messages by this man?

The Chairman: They did, but it has not
been very successful. Now, let us hurry. Let
us ask the witness to read those portions
which are applicable to what we are consider-
ing, that is, the offensive parts of them, not
the whole speech.

' Senator Prowse: Mr., Chairman, pardon me,

may that be done but subject to this, that the
committee will then decide, when they have
heard it, whether they wish it to be part of
the record. :

The Chairman: The reporters will not take
it down in the meantime.

Senator Croll: Let us hear it first. I do not
think we are bound to give it this amount of
transmission and advertising. Let us hear
what it is.

The Chairman: Go ahead, witness.

©Mr. Leigh-Smith: T am reading the portions
of 'the message which Senator Roebuck has
underlined. These represent excerpts.
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(Excerpt read from message which ran
from November 30 to December 7, 1968.)

(Excerpt read from message which ran
from December 8 to December 18, 1968.)

I cannot imagine, Mr. Chairman, anyone
listening to the whole message.

Senator Prowse: Let us hear the statement.

(Excerpt continued, and further excerpts
read).

The Chairman: Honourable senators, we
have heard excerpts from a certain recording
made in Toronto which have been read by
Mr. Leigh-Smith. Is it agreed that this part of
Mr. Leigh-Smith’s testimony be not included
as part of our official record because of their
defamatory and disgusting character.

Hon. Senators: Agreed.

The Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Leigh-
Smith. You have performed a real service in
coming here.

Now, honourable senators, we have a dele-
gation from an important organization in
Canada, the Canadian Jewish Congress. Some
of us have heard them previously, before
another committee, but I do not think they
will be as long this time.

I think I had better introduce the members
of the delegation one at a time, as the occa-
sion arises. The first to address us will be Mr.
Monroe Abbey, Q.C., President of the Canadi-
an Jewish Congress, from Montreal. Mr. Ab-
bey, will you address the meeting?

Mr. Monroe Abbey, Q.C., President Canadi-
an Jewish Congress: Senator Roebuck, hon-
ourable senators: in order that you may be
appraised of the gentlemen who are with me,
I would like to take this opportunity to state
that there are with me Saul Hayes, Q.C., the
Executive Vice-President of the Canadian
Jewish Congress; Louis Herman, Q.C., Chair-
man of the Joint Community Relations Com-
mittee of the Canadian Jewish Congress and
the B’nai Brith; Ben Keyfetz, Executive Di-
rector of the Joint Community Relations
Committee; J. C. Horowitz, Q.C., Acting
President of Vaad Hair, the Jewish Community
Council of the City of Ottawa, his col-
leagues of this council and well-known mem-
bers of the Jewish community, Hyman Hoch-
berg, its Executive Director; and Sol Litman,
the Executive Director of the Anti-Defama-
tion League of B’nai Brith in Canada.
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With your permission, Mr. Chairman, I
would like Mr. Herman to indicate a few
examples of what is going on, prior to my
reading the brief.

Mr. Louis Herman, Q.C., Chairman of the
Joint Community Relations Committee of the
Canadian Jewish Congress and B'nai Brith:
Mr. Chairman, honourable senators, may I
address you for a few moments on just what
is hate propaganda and what is this problem
which we have to meet, because we propose
to submit to you that it is not just an inciden-
tal nuisance with which the Canadian people
have to deal, but that it is a serious problem
that has caused a great deal of misery and
suffering and loss of lives in the past, and
that it is a problem that is immediate. I may
suggest that the immediacy of the problem
could not have been better brought out than
by what was brought out by the gentleman
who preceded me for the Bell Telephone
Company, because he gave broadcasts to you
that brought the matter right up to date, that
were made in this month of February.

May I suggest to you, in dealing with hate
propaganda, that we consider just what
propaganda is. “Propaganda” has been
defined in the Encyclopedia Britannica as the
making of deliberately one-sided statements
to a mass audience. It is not a complicated
definition—the making of deliberately one-
sided statements to a mass audience.

The great historical example of hate propa-
ganda, of course, was Adolf Hitler in his
development of what he called the big lie
technique. By the way, his was the first gov-
ernment that had a department or ministry of
propaganda, and they developed a technique
by which they believed that no matter how
ridiculous or how outrageous was a lie, if you
repeated it often enough you would get some
people to believe it. We want to suggest to
you that, outrageous as some of these things
are, there is no argument—and these argu-
ments will not appeal to you or me—but that
for the ordinary person in the street, if re-
peated over and over again it does have an
effect. I think the outstanding example of this
was, for those of you who have read The Rise
and Fall of the Third Reich, you will recall
that William Shirer described the exact man-
ner in which decent-minded people in Ger-
many in the forties were taken over by the
constant repetition of this type of propaganda,
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and it is designed to make you hate some
section of our society.

We find in the 1963 edition of the Ency-
clopedia Britannica this sentence:

If ritual murder was the most vicious
propaganda, the Protocols of the Elders
of Zion is the most widespread and most
distributed.

The ritual murder propaganda is the story
that the Jewish people kill Christian virgins
for the purpose of taking their blood and
making unleavened bread out of it. Of course,
it chose to ignore the fact that it is completely
untrue and that according to our religion we
are not permitted to eat anything with blood
in it, but it goes on and repeats that state-
ment that we kill young Christian girls to get
their blood to make unleavened bread.

You may say, “Now, that is ridiculous.
Nobody would believe that.” But I can tell
you that there have been lives lost because
people were accused aof that sort of thing.
There was the Mendel Beiliss case in Russia,
the well-known case in Hungary, and Leo
Frank in 1914 in Atlanta, Georgia. And there
have been examples of that kind of propagan-
da in the last two or three years in University
College, Toronto, still repeating that over and
over again.

An example of the way it can be begun is
contained in a quotation from the Oxford and
Cambridge Review, page 239. I forget the
actual edition, but it was a publication of the
Anglican church or the High Church of Eng-
land, which read as follows:

...it is absolutely certain that Orthodox
Judaism—nay, Judaism as a whole—
stands free from even the slightest suspi-
cion of blood-guiltiness; but to say that is
not to say that no Jewish sect exists
which practices ritual murder—We do
not know where the truth lies, and we
are sure that widely-signed popular
protests are not a good way of eliciting
the truth.

It is of course impossible to disprove
the existence of a Jewish sect that prac-
tices ritual murder; it is also impossible
to disprove that ritual murder has never
been practiced secretly by the Kiwanians
or the Daughters of the American
Revolution.

Of course, it is a ridiculous thing, and no
reasonable and sensible person would be
taken in by it. However, by constant repeti-
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tion that is the most vicious sort of propa-
ganda ever issued.

The most widespread is the Protocols of the
Learned Elders of Zion, which purports to be
the true story of a group of Jews and
Freemasons who met in the 1870’s to plan
world conspiracy by which they would take
over control of the Christian world. It has
been proved over and over again that these
Protocols are complete and absolute forgeries
and, as a matter of fact, if you read the
history of the Protocols of the Learned Elders
of Zion you will find that it was adapted from
the story of a group of Russians who were in
hell. It was the story entitled Dialogues in
Hell, and they were plotting to take over the
world. In 1890, when it was popular to be
anti-Masonic, it was a conspiracy of Masonic
organizations in the latter part of the nine-
teenth century, but then it became an alleged
conspiracy of the Jewish people.

I have in my hand an issue of the Canadian
Intelligence Service of February, 1969, which
advertises a meeting in Vancouver to be
addressed by Eric D. Butler. Eric Butler is
the author of a book called The International
Jew which repeats and repeats and repeats
this vicious lie about the Protocols of the
Elders of Zion, and tries to tie it in with the
so-called present Zionist conspiracy.

Those two outstanding lies—and they are
lies—are being repeated today. They were
repeated in some of those broadcasts over the
telephone line that you have heard. I am re-
ferring to this idea of the Zionists taking over
world control. Those lies are being repeated
every day. I do not intend to take up the time
of this committee by giving examples of the
manner in which they are repeated, but let
me tell you that they are being repeated. We
were very concerned during the summer
months of last year, when: this kind of litera-
ture was distributed on the streets of London,
Ontario, by a man named Wiche. This also
happened in Allan Gardens in Toronto. We
are constantly getting letters from other cit-
ies. I have one here from Montreal, and I
have one here from Vancouver dated Febru-
ary 11, 1969. They contain a similar type of
garbage, and I do not want to burden the
committee with it. I have here any number of
examples, but I do not want to put them on
the record.

I know that honourable senators knov.v the
organization I represent, and some senators
know me personally and know that I would

31

not misrepresent this. We have untold exam-
ples. Letters are being distributed in February,
1969. This is a serious matter. It has caused
untold suffering in the past. We hope it will
be stopped, and that people will not be
caused untold suffering in the future.

That is all I propose to say at this time.
May I take the liberty of turning the
representation over to my colleague on this
committee Mr. Monroe Abbey, The President
of the Canadian Jewish Congress, who will
submit to you our brief on the legal implica-
tions of the proposed legislation.

The Chairman: Thank you Mr. Herman.
Mr. Abbey?

Mr. Abbey: Mr. Chairman, I believe copies
of the brief have been distributed, but in
order that the record may be clear I would
like, with your permission, to read it.

Senator Haig: Perhaps, in order to avoid
delay, this brief could be printed -as an
appendix to the report of our proceedings
today.

The Chairman: It is only five minutes past
three, senator, and we have only this witness
and one more.

Mr. Abbey: Honourable senators: We are
here on behalf of the Canadian Jewish Con-
gress, the representative body of the Canadi-
an Jewish community. Since 1919 the Canadi-
an Jewish Congress has been the recognized
spokesman of Canadian Jewry on communal
and public affairs and has been acknowledged
as such at all government levels. In the field
of community relations the Congress works in
cooperation with B’nai B’rith of Canada
through a joint committee.

You are meeting to consider Bill S-21 deal-
ing with the problem of what has been called
“hate propaganda”. This matter has been
before the government since early in 1964
when we appeared as a delegation before the
late Hon. Guy Favreau as Minister of Justice.
Eleven years before that date—on March 3,
1953—we appeared for a similar purpose
before the House of Commons Special Com-
mittee on the Revision of the Criminal Code
with Mr. Justice Bora Laskin, professor of
Law as he was then, as head of our deputa-
tion. We mention this to point out that our
interest in this problem is of long standing
and does not spring from the more sensational
aspects of hatemongering that have appeared
in the last five or six years.
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We were here a year ago—almost to the
day—speaking to a Special Senate Committee
on the Criminal Code and were hopeful then
that the legislation would be enacted before
the session’s end. However, a general election
intervened and we now find ourselves before
a new committee, some of whose members
heard us on the previous occasion.

The legislation encompassed in this bill
springs from a special committee set up by
the late Guy Favreau, then Minister of Jus-
tice, in January 1965, to enquire into the
problem and recommend the most effective
way of dealing with it. This committee con-
sisted of seven distinguished men who were
well fitted by their background and experi-
ence to examine this question. Professor
Maxwell Cohen, Dean of the McGill Universi-
ty Law School was Chairman. The other
members were: Dr. J. A. Corry, the Principal
of Queen’s University in Kingston, whose
own field of teaching is political science and
law; Abbé Gerard Dion, a sociologist teaching
at Laval University in Quebec, whose views
on social issues are known throughout Cana-
da; Mr. Saul Hayes, Q.C. of Montreal, execu-
tive vice-president of the Canadian Jewish
Congress; Dr. Mark R. MacGuigan, a mari-
timer by birth, and Dean of Law at the Uni-
versity of Windsor, is now a member of Par-
liament, and who at the time he served on the
committee was president of the Canadian
Civil Liberties Association; Mr. Shane Mac-
Kay, who was then executive editor of the
Manitoba Free Press; and the Honourable
Pierre-Elliott Trudeau, then professor of law
at the University of Montreal.

The members of this Special Committee on
Hate Propaganda were men who, from their
profession and experience whether soci-
ologist, political theorist, lawyer or journalist,
were persons with a personal and vocational
stake in freedom of the press and of expres-
sion and who had reason to be vigilant about
any measure that would diminish or curtail
this freedom.

This body of men composed, we repeat, of
persons dedicated to our tradition of free
speech and civil liberties and having exam-
ined in detail the evidence, some of which
you have seen and which you will find per-
manently embodied in their report, deter-
mined unanimously that the protection of
individuals as members of groups in our soci-
ety required the enactment of legislation to
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curb the spreading of racial and religious
hatred.

Their conclusions were:

that freedom of speech is not an
unqualified right; that the law has exerted
a role in balancing conflicting interests;
that in this delicate balancing, prefer-
ence must always be given to freedom of
speech rather than to legal prohibitions
directed at abuses of it; the legal mark-
ings of the borderline areas should be
such as to permit liberty even at the cost
of occasional licence;

that at the point that liberty becomes
licence and “colours the quality of liberty
itself with an unacceptable stain the
social preference must move from free-
dom to regulation to preserve the very
system of freedom itself”;

that with respect to the offence of
genocide or its advocacy no social interest
whatever exists in allowing the promo-
tion of violence even at the highest level
of abstract discussion: “the act is wrong
absolutely, i.e. in all circumstances, de-
grees, times and ways”;

that the distribution of hate propagan-
da reported in all parts of Canada is a
serious problem;

that this material can not in any sense

. be classed as sincere, honest discussion

contributing to legitimate debate, in good
faith about public issues in Canada;

that given a certain set of socio-eco-
nomic circumstances, public susceptibility
to such material might increase signifi-
cantly and that its potential psychological
and social damage “both to desensitized
majority and to sensitive minority groups
is incalculable”;

that our Canadian law is “clearly. . .in-
adequate” with respect to the intimida-
tion and threatened violence against
groups and “wholly lacking” and “anach-
ronistic” in the control of group defama-
tion;
Finally:
that the interest of our society requires
legislation curbing such excesses and that
appropriate legislation would constitute a
needed control over excesses of speech
and not an infringement of freedom and
speech.
These conclusions were reached after many
months of factual study, discussion and
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examination, and having regard to the many
conflicting interests involved in any examina-
tion of such a problem.

Dealing with the question of incitement of
hatred which leads to a disturbance of the
peace, the committee stated that:

To our minds the social interest in public
order is so great that no one who occa-
sions a breach of the peace, whether or
not he directly intended it, should escape
criminal liability where the breach of the
peace is reasonably forseeable, i.e. likely.

The requirements are that these statements
must be made in a “public place”, they must
create “hatred and contempt” against a racial,
religious or ethnic group and they must be
likely to lead to a breach of the peace. These
provisions, the committee feels, will fully
protect all legitimate discussion.

With respect to extending the protection
against defamation enjoyed by the individual
to the group the committee finds that:

there is needed a criminal remedy for
group defamation that would prohibit the
making of oral or written statements or
of any kind of representations which pro-
mote hatred or contempt against any
identifiable group. Identifiable group we
propose to define as any section of the
public distinguished by religion, colour,
race, language, or ethnic or national
origin.

This report states further that:

We are convinced that the evidence jus-
tifies this policy judgment and that in
our present stage of social development
the law must begin to take account of
the subtler sources of civil discord.

The committee report then discusses the
safeguards it feels should be written into a
law of this kind, and goes on to say:

The history of law and opinion as concur-
rent developments is replete with
instances. .. not only where law reflected
the state of opinion but where a fluid
opinion was itself crystallized by law.
This generation of Canadians is more
sensitive to the dangers of prejudice and
vicious utterances than ever before. Such
public opinion, therefore, should now be
prepared to crystallize these sensitivities,
fears and doubts into positive statements
of self-protecting policy—namely state-
-ments of law.

20791—32

33

We shall return to the content of the report
of the special committee.

Let us now turn for a moment to another
jurisdiction and deal with the British experi-
ence. Frequently in public discussion of this
question references are made to “Speakers’
Corner” in London’s Hyde Park where, it is
stated, any person could rise and speak his
piece on any theme, subject to no restriction
whatsoever. What are the facts on Hyde
Park?

Senator Urquhari: Perhaps the speaker
might be allowed to sit down. He is only at
page 5 and there are 22 pages. If he remains
standing he will be exhausted by the time he
gets to page 22.

The Chairman: Would you like to sit down?

Mr. Abbey: Yes, Mr. Chairman. I thank the
honourable senator for his consideration.

(Reading)

Great Britain is rightly regarded as the
source and fountainhead of our traditional
freedoms. The inviolability of British civil
freedoms has always been the envy of other
lands and political systems. Great Britain,
recognizing the need for the balancing of the
same conflicting interests, has after considera-
ble debate and discussion enacted a Race
Relations Act. This Race Relations Act not
only bans discrimination—something nine out
of ten Canadian provinces already have
undertaken—but outlaws the defamation of
racial and ethnic groups. And the British law,
we might add, does not possess the protective
safeguards that are written into the bill
before your committee.

The Race Relations Act of the United King-
dom has been in force since October, 1965,
and has been invoked several times. On a
recent occasion it was used to restrain the
call to violence against the white majority
element by a leader of what has been called
the Black Nationalist movement. There has
been no complaint editorially by the ever-
vigilant British press or by the legal profes-
sion that has come to our attention—and we
have followed affairs there rather closely—
and no evidence that the fibre of British par-
liamentary democracy is any the weaker. On
the contrary, it has emerged reinforced and
sounder.

It should be clear that many people labour
under a misapprehension with regard to Hyde
Park. Hyde Park is, of course, not immune
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from the provisions of the Race Relations Act.
Speeches given there are as much subject to
the law of the land as those given elsewhere.
Great Britain has recognized the need for
group protection of this kind. We with our
more varied population make-up have even
more reason to do so.

Now let us deal with the psychological and
psychiatric aspects. Under this heading our
presentation is based on the evidence offered
by two outstanding studies. The first is the
“Social Psychological Analysis of Hate Propa-
ganda” done by Dr. Harry Kaufman (former-
ly Associate Professor of Psychology at the
University of Toronto, now on the faculty of
Hunter College in the City University of New
York), appearing as Appendix II of the report
of the special committee.

It is generally agreed that law has a duty
to secure the integrity of citizenship and of
citizens. In respect to racial and religious dis-
crimination this obligation is not so much
directed at punishing the person who prac-
tises discrimination but at underlining the
principle of equality of citizenship. Groups of
people must not be denigrated. It is the prop-
er function of law to insure the fair treatment
of citizens. This is the principle underlying
the human rights laws, and the anti-discrimi-
nation laws of Canada and of eight of our
provinces going back to the first enactment in
Ontario in 1944 of a law which forbade the
display of placards indicating racial or reli-
gious discrimination.

Professor Kaufmann’s study is concerned
with the communicators of hate propaganda,
its recipients and the target group. His study
confirms that such propaganda can gain and
has gained acceptance and compliance, that

...recipients will be receptive to hate lit-
erature to the extent that they believe
themselves to be threatened and consider
action open to them which can eliminate
this threat.

As for the target group, he states:
Through no fault of his own, a member
of society is being degracded and humil-
iated. He is on guard against the insults,
the sarcasm, the cruel humour accorded
to his group.

He concludes by saying:
The writer is not competent to judge the
possible legal side effects of legislations
applicable to the problem at hand, but
has considerable evidence of the undesir-

able effects of hostility-generating propa-
ganda, both upon potential converts and
targets.

Dealing further with the possible effects of

legislation, he says it may create
a reassuring knowledge to targets and
potential victims that they enjoy the clear
protection of society not only against
physical attack or individual calumny,
but also against the threats and vilifica-
tion directed against them as members of
a religious, ethnic, racial, or other group.
It is quite likely that such a reassurance
through legislation would go a long way
toward removing motives for unregulated
self-protection.

We occasionally hear the comment that the
hate material circulated is so childish and
unbelievable that it would incite hatred and
contempt for its authors rather than the per-
sons against whom it is directed.

We are quite prepared to concede that this
is the reaction of many normal people. If we
are not living in a period when the world saw
the planned extermination of an entire people
preparatory to the destruction of other Euro-
pean people and races—an event which hap-
pened only yesterday and whose survivors
are living amongst us—we would be quite
prepared to accept this apparently “normal”
reaction to the extremities and absurdities of
hate propaganda. But we know that these
things did happen. Despite the apparent juve-
nile and self-evident absurdity of the propa-
ganda an entire death machine functioned in
Europe in the 1940s which carried out a liter-
al implementation of the threats of hate
propaganda.

In 1967 a volume appeared entitled War-
rant for Genocide by Norman Cohn, Director
of the Centre of Research in Collective Psy-
chopathology of the University of Sussex.
Professor Cohn’s book is an extended analysis
of the growth and expansion of the myth of a
world-wide Jewish conspiracy. We cannot
hope within the limitations of our submission
to give even a rough abridgment of its con-
tents, but recommend it to the attention of
the honourable senators. Suffice it to say that
it is an exposition of how a myth—a de-
monstrably false myth, and one that maligns
an entire people—can take hold of the credi-
bilities of wide masses to the extent that it
helped prepare the atmosphere and climate
for the genocide of World War II. The internal
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inconsistencies and contradictions of this libel
—in Russia the propaganda pictured the ne-
farious plotters as allied with the Germans, in
Germany as joined with Britain and France,
and in Britain as linked with Russia and Ger-
many—in no way inhibited its spread and
acceptance.

This material, specifically the forgery
known as The Protocols of the Elders of Zion
is no stranger to this country and to this
continent, and is still in circulation.

We commend Dr. Cohn’s book to your study
as the examination of a clinical case of the
distribution of material that is false and
maligns and directs hatred and contempt
against a religious group. Neither its evident
absurdity nor its extremes of fantasy pre-
vented it from becoming a powerful moti-
vating force and accessory to widespread
destruction and bloodshec.

That the implications of this propaganda is
related to its nature rather than to its volume
is suggested by a finding of the special
committee.

The amount of hate propaganda pres-
ently being disseminated and its meas-
urable effects probably are not sufficient
to justify a description of the problem as
one of crisis or near crisis proportions.
Nevertheless the problem is a serious
one. We believe that, given a certain set
of socio-economic circumstances, such as
a deepening of the emotional tensions or
the setting in of a severe business reces-
sion, public susceptibility might well
increase significantly. Moreover, the
potential psychological and social damage
of hate propaganda, both to a desensi-
tized majority and to sensitive minority
target groups, is incalculable. As Mr. Jus-
tice Jackson of the United States
Supreme Court wrote in Beauharnais v.
Illinois, such sinister abuses of our free-
dom of expression—can tear apart a soci-
ety, brutalize its dominant elements, and
persecute even to extermination, its
minorities.

The committee is warning here that it is not
quantity that is important in the spreading of
hate propaganda but the danger that such
material by providing a breeding ground
might create a deterioration of the atmos-
phere, a deterioration whose consequences we
have seen.
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In this connection we have a third docu-
ment that is directly relevant. Less than two
years ago a psychiatric report prepared for
use in the Ontario Court of Appeal was prov-
ided by way of affidavit by a Toronto psy-
chiatrist in the case of a resident of that city
facing a charge of assault occasioning bodily
harm which arose from one of the incidents
in Allan Gardens precipitated by a neo-Nazi
agitator. The appeal was taken against a pris-
on sentence, the accused having pleaded guil-
ty. The appeal, we may add, was successful.

Having recounted in this psychiatric report
the personal history of the defendant during
the Nazi holocaust, the imprisonment, the tor-
ture, the personal brutality and beating, the
planned starvation and the annihilation of his
family, the report then deals with the events
at Allan Gardens in the summer of 1965.

On May 30, 1965, one of his friends
invited him to come along to Allan Gar-
dens where a Nazi demonstration was
scheduled. He could not believe that such
a thing was possible and he went along to
the meeting place, partly out of curiosity
and partly to express his opposition to a
revival of the dreaded past. He was shak-
en up by the horrible idea that his chil-
dren might lose their lives in a Nazi
crematorium which he had seen in func-
tion while in concentration camps. At the
sight of the Nazis with their swastikas,
the assembled crowd started shouting and
running towards them. Suddenly he felt
hot and feverish and everything was boil-
ing inside him and he was unable to con-
trol himself when he became part of the
fighting mob. When taken to the police
station his mind went blank and he was
unable to think of anything but of his
family.

The psychiatrist goes on to say the following:

As a result of my studies and my
experience in practice, and my interview
with Mr. D-, it is my opinion in regard to
him that, (a) Mr. D- is one of those survi-
vors of the Nazi holocaust who have tried
to bury the unfortunate past by adjusting
themselves to the society of their choice
which was helpful in the process of
repressing the past to a considerable
degree. His hate against his criminal tor-
tures was never allowed to find an outlet,
neither during the years of persecution



nor following the Nazi empire’s break-
down. However, it was sufficiently
securely repressed and chances are that it
would never have come to the fore with-
out the provocation of a public Nazi
demonstration. The latter may appear
childish, silly and ridiculous to the
majority of people who were not directly
afflicted by the Nazi atrocities. On the
other hand to a person who has been a
personal victim of these atrocities with
all their consequences to himself and to
his beloved ones, a demonstration must
evoke the most profound fears leading to
a loss of control which would be unthink-
able under any other circumstances. To
this person it means the most horrible
threat of an imminent or already existing
revival of the past, threatening his very
existence and possibly destruction of his
family. It is well known that this type of
experienced threat, although irrational in
the eyes of the unbiased observer, is apt
to create a state of panic with short cir-
cuit reaction, loss of control and violence.
This process is much more likely to occur
in a group than when the person is con-
fronted with this situation as an
individual.

There is much more in the psychiatrist’s
analysis and we append it herewith.

The Law as Public Policy:

In the 1940s and to some extent in the
1950s in the effort for fair employment and
fair housing legislation we found ourselves
immersed in the debate as to whether educa-
tion or legislation were more effective instru-
ments in coping with the social problem of
racial and religious discrimination. Time has
fortunately resolved that debate. The experi-
ence with such laws in Canada since 1951 has
established, as we argued then, that the two
instrumentalities must accompany each oth-
er—and that legislation is itself an extremely
effective form of education. The existence of
these laws, public knowledge of them and
their enforcement are acts which are them-
selves educative in nature, and which reflect
public policy as enunciated by government.

The bill before us deals with a question on
which the government cannot be neutral any
more, as is now recognized, than it can be
neutral on racial and religious discrimination
in employment and housing. It will stand as a
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formulation of public policy expressing the
wish and goal of this nation as represented by
its Parliament.

The Need for Legislation:

In confirmation of our position on the need
for effective legislation we cannot better
underline our view than to cite to this com-
mittee the very cogent words of Chief Justice
Gale of the Ontario Supreme Court, who
addressed the York County Law Association
in Toronto in the following words in part:

“As you know, all criminal law
involves a balancing of the rights of the
individual on the one hand, and the
rights of society on the other. Our Crimi-
nal Code is a statement of the rules
which have evolved to place limits on the
freedom of action of every individual so
as to safeguard the basic rights and free-
doms of all individuals. ..

Let me give a very simple illustration
of the problem involved. Freedom of
speech is a time-honoured liberty in
Western legal systems, and has now been
made a part of the Canadian Bill of
Rights. But it is not, as it cannot be in
any organized society, an unlimited right.
The right to speak one’s mind is not a
licence to preach vilification and
violence. ..

...Recently, we have all been made
aware of the inability of our present
legislation to curb the evil outpourings of
‘hate propaganda’. The Attorney-General
of Ontario has stated his view that the
existing provisions of the Criminal Code
cannot stop this despicable flow of
speeches and writings. Certainly, here is
an example of a situation where the
individuals’ freedom of expression must
give way to the broader interests of
social cohesion and racial and religious
freedom. ..

It is my concern that too much stress
has been laid upon the privileges of the
individual, as an isolated person, an
island unto himself, and not enough upon
the duties and obligations which are his
as a member of that society. In my view,
it is the ‘rights’ of society that are
experiencing a subtle but continual ero-
sion, and individual liberty, far from
diminishing, is expanding to the detri-
ment of the collective safety and welfare.
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I realize, of course, that this is not a
popular position to take before a gather-
ing of lawyers. Traditionally, and proper-
ly the role of the lawyer has been to
protect the interests of the individual,
and his historical rights and immunities.
Such a role is no more than natural; after
all, the lawyer is retained by a person or
by a group of persons for that very pur-
pose. He is trained from the first that it is
not only his prerogative but his duty to
keep his client out of the clutches of the
law. The state, acting on behalf of the
individual, defends. The whole tradition
of the common law justly favours the
man accused of an offence; and the first
lesson law students are taught is that it is
far better that one hundred guilty men go
free than that one innocent man be
punished for a crime he did not commit.

I do not quarrel with these principles.
Indeed, I subscribe to them without
reservation. However, what does concern
me is that, in carrying out its time-
honoured responsibilities, the 1legal
profession is at times prone to lose sight
of the public welfare. May I remind you
that it is our duty to see that the interests
of the community, as well as those of the
individual, are recognized and protected.

The real difficulty, of course, is to
maintain a proper balance between per-
sonal rights and the common welfare. To
achieve anything approaching such a bal-
ance has always been a formidable task.
It is destined, however, to become an
even greater one unless we take care to
ensure that the fundamental right of the
community to protection is not dissipated
by exaggerated solicitude for the
immunities of its members.. .

My principal object this evening has
been to bring to your attention the need
for the legal profession to be as jealously
vigilant of the public welfare as it has
traditionally been of the welfare of the
individual. Without question or doubt,
one of the greatest principles in our
criminal jurisprudence is that which
ensures that a man is presumed to be
innocent until he is proven guilty beyond
a reasonable doubt. I wholeheartedly and
sincerely subscribe to that rule. But there
is another fundamental and essential
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principle that operates in our criminal
philosophy, and it is this: the criminal
law exists not for the protection of the
individual as such, but for the protection
of society as a whole.

In these days I fear that too little
attention is paid to this latter principle. It
is our duty and responsibility—all of us
engaged in the administration of justice—
to ensure that it is honoured and
preserved.”

The Bill and its Safeguards:

The bill at present before you substantially
follows the Report of the Special Committee
on Hate Propaganda save in two respects. We
want to emphasize that a ban on genocide or
counselling genocide is by no means super-
fluous. It is in substantial agreement with the
United Nations recommendations on this sub-
ject and it commends itself to the conscience
of all civilized nations. We also want to sug-
gest here that the anti-genocide clause be
redrafted so as to apply to “identifiable
groups” as the other clauses do.

The section of incitement to violence
proposed in Bill S-21 under Section 267B (1)
is a refinement of other provisions already
included in the Criminal Code. In very large
measure some of the critics of this section
proceed on a preconceived notion of what it
says, not having taken the trouble of reading
its text. The taking of an action likely to lead
to a breach of the peace is a criterion known
in the criminal law. Under this section it is
not what is said that is crucial but whether it
is linked with a breach of the peace—a situa-
tion, as stated, familiar to our law.

The report of the special committee throws
light on the need for this section:

“...It is readily apparent that it should
be unlawful to arouse citizens deliberate-
ly to violence against an identifiable
group, and in our understanding of
Canadian law this already may be pre-
scribed by the present rules in the Code
government sedition (although this is not
absolutely certain). But the social interest
in the preservation of peace in the com-
munity is no less great where it may not
be possible for the prosecution to prove
that the speaker actually intended vio-
lence against a group, or where the wrath
of the recipients is turned, not against
the group assailed, but rather against the
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communicator himself, and the breach of
the peace takes a different form from that
which he was likely to intend. In
neither case, of course, do we wish
to suggest that the attackers who them-
selves commit a breach of the peace
should not be criminally liable, and there
is a little doubt that they are already
liable under existing criminal law. But
the gap in the law today derives from the
fact that it doe not penalize the initiat-
ing party who incites to hatred and con-
tempt with a likelihood of violence,
whether or not intended, and whether or
not violence takes place.” (1)

The third provision—Section 267B (2)—
deals with what is called group defamation.
It is important to bear in mind the require-
ments of this offense:

(a) the action of promoting hatred or
contempt must be wilful, i.e. a deliberate
and intentional act,

(b) the statement must be untrue, and,

(c) the statement must be one which
the accused did not believe on reasonable
grounds to be true, or the public discus-
sion of which would not be for the public
benefit.

If a defamatory statement is deliberately
made about an identifiable group with the
definition of the Bill, and the person issuing
this statement can show no reasonable
grounds to believe it true, and if its public
discussion is not for the public benefit—what
possible protection is owed to such gratuitous
and malignant sowing of hatred? If a person
knows his tale is false and does not care a
whit for the repercussions of the statement, if
it has no relevance to the public interest and
brings hatred and contempt upon a racial, eth-
nic or religious group-—surely he should face
the consequences of this act? The honest
statement is protected while the dishonest
and malicious one constitutes an offence.

These defenses in our view are safeguards
that offer full protection to freedom of speech
and freedom of expression. If statements are
true, we are fully content that they be made
without let or hindrance; if discussion of such
statements is in the public interest and if it be
found that the speaker or writer had reasona-
ble grounds to believe them true, we are
satisfied that there should be no interference

Senate Committee

with them. These are defences that are
already present in the Criminal Code in re-
spect of defamatory libels and we do not quar-
rel with their inclusion in this legislation.

Some critics complain of the onus being on
the accused to give evidence to support these
defences. This is in keeping with the rules in
all defamation cases, the onus being on the
accused to establish the truth of his statements.
Surely it is not up to the person maligned
to prove that he is not guilty of the charges
any opponent may dream up.

The Chairman: Well, the Court, of course,
has to rule that they are defamatory state-
ments before the defendant is called upon to
defend himself.

Mr. Abbey: That is true.

(Reading)

We would like at this juncture to return to
the defence of truth as mentioned earlier.
There are a variety of offences known to our
law involving defamation and the use of lan-
guage, where the truth of the statements can-
not be used as a defence. These include
seditious libel, section 60 of the Criminal
Code; scurrility, section 153; and obscenity,
section 150. The broadcasting regulations of
the Board of Broadcasting Governors which
forbid the broadcasting of “any abusive com-
ment or abusive pictorial representation on
any race, religion or creed” do not contain
this defence either.

By raising this we do not mean to suggest
that this defence is not in place. We approve
it and have said so in this submission. We are
raising it to point out that this bill contains a
vital safeguard which is not available as a
defence in numerous other offences in our
Criminal Code and Government regulations.

We wish to make an additional observation.
The report of the Special Committee on Hate
Propaganda and the provisions of Bill S-21 do
not envisage prior censorship. This bill places
no “prior restraint” upon speakers or writers.
No public official or policeman has the right
to ban any written material or to prevent a
speaker from expressing himself. It has no
quality of what is called “prior jeopardy” in
American legal terminology. Only a properly
constituted court of law is qualified to deal
with it when charges are laid after the speech
is made or the article published. The full
procedural requirements must, of course, as
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in all our criminal courts, be completely
adhered to. Neither policeman nor magistrate
can interfere in advance and forbid any
actions or words. All this is left to the courts,
and to the courts alone, to decide. Talk of a
“gag-law” or of capricious and dictatorial
banning of speakers or articles is irresponsi-
ble and unwarranted in the face of the clear
provisions of the bill.

Senator Haig: That applies to Bell Canada
then.

Mr. Abbey: It does, in certain matters, and
it is not my position to discuss the represen-
tations of Bell Canada, but there are some of
us lawyers who will not go as far as the
respesentative of Bell Canada went in the
proscriptions that he believed are placed on
Bell Telephone in the varicus laws that pres-
ently exist, or even in their contract.

Senator Choquette: Hear, hear.

(Reading)

Mr. Abbey: We should point out to the
committee the remarks of Chief Justice
Wells of the Ontario High Court of Justice in
a recent public address in Toronto. Chief Jus-
tice Wells said:

...when, however, it (i.e. ‘international
defamation which is sometimes used to
the disadvantage and hurt of the Jewish
people’) reaches the extremes which it
has done in our own experience and lives
it would seem to demand something more
and the power of the state must, I think,
be invoked to protect any group which is
subject to the vilification which has been
expressed from time to time in various
parts of the world. . .

He went on to say:
I would personally advecate the necessity
of obtaining the consent of one of the
Attorneys General of a province or of the
Attorney General of Canada... before
such charges should be proceeded with.
As long ago as 1928 Chief Justice Duff, in
dealing with problems not too different
from the defamation of-a racial minority,
pointed out that already under the law,
the right of public discussion is subject to
legal restrictions and these he based upon
considerations of decency and public
order and the protection of various pri-
vate and public interests, which for an
example, are protected by the laws of
- defamation and sedition. He defined ‘free-
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dom of speech’ by quoting some words of
Lord Wright in a famous judgment where
he said that ‘freedom of speech is free-
dom governed by law.’

Chief Justice Wells also said:

...it is vitally important that when some
law to regulate attacks of this sort is
finally put in legislative form, it should
be one which will hold the balance
between fair speech and freedom of
expression on the one hand, and ordinary
decency on the other.

We have a question to posit on the defini-
tion of identifiable groups: The category of
“religion” has been omitted from the list of
descriptive qualifications.

Senator Choquettie: I was going to ask you
a question concerning that very point, sir. I
do not wish to disturb your representation, but
since we have arrived at this point, I would
like to mention that I noticed in your brief
that whenever you dealt with groups you
defined them as including religious groups. I
did not think that was included in the act.

Mr. Abbey: In our brief, sir, in order to
bring it forcibly to the attention of the
honourable senators, we have included in it
what we believe should be put in the act in
the law when it becomes law. We now en-
deavour to give you our reasoning why we
believe religion should be included.

The Chairman: I intended to ask you the
same question, but will you conclude, please,
and then let us ask such questions as we
wish.

Senator Prowse: Mr. Chairman, may I just
ask a question on the same point? There was
a reference to this earlier. I think there was a
quotation from the Cohen Report which con-
tains the full context.

Mr. Abbey: Yes. The quotations through-
out have been from the Cohen Report, and in
that Report religion is included.

Senator Prowse: In the definition of iden-
tifiable groups?

Mr. Abbey: Yes. That is correct. We are
using the Cohen Report throughout as a par-
tial basis of this brief of ours.

Senator Prowse: Thank you.

Mr. Abbey: And now I will continue read-
ing from the brief:
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This in our view is a serious omission. It
was present in the recommendations of the
report of the special committee and we can
find no adequate reason for its removal. We
understand the reluctance of the drafters to
include religion if they had the idea that
religious controversy would in some way be
inhibited or constrained. This is in no way
intended. Nothing in the bill in any way re-
strains the discussion of religious views, doc-
trine, dogma or conviction. It is hatred or
contempt against the people who are
embraced by the religious definition. Criti-
cism of Judaism, Mormonism, Catholicism,
Buddhism, Islam, or any other “ism”, could
not possibly come under such a provision. It
is when members of such groups are subject-
ed to hatred and contempt quite apart from
their beliefs and convictions that it is felt the
protection is needed. It is not enough to state
that religion is something anyone can change
for himself. For most of us our religious
affiliation is something we are born into and
which we cherish deeply, not to be shed or
cast aside lightly. It is as much a part of our
character, personality, and identity as our
race and nationality, possibly more so. We
have no objections to our religious views and
practices being publicly discussed and
argued, even criticized. There are a host of
views held by various religions on a wide
variety of subjects—all of which are constant-
ly discussed in the public forums and which
we fervently hope will continue to be dis-
cussed as long as our present political system
lasts. But when charges are made, for
instance, that Jews require human blood for
ritual purposes, surely this kind of abusive
defamation of a group should be covered in
the legislation. E

We appreciate that an alternative category
may be provided, that some groups—the Jews
for instance, perhaps the same may apply to
the Mennonites—may be considered under
the category of an ethnic group. We do not
wish to enter into the controversy of whether
the Jews are a racial group, an ethnic entity,
or a religious communion.

The Chairman: It is rather important if you
leave out the religious part of it.

Mr. Abbey: We go on in the brief to point
out why the combination of the three is
necessary and, we believe, applicable.

Senate Commitiee

(Reading)

There is no doubt in our mind that a case
could be made out for each of the latter two
categories, neither of which excludes the oth-
er. However, the religious element is common
to both. Even the so-called secularist Jew,
though he may not himself subscribe to all
the tenets and practices of Judaism, will con-
cede that the Jewish religion is the historic
source of Jewish values from which their eth-
nical imperatives are derived. The most con-
sistent and historic definition of Jewry and
Jewishness, the one common to Jews of all
lands, is its basic religious identification. It
would be a mockery of the intention of this
legislation if for flimsy pretexts the category
of religion were omitted.

One explanation is that the Jewish group
would be embraced in the definition of the
other two categories. The other two catego-
ries, we presume, would be race and ethnic
origin. We would unequivocally reject race as
a category as contrary to scientific knowledge
and to Jewish tradition. As for ethnic origin,
as stated above, we would not deny categori-
cally that Jews are an ethnic group. However,
it is apparent that Jews themselves differ on
this definition. In the censuses of 1931 and
1941 the difference between the number of
Jews in Canada who were Jewish by ethnic
origin and those who were Jewish by religion
was less than one percent. However, in the
next two decades, perhaps due to growing
nativization and acculturation, the discrepan-
cy between the two figures widened. Of the
204,836 Jews by religion in the 1951 census,
11.3% were of some other ethnic origin. Of
the 254,368 Jews by religion in the 1961 cen-
sus, a much higher figure of 31.9% (81,024)
were reported to be of some other ethnic
origin. It is apparent therefore that many
—almost 32% of the Jews in this country—
account themselves or are accounted to be
Jewish by religion only and not by ethnic
origin. The rest are content to be identified
with both categories.

The Chairman: Can you give us a definition
of “ethnic”? I have looked it up in the dic-
tionary but I did not get very far.

Mr. Abbey: Perhaps my learned friend can
help you.

Mr. Herman: My advice is: Don’t try.

Senator Prowse: The Oxford Dictionary
says it means non-Jewish.
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Mr. Abbey: That may aid us in our brief.
However, we have found that dictionary
definitions very often from time to time do
not necessarily clear up a matter, but rather
add to the confusion.

(Reading)

What emerges from this is that, however
they may differ on the question of ethnic
origin, Jews clearly constitute a religious
group. The same may well be said of other
religious groups.

We respectfully suggest, therefore, that in
267B (5)(b) the word “religion” be added to
“colour, race, or ethnic origin” as a means of
identification.

Wide Support for Legislative Action:

Since 1964 when a group of hate-mongers
stepped up their agitation there has been a
persistent feeling by Canadians in all walks
of life, from all political parties, and from a
representative cross-section of their commu-
nal organizations, that the government has a
responsibility in curbing this unrestricted hate
dissemination. This support has not been
couched in terms of specifying the precise
nature of the laws needed, but it has clearly
stated that legal measures should be taken. It
has come via unanimous resolutions of the
Manitoba and Ontario legislatures, a resolu-

tion of the Executive Committee of
Metropolitan Toronto, resolutions of the
Canadian Federation of Mayors and

Municipalities and the parallel Ontario organ-
ization, the City Council of London, Ontario
and the East Nova Scotia Mayors’ Association.
Three barristers’ organizations—the Canadian
Bar Association, the York County Law
Association, and the Manitoba Bar Associa-
tion—have passed similar resolutions. The
Canadian Baptist Federation sent a wire to
the Prime Minister asking for remedial
action. The Rev. James Mutchmor, speaking
in Winnipeg as Moderator of the United
Church of Canada spoke similarly, as did the
Anglican Bishop of Toronto. The National
Council of Women of Canade and the Canadi-
an Legion, assembled in - convention,
expressed the desire for such measures, as
did several local Rotary and Kiwanis groups.

These spontaneous expressions reflect a
groundswell of opinion across Canada that a
curb be placed on the gratuitous and deliber-
ate dissemination of hatred against racial and
religious groups.

Telephone Messages:

Within the last several months a situation
has arisen in the Toronto area which is
squarely in the purview of this committee. A
local hatemonger has rented a code-a-phone
service from the Bell Canada firm. This enab-
les him to convey taped messages that vilify
racial and religious groups such as Negroes
and Jews on an ongoing 24 hour a day basis.
There has been concerted public and private
protest to the telephone company but Bell
Canada takes the position that they cannot act
until there is a clear Federal legislation of the
kind contemplated in Bill S-21. This entire
episode, which is still going on—the messages
are changed weekly—is a valid example of
hatemongering being carried on overtly and
blatantly, using the facilities of a public utili-
ty and spreading false and defamatory stories
vilifying racial and religous groups. This is a
clear case where legislation is called for.

I heard one of the honourable senators ask
whether there had been any advertisements
in connection with this program. I have been
advised that there has been publicity in con-
nection with these programs. I have also been
advised that there has been a series of per-
sons called harum-scarum, without any special
means, by telephone calls to subscribers in
the Bell Telephone directory suggesting to
them that if they want to hear a message of
importance they should call the number
indicated.

Senator Choquette: We have been told that
the line was busy all the time because a
receiver had been lifted.

Senator Croll: Do not be misled by that.
They have an easy way of getting round that.
When that is done they immediately call the
telephone company and say the line is out of
order, and they put it in order quickly. He
was kidding you about that. I can tell you
that.

Senator Choquette: That comes from Smith.

Senator Croll: It came from Smith but
Croll is correcting him.

(Reading)

We appear before you today in support of
the legislation embodied in Bill S-21, which
we feel, subject to the comments we have
made in several respects, is on the whole
wisely conceived and drafted. The danger of
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hate propaganda, as has been stated, lies not
in its quantity or volume but in its intrinsic
quality, a quality which undermines the cli-
mate of our public life. Having said this, we
nevertheless state that there has really not
been a serious abatement in the currency and
distribution of this propaganda.

Mr. Louis Herman made reference to the
fact that even at the present time such propa-
ganda is in the mail. Representations have
been made to the Honourable Mr. Kierans in
connection therewith, and examples of such
hate literature have been sent to him.
(Reading)

Recently such leaflets were distributed in
London, Ontario, notice of which was sent to
the office of the Attorney General of Canada.
Within the past year the City of Winnipeg
was plagued by the persistent smearing of
hate slogans. Material continues to enter
Canada freely from abroad. The time to enact
such legislation is now. A measure passed in
this session would establish that Canada feels
strongly enough about its democratic values
and the integrity of the spoken and written
word to take a positive step to protect these
values.

We have summarized the findings of the
special committee basically that legislation
curbing incitement to violence and hate
propaganda is called for. We have mentioned
the example of Great Britain, where similar
legislation was introduced in recent years. We
have referred to the disturbing psychological
and psychiatric implications of hate propa-
ganda, citing three significant documents: the
study by Dr. Harry Kaufmann as embodied in
the report of the special committee; “Warrant
for Genocide”, a book by a noted British psy-
chologist on the myth of the world conspira-
cy, and how this myth gained acceptance, and
a psychiatric report on a survivor of the
death camps presented to the Ontario Court
of Appeal. We have dealt with the safeguards
the legal draughtsmen have written into the
bill to ensure protection of freedom of speech,
and have shown that the defence of truth is
available in this bill though it is not present
as a defence in a number of other allied
offences. We have established that this
proposed legislation does not permit any prior
censorship of speech or writing. We have
entered a strong plea for the inclusion of
religion as a quality of an identifiable group.
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We have listed the number of professional
communal and political organizations who
have asked for the law to intervene in this
vital area of human relations.

We urge you, honourable senators, to give
this bill your scrutiny and attention, for we
are optimistic that a close examination of its
measures will reveal the positive benefits that
will flow from it. This is an opportunity to
demonstrate in a practical and affirmative
way that having just completed the Interna-
tional Year for Human Rights, Canada is seri-
ous in the defence of her democratic pattern
of life and values and intends to offer
these full protections in law.

We look forward with confidence to your
committee commending the bill before you.

The Chairman: I congratulate you on the
vigour with which you have read that entire
document.

Mr. Abbey: Thank you very much.

The Chairman: We have listened with great
interest to what you have read.

Mr. Abbey: With the permission of the
chairman, may I suggest that Mr. Saul Hayes,
the Executive Vice President of Congress,
might have a word or two to speak.

The Chairman: I expected he would have
something to say and would be one of the
three speakers and I have great pleasure on
calling upon Mr. Hayes.

Are there any questions that the honoura-
ble senators would like to ask of this witness?
Senator Prowse, I think, was the first.

Senator Prowse: On page 13 in your brief
you state—it is at the end of the second
paragraph.

We also want to suggest here that the
anti-genocide clause be redrafted so as to
apply to ‘“identifiable groups” as the
other clauses do.

Why do you feel that it would be an
improvement to narrow down the general
provisions of present section 267a so as to
limit their advocation only to where the
group falls within the defined categories.

Mr. Saul Hayes (Executive vice-president,
Canadian Jewish Congress): We discovered an
oversight which we believe was accidental.
When you get into the matter of promoting
genocide, the definition includes killing
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members of a group and causing serious bodi-
ly or mental harm to members of the group.
The point that is made on that expands and
not restricts it.

Senator Prowse: On page 13, the last sen-
tence in your second paragraph, just under
the heading “The Bill and its Safeguards”. It
seems to me that “group” is wider.

The Chairman: It is any group, though. It
is not a defined group. At least it is not only a
group defined in the way that we have
expressed it by colour and so on.

Mr. Hayes: It is pointed out by Mr. Herman
that in the bill itself, on page 2, in sub-
clause (5)(b) “identifiable group” means any
section of the public distinguished by colour,
race or ethnic origin. I am leaving out the
word “religion” because I am quoting from
the submitted bill, whereas at the beginning
it does not harmonize with it.

Senator Prowse: It does not give any
definition of ‘“group” but merely of “identifia-
ble group”?

Mr. Hayes: That is correct.

Senator Prowse: You feel that with the use
of the word “group”, without “identifiable”
attached to it, it now refers to something that
does not come within the ambit of the
legislation.

Mr. Hayes: And it does not harmonize with
the legislation in clause (5)(b) of bill S-21.

The Chairman: It is rather interesting that
the United Nations document reads like this:
ARTICLE II. In the present Convention,
genocide means any of the following acts
committed with intent to destroy in
whole or in part, a national, ethnic, ra-
cial or religious group as such:

(a) Killing members of the group;

(b) Causing serious bodily or mental
harm to members of the group;

(c) Deliberately inflicting on the group
conditions of life calculated to bring
about its physical destruction in whole or
in part;

(d) Imposing measures intended to pre-
vent births within the group;

(e) Forcibly transferring children of the

" group to another group.

43

Now, that is very similar to the bill before
us, except that the bill before us is much
wider and does not confine genocide to any
group but extends it to all groups.

Senator Prowse: It could include the
Toronto Maple Leafs hockey team.

Mr. Hayes: That is why, Mr. Chairman, it
was meant to tidy up the phraseology. It was
just to take care of the possibility suggested
by Senator Prowse and to make it in full
harmony with the definition, because, if you
do not put “identifiable” in there, then you
widen it. The word “identifiable” restricts it,
but in the sense of the total philosophy of the
legislation.

Senator Prowse: It keeps it so that we are
dealing with the same thing and not in the
sense that it is so wide that a court would
feel that it did not know how to deal with it.

Mr. Hayes: That is the exact point.

The Chairman: You think it would
strengthen the bill, if we were to restrict it to
the “identifiable groups”?

Mr. Hayes: It is eloquence of language in
order that there be no confusion as to the
point. It is to keep it within the same philoso-
phy that the bill is all about.

Senator Prowse: I see a possibility of hav-
ing a good argument in which one thing is
defined and another is not. It is certainly a
good basis for confusion.

Senator Walker: Mr. Chairman, returning
to a point made by my learned friend, Mr.
Abbey, it is agreed, is it not, that all these
resolutions from the various provinces,
Ontario, Manitoba and so on, to which Mr.
Abbey refers on page 20 of the brief, do
support any Government action curbing this
unrestricted hate dissemination; but it is
equally true that there is no support for this
draft bill as such. Have you any recommenda-
tions supporting it?

Mr. Abbey: I believe there are some.

Senator Walker: I have not seen any. As
you know, we are all against hate dissemina-
tion, but with respect to the actual bill itself,
has anybody, other than the Jewish Congress,
supported the bill which is before the Senate
today?
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Mr. Abbey: I believe so, Senator Walker. I
believe we can make available to you some
such recommendations.

Senator Prowse: I believe, Mr. Chairman,
that there may be, in the file from the last
committee, letters including specific recom-
mendations and specific letters of support in
addition to the briefs we received at that
time.

Mr. Abbey: I meant to say, Senator Walk-
er, that those to which we refer referred to
the bill which was before the honourable
Senate previously.

The Chairman: Mr. Abbey, if you will
make a memorandum of that, I will have it
sent to each one of the members of the
committee.

Senator Walker: Send it to the chairman.

Mr. Hayes: May I advise Senator Walker
that the National Congress of Jews, the
Canadian Council for Christians and Jews
and the United Nations Association, all three,
either have commended or propose to com-
mend the bill in its special form—the three
organizations.

Senator Prowse: My recollection is that we
will find in the correspondence from last year
a resolution from that group, or one of them.

The Chairman: I will have that looked up,
Senator Prowse.

Mr. Hayes: We will certainly gather that
together for the committee and have it sent to
you. We are grateful to Senator Walker for
calling that to our attention. It is an impor-
tant matter.

Mr. Abbey: I would like to make two or
three observations, but first'I would like to
make a slight correction. On page 2 we
referred to Mr. MacKay as the then executive
director of the Manitoba Free Press. Obvious-
ly, it should be the Winnipeg Free Press.

Senator Croll: It covers Manitoba.

Mr. Abbey: The second point is that when
Mr. Herman gave his testimony he stated that
he did not want to file exhibits concerning a
new spate of hate literature. I talked about it
with him and with Mr. Keyfitz. I think it
would be in the interest of the committee if
we did so file that, and I would like to leave
that with the Clerk of the committee.

The Chairman: Thank you.

Senate Commitiee

Mr. Hayes: Another point I wish to make
starts off from the observation by Senator
Walker, about the Canadian Jewish Congress
being perhaps the only one, as far as he
knew, which was in support of Bill S-21, or
formerly Bill S-5. It is a starting off point on
what I want to say.

While we must be special pleaders—and I,
personally, having been a member of the
original committee, could be considered as a
special pleader—I want to state that the legis-
lation we have in mind, as is obvious from its
text, is legislation that we believe is for the
benefit of the entire community. I would like
to place on record a personal observation
which almost anywhere else in Canada would
be a question of privilege, that the Canadian
Jewish Community would think it would be
worse tactics, and of great harm to it, to try
to obtain legislation affecting it alone. It
would be psychologically unwise, it would be
socially unwise; we would never present a
bill specifically for the protection of the
Jewish community. So, while we are surro-
gates, you might say, of the Jewish communi-
ty in this matter, what we are presenting is a
bill concerning the democratic interest of the
Canadian community.

On page 3 of the brief you will find, in a
quotation on the work of the special commit-
tee, a statement pregnant with much mean-
ing. It refers to page 59 of the special com-
mittee’s report and it says:

Given a certain set of socio-economic cir-
cumstances, public susceptibility to such
material might increase significantly.

I think we have to weigh this, and T humbly
suggest to honourable senators that what we
are facing now in Canada, with violence in
many phases of what is going on in Canada,
makes it inevitable that your attention to this
bill be much greater than when it was first
introduced. In other words, if this special
committee, which the late lamented Honoura-
ble Guy Favreau had appointed to study the
problem of hate propaganda, had existed in
the ambiance of today, its report would have
been much more vigorous, because we see
today where anti-semitism in Canada is one
of the minor ills facing Canada.

I would be less than fair to you if I sug-
gested that anti-Semitism in Canada today is
of such a nature that the Jews are in great
peril. They are not; it is not the great peril of
our time. What is important, however, is the
tools of the trade, and the tools of the trade
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are hate, hate propaganda. For example, right
now, in the mess this continent is in in the
matter of the failure to establish the proper
relationships between black and white, there
is an explosive situation there of a tremen-
dous potential where the use of hate propa-
ganda would be the chief weapon to be used.

In the case, for example, of the Indians, we
are hearing every day threats that there will
be violence on the part of Indians, to the
effect that if they do not receive a square
deal there will be great violence.

I contend, honourable senators, that the use
of hate propaganda in this field will just add
fuel to what may be a very big conflagration,
and if we do not now have the sagacity to
prepare legislation for these needs in times of
turbulence that we can all foresee, I think we
are all derelict in our duty.

Walter Bagehot, the great British political
scientist, said that public law is always 40
years behind the times—the law should have
been passed 40 years before the events which
make it relevant. Now we are in a position
where time does not stand that still. Forty
years is eons and eons compared to the speed
with which changes take place in our society
daily and hourly. Who could have dreamed a
few years ago of the troubles in the universi-
ties to the extent that they are now taking
place?

Therefore, our submission today is really
much more vigorous and, if you will forgive
me for saying so—and I do not need to be
presumptuous because you do not need my
advice, but I feel duty-bound to make the
statement that the need for legislation today
is of such a character that, though some of
you might have wanted to reject it out of
hand three or four years ago, you may have
to take a different look at it now in light of
the problems we face at this moment in the
society in which we live.

Senator Walker: Excuse me, is it not true
though there is even less reason as far as the
Jewish people are concerned than three years
ago? We have not heard any propaganda
against them. Isn’t it so that it has died down
against them?

Mr. Hayes: It is sporadic, Senator Walker.
For example, recently in Montreal we, in our
office, received a dozen telephone calls and,
through the mails, hundreds of letters which
citizens had received from the disseminators
of hate propaganda. We believe a man by the
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name of Zundel, who was a candidate in the
Liberal Party Leadership Convention, is re-
sponsible. His candidacy lasted a day or so.

Senator Prowse: He did not get many votes
though.

Mr. Hayes: No. It is that Mr. Zundel who
undoubtedly sent out this barrage of mail. It
is of a sporadic nature. At one time you are
flooded with it, and then months go by. Four
months ago there was this large quantity of
literature came in, and if we got a few hun-
dred, I can imagine the great number
received by others. I might say this, that Mr.
Zundel believes in psychological warfare,
because, as far as I know, his addressees
were members of the Jewish community. You
might say that is not a demonstrable aspect of
anti-Semitism, to distribute such propaganda
within the Jewish community; but it is there
and evidence of it does exist to a number of
many hundreds we received. How many went
into the wastepaper basket, we had no way of
telling. It also appears in some of the exam-
ples Mr. Herman produced, which is very
recent. But I will say again, honourable sena-
tors, that the incidence of anti-Semitism to
the degree that I cannot sleep at night does
not exist. I do not think that is the issue,
however. I think the issue is that the poten-
tial is there and I think the issue is that no
individual in our democratic system of gov-
ernments should be in the position always of
being afraid that this type of literature might
escalate and become bigger and bigger in
volume. While preserving the rights of free
speech in a democratic system, which we
believe this legislation does, we have never-
theless to take care of the possible influence
of the general sphere of propaganda of hate,
and not restricted only to anti-Jewish
propaganda.

Senator Croll: Mr. Hayes, what you are
saying, in effect, is that the War Measures
Act has always been on the statute books of
Canada.

Mr. Hayes: This is a good point, because
during the war years it was always felt under
the Defence of Canada Regulations that this
type of propaganda had to be contained on
the theory that the total mobilization for war
effort made it necessary. Our contention is
that this is a distinction without a difference;
that the community of Canada must be pro-
tected in time of peace as in time of war.
There seems to be little difference in the
rationale of such a difference.



46

Senator Cook: You are saying that your
further point is that while your group expects
this, it can be used today against any group.

Mr. Hayes: Definitely so. I would say of the
religious aspect that we have recently seen up
to as late as yesterday the dangers inherent in
religious hate propaganda. The events in
Northern Ireland are shameful. I am sure that
all the honourable senators will agree. The
propaganda there is against a whole group of
people or class of people, which can be iden-
tified totally by religion because they are of
the same stock as the other people in North-
ern Ireland, and they are of the same back-
ground and the same culture. The only thing
that makes them an identifiable group is their
Catholicism. This is a shameful performance
in a democratic society. If a bill such as this
had been enacted in Northern Ireland then at
least part of the situation there would have
been averted.

Senator Croll: Mr. Hayes, let me say as a
dues paying member of the Congress, if there
is such a thing...

Mr, Hayes: I have checked my books, sena-
tor, and you are paid up.

Senator Croll: ...I would have felt better
about your presentation if you had been able
to point to when you had taken the same
interest on behalf of the Indians.

Mr. Hayes: As a matter of fact, that is
something that has been of considerable
interest to the Canadian Jewish Congress,
which was founded in 1919 to protect Jewish
interests. I am speaking with considerable
personal liberty on it because I have been a
member for a long time, and I was once a
member of the Executive Committee of the
Canadian Eskimo Foundation, and am still a
member. So my personal views do not have
to be traversed. As for the Congress, it is an
organization for the protection of the Jewish
community, and perhaps its aims should be
wider. Perhaps it should be a civil liberties
society.

Up to the present time our interest is
primarily, but not exclusively, in matters
concerning the Jewish community. For exam-
ple, there have been a number of occasions
on which non-Jewish members of the Canadi-
an community have sought our help in res-
pect of such things as discrimination in
employment. We get it all the time. We do
not fail to act. On the specific question of
publicly coming to the support of the Indians,

Senate Committee

we have not done so as a Congress, but I
would like to assure honourable senators,
particularly Senator Croll, that we are in
association with a group called the Jewish
Labour Committee, and the Jewish Labour
Committee and Congress are in partnership in
matters affecting human rights.

One of our great battles in Pembroke and
in other areas has been the defence of the
Indians. In St. Thomas and other places in
Ontario our own committee has for years
been active in protecting human rights and
civil rights for the negro population. We have
been very closely concerned with the opera-
tions of the Ontario Human Rights Commis-
sion in order to give some help and assistance
towards solving that particular problem.
While officially we come here before you as
special pleaders, as representatives of the
Jewish community—pride and smugness are
two great sins and I will try not to be guilty
of them—at least we have a special showing
in connection with our interests through vari-
ous affiliations with other associations in
defence of civil rights.

Senator Walker: Surely we have no hatred
against the Indians. Are we not more and
more sympathetic to them, and more and
more sympathetic to negroes? Perhaps they
have an antagonism towards us because they
have been badly treated, so the shoe is on the
other foot. I went to school with my friend
Louis Herman, and through college with him
too, and over 40 or 50 years we have known
antagonism towards the Jews and hatred, but
surely this has all died away. I would love to
hear of some example in Canada occurring in
recent years, not when he and I were at
school together, which will show why legisla-
tion such as this, which is dramatic, strin-
gent, harsh and oppressive legislation, should
be passed at the present time so far as Jews
are concerned, because I do not think any of
us is against Indians or negroes. They may be
against us, but I do not think that will upset
the peace.

Mr. Abbey: I do not know if it is incor-
porated into the proceedings of this commit-
tee, but if you examine the proceedings of the
Senate committee which sat under Senator
Prowse’s distinguished chairmanship last year
you will find ample evidence of the amount of
anti-Semitic literature.

I do not want to be misunderstood when I
say it is not a traumatic experience for me. It
is a traumatic experience for those who get
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the material, if it is one person, one thousand
or one hundred thousand. It does go on, I
repeat, sporadically, sometimes in a great
mass sometimes it dies down for a while and
then comes up again. The material we are
producing now is an indication that it does
exist. The Bell Telephone statement in anoth-
er indication that it exists. By the way, with
considerable respect to your views, senator,
we do not think the legislation is oppressive.
If that is what is dividing us, we do not think
it is oppressive legislation.

Senator Walker: I know you do not; I
appreciate that.

Mr. Abbey: In the whole history of the
nineteenth and twentieth centuries many of
those in the movement for the protection of
civil rights have been Jewish, and we hope
that we inherit that tradition. If we did not
we would lose many of our adherents. We do
not think that such legislation in any jot or
title affects the cherished rights of free
assembly and free speech. As has been point-
ed out, what the legislation does is to say that
when in the free market place of ideas some-
one ceases to play the rules of the democratic
game, it should be stopped. If anybody
chooses to have a dissertation on why the fact
that the Jewish community is this, that and
the other thing, in the cool use of proper
phrasing in debate, this legislation fortunately
will not stop it. What it is intended to stop is
the vituperation and the insults from which
no member of a democratic society should
suffer.

Mr. Herman: Mr. Chairman, the honourable
Senator Walker addressed some remarks to
me. May I say that one person responsible for
a change in the climate of public opinion was
the honourable senator himself, who I know
was chiefly responsible for the fact that the
Toronto Lawyers Club now welcomes Jewish
lawyers, which it did not do some time ago. I
think it was of great credit to the honourable
Senator Walker that he proposed a change in
the by-laws. I know he fought for a number
of years—and it was not easy—and he is
chiefly responsible for it. Nobody has to tell
me where his sentiments lie, and certainly
there have been changes since the time he
and I went to school, but we must examine
the reasons for them. I would like to suggest,
with respect, that one of the chief reasons for
the present climate of public opinion is the
fact that we have legislation in Ontario pro-
hibiting the type of discriminatiqn the honour-

able senator knows about and that I met
with 30, 40 or 50 years ago. The legislation
itself has not necessarily had this effect, but
it has had the effect of educating the public
regarding the fact that the laws of Ontario
and the other provinces will not permit cer-
tain types of discrimination. Incidentally,
today it was reported that Newfoundland
yesterday introduced similar laws, so the atti-
tude must be that it is contrary to public
opinion to discriminate.

Similarly, in the field of hate propaganda I
would suggest that the average Canadian
must learn through legislation—just as he did
in the field of discrimination—that the Parlia-
ment of Canada is opposed to this type of
thing, and that it is incumbent upon every
Canadian to be opposed to it. We are among
friends here, and we certainly know that the
Canadian public does not discriminate as it
did, but if you want an example of what can
happen because of these sporadic outbreaks,
such as my learned friend Mr. Hayes men-
tioned, you have only to look at Time maga-
zine of a month ago and the lead article relat-
ing to the struggle between the blacks and
the Jews in New York City. Had someone
come to me a year ago and said that there
would be a great outbreak of anti-semitism in
New York I would have said to that person,
“You are quite crazy!” New York has half a
million Jews.

Senator Choquette: Two and a half million.

Mr. Herman: Two and a half million, I am
sorry.

Senator Choquette: The rest are Irish!

Mr. Herman: Two and a half million Jews.
They have done very well in New York; they
have laws protecting them; and certainly they
have nothing to fear. Yet this type of sporadic
propaganda has been broadcast on radio sta-
tions in New York and has appeared in publi-
cations. As an example, there is the one we
know about in the big museum on Fifth Ave-
nue. This is subtle, anti-semitic propaganda.
Time magazine says it is a potential national
disaster in New York. It can happen over-
night and, as my learned friend Mr. Hayes
pointed out, it is the very sort of thing we
want to safeguard against, before anything
like that happens here. God forbid that any-
thing like that should happen in this country.
I would suggest one of the best ways of safe-
guarding against it is to have legislation such
as will make it clear, as a matter of public
policy, that this country will not permit that
type of hate propaganda.
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The Chairman: Well, that we will not allow
a basis to be laid for that kind of an outburst.

Senator Eudes: Before we adjourn, I would
like to know if it would be correct to con-
clude by saying that this congress wants to
have one additional modification made to Bill
S-21, that the word “religion” be added in the
proposed new section 267B(5)(b)?

Mr. Abbey: That is correct, with one addi-
tion which we pointed out before on the
genocide aspect, to include the word “identifi-
able” in describing the group. But the main
thing is the addition of the word “religion”.

Senator Prowse: Those are the only two
recommendations?

Senate Commitiee

Mr. Abbey: Also, our recommendation is
that senators vote for the passage of the bill.

The Chairman: Honourable senators, I wish
to express my appreciation for this presenta-
tion. T would like to include a word of thanks
to those who have come and have not
appeared as speakers, who have been silent
listeners. I think I could feel their influence,
their unspoken influence, approving what you
gentlemen have so well said. You have been
clear, forceful and very impressive. On behalf
of the committee, I thank you for the public
spirit which you have shown in coming here
and giving us the benefit of your knowledge
and wisdom.

Hon. Senators: Hear, hear.
The committee adjourned.
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purposes, at such rates of remuneration and reimbursement as the Committee may
determine, and to compensate witnesses by reimbursement of travelling and living
expenses, in such amounts as the Committee may determine.

The question being put on the motion, it was—
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Tuesday, March 4th, 1969.

Pursuant to adjournment and notice, the Senate Committee on Legal and Consti-
tutional Affairs met this day at 2 p.m.

Present: The Honourable Senators Roebuck, (Chairman), Aseltine, Belisle, Choquette,
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The following witness was heard:
Mr. J. A. Scollin, Director, Criminal Law Section, Department of Justice.

At 4:05 p.m. the Committee adjourned to the call of the Chairman.
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THE SENATE

COMMITTEE ON LEGAL AND CONSTITUTIONAL AFFAIRS

EVIDENCE

Tuesday, March 4, 1969.

The Senate Committee on Legal and Constitutional
Affairs, to which was referred Bill S-21, to amend the
Criminal Code (Hate Propaganda), met this day at 2
p.m.

Senator Arthur W. Roebuck (Chairman) in the Chair.

The Chairman: Honourable senators, we have just
one witness today, Mr. J. A. Scollin, whom we have
already heard. He is going to complete his evidence
today.

Mr. Scollin, we might as well start now; the audience
is yours.

Mr. J. A. Scollin, Director, Criminal Law Section,
Department of Justice: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Mr. Chairman, honourable senators, on the pre-
vious occasion when I was here, February 30, I had
been indicating, by an analysis of subsection (5) of
section 267B, the meanings of these standard words or
phrases that are used throughout the section. We had
looked at the definition of “public place,” of “identi-
fiable group” and of “‘statements”.

Relating these to subsection 1 of section 267B, which
is one of the two offences created under that section,
the offence of public incitement of hatred requires the
communication of statements in a public place inciting
hatred or contempt against an identifiable group and
in these circumstances only —that is, where such incite-
ment is likely to lead to a breach of the peace—and the
offence is punishable either on indictment or on'sum-
mary conviction. You will note that there is no provi-
sion for any particular defence of, for example, belief
in the truth of what was said or reasonable grounds for
believing it to be true and in the public interest, and so
on. There is no provision in the case of the public
incitement provision for any such defence.

Subsection (2) creates the second of the two of-
fences under section 267B. It, in fact, applies, no mat-
ter where the statement should be made, whether in
public, in a public place, or in private. You will see
that there the elements of the offence—and this is
subsection (2) of section 267B. . .

The Chairman: On page 2.

Mr. Scollin: The offence requires these elements:
firstly, communication of statements, ‘“‘statements”
being defined as we have dealt with already. Secondly,
that this communication willfully promotes either
hatred or contempt, and that such hatred or con-
tempt is directed against, again, an identifiable group
as defined in subsection (5).

Mr. Hopkins: May I ask a question? We had a
phonograph record at our last sitting. I believe you
were here, were you not?

Mz. Scollin: I was not here on February 25, no.
Mr. Hopkins: We had a phonograph record. . .
Senator Prowse: It was a tape recording, actually.

Mr. Hopkins: Yes, we heard a tape recording. I ask
this question for purposes of elucidation as to whether
the content of that tape recording, leaving aside the
defences, would be a statement within the definition
of “statements”, and whether it would in any way be
covered by sub-clause (2) of the proposed new section
267A.

Senator Prowse: Mr. Chairman, may I ask a question
which follows Mr. Hopkins’ question? Would it help
to clarify the matter if we had a definition of the word
“‘communicates”, which is a word that has a broad,
general, and rather imprecise meaning. What I am get-
ting at is this, I might make a speech and have no
communication with my audience at all. This is what I
have in mind.

The Chairman: Many of us have had that experience.

Senator Prowse: Yes, is it not a dialogue but duo-
logue, as the man said in Time magazine?

Mr. Scollin: I take it that this is in reference to
pre-recorded messages through the telephone. . .

Senator Prowse: It does not matter. Mr. Hopkins is
referring specifically to a recorded statement being
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broadcast over a telephone. You dial a number and
listen, and you hear this guck.

Mr. Scollin: It strikes me that the word ‘‘com-
municates” or *‘ communicating” refers to a commu-
nication no matter how that communication is ef-
fected—whether it is by pure reverberations of the
larynx, or whether it is a reproduction of impulses or
transmission by airwaves. It strikes me that the
word ‘“‘communication” is broad enough in its present
form to cover any form of presentation, and at the
same time it strikes me that the word “ statements”,
which is defined as including and not just as meaning
words either spoken or written, is sufficient.

Senator Prowse: Or recorded? Should we have
that in?

Mr. Scollin: Spoken or written.

Senator Prowse: Do you mean by a person, or by an
electronic device of any nature?

Mr. Scollin: It does not seem to me to matter how
they actually come to be spoken, whether through a
pre-recorded tape or by some other electronic means.
If they are words and they are spoken, I do not really
think I would be inclined to argue—I would not want
to be found arguing in favour of the proposition,
simply because the words were spoken yesterday and
recorded and then repeated today, that they were not
spoken words. It seems to me that within the defini-
tion they are words spoken, and they are spoken and
repeated every time you put the record on. They are
spoken words. If the noise comes across and hits you
in the ear, and you understand it, then there has been
communication, and every time those words are
repeated there is communication.

Senator Walker: But is it not the Bell Telephone
Company that is communicating the statement here?
Originally it was this fellow in Toronto who made the
tape. He rented the telephone from the Bell Telephone
Company, but every time that number is called is it
not the Bell Telephone Company and its communica-
tions system which is communicating the statements?

Mr. Scollin: It may very well be that in addition
they are, but I do not think one can hold the original
man blameless. It strikes me as being a bit too narrow
to say that because the recording is played over the
telephone he is not communicating the statement.

Senator Croll: If I speak to Senator Walker then I
speak to Senator Walker and not to the telephone. If
the answering service answers it is still not the Bell
Telephone Company. They are solely the medium, are
they not? They are not communicating.

Senate Committee

Senator Prowse: Mr. Scollin, what I have in mind
is this: The criminal law is probably the most tech-
nical part of all our law, and in order to get a
conviction you must bring a person strictly within
the law. The law must be interpreted strictly by the
courts, according to their rules, and any kind of
technical defence is available to a defence consel in a
criminal prosecution. It seems to me that there are
two possibilities here. Spoken signals indicate that we
are after a person who is responsible. I would argue
in the first case for the signal. Now, when you get it
through an electronic device is that person then
responsible within the law, or not? In other words,
can we tighten it up?

The second thing is when you say “communica-
tion”—in the modern interpretation of the word, for
me to communicate with you does not mean for me to
say something to you. It includes my saying something
and your understanding, or hearing, or receiving what
I say. It seems to me that there could be a defence
here on the grounds that the statement was not receiv-
ed and, therefore, there was no communication.

In other words, should we go further than this
general word ‘‘communication”? Should we make it
clear that a statement includes the repetition of it by
electronic devices. Whether we want to get the Bell
Telephone Company for repeating it, or whether we
want merely to get the guy for putting it out, is
something for this committee to determine. But, I
think this could be a ground of defence once you
get out of the trial and into the appeal aspect of the
prosecution of any case.

Mr. Scollin: I would put it this way, Senator Prowse;
my own approach to this situation of communication
by these various modern kinds of devices is that the
definitions as they are set out here are sufficient,
noting the spirit and intent of the act, and bearing in
mind the fact that section 11 of the Interpretation Act
does require every statute, including the Criminal
Code, to be given fair, large, and liberal interpretation.

However, this is a matter on which, I think, if enough
honourable senators such as yourself feel there is an
area of doubt, then naturally since this is intended to
be struck out, one could not oppose some form of
clarification, if it was felt that clarification was want-
ed, to include the words “whether by telecommunica-
tions, telegraphic, or other communications’ or some
such form.

Senator Prowse: You see, I have in mind that when I
look at the definition of ‘‘statements™ in paragraph (c).
which is what this is all about, and then I apply the
ejusdem generis rule to “‘includes words either spoken
or written”, it is an individual who speaks or writes; it
is an individual who makes. gestures; it is an individual
who makes or uses signs or other visible representa-
tions. I would therefore say that this reference to the
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original party and not to, shall we say, a bookseller,
who distributes literature, who did not write it, speak
it or make a statement, who is not even communicat-
ing but is just distributing something, is a weakness
that provides a wide open hole for any responsible
attorney who undertakes the task of making a de-
fence. This is particularly true of the general principle
of law that in the interpretation of the criminal law
there will be given not a wide or a liberal but a very
strict interpretation.

Mr. Scollin: That would be contrary to section 11 of
the Interpretation Act.

Senator Prowse: When one gets into the criminal
law, the general principle involved is anything that
interferes with the rights; it must be strictly interpret-
ed. Your section 7 reserves the common law principles
except as they are set out or may be specifically ejected
from the Criminal Code. As an overall principle, our
courts have accepted and are today guided by this
principle in their interpretation of the criminal law.
The Crown in a case does not make a moral judgment,
it makes a technical judgment, and one must be
brought within the narrow confines of the legislation
or there is no offence. It may be morally reprehensible
or it may be something else, but this is what I am
concemed about.

Mr. Scollin: I see your point on the word “‘state-
ments” and the word *“ communications”.

Senator Prowse: I think the word ‘“communica-
tions” should be defined.

The Chairman: Section 267B(1) says:

Every one who, by communicating statements in
any public place.

Supposing after the word “statements” we added “by
any means,” would that not be broad enough to cover
electronic or any other machinery, such as the
telephone?

Senator Prowse: I am concerned that in modern
usage ‘‘communicates’” has a connotation today in
which there is a two-way interplay, an exchange.

Senator Grosart: That is not just modern usage. The
word has meant that since it came into the language.

Senator Prowse: With all respect to Senator Grosart,
if I go into court to defend somebody I have every-
thing at my disposal, every device I can think of, and I
would say that when this is written in 1969 it must be
presumed that the words used are intended in their
1969 meaning.

Senator Grosart: Lagree with you in that sense.

Senator Prowse: In most courts this would be a sub-
stantial argument when presented by the defence if it
narrowed down the area covered by strict interpreta-
tion of the law, which criminal courts apply.

Senator Choquette: Is one to have no defence at
all? Surely he will be left something to play around
with. Are you going to tie him in a knot altogether?

Senator Prowse: I think the best law is the one that
is never challenged.

The Chairman: Honourable senators, time is slip-
ping by. Would it strengthen the situation if we said:
“‘communicating statements by any means”’?

Senator Prowse: Might I suggest that Mr. Scollin be
given some opportunity to think this over and come
back at another time, now that we have noted our
concern? He may find the concern is not justified by
the facts. On the other hand, he may feel it does mean
that there is a loophole here which should be filled,
and he is the man to fill it.

Mr. Scollin: At the present I disagree with you, sena-
tor, but I respect your view and I should like to exam-
ine these two aspects. There is first the word “‘com-
municates”, and secondly the significance of the scope
of the word ‘“‘statements’ because of the definition,
restricting it apparently to words spoken or written. I
take it those are the two points.

Senator Grosart: There are definitions of “‘communi-
cations” in other acts which should be looked at. The
Radio Act and Broadcasting Act define ‘“‘communica-
tions, usually with a qualifier, ‘“‘communication by
radio” and so on.

Senator Prowse: Usually for specific purposes in
those acts.

Mr. E. Russell Hopkins, Law Clerk and Parliamen-
tary Counsel: I think Mr. Scollin will get considerable
help from the evidence given at the last meeting by the
Bell Telephone of Canada who explained the phono-
graph and how they were involved. I think that would
be helpful.

Mr. Scollin: I have asked for a copy of that as soon as
it is printed.

The Chairman: We will see that you get it.

Senator Prowse: The Bell Telephone Company said
they carried out these things that they found repre-
hensible because they had no legal basis for refusing. If
the act made them guilty of an offence if they carried
it out, knowingly at least, they would be able to refuse
to do it if they were concerned, and would put not on
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themselves but on the person who might be refused
the onus of determining whether the material he
wanted covered was entitled to this kind of distribu-
tion. This is what I have in mind.

Senator Grosart: Senator Cameron had included in
the Senate Hansard some hate literature. Would he
be guilty of communicating that?

Senator Prowse: That is absolute privilege.

The Chairman: We have no privilege against breaking
the criminal law.

Senator Prowse: You mean we cannot shoot some-
body.

Mr. Scollin: In the case of defamatory libel the code
goes out of its way expressly to exempt statements in
those circumstances.

Senator Grosart: This amendment also goes out of
its way to do the same thing.

Mr. Scollin: It has not so far.

Mr. Hopkins: This bill does not contain any compar-
able exception.

Mr. Scollin: Section 256 of the Criminal Code at
present has an express exemption covering parliamen-
tary papers in the case of defamatory libel which, in
effect, says:

No person shall be deemed to publish a defama-
tory libel by reason only that he (a) publishes to
the Senate or House of Commons or to a legisla-
ture, defamatory matter contained in a petition to
the Senate or House of Commons or to the legisla-
ture, as the case may be (b) publishes by order or
under the authority of the Senate or House of
Commons or of a legislature, a paper containing
defamatory matter or (c) publishes, in good faith
and without ill-will to the person defamed, an ex-
tract from or abstract of a petition or paper men-
tioned in paragraph (a) or (b).

Senator Croll: This would extend to municipal coun-
cils?

Mr. Scollin; Section 256 does not.

Senator Croll: I was just curious.

Senator Prowse: I think the question of privilege in
civil actions in municipal councils, there has to be some

privilege extended to them on the basis of their duty
to inform.

The Chairman: Are you hearing that?
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Mr. Scollin: Yes. I would think as a practical matter
this would hardly by a situation where rule 267B(1)
would apply in any event.

Such incitement is likely to lead to a breach of
the peace. . .

One could hardly presume that in the Senate or in the
house either section 267B(1) or 267B(2), offences
would be in the course of commission. The reading in
of any such material would have objects far removed
from a commission of a criminal offence.

Senator Grosart: Rule 267B(2) does not have the
qualifier of inciting hatred or contempt.

Mr. Scollin: Wilful promotion.

Senator Walker: Why would you have in subsection
267B(2) “wilfully” promote and 26 7A(1) without any
“wilful”?

Mr. Scollin: I think the reason has to be sought in
the different objects of the two subsections. Subsec-
tion (1) is directed basically to preserving the public
order and therefore it is not perhaps a relevant matter
whether the party making the statements did so wilful-
ly or not wilfully. The question is: is public order
endangered under subsection (1)? Subsection (2) does
not involve as an element the breach of public order
and the essential requirement is that what has been
said must be wilful promotion. Purely unintentional
promotion of hatred and contempt is not covered.

Senator Walker: 267B(1) is covered is it not by sec-
tion 248(2)(a) of the Criminal Code which includes
defamatory libel and also section 160 of the Criminal
Code causing a disturbance. Why do we have to have
these refinements? Are these matters not already
covered by the law?

Mr. Scollin: Defamatory libel is against a person.

Senator Walker: I know it is against a person.
Mr. Scollin: Against an individual.

Senator Walker: Yes and also can be against many
persons.

Senator Prowse: No, not unless they are a corpora-
tion, unless they are a person as far as the law is con-
cerned.

The Chairman: Unless they are indicated not in
general terms, but you can libel more than one person
at one time.

Senator Walker: They have to be identifiable as the
people and can be more than one.
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The Chairman: The finger has to point them out.
Mr. Scollin: Yes.

Senator Walker: That is already covered, is it not, by
section 247 of the Criminal Code?

Mr. Scollin: Defamatory libel.
Senator Walker: Yes.

Mr. Scollin: The effect, I think, of the Canadian
decisions is reasonably well set out at page 42 of the
report of the special committee. It points out the two
“group” situations in which plaintiffs in Canada have
been successful in proving, for the purpose of recovery
of damages, that they were defamed. They involve a
sufficiently close identification of the members of the
group as individuals. The reference to the group is
merely a cloak or cover for an attack against an easily
identifiable individual; in this case the group itself is
such a limited class that the identification of the indi-
vidual who is aimed at is easy. The principle of the
protection is that although a group may be officially
the object of the defamation, an individual has got to
be able to point out that he has been so closely and
clearly identified under the cloak of that group that he
has got the right of recovery. Section 248 does deal
with persons, not groups, not bodies, but is directed
towards the reputation of the person. Now, the defini-
tion of person in subsection (15) of section 2 of the
code runs like this:

” LEINT

(every one,” “person,” ‘“‘owner,”” and similar ex-
pressions include Her Majesty and public bodies,
bodies corporate, societies, companies; and in-
habitants of counties, parishes, municipalities or
other districts in relation to the acts and things
that they are capable of doing and owning respec-
tively ;

Senator Walker: That is pretty broad is it not?

Mr. Scollin: No, I tend to disagree in terms of what
the bill here is doing. These are virtually easily identi-
tied or distinguishable bodies; for example, belonging
to a parish or a municipality in relation to the acts and
things they are capable of doing and owning, but not a
group of the -rather broad and perhaps, to some
extent, nebulous kind that is dealt with here in the
bill. That is a group distinguished by a very broad
characteristic such as colour or race. I would say they
are not covered under the defamatory libel section.

Mr. Hopkins: Could you identify that definition
more specifically for my benefit? Where is the defini-
tion of persons quoted?

Mr. Scollin: It is included under section 2 of the
Criminal Code, subsection (15). The other section I
think you referred to was section 160. .

53

Senator Walker: Yes, what is section 160? *“‘Causing
disturbance’'I believe it is.

Mr. Scollin: Well, section 160(a), which I take it is
the one we are looking at, says:

Everyone who not being in a dwelling house
causes a disturbance in or near a public place. ..

including by the following means:

(i) by fighting, screaming, shouting, swearing,
singing or using insulting or obscene language.

Now, there is no restriction as to whether the insult-
ing language or the obscene language should be used
against an individual or a group or an identifiable
group or anything of that sort: it is a question of
whether it falls within the terms “insulting”. It might
very well be that that would cover insults against even
a fairly broad group. But the essence of the provision
is actually causing a disturbance. The disturbance has
to have resulted, before anything can be done about it.

Senator Prowse: In other words, you get a broad
coverage within the word “‘insulting”.

Mr. Scollin: I do not know whether that answer is
satisfactory or not.

Senator Walker: I want to congratulate you on the
way you are explaining everything. There may be a
difference of opinion, but you are doing a good job.

Mr. Scollin: Thank you very much, sir.
The Chairman: Thank you, Senator Walker.

Mr. Scollin: Honourable senators, if I might move on
to subsection (3) of section 267B, this subsection
provides a defence to the person accused under subsec-
tion (2) only, that is, the person who is charged with
wilful promotion of hatred. It does not provide any
defence for the person charged under subsection (1),
which deals with the public incitement. Again, the
reasoning would appear to be that where public order
is at stake, a question of the truth or falsehood, or the
belief in the truth or falsehood, or the public interest,
does not arise.

Therefore, the defence relates to subsection (2)
only—wilful promotion—and provides two defences,
that are framed on the defences that are available al
ready under the Criminal Code, in the case of defama-
tory libel.

Section 259 of the Code provides in the case of
defamatory libel that no person shall be deemed to
publish a defamatory libel by reason only that he pub-
lishes defamatory matter that on reasonable grounds
he believes is true and that is relevant to any subject of
public interest the public discussion of which is for the
public benefit.



54

Now, subsection (3) (b) has been modelled on that
and subsection (3) (a) is a recognition that proof of
truth is an absolute defence.

Mr. Hopkins: The burden being on the accused.
The Chairman: He establishes it.

Mr. Scollin: The burden is on the accused in respect
of establishing either of these defences, which of
course are alternative defences.

Senator Prowse: This creates an exception, so if it is
for the benefit of the accused, then he must decide
whether he comes within the exception. It is not the
responsibility of the Crown to prove that it does not
fall into the exception, to establish their case. If they
establish their case, he must establish that it falls
within the exception.

Mr. Scollin: That is established in the Code expressly
for summary conviction matters. It is not expressly set
out in the Code in respect of indictable matters. But
the same principle is applied. Thus, in summary con-
viction matters, section 702 of the Code provides in
subsection (2) that the burden of proving an exception,
exemption, proviso, excuse or qualification pre-
scribed by law, operates in favour of the defendant, is
on the defendant.

In the case of indictable offences, as I say, there is
no express provision comparable to that, but in a case
where a matter must be specifically within the knowl-
edge of the accused, the rule has been applied that
then it is a matter for the accused to establish and not
for the Crown to negative.

Senator Prowse: But even in an indicatable offence,
in setting out a count in an indictment, the Crown does
not have to deny the existence of an exception. It
merely has to prove that he did set out such and such
a thing to the contrary. So, there is almost an implied
inclusion of it. 2

Mr. Scollin: If it is a matter on which the Crown
does not have the burden, then I think it is fair to say
that in the absence of an express provision it needs to
be set out in the charge itself—but there is a difference
between setting it out in the charge and actually nega-
tiving it by evidence. The Crown may be obliged to set
it out in the charge, even though the burden of nega-
tiving it by evidence is on the accused.

The Chairman: You usually write it into the indict-
ment.

Mr. Scollin: I have always put any of these excep-
tions into the indictment, since it is an essential part
of the offence and if there is a warrant on conviction,
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the warrant would include it. But the burden of
proving this aspect is on the accused and not on the
Crown.

With your indulgence for a moment, honourable sen-
ators, I may be able to be of some further help, on the
sources of these defences. Perhaps all I need to add
here is that the reasoning of the special committee
obviously must have commended itself on this point.
Tke form of subsection (3) follows the recommenda-
tions of the committee contained on page 68, and, on
page 66, they observe that “The two defences of
unqualified truth, and reasonable belief in the truth
coupled with public benefit, provide considerable, and
we believe adequate, latitude for legitimate public
examination of all matters of concern toit, ...".

Since, in respect much of the material that would
fall within the ambit of this bill, it would be very
difficult, if not impossible, for the Crown to negative
the truth of the material, the burden on this is placed
on the accused.

Senator Choquette: Mr. Scollin, if the door is not
open to the accused with respect to these two alterna-
tives, we still go back to the question of wilfulness.
There is an onus on the Crown, which would be
almost tantamount to a third alternative, in respect of
“wilfulness”. The case may be dismissed unless the
Crown has proven it was wilfully made for the purpose
of enticing people to hatred.

Mr. Scollin: I agree.

Senator Choquette: So the case falls right there, if
the word “wilfully” is not met by the Crown.

Senator Prowse: It is a rather good defense, because
it is a broad positive requirement of establishing guilt.
An essential ingredient of the offence is the wilfulness
of the communication, or whatever the allegation
against the accused is; for example, the incitement.

Senator Choquette: That is right.
Senator Prowse: That is a rather good defense.

Senator Eudes: Would I be correct, Mr. Scollin, in
assuming that a person accused of communicating
hatred or contempt, if he could establish that the
statements communicated were true, could not be
convicted because of clause 267B (3) (a)?

Mr. Scollin: That is correct. There could be no con-
viction under subsection (2) in that case.

The Chairman: Unless it is made in a public place,
with the possibility or likelihood of disturbing the
peace. .
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Senator Prowse: Unless it is done for the purpose of
creating a situation which will obviously result in a
breach of the peace.

Mr. Scollin: That is correct, but there is no question
of this defence arising in such a case.

Senator Eudes: Therefore, just proving the state-
ments are true is a defense, and there is no possible
conviction against him.

Mr. Scollin: Under subsection (2), that is quite right.

If 1 might move on, then, subsection (4) is simply an
ancillary provision, providing for forfeiture of the
material in the event of a conviction of an offence,
either under 267A, which concerns the advocating or
promoting of genocide, or under 267B (1), dealing with
public incitement, or 267B (2), the wilful promotion
provision. The provision is a fairly standard one for
forfeiture of this material to Her Majesty in right of
the province in which that person is convicted, to be
disposed of as the Attorney General directs.

Moving on to clause 267C, on page 3, this type of
proceeding was not expressly dealt with by the spe-
cial committee in its report. The pattern followed,
however, is the same as that which was established in
amendments in 1959 to sections of the Criminal Code
dealing with obscenity. It is patterned on section
150A, which provides similar in rem proceedings in the
case of obscene materials or crime comics. It is, in
effect, an alternative to the actual prosecution pro-
ceedings, and provision is made that in the event of
proceedings having been taken in rem or against the
articles themselves, whether the finding is that they
are hate propaganda or not hate propaganda, then no
further proceedings in the province in which these in
rem proceedings are taken, either under the promotion
of genocide provision or under the public incitement
provision or under the wilful promotion provision, will
be taken with respect to this material without the con-
sent of the Attorney General of that province.

The idea is that, if proceedings have been taken
against the articles themselves and an order made, then
there should not be an unnecessary duplication of pro-
ceedings.

For the purposes of those in rem proceedings
dealt with in clause 266C, the subclause (8), paragraph
(c), defines hate propaganda to include various mate-
rial ways in which vilifying statements are contained,
such as in any writing, sign or visible representation
that advocates or promotes genicide, et cetera. Of
course, it cannot include oral statements because it
does not deal with anything other than publications,
copies of which are kept within the jurisdiction. -

Mr. Hopkins: Would it include tape recordings?

Mr. Scollin: I do riot think it would. *
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Senator Prowse: Ought it not to? How difficult
would it be to widen that to include such things as
tape recorders?

Mr. Scollin: In connection with the two points, I see
what you mean.

Senator Prowse: The material necessary for elec-
tronic reproduction and this would include punch
tapes and magnetic tapes. You could widen the field
every day.

Mr. Scollin: At the moment it does deal expressly
with publications as set out in 267 (1) in so far as there
is reason to believe that any publication is hate propa-
ganda.

The procedure for appeal given in this section is
again the same as that already provided for in the case
of in rem proceedings in the case of obscene material.
Very broad grounds of appeal are given in subclause (6)
whereby an appeal my be taken not only on law alone
or on fact alone and mixed fact and law, and you will
notice that as distinct from, for example, the case of
an indictable offence, no leave from the Court of
Appeal is required. The appeal lies on any of these
grounds.

The Law Clerk: In proceedings in rem.

Mr. Scollin: In in rem proceedings, yes.

Mr. Chairman, that completes in broad terms a run-
down of the act itself. So far as the present law in
Canada is concerned, I have read very carefully, and I
must say I agree with the special committee’s conclu-
sions on law that were set out in the special committee
report from pages 36 to 51. The law set out there is
accurate.

I have not dealt at any length with the English act. If
members of the committee wish that to be done, I can
do it in general terms.

The Chairman: I wish you would. It is very cogent.

Mr. Scollin: First of all, I did make copies of the
article by Assistant Professor Dickie which reviews the
14 or 15 cases that have arisen under the 1965 act.
The 1965 act has been replaced by 1968 legislation
which is the same in this respect, that is so far as
promotion of hatred is concerned. It consists of two
parts really; first of all the public order part which
corresponds to subsection (1) of section 267B and
secondly, the actual promotion of hatred part which
corresponds to section 267B, subsection (2).

The Chairman: Are there any defences set out in the
English act such as we have in ours, that is, if it is true,
it is in the public interest, and so on. Have they made
any exceptions in the English act?
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Mr. Scollin: No, they have not, Mr. Chairman.

First of all as far as the public order aspect is
concerned, the 1936 English Act as amended by the
1965 Race Relations Act reads as follows, and I am
now referring to section 5 of the Public Order Act,
1936, which now reads:

Any person who in any public place or at any
public meeting

(a) uses threatening, abusive or insulting words
or behaviour, or,

(b) distributes or displays any writing, sign, or
visible representation which is threatening,
abusive or insulting

with intent to provoke a breach of the peace, or
whereby a breach of the peace is likely to be
occasioned shall be guilty of an offence.

Now you will notice first of all that an intent is
specified—*‘with intent to provoke a breach of the
peace” and the alternative—whether or not he has
the intent—is “whereby a breach of the peace is
likely to be occasioned”. So it is an offence under
the Public Order Act if either alternative is satisfied,
either the intent to provoke a breach of the peace,
or else the likelihood that it will happen. The
statement must have been made in a public place or
in a public meeting, and the words are categorized in
that they must be threatening, abusive or insulting
words. So there is some classification of the con-
tent—the language. The alternative is the displaying
of threatening or abusive or insulting signs or visible
representations.

Now this is not in terms restricted to matters
which relate to race, religion, colour, or anything of
that nature. The test is whether by threatening,
abusive or insulting words or behaviour a breach of
the peace is either intended to be provoked or likely
to be provoked. )

The Chairman: We do not describe the words at
all, do we? What we do is to say what the effect of
the words is.

Mr. Scollin: The Canadian proposal here does, as
you say, refer to the effect of the words. It is
related to hatred or contempt against identifiable
groups. That is missing from the main public order
provision of the English legislation.

Now the incitement provision is contained in
section 6 of the Race Relations Act of 1965. I do
not know that it is very helpful to clutter up your
record with reading this in detail when it is already
reproduced at pages 96 and 97 of the special com-
mittee report. But section 6, which is the racial
hatred section, says that:
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A person shall be guilty of an offence under
this section if,

—and then it specifies the intent—

with intent to stir up hatred . . .

You can contrast this with the formula of *“‘wilful
promotion” which is contained in Bill S-21.

with intent to stir up hatred against any section
of the public in Great Britain distinguished by

—and they have the four tests:

colour, race, or ethnic or national origins. . .

The Chairman: They leave out religion there, do
they?

Mr. Scollin: Yes, they leave out religion. They do
have the words “national origins” in, which are not
in the Canadian bill.

Then you have the two alternative offences. A
person who with intent to stir up hatred against a
section as mentioned is guilty of an offence if

he publishes or distributes written matter which
is threatening, abusive or insulting being matter
or words likely to stir up hatred against that
section on grounds of colour, race or ethnic or
national origins

Again, the qualification about “‘threatening, abusive
or insulting” is an inherent qualification which does
not occur in the Canadian legislation. Then there is
the alternative, dealing with “public place™ whereby
a person is guilty of an offence if

he uses in any public place or at any public
meeting words which are threatening, abusive or
insulting, being matter or words likely to stir up
hatred against that section on grounds of colour,
race, or ethnic or national origins.

If you will look at the reprint on page 96 of the
special committee’s report, you might note that the
margining is not as clear as it might have been; they
have not followed the act exactly in the margin.

Paragraphs (a) and (b)—that is, publication or
distribution of threatening, abusive or insulting
written matter, or the use in any public place of
threatening, abusive or insulting words—are both
qualified by the words “being matter or words likely
to stir up hatred . ..” and so on.

The British Act qualifies the word “publish” in a
way which is not followed in the Canadian Act. The
Act says: .

P
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“publish” and “distribute” mean publish or dis-
tribute to the public at large or to any section of
the public not consisting exclusively of members
of an association of which the person publishing or
distributing is a member;

What this appears to contemplate is that within a
group you can do private hate mongering, that you
can circulate the stuff around until you are ill, as long
as you do not spread it outside the group. There is no
such exception created in the Canadian legislation.
But, again, you will note as far as public order is con-
cerned it is not required by the British Act that a riot
should actually erupt. It is sufficient that the words
themselves be ‘“‘matter or words likely to stir up
hatred”. As in this Bill, there has to be an assessment
of likelihood.

The penalty under section 6 ensues either on sum-
mary conviction or conviction for an indictable of-
fence. Under this act there have been some 13 or 14
prosecutions, and the extract from the Criminal Law
Quarterly, which I had distributed, sets out the out-
come of these prosecutions. With very few exceptions
they have not been reported in the law reports, but
simply in the Times and other newspapers.

You will notice that the United Kingdom legislation
has this requirement that the attorney general’s con-
sent is required for the initiation of proceedings so far
as England and Wales are concerned.

The special committee, in making its recommenda-
tions on page 71 of the report, said:

The Committee considered the advisability of
requiring the consent of the Attorney General of
the Province or of Canada to each prosecution
instituted under the legislation proposed in order
to prevent frivolous or unwarranted prosecutions,
and without making any recommendation, we
draw the Minister’s attention to this possibility.

You will notice that this course has not been fol-
lowed. There is no requirement in the Bill for the
attorney general’s consent, except in the one case
where in rem proceedings have already been taken.

Senator Prowse: Except he is the only person who
can prefer an indictment?

Mr. Scollin: Yes, as far as indictable is concerned,
but so far as summary conviction proceedings are con-
cerned a private party can carry those, and a private
party could get as far as a committal for trial before
the attorney general gets involved in it.

Senator Prowse: Except that he can become involv-
ed at any time, if he wants to.

Mr. Scollin: Yes. - .
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The Chairman: The crown attorney is involved right
from the very first, even with a private party.

Mr. Scollin: Not necessarily, Mr. Chairman.

The Chairman: He has pretty nearly got control,
has he not? Not quite?

Mr. Scollin: Not quite. A private party does have his
rights. If he feels the law has been broken, he has his
rights to lay an information and occasionally, as the
law reports show, take the unhappy consequences of
malicious prosecution and all the rest.

Senator Choquette: I think last week, at my request
and the request of others, you were going to look into
the question of “‘judge’ under section 267C.

Mr. Scollin: I have done that, senator. The jurisdic-
tion under section 267C is exercised, as is the jurisdic-
tion under section 150A, dealing with in rem proceed-
ings, in provinces other than Quebec only by county
or district court judges and not by provincial judges.

Senator Choquette: Who were formerly magistrates.
Mr. Scollin: Yes.

Senator Lang: Are the offences under the English
act confined to public places?

Mr. Scollin: Under section 5, the General Public
Order Act, the modification of the old black shirt,
Moseley provisions, they are related only to public
places. But section 6 is not restricted to public places.
Section 6, passed in 19685, has two parts. Subsection
(1) of section 6 says in paragraph (a):

(a) he publishes or distributes written matter
which is threatening, abusive or insulting. ..

being matter likely to stir up hatred against any sec-
tion of the public.

That is the offence, and it does not matter where it
is done.

Paragraph (b) is:

(b) he uses in any public place or at any public
meeting words which are threatening, abusive
or insulting . . .

So, the actual verbal threats or insults are restricted to
public places or meetings.

Perhaps I should read the whole section. Section 6
is:

(1) A person shall be guilty of an offence under
this section if, with intent to stir up hatred
against any section of the public in Great
Britain distinguished by colour, race, or ethnic
or national origins —
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(a) he publishes or distributes written matter
which is threatening, abusive or insult-
ing...

If it is written matter it does not appear to matter
whether it is public or private.

2o

(b) he uses in any public place or at any pub-
lic meeting words which are threatening,
abusive or insulting . . .

And in both cases, being material likely to stir up
hatred against a section of the public. So, it has both
the aspect of a public place in the case of the use of
words, and the aspect of publishing and distributing in
respect of written matter.

There was amendment in 1965 also to the old sec-
tion 5 which related only to public places. That is the
straight offence of either using in a public place any
threatening or insulting words of behaviour, or using
or displaying signs which are threatening, abusive or
insulting with intent to provoke a breach of the peace.
So, this would include a distribution at a public meet-
ing of scurrilous material which is either intended to
breach the peace, or likely to provoke a breach of the
peace.

The Chairman: It seems to me that we would find it
very serviceable if you could supply us with a copy of
that act. I see that you have the act and the amend-
ment. It seems to me that if a copy of it were printed
as an appendix to today’s proceedings it would be very
useful to us.

Mr. Scollin: This is the only copy I have. It is the
Race Relations Act, 1965 of the United Kingdom, and
this is a consolidated copy.

The Chairman: Then, let us have a copy of it.

Mr. Scollin: As I say, the Special Committee repro-
duced this in its report, although there was that unfor-
tunate little error of margining. It is to be found at
page 96 of the report.

Mr. Hopkins: Yes, that is a bit misleading is it not?

Mr. Scollin: Yes, because it looks as though this part
applies only to paragraph (b). However, all of the parts
I have read are contained on pages 96 and 97.

Senator Prowse: Mr. Scollin, in one of the acts we
looked at on another occasion, the defence of public
interest was qualified to the effect that if the words
are couched in ordinary and decent language —can you
recall from where I got those words? Are they in
Code or are they in the Interpretation Act?

Mr. Scollin: Yes, you are thinking of the section that
deals with blasphemous libel.

Senate Committee

Senator Prowse: Yes.

Mr, Scollin: Section 246 of the criminal code creates
the offence of blasphemous libel, and subsection (3)
provides:

No person shall be convicted of an offence under
this section for expressing in good faith and in
decent language, or attempting to establish by
argument used in good faith and conveyed in
decent language, an opinion on a religious subject.

Is that the section to which you were referring?

Senator Prowse: Yes. It seems to me that there
might be some useful purpose served by qualifying the
offences described here by adding the words “‘in good
faith and in decent language”. I do not think we
defeat the public interest and infringe the individual’s
right to freedom of speech by insisting that public
speeches should be conducted in decent language.
That is what I have in mind. I do not know whether
this affects the matter, but it might in certain circum-
stances.

Mr. Scollin: I think that this would be largely a mat-
ter of policy, senator. My own inclination would be to
say, if what the person said was true, or he believed it
to be true, that there is sufficient burden on him in
subsection (3) without asking him to prove that he
used nice language.

Senator Prowse: There are various ways of saying a
person’s mother and father were not married. Some
are not apt to create a breach of the peace, while
others are almost bound to.

Senator Croll: I remember that a member of the
legislature of Michigan, I think, wanted to be pretty
rough with an opponent, and he said: “I am not going
to call you any names, but when you get home and
your mother runs out from under the steps and bites
you, you will know what you are.”

Senator Prowse: By the time he has figured out what
is meant, Senator Croll, the person who said it has
probably gone on his way, and no breach of the peace
will occur.

Senator Eudes: Mr. Scollin, I am trying to compare
section 267C(4) with section 267B(3) (a) and (b). Sec-
tion 267C(4) says:

If the court is satisfied that the publication is hate
propaganda,-it shall make an order . . .

Suppose that this propaganda material has been used
by a person accused. If that person did not wilfully
promote hatred or contempt, or showed reasonable
grounds for believing it was true, he would be acquit-
ted. Today many students would come before the

(
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court and say, ‘‘We were taught that this was true, so
we had reasonable grounds for believing it was true”.
That might be going a little too far. While this bill does
not add anything to the Criminal Code, it is a new
departure and opens so many doors for defence
lawyers that a conviction would seem to be almost
impossible.

Senator Prowse: There are many Criminal Code sec-
tions that include “wilfully,” and to determine an of-
fence the court insists on proof of mens rea; they
presume the act must be wilful.

Senator Eudes: This is not the Criminal Code.
Senator Prowse: It is, yes.

Senator Eudes: It is an act to add something to the
Criminal Code.

Senator Prowse: Once it is added it is in the Criminal
Code.

Senator Eudes: Then we would not need the word
“wilfully” because in the Criminal Code a criminal
intent is presumed.

Senator Prowse: When you look at “wilfully”’ on the
one hand and “‘reasonably’ a subjective meaning in its
application and determination, it is given an objective
meaning. In other words, the fact that a man is stupid
and would believe anything does not provide him with
a defence. The test is whether a reasonable person
being presented with that set of facts would accept
them as true. It could affect the sentence, but it would
not affect the determination of guilt.

Senator Eudes: In section 267B(2) it is “wilfully”,
and then in subsection (3) it says:

that the statements communicated were true.

It is on reasonable grounds so that all possible doors
are opened for a clever defence lawyer. My first con-
cern is how to reconcile subsection (4) under which
the hate propaganda could be seized.

Mr. Scollin: In other words you may end up with
what is apparently hate propaganda, and although the
Crown may have got past the hurdle of proving that
what the accused did was wilful, the accused may have
justified an acquittal by bringing himself within the
defences available and a large pile of material is re-
leased back to him, presumably to do with as he
wishes.

Senator Prowse: Let us take a specific example. Sup-
pose I have a page of hate material and hire a public
delivery service to distribute it for me. It is in sealed or
semi-sealed envelopes and I pay the delivery service
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the regular fee for putting them into all mail boxes
along the road. There is nothing in the material to
indicate whence it came, so a charge is laid against the
distributor. In that case he would have the defence of
“wilfully”, but at the same time he leads us to where
it came from, and we would then have the remedy of
assessing what was wrong with the material under sub-
section (4).

Senator Eudes: That is one example. Let us take
another. A person uses material upon which to base a
speech. All the material is seized by order of the court.
The person using the material for his speech would be
acquitted because he would be able to say, “I believed
what I said was true”.

Senator Prowse: A person might reasonably accept it
as true, but he would then have to prove that it was
reasonable for him to believe it was true.

Senator Eudes: Let us go over this. Section 267B(3)
says:

that the statements communicated were true; or
... that on reasonable grounds he believed them
to be true.

Senator Prowse: First he has to prove it is true if he
claims truth as a defence, and that can be rather dif-
ficult.

Senator Eudes: I am taking the position of the de-
fence lawyer. I could find many grounds on which 1
would be able to have an accused person acquitted.

Mr. Scollin: Would there be any reason why imme-
diately thereafter, if the material is of this very offen-
sive nature, even though your client may have been
acquitted, the provisions of section 267C, the in rem
provisions, could not be used?

Senator Eudes: Senator Prowse cited a very good
example. Suppose this material were in the mail.

Senator Prowse: Not in the mail, because presum-
ably we cannot convict the Crown. Suppose they use a
commercial distributing agency, many of which are
available. '

Senator Eudes: This was the point I wanted to bring
to your attention.

Senator Walker: I think it is a good point.

Senator Prowse: The second thing I think we should
keep in mind in establishing whether or not an action
is wilful is that it is impossible to prove by direct
evidence what a person’s state of mind was—which is
what “wilful” is—at the time he did the particular
thing. The court must determine that by inference
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from all the surrounding circumstances. This is where
the question arises whether a person thinks something
is true. Suppose I make a speech in public quoting
from what I think is a copy of Life magazine, but it is
a forged copy of Life or a forged photostat made to
look like a page out of Life magazine. The only way in
which a court could decide whether I may reasonably
believe it to be true is by saying to themselves:
“Would any reasonable, ordinary person being present-
ed with that be prepared to accept it as true or would
they have made further inquiries? > The number of
inquiries I may have made in order to check out my
source will be relevant to the determination of
whether I reasonably believe it to be true.

Senator Eudes: That would not be wilful; it would
be good faith.

Senator Prowse: You are going to have people on
borderline cases and it may disturb somebody, and
other persons may be—

Senator Eudes: There are two different things—
wilful to do something with intent, and in good faith.
What we are saying, to my mind, is that it is more
related to good faith than to the intent.

Senator Prowse: We are dealing with two things. One
is the person who wilfully does something to incite,
and wilfully surely goes with the incitement—he does
it wilfully for the purpose of inciting. The second
thing is the offending statement, whether he reason-
ably believes it to be true. You can say ‘‘reasonably
believes” or “‘in good faith.” The way you determine
good faith would be again on the basis of a reasonable
man’s approach.

Senator Eudes: It means the subparagraphs are relat-
ed together.

Senator Prowse: In any interpretation of the act I
think you have to look at the different sentences in
order to get the precise meaning. If you read the
English cases, they ran about 50-50 did they not?
They got some convictions and some acquittals.

The Chairman: And they learned a great deal from
the witness.

Senator Prowse: I would say we should start some-
where, and experience will indicate to us perhaps that
it may be desirable that we should make some amend-
ment to this as we have had more experience with it,
the way it works out in practice and the reaction of
the public and of the courts. I do not think we can
foresee with 100 per cent accuracy a law that would
permit 100 per cent convictions, nor do we hope to
put one so sloppily together it would permit 100 per
cent acquittals. This would defeat our whole purpose.

Senate Committee

Senator Walker: I have no more questions.

The Chairman: Have you got any further points, Mr.
Scollin, that you want to clear up?

Mr. Scollin: I think not, Mr. Chairman.

The Chairman: Are there some general observa-
tions?

Senator Eudes: There is one, Mr. Chairman. In sec-
tion 267A, subparagraph (b)—I have been checking this
matter and the word prevent should be translated by
empécher.

Mr. Scollin: I am raising this matter with our trans-
lators. Prévenir and empécher. On the question of em-
pécher 1 have raised that already and on the question
of the other point which you raised, acte criminel, it
seems to be the standard translation throughout the
code for the word indictable.

Senator Eudes: Empécher translated to mean pre-
vent.

Mr. Scollin: Yes, I have raised that with them. I
would be happy to raise any other points which you
care to comimunicate to me on the translation end.

Mr. Hopkins: They will all have to be moved as
amendments in this committee.

The Chairman: We shall come to the actual machin-
ery of amending before very long. Immediately after
the recess we will go into the question of what amend-
ments we want made; in the meantime we are just
studying.

Senator Prowse: As a matter of procedure, Mr.
Chairman, perhaps what we should do is to have the
Clerk of the Committee keep a list of suggested
amendments and then once we have the evidence in
we can deal with them. On the other hand, there is the
possibility that the various witnesses who appear
before us might care to make some representations
with regard to proposed amendments. Perhaps the
committee itself would want to concern itself within a
special meeting as to what procedures we should take.

The Chairman: Could you do that, Mr. Boudreault.
The Clerk of the Committee: Yes.

The Chairman: That will be done, and we will have a
list of proposed amendments.

Senator Prowse: There was a question raised the
other day. I wonder if I might raise it with Mr. Scollin
now. It was suggested by witnesses who were here last
week that in section 267 A, which refers to groups, and
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in section 267B(S) (b) which refers to ‘‘identitiable
group,” there is no definition of group, and they
thought it would be an improvement on the legislation
if we were to put in section 267A (2), in the definition
of genocide all the way through wherever “‘group” is
mentioned, that it should be “‘identifiable group.”

Mr. Scollin: It would be difficult to disagree with
that suggestion.

Senator Prowse: I just wondered if there was any
particular reason. I could not remember whether the
question was raised before or if there was any particu-
lar reason you had not put “identifiable group™ all the
way through.

Mr. Scollin: I think I made the remark that the
words “virtually any group’ were used in section 267A
for genocide, which is not in accordance with the
special committee’s recommendation and not in ac-
cordance with the Convention, so that perhaps the
object was to spread the genocide net wider still, but
one can see the logic of talking only about identifiable
groups and defining them.

Senator Prowse: If you do not have “identifiable
group” in there the courts could have some problem
because how wide does “group™ go?

Mr. Scollin: I agree, senator.

The Chairman: Somebody suggested that it might
take in the Maple Leaf hockey team, McKinley
umpire, but I do not altogether go with it because if
you say anything you cover the identifiable groups
and I can see an offence in advocating the murder or
the genocide of any group.

Senator Prowse: If it has any effect at all, Mr. Chair-
man, I would think the effect would be to very strictly
narrow the interpretation of ‘‘identifiable group.” In
other words, where you use a general term in one part
of your act and then use a specific phrase, using the
same word in another part of the act where the word
is subject to an adjectival limitation, then there are
two courses open to the courts. Either it broadens the
general word or it narrows the word when it is in-
cluded with the adjective. Now, this could be a matter
of some concern in the interpretation of this legisla-
tion.

Senator Eudes: May [ mention sectibn 267A(1):

(1) Every one who advocates or promotes geno-
cide is guilty of an indictable offence and is liable
to imprisonment for five years.

(2) In this section “‘genocide” includes any of the
following acts . . . .:

-(a) killing members of the group;. ..

If you go under the Criminal Code, you will get more
than five years for that.

Senator Prowse: It is “‘advocating™.
Senator Croll: This is not killing; this is advocating.
The Chairman: Advocating.

Senator Prowse: There is a little difference, too, in
the spirit of the general application. If I say that some-
body ought to kill those so and so’s, it is not a crime
at the present time, I hope.

Senator Eudes: If this legislation did not exist, and
if the same person committed the same criminal of-
fence under the Criminal Code, what would the im-
prisonment be —ten or five years?

Senator Prowse: One is for advocating, the other is
for acting.

Senator Croll: Conspiring.

Senator Prowse: Conspiring goes beyond mere ad-
vocation or promotion, I would think.

Senator Eudes: It says‘‘acts committed with intent”
to do this.

Mr. Scollin: That is not a penalizing subsection. If in
fact members of a group are killed, with intent to
destroy the whole of that group, then this is what the
legislation means when it uses the word “‘genocide”.
Any person actually doing that killing, no matter what
the intent, if he killed even one, would in fact be
guilty of murder.

The word “‘genocide” is only to be defined so as to
give meaning to subsection (1) which prohibits any
person advocating genocide—and when you are talking
about that, you want to know what you mean by
genocide so that you do not advocate genocide.

Senator Eudes: Killing a group of 20?

Senator Prowse: The difference is that this section
does not say we make it an offence to kill 20 of a
group, or 200 of them. This makes it an offence to say
that somebody ought to kill those people—which at
the present time is not an offence.

The Chairman: The code as it stands, covers con-
spiracy to do these things. What this bill before us
deals with is the advocacy of this, and it is a different
thing to advocating something in general terms or con-
spiring to do it, It is quite a different matter.

Senator Eudes: These are the matters that have to be
clarified in the bill.
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The Chairman: The penalty in the Code 1s tor con-
spiring, which is a pretty dangerous thing to do. The
penalty in this bill, which is a good deal less stringent,
is simply for generally advocating it. I think this ex-
plains the definition—the severity of it.

Senator Eudes: I asked about this because 1 wanted
it to be clarified in my mind.

Senator Hollett: Are there any known cases in
Canada of “forcibly transferring children of a group to
another group? ”

Senator Prowse: We are not dealing with that. We
are dealing with cases where people advocate it.

Senator Hollett: All right. Have you known cases
where they advocated it?

Senator Prowse: Let me give you a couple of ex-
amples right now. We forcibly, but within the law,
took the Doukhobor children away from their parents
in British Columbia. Now, this was not for these
purposes, but it was done. It was done because it was
considered a matter of public policy that it was desir-
able that the children should be brought up, at this
stage when their parents were imprisoned, by taking
them out of the environment which we felt was ad-
versely affecting their future as Canadian citizens.

Senator Hollett: You gave reasons for it.

Senator Prowse: Whatever the reasons, this is what
happened. During the war we have forcibly trans-
ported Japanese from the west coast and made farm
labour of them in the prairie provinces in the
sugar beet areas down in southern Alberta.

Senator Lang: If I advocate that, should I be guilty
of genocide?

Senator Prowse: I would think all these things are
coupled with special circumstances. When I look back
on it now, I think we do not take much pride in it. On
the other hand, people in this country today are begin-
ning to advocate, for example, the use of force for
various public purposes—it is not limited to one group,
I am sure. We have seen some pretty startling examples
of it recently.

If you read the reports in England, there were four
cases involving white people suggesting that something
should be done specifically to coloured persons. There
were three cases involved, in which six negroes were
suggesting that there should be violence used against
the whites.

Let us not kid ourselves that we are so far removed
from the situation. It must be a problem today in the
United States.

Senate Committee

Senator Hollett: Can you answer this question as
well as you answered that, and I must say you have
answered it very well. As to “‘deliberately imposing
measures intended to prevent births within the
group”—have we any cases of that kind in Canada?

Senator Prowse: 1 have heard people say that we
should sterilize the whole bunch of them —referring to
a group. | have no doubt heard it as I am sure you
have, that one should sterilize the whole lot.

Senator Hollett: I have not heard it.

Senator Prowse: We have a sterilization act in
Alberta under which the province permits the govern-
ment, if necessary, and with sufficient safeguards, to
sterilize certain people whom it may feel are apt to
pass on, if they became pregnant, children who would
merely become a charge on the State. This applies to
people usually coming under the Mental Diseases Act.

Senator Hollett: In that case, it is “humane proceed-
ings”?

Senator Prowse: It seems that it is.
Senator Hollett: Can we not be humane?

Senator Prowse: I have heard people, without any
thought of humanity, speaking of a group of different
kind, saying one ought to sterilize the bunch. Whether
they meant it or not, that does not matter; but you
get people who say that may be the solution.

Senator Lang: If 1 advocate that, am I guilty of
genocide?

Senator Prowse: Yes.

Senator Croll: In the context, I do not know what
people are advocating, but I picked up a paper a while
ago which said that at one of the college meetings
there was some leader who stood up and was advocat-
ing that everyone over 50 should be shot.

Senator Prowse: He got a standing ovation.

Senator Croll: I must say I was not entering into the
spirit of it, but I was a bit surprised and shocked to
hear a college student stand up and advocate it, and
the papers seemed to indicate that he was not even
smiling. So it is difficult to say what is being advocat-
ed in this country today. Let us just make sure that it
does not get out of hand.

The Chairman: Or will be advocated in the future.

Senator Prowse: Someone once said there was no
class struggle before Marx enumerated the. basis for
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class struggle. Whether there was before, there surely
has been since. In other words, it is now a well accept-
ed fact that the idea often is the precursor of the fact.
Now, this is what we are dealing with in this kind of
bill.

Mr. Scollin: May 1 add, in relation to what has been
said, that (d) and (e) are not included in the recom-
mendations of the committee in its special report—but
they are in the United Nations Convention.

Senator Hollett: Why are they here in the bill?

Senator Croll: The Government has thought of this
as a matter of policy, following the Convention of the
United Nations.

Mr. Scollin: That is right.

Senator Croll: The Government have added it as a
matter of policy, following the convention of the
United Nations.

Senator Lang: I am not familiar with the Criminal
Code, particularly, but I know that in 267B, here, we
have an offence which is anticipatory: “Likely to lead
to”. Is that a type of offence very common in our
Code?

Senator Prowse: It is like the seizure of narcotics.

Senator Walker: Just a moment. Could we have an
answer from the witness, please.

Mr. Scollin: It is not common. It is used in section
248, subsection (1), dealing with defamatory libel,
where the definition is:

248. (1) A defamatory libel is matter published,
without lawful justification or excuse, that is like-
ly to injure the reputation of any person by expos-
ing him to hatred, contempt or ridicule, or that is
designed to insult the person of or concerning
whom it is published.

It is not a question of whether it did or not. It is
a question of the likelihood. The same word is
used in the United Kingdom legislation in the Public
Order Act, where to the same extent the provision is
anticipatory. Just a moment, and I will see if I can put
my finger on that act.

The Chairman: Honourable senators, may I say that
I have to leave now to catch a train. I would ask
Senator Prowse to take the Chair, if that is agreeable.

Hon. Senators: Agreed.

Senator J. Harper Prowse (Acting Chairman) in the
Chair. .
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The Acting Chairman: Has anyone any further ques-
tions?

Senator Lang: I have a question which is still before
Mr. Scollin.

Mr. Scollin: The one illustration I gave was from
section 248 of the Criminal Code. The comparable
section in the British act defines objectionable matter
as being matter or words likely to stir up hatred.
Again, Section 189 of our Criminal Code again uses
the words “likely to”.

189. Every one who unlawfully abandons or ex-
poses a child who is under the age of ten years, so
that its life is or is likely to be endangered or its
health is or is likely to be permanently injured, is
guilty of an indictable offence and is liable to
imprisonment for two years.

Senator Lang: This is in our own Code.

Mr. Scollin: Yes, it is. These are isolated usages. I
think I am safe in saying that it is not a common
usage, but that the words “likely to be” are used when
the court has to make some form of estimation of
what the consequences are going to be.

The Acting Chairman: Are there any further ques-
tions? Is there anything further you wish to say, Mr.
Scollin?

Mr. Scollin: I do not think so, Mr. Chairman.

The Acting Chairman: May we have a motion for
adjournment?

Senator Walker: Before that, may I suggest, Mr.
Chairman, that we are seeking guidance and light. We
have not had any evidence yet that I know of which
would merit passing a harsh, stringent bill such as this,
which is contrary to everything we know about free-
dom. When are we going to get the evidence to show
that this bill is necessary? That is what we are all
seeking. We are seeking the light. We had some very
brilliant men here last day from the B’Nai Brith and
from the Jewish Congress. They were very able. But
there has not been one little of evidence indicating
that this bill is necessary. I agree with Senator Croll
that, if we want to stop the Bell Telephone, all we
have to do is just tell them to stop recording those
things, and they will not do it.

Senator Croll: Senator Walker and I must agree to
disagree. I agree about the Bell Telephone, but I do
not think I should make the statement he does that
there is no reason why this bill should be passed. I see
every reason why it should be passed.

Senator Walker: All right, let us hear one.
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Senator Croll: The evidence is coming before the
committee.

Senator Walker: Let us hear it.

Senator Croll: We have very cogent evidence, if you
see the reasons for it or read the report on which it is
based. We will be hearing evidence of people opposed
and we will hear them as well. Up to the moment it
just happens that these people have come forward. I
do not know how they got here, except by applica-
tion. Others will come and we will hear them as well.

The Acting Chairman: In answer to Senator Walker’s
question, if I may say this, we have heard representa-
tions from one group so far. That group did, in my
opinion, place before us information which does not
justify the conclusion that Senator Walker has come
to, that there was not one tittle of evidence. I would
say that they placed before us some very persuasive
evidence. I would say that the Bell Telephone repre-
sentative placed in front of us some very persuasive
arguments. .

Senator Lang: Senator Prowse, you are in the Chair
now.

The Acting Chairman: Senator Lang, a question was
asked.

Senator Lang: But you are in the Chair now, Senator
Prowse.

The Acting Chairman: A question was asked, and 1
believe the Chairman has the right to answer ques-
tions. That is all I am doing. So far as the record is
concerned, if I am Chairman properly or improperly,
you can guard against it again, but I do not pro-
pose s

Senate Committee

Senator Walker: Perhaps we should make you per-
manent Chairman. Maybe you would talk less. You
have been making speeches all day. You have not been
asking questions. You have been making speeches.

Senator Lang: Why do we not just adjourn?

Senator Walker: I would like you to give me evi-
dence that would necessitate a bill like this. As for
your suggesting that the Bell Telephone put good
reasons before us, the ghings their representative had
to say were ridiculous.

The Acting Chairman: All you have to do is read the
special report.

Senator Walker: I have done that, and I have read
the information available from all of the meetings.

Senator Croll: Have you read the special report of
the committee?

Senator Walker: Yes, and the report of the Dean of
the Law School.

Senator Croll: How could you read that report with-
out being concerned about this business?

Senator Walker: I am concerned, but you have not
provided anything yet that would justify this bill.

The Acting Chairman: At any rate, there is a motion
to adjourn. I take it we are in favour?

Hon. Senators: Agreed.

The committee adjourned.
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ORDERS OF REFERENCE

Extract from the Minutes of the Proceedings of the Senate, Wednesday,
January 22nd, 1969:

“The Order of the Day being read,

With leave of the Senate,

The Honourable Senator Leonard resumed the debate on the motion
of the Honourable Senator Roebuck, seconded by the Honourable Sena-

tor Croll, for the second reading of the Bill S-21, intituled: “An Act to
amend the Criminal Code”.

After debate, and—
The question being put on the motion, it was—
Resolved in the affirmative.

The Bill was then read the second time.

The Honourable Senator Leonard moved, seconded by the Honour-
able Senator Fergusson, that the Bill be referred to the Standing Senate
Committee on Legal and Constitutional Affairs.

The question being put on the motion, it was—
Resolved in the affirmative.”

Extracts from the Minutes of the Proceedings of the Senate, Thursday,
February 13th, 1969:

“With leave of the Senate,

The Honourable Senator McDonald moved, seconded by the Honour-
able Senator Langlois:

That the Standing Senate Committee on Foreign Affairs and the
Standing Senate Committee on Legal and Constitutional Affairs have
power to sit during adjournments of the Senate.

After debate, and—

The question being put on the motion, it was—
Resolved in the affirmative.”

“With leave of the Senate,

The Honourable Senator McDonald moved, seconded by the Honour-
able Senator Langlois:

That the Standing Senate Committee on Legal and Constitutional
Affairs be authorized to examine and report to the Senate from time to
time on any matter relating to legal and constitutional affairs generally,
and on any matter assigned to the said Committee by the Rules of the
Senate, and

That the said Committee be empowered to engage the services of such
counsel and technical, clerical and other personnel as may be necessary
for the foregoing purposes, at such rates of remuneration and reimburse-
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ment as the Committee may determine, and to compensate witnesses by
reimbursement of travelling and living expenses, in such amounts as the
Committee may determine.

The question being put on the motion, it was—
Resolved in the affirmative.”

Extracts from the Minutes of the Proceedings of the Senate, Tuesday,
March 11th, 1969:

“With leave of the Senate,

The Honourable Senator Langlois moved, seconded by the Honour-
able Senator Martin, P.C.:

That the Standing Committee on Legal and Constitutional Affairs
be empowered to sit while the Senate is sitting today.

The question being put on the motion, it was—
Resolved in the affirmative.”
ROBERT FORTIER,

Clerk of the Senate.



MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS

TuESDAY, March 11, 1969.

Pursuant to adjournment and notice, the Standing Senate Committee on
Legal and Constitutional Affairs met this day at 2 p.m.

Present: The Honourable Senators Roebuck (Chairman), Aseltine, Bélisle,
Choquette, Cook, Croll, Eudes, Fergusson, Haig, Hollett, Lang, Macdonald (Cape
Breton), Prowse and Urquhart.

In attendance: E. Russell Hopkins, Law Clerk and Parliamentary Counsel;
The following witnesses were heard:

1. Hon. Mr. Justice Harry Batshaw, Chairman, Human Rights Committee,
United Nations Association of Canada;

2. The Jewish Labor Committee of Canada: Mr. Michael Rubenstein,
Q.C., President, Mr. Bernard Shane, Secretary-treasurer, and Mr.
Rafael Ryba, Secretary.

At 4:30 p.m. the Committee adjourned to the call of the Chairman.

ATTEST:
L. J. M. Boudreault,

Clerk of the Committee.
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THE SENATE

THE STANDING SENATE COMMITTEE ON LEGAL
AND CONSTITUTIONAL AFFAIRS

EVIDENCE

Ottawa, Tuesday, March 11, 1969

The Standing Senate Committee on Legal
and Constitutional Affairs, to which was
referred Bill S-21, to amend the Criminal
Code (Hate Propaganda), met this day at 2
p.m.

Senator Arthur W. Roebuck (Chairman) in
the Chair.

The Chairman: Honourable senators, we
have a very fine program this afternoon, com-
prising representatives of the Jewish Labour
Committee of Canada and His Lordship, Mr.
Justice Batshaw of Montreal, whom we will
call upon first.

I want to put on record some information
with regard to our honoured guest. He is
Chairman of the Human Rights Committee of
the United Nations Association of Canada; he
is also Chairman of the Human Rights Com-
mittee of the International Law Association
and has held that office since 1964. The com-
mittee has 27 members in 19 countries and
has met in Tokyo, Helsinki and Buenos Aires
to consider the human rights problems. Mr.
Justice Batshaw was one of the Canadian
Government’s delegates to the Inter-Govern-
mental Conference held by the United
Nations in Teheran in April of 1968. He was a
member of the Executive of the Canadian
Commission on International Human Rights
in the year 1968.

I am sure we all know of Mr. Justice Bat-
shaw, the distinguished jurist from Montreal.
He has been well known to me, at least, for
many years as a 'distinguished ‘member of the
bar. On this occasion he is not only thorough-
ly informed on the law of Quebec and the
common law as well, but also has a special
interest in human rights and a very great
experience along those lines.
notd :

hors

We are therefore very fortunate indeed to
have a witness of the calibre of the man I am
now going to call upon, Mr. Justice Batshaw.
Mr. Justice Batshaw, will you please address
the committee.

The Honourable Mr. Justice Batshaw: Mr.
Chairman and honourable senators, I want to
thank you for your invitation to come here
this afternoon and share with you the views
of the United Nations Association that I
represent and at the same time perhaps to
present some personal views on this legisla-
tion which I have formed as a result of a
number of years of specialized interest in the
problem of human rights.

The United Nations Association is well
known to you; today we have 7,500 members
with branches in some 27 cities in Canada
from one coast to another. Our membership
includes some 500 students and 34 organiza-
tions which have become national affiliates.
Our president is Professor John Humphrey of
McGill, who is a professor of International
Law and Political Science, and, who inciden-
tally, worked for 20 years as Director of the
Human Rights Division of the United Nations
and he was one of the men who participated in
preparing the first draft of the Universal
Declaration of Human Rights. Our vice-presi-
dent is Professor D. C. Williams of the law
school of the University of Saskatchewan. The
chairman of the executive is Professor Hod-
gins of the University of Peterborough and
our treasurer is Mr. Trivett, chartered
accountant of Toronto, and Mr. Couture, of
Hull is chairman of the executive committee.

The United Nations Association has been
dealing with the projected bill against hate
literature and group defamation, for some
time now and as a result of its studies and
deliberations, on March 30, 1968 the executive
committee adopted a resolution. I should say
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in parenthesis that one of the most urgent
current problems which the bill presents is
that of whether it constitutes an infringement
of free speech or not and this was dealt with
at considerable length in the discussions.
After hearing both sides, the executive com-
mittee adopted the following resolution:
“Be it resolved that:

Whereas the ever present danger of
genocide and the effects of incitement to
hate towards certain groups, although not
an immediate danger in Canada, consti-
tutes a potential and real danger which
should not be dealt with when the danger
becomes actual;

Whereas Canada is one of the only two
countries that have signed the Genocide
Convention and have not passed legisla-
tion dealing directly with genocide or
necessarily ancillary thereto, although
morally committed to do so, and,

Whereas Canada is thus morally com-
mitted to the passing of legislation in
accordance with its commitments under
the Genocide Convention, Canada should
adopt legislation giving furtherance to
the principles adhered to under the
Genocide Convention and should adopt
such corollary legislation as is indispensa-
ble to fully satisfy its moral and legal
obligations, that is, anti-hate legislation.”

Accordingly, the National Executive Com-
mittee unanimously resolved to place this
resolution before the annual meeting of the
association and in between times to forward a
copy of this resolution to the Canadian Gov-
ernment. You see the executive committee
did not want to take upon itself to bind the
association and so they referred it to the
annual meeting. The annual meeting took
place in July of 1968 where again the matter
was considered. Reading from a memorandum
drawn up by Professor Hodgins, the chair-
man of the policy committee, as to what took
place at the annual meeting, he said—

We had a very lengthy and penetrating
panel on the matter of Bill S-5. We had
very learned and constructive arguments
on both sides presented to us. The policy
Council was called upon to translate this
discussion into some kind of action.

Now the policy committee met on October
26, 1968, and by that time I had been elected
at the annual meeting as chairman of the
Human Rights Committee, and so I submitted
the matter to the policy committee for discus-
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sion, and a lively debate took place there. We
had representatives from Halifax to Vancou-
ver at this policy committee meeting, and after
reviewing all considerations, and despite the
expression of some apprehension by several
delegates about the possible infringement of
free speech, a resolution was adopted
reaffirming the firm support of the principles
outlined in the bill as expressed in the resolu-
tion adopted by the National Executive Com-
mittee onv March 30 of 1968. So that as a
result of this sequence of events the resolu-
tion, which I read in full as having been
adopted by the Executive Committee, was
reaffirmed at the annual meeting, and then
reaffirmed again by the Policy Committee, so
it is definitely the policy of the United
Nations Association of Canada.

I might perhaps at this time say that we
felt we were not alone as an all-Canadian
association in supporting and recommending
the adoption of this legislation, because I
recall having read in the literature on the
subject, the history of these various propos-
als—and you will remember that Parliament
was adjourned twice—that other public
bodies in Canada have likewise supported
this legislation. I refer to the unanimous reso-
lution of the Ontario and Manitoba Legisla-
tures, the resolution of the Canadian Federa-
tion of Mayors, that of the Canadian Bar
Association, the Manitoba Bar, the York
County Lawyers’ Association, and at least
three religious organizations, the Canadian
Baptist Federation, the United Church of
Canada, and the Anglican Bishops of Ontario.

The Chairman: Have you the actual resolu-
tions passed by these bodies?

Mr. Justice Batshaw: I am afraid I have
not them in my file, but I would be glad to
submit them to the committee.

The Chairman: Will you do that, please?

Mr. Justice Batshaw: Yes.

Senator Aseltine: We would like to see the
full texts. :

The Chairman: Yes, we would like the
actual texts of the resolutions.

Mr, Justice Batshaw: I will be glad to make
them available to the committee.

I thought you might be interested in having
recalled to you where this type of legislation
fits into the international law, to what extent
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other countries have adopted group libel
legislation, and to what extent the United
Nations has dealt with it.

A good starting point is to refer to the
International Convention on the Elimination
of All Forms of Racial Discrimination, that
was adopted by the General Assembly on the
recommendation of the Human Rights Com-
mittee in December, 1965. That Convention
was signed by 58 countries, and has since
been ratified by 27. A twenty-seventh ratifica-
tion was received in December, 1968, and this
is a convention which has now come into
force because of the twenty-seventh ratifica-
tion, which was the minimum required.

This Anti-racial Discrimination Convention
contains two clauses which deal specifically
with the problem before this committee in
studying Bill S-21. The first of these clauses is
Article 2(d) which states:

Each state party shall prohibit and
bring to an end by all appropriate means,
including legislation, as required by cir-
cumstances, racial discrimination by any
person, group or organization.

So, that is “prohibit and bring to an end
racial discrimination by all approriate means,
including legislation”.

Then Article 4 of that Convention states:

State Parties condemn all propaganda
based on race superiority...or which
attempts to justify or promote racial
hatred...and shall adopt immediate and
positive measures designed to eradicate
all incitement to such discrimination.

You see that the actual words used there are
similar to those in this legislation. Incitement
is what is condemned.

In introducing the question of international
consideration of this, perhaps I overlooked
the Genocide Convention, since the first part
of Bill S-21 deals with genocide.

The Chairman: Just before you leave that,
your lordship, would you tell us what signifi-
cance there is in the fact the convention has
now come into force because it has been
ratified by 27 countries?

Mr. Justice Batshaw: Well, the convention,
if my memory serves me aright, has an
enforcement provision in the creation of a
committee that shall deal with violations. It is
not very effective; it is as effective as they
could have passed at the time, but it does

provide consideration of violations by a
committee.

Canada has not yet ratified this convention
because, as you are all aware, of course, it
presents constitutional problems with the
provinces. About 18 months ago, the Prime
Minister, in anticipation of possible ratifica-
tion by Canada, consulted with the premiers
of the provinces to see which parts of it
might come into provincial jurisdiction and
which into federal jurisdiction, in order to
arrive at a consensus that would permit
Canada to ratify this convention which has
already been signed. The Canadian represen-
tative at the United Nations, Mr. Tremblay at
that time, has urged that we in Canada
should ratify this convention.

The Chairman: Thank you, your lordship.

Mr. Justice Baishaw: In addition to the
United Nations Convention on the elimination
of discrimination I think it is interesting to
note that the Consultative Assembly of the
Council of Europe dealt with this matter in
Strasbourg in January, 1966, and adopted a
resolution that deals specifically with the
problem. The resolution is entitled: “Meas-
ures to be taken against incitement to racial,
national and religious hatred”, and in order
to save time I will read some of it only. The
resolution which was adopted unanimously on
January 27, 1966, reads as follows:

The Assembly.

1. Considering that the aim of the Coun-
cil of Europe is to achieve greater unity
between its members, in observance of
the rule of law and of fundamental
human rights;

2. Considering further that Article 14
of the European Convention of Human
Rights stipulates that the rights and free-
doms set forth in the Convention “shall
be secured without discrimination on any
grounds such as sex, race, colour, lan-
guage, religion, political or other opinion,
national or social origin...”;

3. Noting that scattered but increas-
ingly numerous elements in member
States, abusing the personal freedoms
guaranteed by national constitutions and
by the European Convention on Human
Rights, are attempting to incite...

Again there is that word “incite”.
...the public, in particular young people,
to racial, national or religious hatred by



means of political and quasi-political
organizations, activities and propaganda,
in some cases under cover of education
given in schools and universities;

4. Believing that such abuses are
gravely prejudicial to international under-
standing and, above all, to those values
which form the essential part of the com-
mon heritage of the member States of the
Council of Europe;

5. Recalling that the “Declaration on
the Elimination of all forms of Racial
Discrimination” adopted by the General
Assembly of the United Nations on the
20th November, 1963...

That is a declaration which preceded the

Convention of 1965, of which I spoke.
...states that all incitement to or acts of
violence, whether by individuals or
organisations, against any race or group
of persons of another colour or ethnic
origin shall be considered an offence
against society and punishable under law
and calls upon all States to take immedi-
ate and positive measures, including
legislative and other measures, to prose-
cute and/or outlaw organisations which
promote or incite to racial discrimination,
or incite to or use violence for purposes
of discrimination based on race, colour or
ethnic origin;...

It can be seen that that particular clause goes
far beyond this particular legislation, because
that clause was intended to outlaw organiza-
tions. The resolution continues:

6. Addresses a solemn appeal to all
Europeans, and especially to the legisla-
tive governmental, judicial and educa-
tional authorities of member States to
take appropriate measures, if necessary
of a legislative nature, to eliminate such
abuses and to ensure particularly that
their youth are brought up in respect for
the rule of law and the dignity of every
human being, regardless of race, religion,
nationality or ethnic origin;...

In conformity with this resolution a num-
ber of countries have already adopted legisla-
tion of this type. I will list the first nine
European countries that have adopted this
type of legislation, and they are Austria, Den-
mark, West Germany, France, Greece, Italy,
Norway, Sweden and'Britain, So far as Great
Britain is' concerned the statute is the Race
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Relations Act, 1965. In addition, Australia,
India, and Turkey have also adopted this
type of legislation.

I want to refer to the covenant on civil and
political rights which was adopted in Decem-
ber, 1966. You will recall that ‘'the United
Nations at its inception in 1945 aimed at an
international bill of rights, and they started
with the universal declaration in 1948, and it
then took them some 15 or 16 years to elabo-
rate the two covenants which would put
teeth, as it were, in the implementation of the
terms of the Universal Declaration. These two
covenants were adopted in December, 1966,
and one is on Economic and Social Rights,
and the other is on Civil and Political Rights.
In the Covenant on Civil and Political Rights
there is an article which states that any
advocacy of national, racial, or religious hos-
tility that constitutes an incitement to hatred
and violence shall be prohibited by the law of
the state. Again, you see that incitement is an
ingredient of the offence.

As we said in our United Nations resolu-
tion, we consider that as we have subscribed
to ‘the Universal Declaration of Human
Rights, and we have ratified the Genocide
Convention, and we are considering ratifica-
tion of the Racial Discrimination Convention,
it is only logical that if we find a loophole in
our own domestic legislation we should block
it in order to make these international com-
mitments of Canada effective. That is precise-
ly what the Council of Europe said in their
resolution that I read, that states should give
effect by way of ancillary legislation to these
provisions.

It is true that the mere adoption of the
legislation in itself is a strong educational
measure. I would be the last one to underplay
the effect which education has, but the legis-
lation in itself helps to educate people. If
this is to be an offence on the statute books
then there must be a reason for it, and that
makes people think before they go ahead and
break the law. But, education alone is not
sufficient, and it should be, in our submission,
supplemented and complemented by legisla-
tion on the statute books.

I am not going to deal with the question of
infringement of the right of free speech any
more than to say that all of us who are deep-
ly interested in the preservation of free
speech as a fundamental freedom from which
many others flow, after due reflection, are
strongly convinced that this is not a challenge
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to, or a limitation of, the right of free speech,
in that it seeks rather to limit the abuse of
free speech by according protection to minor-
ity groups.

There are to be found in the legislation a
number of safeguards, with which the com-
mittee is undoubtedly familiar, because you
have studied this legislation and I know it
has been explained to you by officers of the
Government that there are sufficient safe-
guards in the legislation so as not to consti-
tute a limitation of free speech. I can assure
you that Professor Humphrey, who has
devoted a lifetime to human rights, and oth-
ers who are deeply committed to the cause of
protecting human rights and fundamental
freedoms in Canada, would not support the
adoption of this legislation if they felt it con-
stituted an infringement of the rights of free
speech.

I want to give an instance dealing with a
problem that I am sure is uppermost in the
minds of the committee: is this legislation
really necessary? In my own experience—and
I was at the Bar for 25 years, and have been
for nearly twenty years on the bench now—I
have seen several instances in which I felt
legislation like this would have done good. I
want to cite to you a case that came up in the
Quebec courts in 1915. It was the case of
Ortenberg v. Plamondon in Quebec City. It is
reported in 24 Kings Bench Reports at pages
69 and 385. Mr. Plamondon was a notary who
delivered a scurrilous speech denouncing the
Jewish people and the Jewish race, accusing
them of all sorts of nefarious practices.

Senator Aseltine: What year was that?

Mr. Justice Batshaw: In 1915.

Senator Aseltine: Have you not got some-
thing more up to date than that?

Senator Croll: He probably has a point on
it

Mr. Jutice Batshaw: I can’t give you some-
thing more up to date, but the point is that
here is an instance of an actual case and the
law of Quebec has been laid down in this case
by the Court of Appeal; it has never been
changed and is the law today. The question
is, if that law is inadequate is it up to us to
advocate an improvement? That is, I think,
what we are all after. It is true that I do not
know of any more recent decision of the
Court of Appeal, but it is t.he law: of the
province today.
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The Chairman: And nobody has disputed
it?

Mr. Justice Batshaw: No, it has never been
disputed since.

The Chairman: There is no appeal to the
Supreme Court of Canada?

Mr. Justice Batshaw: No appeal to the
Supreme Court of Canada.

Senator Aseltine:
similar cases?

Have there been any

Mr. Justice Batshaw: No, there have not
been similar cases because nobody has want-
ed to take it to court. You know you would
lose right away, because whenever the Jews as
a group, or the Jehovah Witnesses for that
matter, have been defamed and gone to a
lawyer to ask whether they have any remedy
they have been told, “No, you have not. The
Court of Appeal says you have not.” That is
why it is hoped by all who support this legis-
lation that if the Criminal Code is amended to
include. ..

Senator Aseltine: Does not the legislation
we are now dealing with provide that there
must be violence before there is any offence?

Mr, Justice Batshaw: There must be an
incitement to a breach of the peace so that
there is an incitement to violence, I think.
The idea is to prevent violence at the outset.

Senator Aseltine: Would not the present
Criminal Code cover that?

Mr. Justice Baishaw: Not in the case of
defamation of a group. It will protect an
individual from criminal libel, but it will not
protect an individual—and I think that is the
loophole—the legislation is intended to cover.

In the case to which I referred, the man
Plamondon made a defamatory speech. Short-
ly afterwards some youngsters broke the win-
dows in: the home of a dentist, Dr. Ortenberg,
who took action. The Superior Court dis-
missed his action, saying that there was no
recourse. In the Court of Appeal it was held
that he did have a recourse because in the
City of Quebec there were only 75 Jewish
families in a population of 80,000, and when
there was defamation of Jews he was suffi-
ciently indentified to have a recourse. In fact,
it was his windows that were broken. In the
course of rendering judgment, Mr. Justice
Carroll said specifically:

Sans doute, que les attaques contre une
race, quelques violentes soient-elles, ne
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peuvent donner ouverture a une action en
dommages-intéréts; tous ceux qui écri-
vent peuvent écrire tout ce qu’ils pensent
sur le compte d’'une collectivité, avec
cettfe restriction que si I'un des individus
de la collectivité est visé spécialement
par la diffamation et subit un dommage,
il a l’action en justice.

If T might give honourable senators a rough
translation, it would be:

Without doubt, attacks against a race,
however violent they may be, do not give
rise to an action in damages. Those who
write or who might write everything that
they think about a collectivity can do so
without restriction unless one of the
individuals of the collectivity is the spe-
cific target of the defamation, and then
he has an action in damages. It is clear
that it is the law of Quebec that in the
case of the defamation of a race or a
group there is no recourse in damages.

I think according to the intention of this
legislation, by summary conviction these boys
might have been fined $5, $10, $15 or $25 as
the case may be, but there would have been a
recourse and a sanction.

You ask for a more recent case. I remem-
ber in the twenties, in the Jewish community
in Montreal there appeared a series of weekly
or monthly newspapers published by André
Arcand, the Fascist leader, containing very
scurrilous material, libelous and defamatory,
and a number of us got together, thinking
that surely there must be some protection in
Canadian law from vicious attacks of that
nature. After examining the law, however,
we found there was not any. I remember we
consulted with Peter Bercovitch, K. C., then a
member of the Quebec Legislature, asking
him whether something could not be done.
We were thinking in terms of perhaps being
able to get an injunction, but on the basis of
the law as it then stood and as it is now—
there has been no change to my knowledge—
we had no protection.

You may say to me, “Well, you have sur-
vived none the less.” I think however that the
danger is that attacks of this nature against
Jehovah’s Witnesses, against Jews, against
negroes, against any identifiable minority
group, if allowed to continue without any re-
striction or restraint, help to create a climate
of opinion which, perhaps due to other cir-
cumstances of economic depression and other
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controversies extant, will build up a state of
affairs that can be explosive and dangerous.

I submit to you that it is worth considering
for the legislators of this country as to wheth-
er there should not be a restraint that will
stop this head of steam building up, the dan-
ger of it building up. The time to deal with it
is before it does so and that is why I submit
to you that I consider it important. I remem-
ber the story told about this kindly old lady
in Germany. When she first heard what was
going on in the gas chambers she said, “My,
my, my, I am sure the Fuhrer does not know
about this.” This thing had build up in Ger-
many it unfortunately is a classic example of
history where defamation against a minority
group was allowed to build up to where it
caused the holocaust of which you gentlemen
know. Thank you very much.

Senator Eudes: When you referred to the
law of Quebec were you talking about the
Civil Code or the statutes of Quebec?

Mr. Justice Baishaw: I would say the law
of Quebec is covered both by the Civil Code
and by the statutes. In other words, the Civil
Code is the only protection against defama-
tion of an individual and hopefully, to a
group. This would be Article 1053 which says
that each person is responsible for the dam-
age he causes to another.

When you go and leave the Civil Code and
go into the Quebec statutes, which is the
other source of our law, there is nothing in
the statutes that affords protection that I
know of.

Senator Choquette: But, the case that you
just quoted was purely a civil case against
Plamondon, but then, that man said because
of the statements that were made against it,
Jews in general were small in number. In the
City of Quebec they said, “We will get after
him for damage caused to my property,” so
that it was purely a civil action.

Mr. Justice Batshaw: I do not think it was
damage for property.

Senator Choquette: What kind of damage
was it?

Mr. Justice Batshaw: It was damage for
defamation, ‘“dommages et intéréts”. It was
damage for libel, damage to his reputation. I
just mentioned the windows because it is
apropos of this legislation, which deals with
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inciting to a breach of the peace and in this
case there was a breach of the peace, but he
sued for nominal damages.

Senator Choquette: I did not have all the
facts.

Senator Prowse: Would it be correct to
assume that in that action the fact that there
had been damage to his property may have
helped him to establish that he was a person
identified in order to lay the foundation for
the civil claim?

Mr. Justice Batshaw: I would be inclined to
agree with that. That would have been one of
the elements that served to identify him since
these rowdies, having heard the incitement
said, “You are one of those fellows.”

Senator Prowse: In other words, they iden-
tified him by their criminal action?

Mr. Justice Batshaw: Right. The other
ground that influenced the court was where
the minority was so small in a large group.
In Mr. Justice Carroll’s judgment he said the
larger the group defamed the less chance
there is of recourse, because the damage
becomes so diffused.

Senator Eudes: That was a civil case.

Mr. Justice Batshaw: That was a civil case.
It went to the King’s Bench in Quebec. Since
the Jews as a group do not exist as a legal
entity that could sue, you see, any one person
suing is part of a large collectivity and he has
no standing before the court.

Senator Prowse: He has to bring himself
out of the collectivity and then appear before
the court as an injured individual.

Senator Eudes: In other words, he has to
prove that he has suffered personal damage.

Mr. Justice Batshaw: No, he does not have
to except as a member of the collectivity,
because in libel you do not have to prove—
you can prove real damages if people have
not come to your store to buy and you can
prove exemplary damages or general dam-
ages which are not specific, but which cover
you for your humiliation ete.®

Senator Eudes:
collectivity.

Mr. Justice Batshaw: Under the present
law you would have to prove that you were
identified by the man that defamed you, but
unless you can prove identification then it is
just as a collectivity no action lies.

Not as a member of the

Senator Prowse: Going back into the ques-
tion that has been raised—a case you referred
to was in 1915 and it is out of date. My
recollection is that a great many of our prin-
ciples of law were laid down by much earlier
decisions. I have in mind the Hodge case
which sets out the law on circumstantial evi-
dence. This was early in the nineteenth cen-
tury, and the Six Carpenters case which I
think was early in the seventeenth century,
which set out the limitations of the searches
that could be carried out under a search war-
rant. It occurred to me, sir, that dealing with
this question concerning the reliability of
older decisions, you might be able to give us
some examples of cases where principles of
law which govern the conduct of our courts
and behaviour today to have rather old
beginnings.

Senator Croll: There is a limit to this.

Mr. Justice Batshaw: Perhaps I could say
what Dean Pound said. “The law shculd be
stable, but it must not stand still”. The ele-
ment of stability comes to us from these
many decisions out of the past. That is what
Tennyson called building up from precedent
to precedent over the centuries. At the same
time I think the law must adapt itself to new
special conditions, considering today that
mass media being what it is, is something
that never existed in the old days. You see,
this one man speaking in Quebec City, his
words got around only that “patelin” or town
or area where he spoke, but today a libel or
defamation with modern mass communica-
tions has a much more virulent effect. That is
why I feel we are on safe ground in recom-
mending to the committee that the law be
updated to take into account modern condi-
tions, modern communications and to afford a
protection to a minority group. It is perhaps
difficult for a member of the majority to real-
ly feel this. You know there is a greater feel-
ing of security as a member of the majority
group and it is the ethnic group that worries
when they are attacked and they are sensitive
to it. To me it is almost part of the welcome
that Canada should offer to the newcomers to
say that you do not have to worry because
you are a Ukrainian or a Finlander or Italian,
or from any other part of the globe, that our
law protects you from false accusations not
from the truth.

Senator Hollett: Does not our law protect
them against that now?

Mr, Batshaw: Only to a limited extent.
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Senator Hollett: I know, but the more laws
you have on any matter the more trouble is
going to be caused and the more cases in
court.

Mr. Justice Batshaw: That is of course open
to debate. Do not forget this. It is interesting
to note that the members of the judiciary
who have spoken on this—such as Chief Jus-
tice Gale of the Appeal Division of the
Ontario Supreme Court, and Chief Justice
Wells of the Trial Division of that Court and
Mr. Justice Fortas and Mr. Justice Black in
the United States—are in favour of such laws.

The Chairman: Can you give those quota-
tions, in due season?

Mr. Justice Batshaw: I will be very glad to
do so. The task of the judiciary is to protect
the citizen, and if a man is falsely accused he
can avail himself of several defences. He can
plead truth, that the subject matter is true, or
that he believed it to be true or that it is in
the public interest.

Senator Aseltine: You want to make it a
criminal offence, so that he can be sent to
jail.

Mr. Justice Batshaw: Not unless he has
broken the law—which in the opinion of Par-
liament should be enacted. I am not afraid
that we have too many laws. That is a philo-
sophical question, as to the extent to which
one should have laws. I have given examples
where it would be in the interests of the
Canadian people to make it an offence to
incite to hatred, which would lead to a breach
of the peace.

Senator Aseltine: Even though there is no
violence?

Mr. Justice Batshaw: Even so, If we are to
wait until violence takes place—I would say
an ounce of prevention is better than a pound
of cure.

The Chairman: Can you give some exam-
ples of legislation of this nature in the United
States?

Mr. Justice Baishaw: I cannot give at the
moment a resumé of the group libel laws in
the United States, but I will be glad to do so
in the supplementary material I will prepare
for you.

The Chairman: Thank you.

Mr. Justice Baishaw: A leading case in the
United States was decided by the Supreme
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Court in 1951—Beauharnais v. Illinois and it
ruled that group libel laws are constitutional.
I quote from the judgment of the Supreme
Court of the United States, dealing with free
speech:
Free speech is not an absolute right in all
circumstances. It must be accommodated
to other equally basic needs of society,
one of which is society’s interest in the
avoidance of group hostility and group
conflict. A communication does not enjoy
constitutional protection merely because
it may express an opinion. If it is essen-
tially designed to stir up ill will and is
fraudulent, it is not in a constitutional
sense an effort to communicate ideas and
is therefore subject to the police power of
the state. Since society gains little or
nothing by group defamation, its interest
in avoiding the embitterment of group
relations outweighs the abstract right of
freedom of expression. Racial defamation
is “like a slow cumulative poison, the
effects of which may not be visible for
years” and racial defamation cannot be
overcome “merely by counter-propa-
ganda.”

That is an authoritative pronouncement.

Mr. E. Russell Hopkins, Law Clerk and
Parliamentary Counsel: What was the nature
of the case? Did it involve the validity of
state legislation?

Mr. Justice Batshaw: Yes, it was a case of
Illinois legislation which came up before the
Supreme Court. I have the reference here. I
will put it in my memorandum. It is 1951, the
United States Supreme Court and is reported
in Volume 343 U.S. Reports at page 250.
Then also on the American picture, in Yates
v. The United States, 354 U.S. Reports, 298
in 1956, the court rules that the First Amend-
ment protects advocacy of even the most
hateful of ideas so long as there is no incite-
ment to unlawful action—that is part of the
ingredients of the Canadian bill—but once
there is incitement to unlawful action, then it

is illegal in the United States.

Mr. Hopkins: I do not think the Canadian
legislation uses the word “incitement”.

The Chairman: The meaning is there.

Mr. Justice Batshaw: I think it does in sec-
tion 267B.

(1) Every one wlio, by communicating
statements in any public place, incites
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hatred or contempt against any identifia-
ble group.. .

It is precisely that which is one of the main
ingredients of the offence.

Recognizing the requirement of incitement,
some bills, such as the Pennsylvania bill, use
the term “incitement to hatred”. That is
exactly the term we use. In Pennsylvania the
wording is identical to that contained in Bill
S-21.

Senator Choquette: But you see how easy it
is for an accused to be brought to court, or a
man who is supposed to have broken the law.
Let us say that in a public place in Toronto
he speaks to a gathering of about 25 to 30
people who do not take him very seriously.
Then suppose you have 5,000 of the Jewish
faith who go there and say, ‘We do not like
what he is saying” and then a big fight starts.
Who started the fight but the 5,000 Jews?
They might say, “He was inciting hatred and
was saying half or whole truths. We did not
like that, and that is why we started
fighting.”

Senaton Prowse: How did the 5,000 Jews
get there?

Senator Choquette: Well, let us put it at a
thousand or 2,000.

Senator Prowse: Even a thousand, how did
they get there?

Senator Choquette: They got there because
they knew there was going to be this meeting.

Senator Prowse: And knew what he was
going to say?

Senator Choquette: No, they found out
what he said when they got there and started
a fight. I am putting a hypothetical case to
you.

Mr. Justice Batshaw: I would have two
answers to that. I would say that after this
legislation hopefully is adopted there will be
less likelihood of a group of 5,000 representa-
tives of the attacked group who would go
down there and start a fight. They would
know this man had committed a breach of the
law. They would know there is legal recourse,
and somebody present, perhaps a police offic-
er, would lay a charge against this man. If
what he was saying was not incitement to
hatred likely to lead to a breach of the peace,
then he would be acquitted, but‘these people
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would not be permitted to take the law into
their own hands when the law provided them
with redress. That is point No. 1.

The Chairman: In other words, you want to
substitute the rule of law for the rule of the
mob?

Mr. Justice Batshaw: Precisely. The other
answer is that an individual who addresses a
group in a public place is not allowed to say
things which will stir up others so that there
is going to be a fight, because that is a breach
of the peace. The Queen’s peace has always
been held sacred in the English law, and you
are not allowed to start fighting or to break
the peace. So, he would be committing an
offence, and the proof that it was so is that
this group started to fight with him. Who
started the fight? The mere starting of a fight
is illegal—the mere saying of things that will
start a fight. There are certain provocations
that are so violent that human nature reacts
to them with violence, and it is an offence, in
law, to create that kind of provocation in a
public place. So, I think on both grounds this
legislation would be desirable.

Senator Choquette: I still think the group
who went there to start a fight is the one
really that should be found guilty, and not a
poor fellow who is a crackpot and tries to
address a meeting of 20 or 10 who do not take
him seriously.

Mr. Justice Batshaw: We know that if there
were compliments there would not be a fight,
but I daresay they are as guilty of a breach
of the peace as the man who incited them,;
they have to show restraint too.

Senator That

Ontario.

Choquette: happened in

Mr. Justice Batshaw: I remember the Allen
Gardens incident.

The Chairman: Would you mind telling us
the significance of the Quebec decision in the
law of the other provinces? What significance
has that case now in Ontario, for instance?

Mr. Justice Batshaw: I will beg leave not to
answer because I know little enough of Que-
bec law, and I would not be the one to try to
tell you what its comparative effect would be.

Senator Choquette: It is not binding on the
other provinces.

Mr. Justice Batshaw: No.
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The Chairman: But it is quoted in the other
provinces.

Senator Prowse: Let me give you a specific
situation. Suppose somebody made a speech
about Jews in Edmonton, where I imagine
there are about 2,000 or 2,500, or in Montreal,
where there are, what, 50,000?

Mr. Justice Batshaw: 125,000.

Senator Prowse: Or whatever it is, then the
rationale would be that that case could hardly
be applied to the Edmonton situation and cer-
tainly not to the Montreal situation.

Mr. Justice Batshaw: There would be no
recourse.

Senator Prowse: They are affected merely
because they are a small number of people
and they are identified in the public mind.

Mr. Justice Baishaw: Yes.

The Chairman: Your lordship, you have
certainly given us a most comprehensive. . .

Senator Eudes: Just before you conclude,
Mr. Chairman. In what year was this decision
in Quebec rendered?

Mr. Justice Batshaw: In 1915.

Senator Eudes: You have mentioned that in
other countries—Austria, France, and so
forth—similar legislation has been passed.
Would you be in a position to say at what
time and if similar legislation to that included
in our bill was put in a special statute or
added to—well, I do not suppose they have a
Criminal Code; and if the conditions prevail-
ing at the time in 'those countries were simi-
lar to those prevailing today in our own
country?

Mr. Justice Batshaw: Well, I will tell you
what I will be glad to do. I will be glad to file
with the Chairman a booklet called The
Crime of Incitement to Group Hatred, which
was a survey of international and national
legislation prepared by Natan Lerner, an
officer of the World Jewish Congress in New
Work, and he has listed there countries, and I
will just, for the sake of the immediate
record, give you a few of them.

LATIN AMERICA
ARGENTINA
On October 30, 1964, the Chamber of

Deputies gave its definite approval to a
law amending the Penal Code.
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That dealt with organizations to conduct
propaganda based on ideas or theories of
superiority of one race or of a group of per-
sons of a given religion, ethnic origin or
colour. It varies a little bit—those who incite
to violence by the mere fact of inciting, and
so on. Brazil passed its legislation in 1963,
Chile in 1963, and Uruguay in 1964. This one
reads: “He who publicly arouses, orally or in
writing, hatred or contempt against persons
of a given race, colour, religion or national-
ity, for reasons of such a mnature, will be
punished by imprisonment for 2 to 4 years”.
You will note that the word “religion” is
there.

Senator Eudes: Let us not take up the time
of the committee. ..

Mr. Justice Batshaw: No, but it is all fairly
recent. I would say it is all from 1960 on.

Senator Eudes: I would like to know if it is
in a special statute, or is it in the criminal
law of those countries?

Mr. Justice Batshaw: In England it is a
definite statute, the Race Relations Act. In
some of these other countries it is by amend-
ment to the penal or criminal code. In India
it was by amendment to the penal code.

The Chairman: Of course, in England they
do not have a criminal code.

Senator Eudes: You mentioned internation-
al law, but we are not dealing with interna-
tional law but with the criminal code.

Mr. Justice Baishaw: International law in
that sense has to be divided into two catego-
ries. There is the law adopted by internation-
al organizations such as the United Nations,
and the Council of Europe, and then there is
international law in the sense of the law of
other countries throughout the world—in
other words, where this type of legislation fits
into the law of other countries or states
throughout the world as opposed to interna-
tional agreements like the racial discrimina-
tion convention, and so on. So, they are both
included—the domestic legislation of other
countries, and the decisions of international
bodies such as the United Nations or the
Council of Europe.

Senator Fergusson: There is one thing that
puzzles me in section 2678, and perhaps you,
as a member of the bench, will be able to
satisfy me. I cannot understand how you are
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going to decide that a statement which incites
hatred or contempt against any identifiable
group constitutes an incitement that is likely
to lead to a breach of the peace. If it has not
already done so, how are you going to know
it is likely to do so? It seems to me that this
is a problem.

Mr. Justice Batshaw: Let us take an
extreme example. Suppose a speaker says:
“One block from this park in which I am
speaking is a brickyard. I urge you gentlemen
to go down to that brickyard and each take a
brick, and break a window in the first house
you see that belongs to a Jehovah’ Witness?
That is an extreme case, and that is an incite-
ment to violence.

Senator Fergusson: I can understand that
case, but. ..

Mr. Justice Batshaw: If, on the other
hand—to take the other end of the scale—the
speaker simply speaks philosophically and
gives his opinions and says that he disagrees,
and that one should not believe what they
believe because they are wrong and misguid-
ed, and they are making a terrible mistake;
even if he denounced their views in strong
and violent language, he would be blameless
so far as the criminal law is concerned.

In between those two cases I admit you
will get cases that are difficult, but that is
what the law is about all the time. The clear
cases do not come to court. It is the difficult
ones that the courts have to deal with. Of
course, you will have the general principle of
the criminal law to guide you. The accused
gets the benefit of the doubt.

Here, I am thinking about the Divorce Act
which I am administering now, and by way
of parenthesis I want to thank you, honoura-
ble senators, for having conferred a boon
upon humanity by sponsoring that legislation
and seeing that it was passed by Parliament.
We have had cases of people who have been
living in a common law relationship for 15
and more years, and who have five and more
children, who have suddenly been enabled to
get a divorce, remarry, and become respecta-
ble members of the community, and have
their children legitimatized.

In that legislation you left the decision as
to what constituted mental cruelty to the dis-
cretion of the judges. You can have a clear
case of mental cruelty, and you can have a
case which, to use your words, is “hard to
define, but easy to recognize”.

29937—2
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The Chairman: Yes.

Mr. Justice Batshaw: Perhaps that is true
of this. When you hear a speech you can form
a pretty good idea of whether it would incite
people to be violent, or not.

Senator Choquette: Do you not think, sir,
that if we pass this type of legislation the
door will be opened to trials that might last
for months. I have in mind the example I
gave in the chamber when I spoke on this bill
the first time it was introduced. I had in mind
a case that took place in the early thirties
right here in the town of Eastview, next to
the City of Ottawa. A woman who was work-
ing for a company in Waterloo or Kitchener
sold contraceptives from door to door, and
she was prosecuted under the appropriate
section of the Criminal Code.

Mr. Justice Batshaw: I remember the case
very well.

Senator Choquette: Here we have a similar
clause. Suppose you can show the truth of the
statement? Suppose you have somebody say-
ing: “I am going to test this law, and in that
way I shall obtain more publicity than I
would if I spoke to a small group in Queen’s
Park in Toronto. T am going to make this trial
last for two months by calling all sorts of
experts to show the truth of my statement.”
He then gets all the publicity he wants in the
newspapers of Canada, and he wins his case.
So, what have we gained by passing this law,
and what has the group that wants us to pass
this law gained?

Senator Hollett: It has caused more trouble.
Senator Choquette: Yes.

Mr. Justice Batshaw: I would answer that
in this way. I would say that the danger of an
individual’s using the law as an instrument to
gain publicity and to continue his defamation
is not a sound criterion upon which to fail to
adopt the law. That is one of the risks of our
democratic society. If the law can be used in
such a hypothetical manner, then it might be
that there is less harm in having it so used
than not to have the law. In other words, the
criterion of fear of having it abused for other
purposes is not sufficient to prevent you from
adopting the law.

Secondly, I would say it is much more like-
ly that such a person would lose his case. As
an example I would take one of the outstand-
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ing libels against the Jewish people, namely,
that they use the blood of Christian children
at Passover for ritual purposes. Can you per-
ceive of anyone getting up in a court of law
and trying to prove that. If a person tried to
prove that, or something like it, then there is
much more chance...

Senator Choquette: But one who wanted to
win his case would not use such nonsense.
You know that.

Mr. Justice Baishaw: At any rate, if it is
not true there is much more chance of the
falsity being exposed at the trial, and that
that person will end up by being discredited.

Senator Choquette: I went on to say that
the trial of the Palmer case lasted for two
months, and philosophers, theologians, minis-
ters, priests and everybody else gave evi-
dence, and the case then went to the Court of
Appeal, and I think it ended up in the Su-
preme Court.

Mr. Justice Batshaw: I think the net result
of the Palmer case was good for Canada
because here we are 20 or 25 years later with
a bill now before the House of Commons that
deals with that very problem. I think public
opinion was educated by that long trial that
took place, and which sowed the seeds of
ameliorative legislation 25 years later.

Senator Prowse: Mr. Chairman, Senator
MecCarthy, during the hearings of the witch
hunt they had on Communism in the United
States, my understanding and recollection is
he received a great deal of publicity until the
Senate or a Senate committee decided ‘to have
a public trial and an investigation of his
charges. The result of the public trial and
investigation of those charges was not the
destruction of the people he was after or pre-
tended to be after, but of the senator himself
who was making the unreasonable accusations.

Mr. Justice Batshaw: I would certainly
agree with that. There is a good maxim for
that. “If you let light into a rat hole it will
cease to be inhabited by rats.”

Senator Prowse: May I ask two questions
that have to do with the bill we have, sir?

The Chairman: Yes.

Senator Prowse: It has been suggested that
genocide as referred to in clause 267a makes
it an offence for a person to advocate the

destruction in whole or in part of any group
of persons. A “group” is unqualified. Then we
have in clause 2678 the following:
...hatred or contempt against any iden-
tifiable group...

And then in subsection 5, paragraph (b)
“identifiable group” is defined. Do you feel
that it would improve the bill or lessen its
usefulness if we were to import into clause
267A the word “identifiable” before “group”
so that we use the same wording? In other
words, in all of the sections, we would refer
to identifiable groups rather than have one
section refer merely to group whereas the
other one deals with identifiable group, which
is then defined. Then the second question is
regarding the definition of identifiable group.
I will deal with that separately.

Mr. Justice Batshaw: Yes, I think it would
help and be more specific. I think that what
happened here perhaps is the wording of all
the subclauses of section 267A are based on
the genocide conviction which did not use the
word “identifiable”. It may be open to ques-
tion whether by putting in “identifiable
group” you are restricting the word “group”,
because “identifiable group” means one dis-
tinguished by colour, race, or ethnic origin.
Sex is not in there. God forbid someone
should say, “Let us kill all the women.”
because sex is not included in the definition
of an identifiable group.

Senator Choquette: I think we are agreed
in all our discussions that the word “religion”
should be added.

Senator Prowse: That is the second part.
Subparagraph 5(b) does not include the word
religion.

Senator Choquette: That is right.

Senator Prowse: I think there is a general
feeling, at least among a number of persons
listening to evidence, that this perhaps is an
oversight.

Mr. Justice Batshaw: I am strongly of the
opinion that it would be useful and construc-
tive to add the word “religion”.

Senator Choquette: Add it.

Mr. Justice Batshaw: It would eliminate this
haziness of the conception of “ethnic”. Let us
not ignore the fact that the religious element
in discrimination is a very strong one. You
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know this book by Jules Issac L’enseignement
du mépris. He has written a book, this great
historian of France, to point out that in so far
as Jews are concerned the religious roots of
anti-Semitism are the strongest. That is why
somebody asked in one of the earlier hearings
why should not the French Canadian group
seek protectionn against defamation as a
minority in Canada. They do not belong to a
minority religious group. There may be a
differentiation  between  Protestant and
Catholic, but they are all Christians. As a
religious minority, adding the word religion
makes the group so much more easily iden-
tifiable and attacks a source of discrimination.
I would strongly urge and am firmly of
the opinion that adding the word “religion”
would be a constructive addition.

Senator Prowse: At the present time, as
this stands, a person could say anything he
wanted to about Roman Catholics, to be very
specific, and there would be no protection for
them and the abuse could be just as insulting
and irresponsible as any of the things we
have heard about smaller groups.

Mr, Justice Batshaw: Right.

The Chairman: Now, we have got some
more witnesses.

Senator Fergusson: May I ask one question.
I would like to ask Mr. Justice Batshaw if,
from his own personal knowledge, he feels
that this legislation is needed and whether
there is enough of the hate literature being
circulated now to make this legislation
necessary?

Mr. Justice Batshaw: I would answer in the
affirmative, definitely. I think that every few
months or so we receive in the Congress
Bulletin a notice of the fact that in one city
or another, frequently Toronto, literature of
this type is being circulated. You know this
business about the telephone. ..

The Chairman: We know it well.

Mr. Justice Batshaw: It shows that there
are groups who are injecting this poison and
it does exist. .

Senator Fergusson: Is it against anyone
other than the Jewish people? Do you know
of such literature being circulated?

The Chairman: Negroes.

Mr. Justice Batshaw: Yes, Negroes. There
have been against Negroes and others, which
29937—2%
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are not so vocal perhaps in getting themselves
defended and organized to try and combat it.
I know there has been against Negroes.

Senator Fergusson: Mr. Saul Hayes, when
he was here, stated that we need it on
account of the feeling in North America
between the whites and the Negroes, but I
want to know if that is your opinion too.

Mr. Justice Batshaw: Yes, I am definitely
of that opinion.

Senator Hollett: Does it do any harm?

Mr. Justice Baishaw: I cannot really con-
ceive that it will fail to. Does this literature
do any harm?

Senator Hollett: Yes.

Mr. Justice Batshaw: Yes, I think it does.
You can take the example that I gave you of
the Plamondon case where this man made a
speech and the windows were broken. in this
chap’s house.

Senator Hollett: That is another matter.
Does it do harm generally, or does it not do
harm to the group who are distributing this
stuff? We are supposed to be sane individu-
als—in Canada at least.

Mr. Justice Batshaw: I tell you not all of it
is so far fetched and so crazy that nobody
would pay any attention to it. Very often it is
a mixture of half truths and quotations taken
out of context. The “Protocols of the Elders of
Zion” is still being distributed after being
exposed as a forgery.

Senator Hollett: It has not intended to
make a breach of the peace has it?

Mr. Justice Baishaw: The idea is not to
wait until the peace is broken.

Senator Hollett: I remember when I was a
young fellow. I was born a Methodist. Some-
body called me a name which I cannot put on
the record here. Under this legislation I could
have taken him to court, but what I did was
to punch him in the nose, and I never heard
anything afterwards.

Mr. Justice Batshaw: That is a breach of
the peace, sir. You could have gone to jail.

The Chairman: We must end this. I want to
thank you on behalf of all our committee for
a classical exposition of this situation. It has
helped us a great deal. You have not only
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given us your opinion, but real information.
You are going to send us a memorandum. We
are indebted to you, sir. Thank you for com-
ing. I speak on behalf of all members of the
committee.

Mr. Justice Batshaw: Thank you.

(For text of Mr. Justice Batshaw’s memoran-
dum, see Appendix “A”).

The Chairman: Now, honourable senators,
we have another delegation to be heard. It is
the Jewish Labour Committee of Canada.
There are three representatives of the organi-
zation here, namely, Mr. Michael Rubinstein,
Q.C., Mr. Bernard Shane, and Mr. Rafael
Ryba.

Honourable senators, you have all received
the memorandum, and I hope that most of
you have read it. It is signed by Mr. Rafael
Ryba, National Secretary of the Jewish
Labour Committee. Perhaps Mr. Rubinstein
will tell the committee something of its histo-
ry, the members it represents, and so forth,

Mr. Michael Rubinstein, Q.C.: Mr. Chair-
man and honourable senators, on behalf of the
committee I am really grateful that you have
given us the opportunity here this afternoon
to voice our opinion on the bill which is
before you for consideration.

The Jewish Labour Committee has been in
existence for about 35 years and is devoted
principally to two objectives. One is to give
aid and assistance, both material and moral,
to victims of racial persecution, especially in
Europe and also in Canada, in the period
immediately preceding the last World War
and during the war. Its second objective,
which has had a more permanent solution, is
the struggle for human rights in Canada.

Perhaps I should bring to your attention
that our efforts in the field of human rights
have been recognized by the Government of
Canada and, had I known that you were
going to ask us for our pedigree, I would
gladly have brought along a publication of
the federal Department of Labour which
dates back about 15 years, in which the
Department of Labour paid the Jewish
Labour Committee the highest compliment we
could ever expect to receive, and that is that
of being among the pioneers in the field of
human rights, and ascribed to the Jewish
Labour Committee or to its efforts a large
measure of credit for the passage of many of
these bills on human rights in the wvarious
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provinces of Canada. We are continuing this
effort, and because of our great desire for the
protection of human rights we are here today
to support bill S-21.

Secondly, who are we? From the name it is
hard to tell exactly what it is, because it has
no racial connotation. It is composed mainly
of a number of trade unions—I would say,
principally the needle trade unions and some
others, in which, as you know, traditionally
there has always been a goodly number of
Jewish men and women, and it is also com-
posed of a number of fraternal orders and
associations, what we call landsmanschaften,
which are societies composed of people from
various areas and countries of the world.

It might perhaps be exaggerating but we
say in our literature that we represent about
50,000. If you are going to ask me how we
counted them, I have to admit that we have
not counted them exactly and we did not use
a computer. However, when we take the
membership of the organizations affiliated to
the Jewish Labour Committee the figure of
50,000 is not exaggerated. You have an organ-
ization like the International Lady Garment
Workers, of which the head is right here, Mr.
Bernard Shane, which has a membership in
Canada of approximately 25,000, so that
50,000, when you take into account the other
organizations, is not too much.

I would also like to add that I am speaking
today .as one of the officers of a Quebec
organization. It is true they have not signed
this brief, but I will tell you how I am
authorized to speak on their behalf. It is an
organization called, in English, the United
Council for Human Rights, which is purely a
Quebec organization and which is known in
French as Comité pour la Défense des Droits
de ’'Homme. It is a very large organization. It
takes in a very broad level and pattern of the
population of Quebec. It takes in all the Que-
bec Federation of Labour which has, I
believe, a membership of around 225,000 to
250,000. The national unions are affiliated to
it, most of which our minister, the Honoura-
ble Mr. Marchand, was a member of or presi-
dent of. As a matter of fact, he and I were
together in a committee in Quebec to get
some legislation in the field of human rights.
They also have a similar number, and I think
what is even more important, honourable
senators, is that this group is supported by
two church groups—the Catholic church has a
representative, ’Abbé Riendeau, who comes



Legal and Constitutional Affairs

directly from the Archbishop’s Palace, from
the Catholic Action, and the second group is
the Church of England, which also has a
representative on it, besides Negro groups,
teachers, social workers, and so on. They also
are behind us, and so I believe this idea of
legislation in this field, despite the fact there
may be certain doubts—as we all should have
doubts when something new comes up, and it
is only natural for humans to have some
doubts—is being supported by these groups.

I think we have heard, as the chairman has
said, a wonderful, very fine and profound
philosophical exposé, and also a fine legal and
judicial exposé regarding this bill. All I can
offer you is a layman’s view of this matter,
but I will be prepared to answer any
questions.

I believe I have dealt with the first para-
graph in my answer already. I do not need to
read it because it says who we are.

The Jewish Labour Committee immediately
prior to and during the Second World War
organized aid for the persecuted in Europe
and brought relief to many thousands of
unfortunate people whose lives were threat-
ened by Hitlerism, including a very consider-
able number 'of non-Jews. I think our group
has this distinction from other Jewish groups,
that our work is not purely in the Jewish
field. We feel that we are not only members
of the Jewish Community but are also mem-
bers of the community at large, and that is
why we participate in other groups as well.

After the last World War, the Jewish
Labour Committee of Canada, in co-operation
with our Government, brought succor to
refugees  in the concentration camps of
Europe, and was instrumental in making it
possible for many displaced persons to find a
new life in Canada.

In submitting the present brief, the Com-
mittee recognizes that the Senate Committee
has already been supplied with ample evi-
dence of disturbing indications of renewed
attempts to foster racial intolerance through
the dissemination of “hate propaganda” in
Canada and some other countries of the
world.

I have brought along a few samples of that
hate propaganda. We have here, for instance,
one that is published in Quebec in French.

The Chairman: Just tell us abaut it.
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Mr. Rubinstein: It is entitled “The Jewish
Program for the Conquest of the World”. It is
a little bit like the piece about the Elders of
Zion, but it is a much cruder copy of it. It
tells you that the Jews are responsible for
dissensions within the Catholic church by cor-
rupting the young generation and by destroy-
ing family life, if you please, spreading vice,
prostituting literature, minimizing respect for
religion, discrediting as much as possible
priests and spreading scandalous stories about
them, encouraging criticism in order to settle
the basis of religious belief, and provoking
schisms and disputes in the whole of the
church, et cetera. This was distributed in the
Province of Quebec last summer at about the
same time that some pamphlets were dis-
tributed about Pierre Elliott Trudeau being
an atheist and everything else. So, you have
that. I have some more examples here.

Senator Prowse: Could they be made
exhibits, Mr. Chairman? :

The Chairman: I was wondering whether
the committee would prefer that these be
made appendices to today’s proceedings?

Senator Prowse: There is no need to read
them into the record if they are to be
appendices.

The Chairman: Let us hear what more you
have?

Mr. Rubinstein: Here is another one that
has the swastika on it and the inscription:
“Dirty Jews; the Gates of the Crematorium
are open wide for you.” This has been
distributed.

Senator Choquette: Who signs those?
Mr. Rubinstein: They are unsigned.

Senator Choquette: So the authors could be
anybody, even those who want to be looked
upon as the persecuted? You know that that
is done sometimes, do you not?

Mr. Rubinstein: I know you do not mean it,
so do not take what I say personally, but I
will tell you that one of the excuses I have
read given by certain governments that were
instrumental in  persecuting minorities,
whether Jews or others, was that it was not
true that they were persecuting them but that
it was the minority itself that was doing the
persecuting in order to be able to raise com-
plaints against the majority. That is a little bit
far-fetched, because Jews are so busy with
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many other things thay they have no time in
which to spread such propaganda so as to be
able to come here and take up the time of a
Senate committee. I know that you do not
mean that.

Senator Choquette: What I do mean is that
we do not know the source or the extent of
the publication, and not know who is behind
it.

The Chairman: How did this come into
your hands, witness?

Mr. Rubinstein: We got this by mail from
the National White Americans Party. They
are a recognizable group, which has spread a
tremendous amount of literature throughout
Canada, and especially in the Province of
Ontario, within the last two or three years.
As a matter of fact, our Postmaster General
was called upon about two years ago to try to
prevent its coming into Canada. They put out
a monthly publication, I believe, and in addi-
tion to that they printed a lot of literature
which is very much like the Nazi literature,
or the literature of the days of Hitler. They
attack not only Jews but also Negroes, and
also included in the undesirable people, from
their point of view, are Jews and Catholics.

I am reading now from a leaflet distributed
by the National White Americans Party, and
circulated in Canada. ..

Senator Fergusson: Is it signed by the
National White Americans Party, or how do
you know it comes from them?

Mr. Rubinstein: This came in an envelope
from them, and there are also publications
that are signed by them.

Senator Fergusson: Does the envelope bear
a notation to the effect that it comes from
them?

Mr. Rubinstein: They have a post office box
number that is known to be theirs. I believe
in the Province of Ontario there were two
individuals who were very active in distur-
bances in Toronto a couple of years ago, and
they were openly distributing this literature
at those meetings that created trouble.

Senator Hollett: If this legislation is passed
who would you prosecute?

Mr. Rubinstein: Those who were distribut-
ing it here.

Senator Hollett: That would be the Post
Office.
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Mr. Rubinstein: No. The mail is another
matter, but these are also distributed person-
ally from door to door.

Senator Hollett: I thought you said they
were distributed through the mail.

Mr. Rubinstein: Some comes through the
mail, and I said also that it was distributed at
meetings.

This honourable senator, whose name I
would like to know. ..

The Chairman: That is Senator Choquette.

Mr. Rubinstein: Yes, I suspected as much.

Senator Choquette, you were asking what
happens at certain meetings. Well, these
things were distributed, and an excerpt from
one of the leaflets so distributed reads as
follows:

On the Jewish Question our policy is
much stricter. We demand the arrest of
all Jews involved in Communist or
Zionist plots, public trials and executions.
All other Jews would be immediately ster-
ilized so that they could not breed more
Jews. This is vital because the Jews are
CRIMINALS as a race, who have been
active in anti-Christian plots throughout
their entire history.

I can file the excerpt, and I can also file the
document from which it comes.

Senator Prowse: I have just one question
on the matter of distribution. Can you say
whether those come in as individual mailings
from the United States, or whether they come
in in bulk and are distributed in Canada.

Mr. Rubinstein: Both. Some come individu-
ally. I received myself at my house about two
years ago one of these scurrilous pamphlets,
and I am sure you have all received some-
thing similar.

Senator Choquette: We threw them away,
while you people were gathering them. I do
not know who put my name on the list, but I
used to receive them regularly at the Senate,
and I threw them in the wastebasket without
reading them.

Mr. Rubinstein: But, you see, sir, there are
some people—last year on the television
which is provided by. the Government of
Canada I saw a program which lasted half an
hour, or an hour, on which a certain gentle-
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man in Ontario spoke about his hatred of all
minorities, especially of Jews. He stated that
these racial theories were 100 per cent correct
and should be enacted in Canada. It is not
something that does not exist. I sometimes
get, with all due respect, literature from the
Witnesses of Jehovah against the Catholic
Church and I do exactly what you do, I
throw it in the wastebasket. But not every-
body does. There are those in Canada that
voted for the revival of Fascism and Nazism.
We have such a group in Ontario and a group
in Quebec. The newspaper La Presse in Mont-
real gave pictures of their camps. They also
have camps in Ontario. We cannot thoroughly
ignore their existence.

Here is an excerpt. We have a party in the
Province of Quebec called Parti National
Socialiste. That is exactly the name of Hitler’s
Party, the Nationalist Socialist Party. I will
file with you, Mr. Chairman, a copy of an
article printed in La Patrie on July 14, 1968,
entitled “The Nazi Ideal is not Dead in Cana-
da”. In French, “L’idéal nazi n’est pas encore
mort au Canada”. This gives quite a descrip-
tion of the activities of that group. This is in
the Province of Quebec, but we also have
many large groups in Ontario. I also have an
excerpt from Photo-Journal which is another
newspaper in the City of Montreal. This is
the weekly edition for May 10 to May 17,
1967. The title is “Néo Nazi, Guy de la
Riviere fait parade de son racisme”. In
English, “We shall bring up the young of
Quebec in the discipline of the SS”. The SS
was the Schutz Staffel, which was, as you
know, the army of the National Socialist
Party. I will file this with the Committee.
There is an article from the Canadian Jewish
Chronicle Review of June 16, 1967, entitled
“Swastikas painted on six synagogues”. This
talks about desecration of six synagogues in
Montreal in which swastikas were painted.
You had the same situation in Ontario, sir.

I am a proud Quebecer and I do not want
you to think that we are the only ones who
have gentlemen of that sort. They are all over
Canada. Now, let me then continue after I
have given you some examples: I am pre-
pared, Mr. Chairman, to give you some more.

The Chairman: No. While we are on this
question of examples, honourable senators
will remember that we had some similar
material presented to us by the representative
of the Bell Telephone Company and we
decided we would not put it on our records.
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This, as I scan it, is not perhaps quite as bad,
but it is puerile stuff. What we received from
the witness is sufficient, in my judgment,
without spending money to put this—

Senator Choquette: Do not put it on the
record.

Senator Prowse: I think it should be filed,
but not included in the record.

The Chairman: Very well. Is that satisfac-
tory, honourable senators?

Hon. Senators: Agreed.

The Chairman: It will be filed, but will not
appear on the record. You may file any more
material you have.

Senator Choquette: I think we had reached
the second paragraph at the top of page 2.

Mr. Rubinstein: There is no doubt that an
overwhelming consensus exists in favour of
finding an acceptable method of curbing the
dissemination of hate propaganda on which
intolerance feeds through legislation amend-
ing the Criminal Code of Canada. We do not,
therefore, propose to reiterate in detail the
arguments supporting such action. Our aim is
rather to draw the committee’s attention to
the transparent lack of logic in the arguments
against the proposed legislation.

The reason most frequently given by those
who oppose laws making the publication of
hate propaganda a punishable offence is that
such legislation would be the first step
towards restricting freedom of speech and
freedom of the press. No argument, we are
convinced, could be more fallacious.

We deem this rigid view as unwarranted
and obsolete, for its underlying assumption
rests on a false concept of man in modern
society. Unfortunately bigotry and hatred
have spread and are spreading far beyond the
optimistic limits which opponents of anti-hate
legislation had predicted and consequently
dependence on man’s spontaneous resistance
alone is hardy supported by modern
psychology.

On the contrary, recent experience has
proven that the proclivity of man to be
swayed by bias and bigotry warrants max-
imum alertness and resistance of our demo-
cratic society against the destructive impact
of hate literature. For that reason measures to
protect the basic concepts of freedom, of
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equality, of human dignity and a host of simi-
lar rights against debasing and corroding
attacks are essential for their very
preservation.

I think this is really the basis of our sup-
port of this bill. We feel that we have some-
thing in Canada which is most precious and
which not all countries have. We have a won-
derful democratic system and we have liber-
ty. The individual has a lot of rights. I look
upon it as though this was a beautiful garden
which you have in the back or in the front of
your house and when you tend your flowers,
your plants. Unless we take measures to pro-
tect them from kids on the street who would
throw stones at them or tear them out of the
ground, or unless we protect them against
other hazards we are going to lose them. That
is really the essence of our argument.

History has proven through countless tragic
examples that neglect of these basic con-
cepts—that is to say, not protecting them—far
from resulting in increased liberty, has led
inevitably to tyranny, totalitarianism, repres-
sion, bloodshed and death, with the utter de-
struction of freedom as our society knows it.
In protecting the rights of its members
against slander and maliciousness our society
protects itself; and abdication of this respon-
sibility towards any group weakens irrepara-
bly the very foundations on which our civili-
zation has been so painfully built over the
centuries.

Thus, in failing to legislate against the dis-
semination of literature which preaches
hatred and often the elimination of whole
ethnic groups, we suggest, is opening the
door to abuses which can quickly spread and
threaten the institution of democratic govern-
ment itself. Far from advocating any measure
to limit freedom of speech, the outlawing of
propaganda which the vast majority of people
reject as repugnant beyond belief, is as essen-
tial as the laws through which society pro-
tects itself from other crimes such as murder,
assault, theft, oppression, blackmail and the
like.

We would like to make it clear, that what
we envisage is preventive legislation designed
not merely to have the force of law in speci-
fic cases, but also to provide evidence that the
conscience of the majority is unanimous in
condemning certain actions which are self-
evidently wrong in themselves. Moreover, we
feel that experience has shown that the very
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absence of such laws in this field may actual-
ly act as a form of encouragement, thus inad-
vertently fostering conditions which no one
can applaud. In this respect, we would like to
make the following observations:

1. Those who tend to scoff at the scope
of racial intolerance in this country—and
this might answer some of you who won-
der whether the situation warrants legis-
lation, and I would like to bring this to
your attention, and I know everyone is in
good faith—might well recall that
Hitler’s Nazi movement in Germany
began with a group of only seven people
and was not taken seriously. In his book,
“The Rise and Fall of the Third Reich”,
Shirer traces the growth of this Move-
ment from a ridiculous handful of fana-
tics to a power that took over the country,
at a time of economic crisis, and subse-
quently perpetrated the acts of genocide
which horrified the whole world. It is
clearly shown in the book that the devel-
opment of a mentality conditioned to
accept such atrocities was due to the
unrestricted flow of hate propaganda
designed to degrade a race of people until
they were no longer regarded as human
beings and were thus accepted as the
natural victims of any form of barbarism.

2. History, and indeed present-day
situations, clearly demonstrate that Jews,
Negroes and other minority groups seem
inevitably destined to be the first vie-
tims of such intolerance since hate
propaganda is almost exclusively directed
against them.

3. The result is that what was unthink-
able thirty years ago has to-day entered
into the realm of the possible, since geno-
cide was practised on a mass scale in
Europe during the Second World War.
For example, the slogan “Jews to the gas
ovens” nowadays appears in hate propa-
ganda and is even scrawled on walls in
Canadian cities. This, we feel, is a warn-
ing that, however ridiculous it may at
present appear, a neo-Nazi Party in
Ontario, Quebec or elsewhere in Canada,
nourished by the same ideas which fos-
tered the Hitler regime, carries within it
the inherent menace of racial violence
and the possible “final solution” of mass
extermination.

4, Equally important is the undeniable
fact that the continued circulation of
propaganda preaching hatred of any
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identifiable group poisons the very
atmosphere and makes the simple act of
breathing freely impossible for those
against whom hatred is directed and thus
denies the potential victims the most fun-
damental freedoms.

We would like to draw the honourable
committee’s attention to some aspects of the
question which are particularly applicable to
Canada’s situation.

As a nation which encourages immigration,
Canada yearly receives new citizens from
many lands, people of widely different racial
origins and cultural backgrounds. This fact
not only makes national unity a thorny prob-
lem, but also creates a situation where intol-
erance towards “different” ethnic groups is
easily aroused. Since European nations with a
homogeneous population—and here I am re-
ferring you to the countries which have al-
ready adopted, which the honourable justice
referred you to and enumerated in his talk,
and those are homogeneous nations, not
nations with so many varied ethnic groups as
we have in Canada—have found it advisable
to adopt anti-hate legislation, it would seem
that the need in Canada is all the more press-
ing, especially since there is evidence to sug-
gest that some exponents of totalitarian
philosophies now find fertile ground for their
ideas in this country.

It is argued by those opposed to legislation
intended to curb hate propaganda that the
proponents of racial doctrine, do not always
advocate violence and actual murder. Apart
from the evidence that this is a doubtful
assumption at best, the lessons of history
show that any form of racism in society
inevitably leads to a frame of mind in which
racial intolerance develops into senseless
hatred and often ends in murder. Our Ameri-
can continent, alas, abounds in too many
examples of racial violence and murder.
Hatred of the Negro in the United States
often goes hand in hand with hatred of
Catholics and Jews and others as well. Thus
racial hatred is a dangerous divisive force in
our society and is often exploited by a small
group or groups with the intention to subvert
democracy entirely and cause us all to lose all
our basic freedoms and rights.

Again, past and recent history tell us that
the principal force in thus corrupting the
minds of men is the dissemination of hatred
through propaganda.
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This has been recognized in other countries
and by world organizations such as UNESCO
and the Council of Europe. France, for exam-
ple, where freedom of speech and expression
has been a basic tradition since the 1789
Revolution, has adopted legislation which out-
laws the dissemination of hate propaganda.

In 1966 the Consulting Assembly of the
Council of Europe, also known as the Euro-
pean Assembly, adopted a resolution con-
demning racial hatred and calling for appro-
priate measures to prevent its dissemination.

I have here a publication of UNESCO. ..

The Chairman: I think Mr. Justice Batshaw
was going to give us the actual text.

Mr. Rubinstein: I have a copy here. It is
headed: “European Assembly in favour of
legislation against the propagation of racial
hatred: (News transmitted from Strasbourg
by ITA in February 1969)”

The Chairman: Very well; we will keep
this.

Mr. Rubinstein: This resolution, unani-
mously adopted, calls on its members to
recommend to the 18 countries belonging to
the Council of Europe, to promulgate a law
against the dissemination of racial or religious
hatred, and against acts of violence which it
may provoke.

The resolution was proposed by the British
M.P., J. S. Richard, on behalf of the Judicial
Committee of the Assembly. A model piece of
legislation against the spread of racial hatred
was attached to the resolution. According to
this model law it would be a crime to public-
ly incite hatred and intolerance, or to advo-
cate discrimination against individuals or
groups on account of their colour, race, ethnic
origin or creed.

There was some discussion on religion, but
it was not included.

The Chairman: And it is your view that it
should be included?

Mr. Rubinstein: Yes, it certainly should
be. The proposed legislation also contains
clauses according to which those spreading
racial hatred should be judged. It also pro-
vides for the suppression of organizations
devoted to this type of propaganda. Among
others, it would be considered a crime to
carry the flags, signs and uniforms—in other
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words, it would be a crime to wear the swas-
tika—and to publicly give the salute of those
organizations.

That is what they did in the Council of
Europe, but we are not exactly advocating
that.

The Chairman. No.

Mr. Rubinstein: The resolution also calls
on the 18 member countries to prepare an
international treaty based on the recommend-
ed legislation.

In October, 1967 the Executive Council of
UNESCO unanimously adopted a resolution
condemning racial prejudice and urged legis-
lation as an effective means of curbing the
dissemination of hate propaganda.

I have here a publication of UNESCO of
February, 1968 which contains the statement
as well as the resolution. It is in both French
and English, and it is my pleasure to produce
it here. I would read just one paragraph from
page 4:

National legislation is a means of effec-
tively outlawing racist propaganda and
acts based upon racial discrimination.
Moreover, the policy expressed in such
legislation must bind not only the courts
and judges charged with its enforcement
but also the agencies of government at
whatever level or of whatever character.

This might perhaps answer the question that
somebody raised, namely, what happens if
the post office distributes undesirable litera-
ture. They suggest that even the Government
be responsible for it. In other words, the
Government must take proper measures to
prevent it.

Senator Haig: Let us not add to Mr. Kier-
ans’ present troubles. :

Mr. Rubinstein: On the last page I am just
expressing an opinion which is shared by
UNESCO which is, after all, a very important
international body, but I am not saying that
we must follow everything they do.

Noting that racial intolerance stifles the
development of its victims, divides nations
against themselves, aggravates international
tensions and threatens the peace of the world,
the resolution also pointed out that those who
preach racial intolerance are themselves sub-
ject to its perverting influence. And, I read
from this resolution:

The law is one of the principal means
of ensuring equality of individuals and

one of the most efficient instruments in
the fight against racial intolerance. The
universal declaration of the Rights of
Man, adopted December 10th, 1948, in
addition to the international agreements
which have come into effect since that
time, can effectively contribute in the
battle against all injustice stemming from
racism, both on the national and interna-
tional level. National legislation is an
effective means of outlawing racial
propaganda and actions based on racial
discrimination. . .

It would, we suggest, be tragic if Canada,
as a nation dedicated to world progress,
showed reluctance to adopt measures deemed
necessary by so many for the very survival of
humanity.

We further believe that it would be a
fitting contribution by Canada to the cause of
human rights, both here and abroad, to pass
the proposed legislation and eliminate the
fear and animosities which hate literature
arouses.

All of this is respectfully submitted, Mr.
Chairman.

The Chairman: Now, witness, have you
anything to add?

Mr. Rubinstein: I think you have spent a
good afternoon listening patiently to wit-
nesses, and I would not like to belabour you
any more.

The Chairman: It is a splendid presentation
you have made to us, and we are grateful to
you for it. I see an old friend of mine over
there, Mr. Shane. ..

Mr. Bernard Shane, Treasurer, Jewish
Labour Committee: I was just going to ask
whether you remember me, Mr. Chairman.

The Chairman: Yes, I do. Perhaps you have
something to say?

Mr. Shane: Mr. Chairman, I am glad to
shake hands with you. It has been a long
time.

The Chairman: Yes, indeed.

Mr. Rubinstein: Mr. Shane is our senior
member. He is the treasurer, and he provides
the wherewithal of the organization.

Mr. Shane: Mr. Rubinstein has referred to
this group, the Jewish Labour Committee, as
not being altogether Jewish. The reason is
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that the supporters of this group in the main
are trade unions, some of which are led by
Jews like myself but whose membership,
however, is not Jewish. Some of our members
are Jewish, but close to ten thousand of them
are Greek or French, and we have also
Ukrainians and others. The idea we are try-
ing to propagate is that all humans are equal,
and we are all entitled to the same rights. We
cannot speak for the Jews and not for the
Ukrainians and the Greeks.

Then too we are naturally a member of the
labour movement—the Canadian Labour Con-
gress. I am a member of the Canadian Labour
Congress.

The Chairman: Are you not an officer of
one of the needle trades union?

Mr. Shane: I am a vice-president of the
International Ladies’ Garment Workers’
Union and a director for the Canadian
territory.

So, from this standpoint we have spent a
lot of hard work defending Negroes in the
United States, as well as in Canada. We are
active in every field of human rights.

At the beginning, when Hitlerism wag at its
height, we said that to defend the right of the
Jews to live we must also defend the princi-
ple of equal rights for all. We now have the
principle of human rights that the United
Nations has given us.

The Chairman: How many members would
there be in the Ladies’ Garment Workers’
Union?

Mr. Shane: The Ladies’ Garment Workers’
Union consists of about 450,000 members, of
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which about 26,000 are in Canada. The Amal-
gamated Clothing Workers’ Union has a simi-
lar number of members who belong to the
Jewish Labor Committee. The Workmen’s
Circle is a fraternal organization, and it has a
few thousand members in Canada. It varies
with the different groups.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I just wanted to
tell you who we are and I hope I have
endeavoured to bring it across. We do believe
that we need defence.

I am in Montreal. I was in Toronto in 1929,
but I have been in Montreal since 1931. All
these years I have been able to live with our
fellow members as humans, not as Jews or as
Frenchmen, Englishmen, Ukrainians—we
have them all—but we did go through a hard
period. I was the money man, the treasurer,
and I was raising a family of four children on
$60 a week. So we did suffer as a result, and
that is why we are so interested in defending
human rights and getting this law passed.
Thank you very much.

The Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Shane. I
hope you keep in good health. Now, Mr. Reba
is the secretary.

Senator Choquette: Well, he signed the
brief.

The Chairman:
heard the brief.

And you have already

Mr. Rubinstein: I want to thank you again
for your kindness in listening to us.

The committee adjourned.
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APPENDIX “A"

MEMORANDUM from Mr. Justice Harry
Batshaw submitting additional information to
the Senate Committee on Legal and Constitu-
tional Affairs RE testimony given by him on
March 11, 1969.

1) In my testimony I referred to Canadian
judicial opinion which is favourable to the
adoption of this Legislation, and I mentioned
specifically Chief Justice Gale of the Ontario
Supreme Court, Appeal Division and Chief
Justice Wells of the Trial Division of that
Court. I find that a relevant excerpt of the
views of Chief Justice Gale have already
been reproduced on page 36 of the second
proceedings on Bill S-21 of February 25, 1969
and therefore need not be repeated here. As
for Chief Justice Wells, his views were
referred to at length on page 33, the Second
Proceedings on Bill S-5, February 29th, 1968.
One of the paragraphs of his remarks as
therein outlined reads as follows:

“...when, however, it (i.e. ‘international
defamation which is sometimes used to
the disadvantage and hurt of the Jewish
people’) reaches the extremes which it
has done in our own experience and
lives, it would seem to demand something
more and the power of the state must, I
think, be invoked to protect any group
which is subject to the vilification which
has been expressed from time to time in
various parts of the world...”

2) In my testimony I referred to the fact
that the United Nations Association which I
represent is not alone in recommending this
Legislation but that it has been supported by
unanimous resolutions of a number of other
public bodies and organizations. An extensive
list already appears on page 41 of the Second
Proceedings of February 25th, 1969. The actu-
al texts of these resolutions are not readily
available to me, but I believe that they are of
record in the Proceedings of the Committee
which studied Bill S-5 last year and it should
not be difficult to locate these texts in the
archives of that Committee.

3) I undertook to give the Honourable
Senators some additional information on
Group Libel Laws in the United States. A
number of States have Group Libel Laws and
have had them for years. Amongst these are:
Pennsylvania, Massachusetts, New Jersey and
Illinois. An American judicial opinion, favou-
rable to this type of Legislation, is instanced
by the statement of Mr. Justice Jackson of
the United States Supreme Court in the Beau-
harnais case above mentioned in which he
said that “...sinister abuses of our freedom of
expression...can tear apart a society, bruta-
lise its dominant elements and persecute,
even to extermination its minorities.”
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ORDERS OF REFERENCE

Extract from the Minutes of the Proceedings of the Senate, Wednesday,
January 22nd, 1969:

“The Order of the Day being read,

With leave of the Senate,

The Honourable Senator Leonard resumed the debate on the motion
of the Honourable Senator Roebuck, seconded by the Honourable Sena-
tor Croll, for the second reading of the Bill S-21, intituled: “An Act
to amend the Criminal Code.”

After debate, and—

The question being put on the motion, it was—

Resolved in the affirmative.

The Bill was then read the second time.

The Honourable Senator Leonard moved, seconded by the Honourable
Senator Fergusson, that the Bill be referred to the Standing Committee
on Legal and Constitutional Affairs.

The question being put on the motion, it was—

Resolved in the affirmative.

Extract from the Minutes of the Proceedings of the Senate, Thursday,
February 13th, 1969:

With leave of the Senate,

The Honourable Senator McDonald moved, seconded by the Hon-
ourable Senator Langlois:

That the Standing Senate Committee on Foreign Affairs and the
Standing Senate Committee on Legal and Constitutional Affairs have
power to sit during adjournments of the Senate.

After debate, and—

The question being put on the motion, it was—

Resolved in the affirmative.

With leave of the Senate,

The Honourable Senator McDonald moved, seconded by the Hon-
ourable Senator Langlois:

That the Standing Senate Committee on Legal and Constitutional
Affairs be authorized to examine and report to the Senate from time
to time on any matter relating to legal and constitutional affairs gen-
erally, and on any matter assigned to the said Committee by the Rules
of the Senate, and

That the said Committee be empowered to engage the services of
such counsel and technical, clerical and other personnel as may be neces-
sary for the foregoing purposes, at such rates of remuneration and reim-

29939—14%



bursement as the Committee may determine, and to compensate witnesses
by reimbursement of travelling and living expenses, in such amounts as
the Committee may determine.

The question being put on the motion, it was—
Resolved in the affirmative.

Extracts from the Minutes of the Proceedings of the Senate, Tuesday,
March 11th, 1969:
With leave of the Senate,
The Honourable Senator Langlois moved, seconded by the Honour-
able Senator Martin, P.C.:

That the Standing Committee on Legal and Constitutional Affairs be
empowered to sit while the Senate is sitting today.

The question being put on the motion, it was—
Resolved in the affirmative.

ROBERT FORTIER,
Clerk of the Senate.



MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS
TuEespay, March 18, 1969.

Pursuant to adjournment and notice, the Standing Senate Committee on
Legal and Constitutional Affairs met this day at 2 p.m.

Present: The Honourable Senators Roebuck (Chairman), Belisle, Choquette,
Croll, Fergusson, Flynn, Gouin, Haig, Hollett, Lamontagne, Lang, Langlois,
Macdonald (Cape Breton), Martin, McElman, Prowse, Thompson, Urquhart,
Walker and Willis.

In attendance: E. Russell Hopkins, Law Clerk and Parliamentary Counsel;
The following witnesses were heard:

1. The Canadian Labour Congress: Mr. Gérard Rancourt, executive vice-
president, Mr. A. Andras, Director, and Mr. Art Gibbons, president,
Human Rights Committee.

2. Dr. Mark R. MacGuigan, M.P.
At 4:50 p.m. the Committee adjourned to the call of the Chairman.
ATTEST:

L. J. M. BOUDREAULT,
Clerk of the Committee.
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THE SENATE

THE STANDING SENATE COMMITTEE ON LEGAL
AND CONSTITUTIONAL AFFAIRS

EVIDENCE

Ottawa, Tuesday, March 18, 1969.

The Standing Senate Committee on Legal
and Constitutional Affairs, to which was
referred Bill S-21, to amend the Criminal
Code (Hate Propaganda), met this day at 2
pm.

Senator Arthur W. Roebuck (Chairman) in
the chair.

The Chairman: Members of the committee,
it is time to commence. We have a very fine
program for you this afternoon. We have here
two bodies; one is made up of representatives
of the Canadian Labor Congress. It is not
necessary for me to describe this body fur-
ther; it will be described to you by the speak-
ers who are here. I would mention however,
that this delegation is representative of 1,600,-
000 people which fact should make us under-
stand the necessity for listening very carefully
to what they have to say.

We also have present Dean MacGuigan
whom I will introduce later. It is not a matter
of precedence who goes first, but rather a case
of what is practical, and I understand that
some of the members of the delegation from
the Canadian Labor Congress have to catch
trains or planes or something of that kind,
and on those grounds I am going to call upon
them first. I hope the professor will not mind
my doing so.

You have all had a memorandum from the
Canadian Labor Congress which I hope you
have all read, and I now call upon Mr. Ran-
court to address us.

[Translation]

Mr. Gérard Rancourt, Executive Vice-
President, Canadian Labour Congress: Mr.
Chairman, first of all, I should like to
introduce the persons who have accompanied
me here.

There is Mr. Andras, to my right, who is
the Director of our Legislation office or
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branch; Mr. Frank Shea, who is Secretary of
the Congress Committee on Human Rights.

We do not have a very large delegation.
This is because only the members of our
Committee on Human Rights were invited to
appear before you. I shall read our submis-
sion because it is very short; if I attempt to
summarize it, I feel I shall take just as much
time as if I read it to you.

The Canadian Labour Congress, on whose
behalf this brief is submitted, is a major
trade union centre representing some.1,600,-
000 trade union members throughout Cana-
da. These members and their families are a
cross section of the Canadian people and re-
flect the diverse elements which make it up.
They consist not only of native Canadians but
many others who are of relatively recent ori-
gin and who still have a strong sense of eth-
nic, cultural, religious or linguistic identifica-
tion with peoples in other parts of the world.

The Canadian Labour Congress states in its
constitution that one of its purposes is “To
require all affiliates to extend union member-
ship and organization in Canada to workers,
regardless of race, colour, creed, sex, age, or
national origin.” This Congress has since its
inception maintained a Standing Committee
on Human Rights. It has supported the Univ-
ersal Declaration of Human Rights and it has
engaged in a variety of activities to prevent
discrimination based on such irrational and
subjective grounds as race, religion or nation-
al origin. The appearance of the Congress in
connection with Bill S-21 is, therefore, an
extension of its interest in the field of human
rights in general and more specifically in sup-
port of such measures as will protect minority
groups against vicious and dangerous acts
such as those contemplated in the Bill.
[English]

Senator Choquette: Mr. Chairman, might I
intervene at this moment? I understand every
word this man says, but there are many oth-
ers who do not. We have no simultaneous
translation. If this man is going to read as



rapidly as he is reading now, why does he not
just file it? I think there are four or five
senators only in the whole committee who can
follow him. Who is this man, and what does
he represent? I might have been late; I do
not know.

The Chairman: I made some suggestions
with regard to Mr. Rancourt. He is a represen-
tative of the Canadian Labour Congress, a
very important institution in Canada. He is a
representative of about 1,600,000 labour peo-
ple. Just what office do you hold in the
Labour Congress, Mr. Rancourt?

[Translation]

Mr. Rancourt: I am the Executive Vice-
President of the Congress. The Committee has
invited us here to present this brief. We are
not intruders and do not wish to impose.

Senator Choquette: Do you have a transla-
tion of your brief?

Mr. Rancouri: Yes, we have the brief in
English and in French, but I felt I would
read it a little faster because you already
have a copy and can follow me quite easily.

Senator Choquette: Go ahead and read it in
French.

Mr. Rancourt: You do not have a copy?

Bill S-21 is not long. Am I really reading
too fast?

[English]
Do I read too fast, or do you all have

copies of the brief? If you do not, I will read
slowly.

Senator Croll: I do not understand one
thing, Mr. Chairman, and that is this. Room
356 upstairs has a simultaneous ‘translation
system. Is it being used? If we held the meet-
ing there, we could all be able to follow him.

The Chairman: I do not know that, but I
could find out very quickly.

Senator Walker: You have the translation
in English right here.

Senator Croll: I can read it all right, but
why should we go through the exercise?

The Chairman: I am informed that, while
the room may or may not be vacant, we have
no interpreter available to handle it.

Senator Croll: All right.

Senator Lang: Senator Lamontagne might
handle it for us!

Standing Senate Committee

The Chairman: I did not know the address
would be in French. A witness is always enti-
tled to address us in French, if he desires to
do so. It is unfortunate we are not all bilin-
gual, so I do not know what we should do.
Senator Choquette, only how many did you
say could follow the witness?

Senator Choquette: I think, five or six.

Senator Croll: Let him go ahead, and we
can read it in English.

The Chairman: All right. Go ahead, Mr.
Rancourt.

[Translation]

Mr. Rancouri: Mr. Chairman, I thought
that, before a committee of the Canadian
Senate, I would have less difficulty than this
in having myself understood in French.

Senator Choquette: Continue in French.

Mr. Rancourt:
interruptions.

I greatly deplore these

Senator Langlois: There is no difficulty.

Mr. Rancouri: Bill S-21 is not long and
consists of only three proposed amendments
to the Criminal Code. The Bill seeks to pro-
vide sanctions against those actions which
may lead to the destruction or to the injury
of an identifiable group as defined. It is
intended, therefore, to act as a deterrent
against expressions of views in which there is
the clear danger of destructive consequences.
The Bill does not, in our opinion, erect barri-
ers against freedom of expression beyond
what may be expected of reasonable men in
the pursuit of peaceful ends. On ‘the contrary,
we see the Bill as clearly permitting the right
to express opinions which may be ill-reas-
oned, malicious and harmful to the peace of
the community. If the Bill suffers from any
defect of extremism, it is not that it curtails
freedom of speech as much as it indicates to
hate propagandists how far and wide they
may spread their activities without being
haled into court for the commission of a
crime.

We consider that the Bill is a timely one
and regret that circumstances over which the
Senate of Canada had no control delayed its
consideration sooner. There is an abundance
of evidence on every side demonstrating that
ethnie, religious and other such differences
may lead to the most appalling of conse-
quences, including genocide. It is hardly
necessary here to elaborate on the history of
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the last few decades to demonstrate this fact.
Current events make them abundantly clear.
The Bill is furthermore consistent with the
general trend visible throughout Canada of
entrenching human rights through legislative
enactment. This process is consistent with
declarations and other instruments adopted
by international bodies such as the United
Nations and the International Labour
Organization.

[English]

Senator Hollett: Before you go on to para-
graph 5, in the middle of paragraph 4 you
say:

Current events make them abundantly
clear.

What are the ‘“current events” that “make
them abundantly clear”? You say:

It is hardly necessary here to elaborate
on the history of the last few decades to
demonstrate this fact. Current events
make them abundantly clear.

‘What current events?

Mr. Rancourt: We refer later on in this
paragraph to the enactment of all kinds of
human rights legislation right across Canada.
So, this is the trend today, where you have
more and more human rights legislation.

Senator Hollett: I was wondering if it was
something that was happening here in
Canada.

Mr. Andrew Andras, Director of Legislation
and Government employees, Canadian Labour
Congress: The purpose is not to direct atten-
tion to any event in Canada, but to the world
in general.

Senator Walker:
Canada, are there?

There are no events in

Mr. Andras: We did not suggest there were,
senator.

Senator Walker: And you are contemplat-
ing the future? -

Mr. Andras: The context of this paragraph
should be read in its historical perspective.
We are thinking of the extermination con-
ducted by Nazi Germany, if you wish, and in
more recent times the charge of genocide
being levelled by the Ibo tribe in Nigeria.

Senator Hollett: That is what I thought,
and that is why I do not understand the “cur-

rent events’” part. It means presently, does it
not?

Mr. Andras: At the present time, while we
are sitting here, presumably.

Senator Walker: You are really talking
about modern history, are you not?

Mr. Andras: Yes, that is right.
Senator Walker: But that is not “current”.

Mr. Andras: In our own lifetime, that is
current.

The Chairman: I would suggest that anyone
who wishes to ask questions out of the
English text should please keep them until we
have finished the reading in French, and then
we will turn to the English text.

Senator Hollett: All right.
The Chairman: Go ahead, Mr. Rancourt.

[Translation]

Mr. Rancourt: We consider that the pro-
posed Section 267A is a self-evident proposi-
tion. It sets out to make the advocacy of
genocide a criminal offence. We do not think
it is incumbent upon us to engage in any
extensive argument in support of this pro-
posal. The criminality of genocide speaks for
itself. We are pleased to note that the defini-
tion of genocide includes not only the physical
destruction or the elimination in whole or in
part of any group of persons but acts which
might cause “serious bodily or mental harm”
to members of the group. We are pleased also
to see that it goes even further in the defini-
tion by prohibiting the destruction of a group
through the forcible assimilation of its child-
ren into another group. The key words in this
section are “with intent to destroy” and we
think these words are important not only be-
cause they are protective of the right of free-
dom of expression but because they establish
the criterion by which it may be possible to
measure or to challenge acts of individuals
and of governments. Honourable Senators are
well aware that Canada has ratified the
United Nations Convention on Genocide and
is one of more than 60 states which have done
so.

6. Turning to the proposed Section 267B,
we wish in the first instance to register our
objection to the fact that the definition of
“identifiable group” in sub-section (5) (b) does
not include the word “religion”. This is, we
submit, a very serious omission and inconsis-
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found in Canada for the protection of human
rights. The Canadian Bill of Rights for 1960,
Part I, makes specific reference to “religion”,
in the general statement in Section 1 and
again in subsection (¢). In the proposed
Canadian Charter of Human Rights the state-
ment is made that“...constitutional action is
required in order to protect all Canadians
from legislative interference with their religi-
ous beliefs.” The Canada Fair Employment
Practices Act makes specific reference to
“religion” when it lists as a prohibited
employment practice the refusal “to employ
or to continue to employ, or otherwise dis-
criminate against any person in regard of
employment or any term or condition of
employment because of his...religion.” The
federal Fair Wages Policy contains a very
similar provision in its context. Provincial
legislation follows a similar line. We consider
it important that the word ‘“religion” should
be included in the definition because there
are in Canada groups which are distinguish-
able in their own minds and in the minds of
the community at large by their religion rath-
er than by ethnic or other characteristics. We
have in mind such groups as Dukhobors, Hut-
terites, Jews, Jehova Witnesses and others.
There is a record in Canada of animosity
groups expressed at times through anti-social
behaviour and legislative restrictions.

7. Apart from this weakness in Section
267B, we support the Section as a whole
because of what it sets out to do. It is consis-
tent with the Report of the Special Committee
on Hate Propaganda in Canada. The purpose
of this section is quite clear. It is to make a
felony of the communication of statements
against an identifiable group which may lead
to a breach of the peace or the promotion of
hatred or contempt against an identifiable
group. The section provides various remedies
against such actions. We are in favour of this
section because of its possible deterrent
effects. We are not so optimistic as to believe
that this Section when enacted will cause
those whose minds are warped by prejudice to
change their ways of thinking or their private
behaviour. We do not think that legislation is
capable of accomplishing this goal, at least
not quickly. The purpose of legislation is to
control behaviour, not thought, and it is
behaviour we are concerned with. To the ex-
tent that Section 267B will preclude the dis-
semination of oral or written propaganda
which might otherwise do injury to an iden-
tifiable group, this section will have served

Standing Senate Commitiee

its purpose. In time, it may imperceptibly
lead to a different norm of behaviour because
Canadians generally are a law-abiding people.

8. We believe that there are sufficient provi-
sions in Section 267B to prevent its abuse by
undue restrictions on the right of free speech
and free press. We refer specifically to sub-
section (3) and to the procedures in the
proposed Section 267C. On the issue of free
speech as it is affected by Bill S-21, we
believe it is relevant to call your attention to
the comments made by Dr. Mark R. MacQui-
gan, then Dean of Law at the University of
Windsor, in Chitty’s Law Journal, November,
1967. Writing on what was the Bill S-5 and
the Cohen Report, Dr. MacQuigan said:

9. “The larger question, however, has to do
with the danger of such restrictive legislation
to free speech. It is well to concede at once
that Bill S-5 does limit free speech. But
unless one goes to the extreme of maintaining
that there should be no limitations at all on
speech (and consequently that existing laws
on libel and slander should be abolished) the
real issue can only be phrased in terms of
whether the Bill unduly limits the freedom of
speech.

10. “The proposed offence of group defama-
tion is deliberately defined in such a way as
to minimize the danger to free speech. First,
the prosecution would have to show that any
promoting of hatred or contempt of an iden-
tifiable group was wilful, that is, that the
accused had an actual intention to promote
hatred, and was not merely negligent in
utterance. Moreover, the Bill proposes two
exculpatory provisions. One of these is identi-
cal with the defence allowed to a charge of
criminal defamation (against an individuaD:
thus there would be no liability where the
accused proves that his statements “were
relevant to any subject of public interest, the
public discussion of which was for the public
benefit, and that on reasonable grounds he
believed them to be true.” The other defence,
that of unqualified truth, is unprecedented in
the area of criminal defamation, but was
strongly recommended by the Cohen Commit-
tee on the ground that more latitude is neces-
sary in matters of general discussion than in
talk about individuals.

11. “These exculpatory clauses have been
attacked from both sides: On the one hand, it
has been claimed that they are built-in escape
hatches and that anyone who professes belief
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in the truth of the propaganda would be
acquitted on a charge of communicating it.
On the other hand, it is argued either that the
exonerating provisions still do not leave
enough breathing space for free expression,
or that they are insufficiently precise and
that in the process of drawing a more precise
line the Courts will inevitably, at least from
time to time, transgress on civil liberty. It is
this last argument which is the weightiest
objection to the Bill.

12. “Perhaps there is no legally certain for-
mula which could reassure every critic in
advance. Where there is a question of balanc-
ing interests, since the weight to be assigned
to various interests is largely a matter of
individual value judgment, the fulecrum will
be located differently by different persons.
Moreover, there is undeniably some degree of
ambiguity about the words of Bill S-5 which
only judicial decision can resolve. In my own
view not only must the balance be struck so
as to give some protection to minorities
against defamation but the balance actually
struck by the drafters of the Bill manages to
do that and at the same time preserve free
speech without substantial diminution.”

13. There is no need to extend the argu-
ment in favour of this Bill. It has received
support in the Senate itself and among vari-
ous Canadian institutions. It is, in our opinion,
a necessary measure in a country like Canada
which has been likened to a mosaic because
of the many and widely diversified groups
which make it up. But the essence of a mosa-
ic lies in its intrinsic harmony, otherwise it is
nothing more than a medley of unrelated
pieces. We do not want to labour the meta-
phor. Our interest is in seeing the imposition
of some reasonable restraints on those who,
unrestrained, might do serious damage to
national unity and inflict harm on groups
which have a legitimate place in the commu-
nity. There is a long and dismal record of
racial and religious animosities which have
led to persecution and slaughter. Fortunately,
Canada has escaped the more outrageous of
these manifestations of prejudice. But to say
this is not to justify the absence of protective
measures. We believe that the proposed new
Sections in the Criminal Code are justified
and should commend the support of the
Senate and of Parliament generally.

Canadian Labour Congress.
[English]

The Chairman: Thank you, witness. Do
you, or does one of your number wish to
read this in English?
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Mr. Rancourt: No, we do not want to read it
in English.

The Chairman: Are there any questions
that members of the committee wish to put to
the witness in the French language? If not,
shall we proceed to discuss in English the
very important statements that have been
made in this brief. If there are no questions,
may I say that I have read the brief in
English and found it a very fine document
indeed. I can speak on behalf of all the
members here in thanking you, the represen-
tatives here, and your organization for giving
us this information and assistance. Your brief
will be thoroughly considered by the commit-
tee and action taken accordingly. If that is all
you have to offer—

Senator Hollett: Can we not ask any ques-
tion in English?

The Chairman: Yes.

Senator Fergusson: I would like to hear
from Mr. Andras. I am sure he must have
something he can say to us who can speak
only English.

The Chairman: I quite agree. I also would
like to hear from Mr. Andras.

Mr. Andras: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
You already have in English what Mr. Ran-
court read in French. At all events, we made
copies available to honourable senators.

In effect, our brief says two things. It
endorses the bill in principle and asks for one
important correction, which is that the defini-
tion of “identifiable group” should include the
word “religion” as well as the other terms
already included. In that respect we would
draw your attention to the fact that the
Report of the Special Committee on Hate
Propaganda in Canada, commonly called the
Cohen Report, makes specific reference to
religion, but for reasons which are not
known to us the word was omitted by those
who drafted the law. The recommendation of
the committee itself, which is contained on
page 70 of the report, includes the word.

Senator Croll: Do you know the reason why
it was left out?

Mr, Andras:
senator.

No, sir. You might know,

Senator Croll: I merely indicate to you that
we were told by the Justice Department that
you cannot very well change your colour or
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your ethnic origin but you can change your
religion. That was their thinking.

Mr. Andras: That seems to me an argument
of a very inferior order of logic, if I may say
so with much respect to those who gave you
that opinion. There is an abundance of legis-
lation in existence in Canada at the present
time that includes the word “religion”, and
we so indicate in our own brief. The Cohen
Committee, on page 51 of its report, quotes
from the radio regulations that govern broad-
casting in Canada, in which there is specific
reference to religion. It says:

No station or network operator shall
broadcast (a) anything contrary to law;
(b) any abusive comment or abusive pic-
torial representation on any race, religion
or creed.

I do not know why religion and creed are
both there; they would seem to be synony-
mous. However, that is not my business. We
have the Fair Employment Practices Act, the
Bill of Human Rights and a good deal of
other legislation, as well as the fair wages
policy of the Government of Canada which
includes a fair employment provision. If my
memory serves me right, nine of our ten
provinces have human rights legislation
which is consistent in this respect in that it
recognizes religion as an identifiable charac-
teristic that should be protected against
discrimination.

We are therefore not persuaded that the
word “religion” should have been omitted. On
the contrary, we are more firmly convinced
than ever that it should be included, and we
would be very pleased indeed, and consider it
an act of public service, if you were to
recommend to the Senate as a whole that the
word “religion” should be put into the section
dealing with the definition' of “identifiable
group”.

The Chairman: Let me go just a little fur-
ther. The report also includes national origin.
Would you be in favour of adding national
origin as well as religion?

Mr. Andras: By and large we would favour
a definition comprehensive enough to protect
a group that is readily identifiable by some
such title against discrimination. In the fair
employment practice legislation the term ‘“na-
tionality”, for example, or “national origin” is
to be found, and it is a misdemeanor for an
employer to have an application form that
seeks to determine national origin or nation-
ality. We would not object to the inclusion of
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national origin. As a matter of fact, the
recommendation of the committee itself
would be quite satisfactory because it is more
comprehensive than the one to be found in
Bill S-21.

The Chairman: I may say that the question
of adding “religion” has been discussed in
this committee on previous occasions. While,
of course, I cannot answer for what the com-
mittee will do when we come to revise the
bill, I can tell you that it will be thoroughly
discussed and considered. We thank you for
your recommendation.

Mr. Rancourt: Catholics and Jews as religi-
ous groups are identifiable groups. Criticizing
a group that practises a religion is quite a
different thing from criticizing the religion.
We do not want to prevent anybody saying he
is against religion, that he is an atheist or
whatever it might be, but when he singles out
a group of people practising a religion and
condemns them as one group, that is a very
identifiable group and it should be so men-
tioned in the law. There has been persecution
of groups of people who share the same views
on religion, such as the Jehovah’s Witnesses
and other groups. There has been that kind of
persecution.

The Chairman: There is a question before
us at the moment upon which perhaps you
can give some assistance. The bill is really in
two parts, one dialing with the advocacy of
genocide and the other the dissemination of
hate literature. You will notice that in the
genocide provisions the reference is to the
advocacy of the genocide of any class—not
identifiable but any class of people—while the
hate literature applies only to attacks upon
identifiable groups. Do you think it would
improve the bill if we amended it to restrict

the advocacy of genocide to identifiable
groups? Have ‘you given that any
consideration?

Mr. Andras: You have the advantage of
being very learned in the law, and all of us
happen to be laymen.

The Chairman: Learned, yes, but very

learned, I do not know.

Senator Choquette: What about advocating
that a whole nation be exterminated or steril-
ized? Did you ever hear of that?

Mr. Rancourt: That would be genocide.

Senator Choquette: Did you ever read Mr.
Kaufmann’s book, which he published in
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1941, entitled Germany must Perish? There
he explained his whole plan and how he
could sterilize all the Germans. Twenty thou-
sand surgeons would be recruited among par-
ticipating nations who would do 25 operations
daily and in the course of a few months or
less than three years, all German males
would be sterilized. Did you hear about that?

Mr. Andras: No, sir, but we would not sup-
port such a proposal.

Senator Choquette: That was in 1941. That
was genocide of a whole nation and a whole
people.

Mr. Andras: Well, senator, looking at the
word genocide and trying to go behind it to
its etymology the word seems to suggest, if I
understand correctly, the death of a people.
Now, if you consider the people of Germany
to be a people, what was suggested by Mr.
Kaufmann was genocide. Section 267A does
not confine itself to a people in that sense
except that the word genocide implies—what
it does refer to is groups. I would read into it,
as a layman, a group that has some degree of
homogeneity which makes it recognizable.

Senator Choquette: That was quite a group
though. It was a large order too was it not?

Mr. Andras: Yes, but surely you do not
expect me to defend what you have just read
as being advocated. I find it rather horrifying
to have heard it from you, senator, and our
purpose here is not to support but to combat
such a proposal or even lesser proposals such
as are contemplated in subsections (¢), (d) and
(e) of section 267. For example, we are just as
much concerned about them as about subsec-
tion (e) of section 2, forcibly transferring chil-
dren of a group to another group. This does
not involve physical destruction whatever,
but it does involve the ultimate destruction of
a group which is identifiable as such.

For example, if we were to take the off-
spring of our indigenous peoples in Canada,
the native Indians and Eskimos and forcibly
distribute them, as I wunderstand it, this
would be genocide within the meaning of sec-
tion 267a.

Senator Hollett: Are you suggesting that
the Canadian nation would ever think of
doing a thing like that? I do not like this bill
because it makes people outside of Canada
think that we have problems of that nature.
We have not got such problems. What the
devil is the gooa of the act theréfore?
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Mr. Andras: With much respect, senator, a
government passes legislation to prevent the
commission of crimes. We know from history
of the last generation that crimes have been
committed at certain times. This has led to
the United Nations Convention on Genocide
which has been endorsed by Canada, as one
of about 60 or 65 countries. It is entirely
proper and suitable that Canada should
implement the endorsation of a convention by
an enactment of legislation. We cannot see the
future. It is not within our powers to do so,
but we can anticipate possibilities, and this is
one of the purposes of law, as I understand it.
We have not only endorsed the United
Nations Convention on Genocide, but I think
quite properly the Senate has introduced the
bill to control it within the means of the
Criminal Code.

Senator Lang: Mr. Andras, concerning the
labour movement, I would like to put a
theoretical case to you. In the heat of a meet-
ing following a strike, or in the heat of a
strike action somebody got up in the meeting
and said, “I advocate the destruction of
employers who hire scab labourers.” Do you
think that is advocating genocide?

Mr. Andras: No, sir. I think it is a rather
stupid thing to say in any event. I think there
are other sections in the Criminal Code that
would quite well take care of such a case.

Senator Lang: May I suggest that falls
within the meaning of section 267a? It is
advocating the destruction of a group of
persons.

Senator Lamontagne: If it can be identified.

Senator Lang: In other words, no word of
identification.

Mr. Rancourt: Sometimes it is very difficult
to identify an employer.

Senator Lang: There are a group of people.
Mr. Rancourt: I want to say something—

Senator Lang: May I say something fur-
ther? If I advocate the destruction of the
Mafia and by public statement under ‘this sec-
tion I am guilty of genocide either of a de-
struction of a group of persons or—

Mr. Rancourt: They should not be de-
stroyed as persons either, be they criminal or
good people. It does not matter; they are a
person and a citizen and a human being.
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Senator Lang: Would you listen to me,
please? I am not talking about the merits of
my proposition. I am talking to you about the
legal construction of section 267A as it now
stands.

Mr. Rancouri: Like we said in the brief,
there are many terms in the court and court
will have to define them and what exactly
their meanings are. They will be recentered
and created. I want to come back to what the
other senator said. You presume there is no
distribution of hate literature in Canada at
the present time and no need for such legisla-
tion, because we are all good people in Cana-
da and nobody is going around distributing
hate literature or advocating the destruction
of one race or another. I suggest that it is the
contrary, that it does exist in Canada. I do
not know, up to the present day, but up to a
few months ago in Quebec you and a group
distributing that kind of literature, a Nazi
group, talking to hard-core organizations and
going by the name of Lariviére, who has been
advocating distributing that kind of literature
in newspapers. He has been saying that we
should take all the Jews, for example, and
send them back to Israel or kill them and do
the same with the Negro. This is serious and
it is the kind of thing we should stop. It is a
disease. We take measures against disease and
we should take measures against that kind.

Senator Hollett: Surely the Criminal Code
can take care of most of that, can it not?

Mr. Rancourt: Apparently not, and it does
not. The Criminal Code, to my understanding,
would be such that if you tell a guy that an
individual is bad and is a criminal and a thief
you are subjected to libel. But if you tell a
whole group of people that they are crimi-
nals and that they are bad you are not prose-
cuted. This is what this law will correct, the
discrimination against groups. To me it is
more serious to discriminate against a group
than one individual, because that creates
disunity.

Senator Choquette: I will ask you point
blank. Your name is Gerard Rancourt.
[Translation]

Mr. Rancourt: Yes, sir.

[English]
Senator Choquette: Are you a French Jew?

Mr. Rancouri: No, I am not a Jew. I am a
French Canadian.

Senator Choquette: Oh, I thought you were.
You are certainly taking quite an attitude.
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Senator Croll: Do you think it would make
any difference if he was?

Senator Choquette: It would be, because he
would be prejudiced.

Senator Croll: Prejudiced? What do you
mean he would be prejudiced?

Senator Choquetie: Prejudiced in favour of
passing the bill.

Senator Croll: I hope so.

[Translation]

Mr. Rancourt: If I were a Jew, I would be
proud of it, just as I am proud to be a French
Canadian.

[English]

The Chairman: In all events, you brought
out that the witness is disinterested personal-
ly in the matter of Jewish claims and so on.
May I ask this question because it may get us
down to business. If we added national and
religion to the identifiable groups, would that
not be sufficient and then if we used that
definition with the additions mentioned with
regard to genocide rather than leaving it in
the open to all groups, what would you say to
our wisdom or otherwise?

Mr. Andras: It is a double barreled
question.

The Chairman: Yes, it is two questions.
First, shall we add the national and religion
to the definition and if we do that would you
advocate that we limit the advocacy of geno-
cide to the advocacy of the killing, of getting
rid of identifiable group instead of to any
group?

Mr. Andras: One of the senators raised a
question before where he used employers as a
group which sort of seemed to hoist us up on
our own petard. This is not good for us; it
destroys our morale.

Senator Walker: That will be a cold, frosty
morning.
Labourers

Senator Lamontagne: are

employers too.

Mr. Andras: Yes. While you were engaged
in that exchange, I was looking at page 56,
which quotes an excerpt from the convention
prepared by the General Assembly of the
United Nations in 1948, and it says, in its
most relevant article, as follows:

In the present convention, “genocide”
means any of the following acts commit-
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ted with attempt to destroy, in whole or
in part, a national. ethnic, racial or
religious group as such.

It would seem to me, therefore, although I
might want to go back and suggest to my
officers that they consult legal counsel, that if
we were to follow this lead of the United
Nations, we would be fairly safe in our
approach to genocide in the Criminal Code.

Senator Lang: Mr. Andras, I might draw
your attention to the wording in that section.
It says that “genocide” includes any of the
following—it does not say it means.

The Chairman: It does not exclude the
ordinary meaning of the word ‘“‘genocide”.

Senator Lang: No, but it adds things on to
it.
The Chairman: It may not add anything to

it, if it makes it clear that these ‘things are
included.

Senator Lang: So, it is broader than the
convention.

Mr. Andras: I am sorry. I missed your
point. This bill would seem to be broader,
yes. Actually, senator, we would want to
maximize ‘the protection. Purely in lay
terms—and I hope you do not try to catch me
out on that, because I cannot argue law with
you—purely on lay terms, looking at it purely
as a layman, born and bred in this country,
when we talk about groups and genocide we
all know perfectly well we are not concerned
with the possible advocacy of the destruction
of the employers. This is fantasy. When we
talk of genocide in Canada, in the light of the
experience over the last 25 or 35 years, we
know perfectly well, as citizens of this coun-
try, as business people who read the press
and who read history, what is meant by this
term and to whom it has been directed.
Therefore, when we use the word ‘“group” or
when the Senate uses the word “group” here,
we who sit here as members of organized
labour, we know whom we are talking about,
and it is not the employers.

Senator Croll: When you take a look at the
report, you will see that clause (d) in 267a
and clause (e) were added and are not part of
the Cohen Report, for the purpose of
clarification. :

Mr. Andras: I do not see that.
Senator Croll: Take a look at it.
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Mr. Rancourt: In the definition of genocide?
Senator Croll: Yes.

Mr. Rancourt: But it seems that all these,
(@), (b), (© and (@—

Mr. Andras: You are right.

Mr. Rancouri: Most of them would be a
criminal act, anyway.

Senator Croll: We are dealing with this
particular one. The purpose of the section, as
I understood the law officers to say, is to
define more clearly what was intended, and
rather it was not included to broaden it at all.
It was intended to define, and these terms are
commonly accepted as indicated in (d) and
(e). The others are contained in the report.

Mr, Andras: That is right.

Senator Lang: May I draw the witness’s
attention to this, that this section does not
indicate the definition of genocide or expand
the definition of genocide. It is to make the
advocating of it an offence. That is quite a
different proposition.

Senator Croll: Advocating or promoting.

Mr. Andras: Subsection (1) refers to
advocacy or promotion. Subsection (2)
includes any of the following acts—so that
this thing operates on two lines.

Senator Lang: No, it is the same line. It
defines what genocide means. It is still the
advocating or promoting, under subsection (1)
that is an offence.

Senator Lamontagne: Genocide itself is cer-
tainly criminal, as far as I know.

Mr. Rancourt: We are making it an offence,
that anyone who advocates any of these, (a),
(b), (@), (d) or (e), commits a crime against a
group and he should be punished and some-
thing should be done about it.

The Chairman: He should be restrained.

Senator Lang: What if I advocated steriliza-
tion of all mental incompetents—would that
be advocating genocide?

Senator Lamontagne:
you were advocating
everybody in that group.

Mr. Andras: I would think that the answer
to that would be that people who have con-
scientious scruples against sterilization might

I think it would, if
the sterilization of
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tend to regard that group as being an identifi-
able one.

Senator Lang: If I advocate such a thing,
should I thereby be committing a criminal
offence?

Mr. Andras: I would hesitate to say so.

Mr. Rancouri:
referred to.

If it is a group that is

Senator Lang: Well, the mental incom-
petents would be the group.

Mr. Andras: It would require a very care-
ful definition of mental incompetence.

Senator Lang: I would suggest that that
falls within the ambit of the section.

Mr. Andras: I would not think that was
intended, and I doubt whether it would be
pursued in that fashion.

Senator Lang: I doubt if it was the inten-
tion, but the road to hell is paved with the
best intentions.

Mr. Rancourt: In the Explanatory Note to
the law, it gives that indication.

Senator Lang: Judges do not...

Mr. Rancourt: No, they do not care about
these things.

Senator Prowse: I wonder if I might seek
clarification here. In section 267A at present it
refers to a group and then any of these acts
with respect to a group constitute genocide.
We are not dealing with the act itself but
with the promotion of it. In other words, you
cannot say that these things should happen
about any group. Now, this gets pretty broad
and it has no precise legal meaning.

In another section of the act, 267B, for
example, there is a definition in subsection
(5), paragraph (b), which says that “identifia-
ble group” means any section of the public
distinguished by colour, race or ethnic origin.

Senator Roebuck has suggested, as indeed
others have, and other witnesses have, that it
would improve this act—and you yourself
said it—if we added “religion” in there. Then,
it has been suggested that we add also ‘“na-
tional origin”. When you go back to genocide,
then, this section 2678 that I have read, does
not apply.

It has been suggested that it would improve
this legislation by making it clear what we
intended and not allowing frivolous questions
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to be raised, as to when you want to kill a
whole hockey club or something which would
be a group as such. We should then in section
267a have an identifiable group and then have
the definition apply to both.

In your opinion, would it or would it not
improve the legislation, from your point of
view, if we added these qualifying words to
section 267a?

Mr. Andras: The chairman asked a question
along those lines and I think our reply was
that if section 267a were to contain terminolo-
gy similar to that in the United Nations con-
vention we would not object, although we
reserve the right to make subsequent
representation if legal advice indicated to us
that this was not a wise reply.

The Chairman: Will you do that, will you
consult and write us then?

Senator Croll: I have a note here—although
I cannot follow this from day to day—in deal-
ing with subsections (56)(b). You spoke about
religion and national origin. I have a note
here on language. Do you remember our dis-
cussing language as another aspect?

The Chairman: Not very seriously.

Senator Choquette: That would shut every-
one up completely.

Senator Croll: That was the Justice Depart-
ment which was discussing this with us.

Senator Lang: It is in the Cohen Report.

The Chairman: Honourable senators, we
must draw this consideration to a close
because we have another witness to hear
from, but before doing so I would like to call
your attention to the fact that on page 69 of
the Cohen Report, under Chapter VI, Recom-
mendations, at the very bottom of the page
there appears the following:

5) In this section

(a) ‘Genocide’ means any of the fol-
lowing acts committed with intent to de-
stroy in whole or in part, any identifiable
group:

The report has answered our questions to
the extent that a report can do so. It is sug-
gested that identifiable group apply to geno-
cide as it does to the balance of the bill.

Now, honourable senators, I am sure I am
speaking on everyone’s behalf when I extend
to the witnesses our thanks for their coming
and giving us the benefit of their knowledge
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and wisdom and for the attention they have
given to this matter. And may I include in
my thanks not only Mr. Rancourt and Mr.
Andras but also those who have not been
heard but who are here giving us the benefit
of their support. I am referring to Mr. Sam
Hughes, Mr. Alan Schrader, Mr. Paul Lind
and Mr. Frank Schaefer. You will notice,
honourable senators, that the document that
they have put in our hands is signed by
Donald MacDonald, the President, William
Dodge, the Secretary-Treasurer and Joseph
Morris, the Executive Vice-President and
Gérard Rancourt, who is sitting beside me,
the Executive Vice-President of the Congress.

I think I can extend the thanks of us all to
all these gentlemen who have taken part in
this consideration and particularly to those
who are here giving us the benefit of their
knowledge and wisdom.

Mr. Rancourt: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
We are glad to be here.

The Chairman: Thank you, gentlemen.

Honourable senators, our next witness is
Mr. Mark MacGuigan, M.P. He is still
professor of law at the University of Windsor.
Prior to being elected to the House of Com-
mons he was the Dean of the Law School of
the University of Windsor. He has been
professor of law at Osgoode Hall in Toronto,
of the Law Society of Upper Canada. He was
formerly Chairman of the Canadian Civil
Liberties Association and he was a founding
director of that important organization.

He is now, as I say, a member of Parlia-
ment—a very prominent one—and before all
in this connection he was one of those who
studied and produced the so-called Cohen
Report. He is one of those who signed that
report, which is now before us, and which
was instrumental in bringing this study
before the committee. So, honourable senators,
I have pleasure in introducing to you Mr.
Mark MacGuigan, M.P.

Mr. Mark R. MacGuigan, Member of Par-
liament: Honourable Chairman and honoura-
ble senators, I am sensible of the honour you
do me in extending to me the invitation to
appear before you, and I am grateful for the
courtesy. While I do not have a written text,
I do have a number of ideas that I would like
to present to you in some logical sequence.
Then I am sure that you will want to have
discussion on some of the particular points
that I have gone over. .
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Senator Lang: I wonder if I might interrupt
at the beginning, Mr. Chairman? I think we
have in Mr. MacGuigan a man with a back-
ground of knowledge in connection with this
legislation unlike other witnesses we have
had heretofore. I for one would be very
interested in knowing the history of this
legislation—not when it came into the Senate
about four years ago, but prior thereto—and
the background leading to the setting up of
the Cohen Commission upon which Mr. Mac-
Guigan served. Its origin, I think, is probably
in the United Kingdom; I believe it came
over here via an M.P. I happened to meet in
another M.P.’s office with Pauline Jewett when
she was in the house.

Background details of this sort would be
interesting to the committee. We all know the
legislation did not simply come out of the
thin air.

Mr. MacGuigan: I am not sure, Senator
Lang, that I can give you all the surrounding
gossip, but in my comments I hope I can be
frank enough to give you some indication of
what went into the committee’s deliberations
and some of the background surrounding the
report. I must say that I have not specifically
come prepared to talk on all of the back-
ground details in terms of the particular inci-
dents of distribution of hate propaganda in
Canada. They are all contained in the report
and I could recall some of them from memory
and read the others to you, if you would like.

Perhaps, if I make the presentation that I
have in mind, there will be other avenues
that you would like to explore after I have
made these few preliminary comments.

The Chairman: Very good.

Mr. MacGuigan: Now, the Special Commit-
tee on Hate Propaganda reported in 1966,
and I am going to refer to that committee
from now on as the Cohen Committee. As you
know, it recommended amendments to the
Criminal Code to make criminal the advocacy
of genocide, the public incitement of
hatred and the wilful promotion of hatred,
the three basic notions or illegalities which
are envisaged. by this document before us, in
addition to the one which was added by the
Government over and above the recommen-
dation of the Cohen Report which relates to
the seizure of materials which are hate
materials. Now, with the exception of that
amendment respecting seizure, I think I
should say frankly in the beginning—and per-
haps, since I was a member of the committee,
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think I should say in the beginning that I
disagree with all the changes that were made
by the Government in the recommendations
of the Cohen Report. In most cases I disagree
with them very strongly, and in the course of
my remarks I will indicate why that is so.

The main thrust of the bill is with regard
to the third of the offences, the wilful promo-
tion of hatred, but, as I understand it, you
have also had considerable discussion about
the others so I will take these in the sequence
in which they are found in the bill before us.

First of all, then, the genocide provisions:
these provisions are related to the Convention
on the Prevention and Punishment of the
Crime of Genocide adopted by the United
Nations General Assembly in, I believe, 1948.
This was subsequently signed and ratified by
Canada. Now I believe that the bill, and the
recommendations of the Cohen Committee, go
beyond the international convention, and I
believe they go beyond anything now in
Canadian law. I recognize, of course, that
since they go beyond the Convention, in my
view they are not strictly a matter of obliga-
tion for Canada as a signatory and ratifier of
that pact, but on the other hand I think it
would occasion no surprise in this part of the
20th century—which might be called a cen-
tury of genocide—if we were to take the spir-
it of that convention and elaborate it in a
small but very important way.

The Cohen Committee did not challenge the
view that genocide as such—perhaps I should
not say ‘“as such”—but that genocide was in
effect prohibited by the present sections in
the Criminal Code respecting murder. What
we proposed was that it should be an offence
to advocate or promote genocide, not to com-
mit it.

Senator Walker: You are saying then that
the Criminal Code covers this?

Mr. MacGuigan: It does not cover it under
the concept of genocide, but under another
concept, the concept of murder. While you
could argue and we seriously considered the
question whether we should go beyond this to
make the commission of genocide a crime, we
felt that we should not do that because there
are provisions to cover this situation in the
present law.

Senator Lang: Does the Convention only
require the signatories to outlaw the act of
genocide?
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Mr. MacGuigan: Not only the act; I believe
it goes on to conspiracy and incitement and
complicity of various kinds. I do not have the
text before me at the moment.

Senator Lang:
promoting?

And not advocating or

Mr. MacGuigan: Not as far as I know; but
advocating or promoting even on an intellec-
tual basis, or intellectual support for genocide
as a solution to any human problem, was
something that we believed should be an
offence. We took the view, and this is a theme
that runs throughout the Report, that there
are certain bounds even to free discussions in
a free society, and one of these bounds, the
most important of them, is that it is never
permissible at any time or in any place to
make any suggestion that the solution for any
human problem is to kill all the members of
an opposing group, whatever it may be. Of
course it is important to define the group, and
to do it carefully, and one of my objections is
that the government has not done that in the
legislation before us. The Committee took the
view that even a purely intellectual advocacy
of genocide goes beyond what is permissible.
It goes beyond incitement, because incitement
would have to be in a situation where there
was some immediacy. Canadian law has never
adopted the “clear and present danger” of
Mr. Justice Holmes which is the test in the
United States. We have had a similar attitude
in our own law, but this is one area where
the Committee felt it was necessary to go
beyond that.

The Chairman: Would you mind clearing
up for me the “clear and present danger” test.

Mr. MacGuigan: Mr. Justice Holmes took
the view that incitement to riot or sedition
ought to be prohibited only when there was a
clear and present danger that the acts uttered
would have such an effect, but the situation
had to be such that there was some likelihood
that the particular effect that was feared
would follow, either riot or sedition.

Senator Lang: Would that not be brought in
as the qualification in our law where it says
“likely to lead to a breech of the peace” in
section 2177

Mr. MacGuigan: It is a qualification of that
type.

Senator Lang: But that is already in our
law. ;
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Mr. MacGuigan: Yes, that is the type of
concept generally in our law, but we are not
suggesting that in the case of genocide.

Senator Lang: Has the ‘“clear and present
danger” principle ever been involved in any
cases that you know of in the Criminal Law
here?

Mr. MacGuigan: Not under that doctrine.
That doctrine was developed under the
American Bill of Rights, and we have only
recently had our own bill of rights and we
have not got into situations of this kind. Our
law of incitement involves very much the
same type of thing. There has to be a rela-
tionship between what is said in a particular
situation and certain undesirable conse-
quences that may follow. Now there is no
doubt, I think, that in going as far as we
have gone, the Committee has gone beyond
any precedent in common law and necessarily
beyond any precedents in this country, and
we have done so for the reason that this is a
sociably unacceptable solution: we believe
that it is sociably unacceptable to advocate
such a solution, even if you are speaking as a
philosopher and not simply as a man inciting
people to act in a certain way, because this is
not an acceptable philosophic theory in a
democratic society.

The Chairman: May I ask you to elucidate
this a little; you say that the American rule is
that the incitement must lead to some reasona-
bly immediate effect?

Mr. MacGuigan: Yes.

Mr. Chairman: In this instance, if someone
advocated genocide a thousand or a hundred
years from now, would it not be ruled out by
the court because it would be too remote?
Would that not be the general common law
with regard to present offences?

Mr. MacGuigan: When you put it that way,
you make a difficult case.

The Chairman: Or a very easy one.

Mr. MacGuigan: Or a very easy one. I
think the court might, in that case where
there is a fantastic remoteness, say it was not
advocacy or promotion. If, without mention-
ing any time, a philosopher, even intending his
work for limited circulation, suggest at that
one of the best solutions for today’s problems
was genocide, I think he would be guilty
even in circumstances which would not nor-
mally constitute-incitement. It was because we
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went so far, but I think justifiably far, in
what we were attempting to prohibit that we
wanted to limit the definition of genocide to a
very clearly defined class of offence. That is
the reason we did not take the international
definition, but modified that definition by
leaving out two sub-sections proposed inter-
nationally, and while we defined “group” in
the genocide section, it is again defined in
what is proposed under section 267 B, so that
it is now an identifiable group and not just
any group.

Senator Lang: If that is so, why does the
definition say that an identifiable group
“means” rather than “includes”?

Mr., MacGuigan: This is one of the changes
made by the government with which I strong-
ly disagree. I think that this change leads to
undesirable consequences and broadens the
definition of “genocide” even beyond that of
the international convention, and if you check
our report you will see we used the word
“means” and we said, “‘genocide’ means any
of the following acts...”. We left out what
are now paragraphs (b) and (e) of subsection
2. I would also say—and this is a purely
personal view, but I think in a sense it re-
flects the views of the committee—that the
inclusion of paragraph (d) was a fairly mar-
ginal decision for us. I will try to indicate to
you, as I go along, the decisions I feel were
pretty marginal, not in the sense that we did
not feel they are practical one way or anoth-
er, but those which we felt only slightly more
in favour of than against. There would be
likely to be people who would be concerned
that paragraph (d) would prevent contracep-
tive measures, even though there is “intent’”
written in above, “with intent to destroy in
whole or in part any group of persons”. It
certainly would not weaken the meaning of
“genocide” very substantially in my opinion,
if (d) were to be removed as well.

We omitted paragraph (b) because “causing
serious bodily or mental harm to members of
the group” is not in Canada usually equiva-
lent to murder, and we felt it should not be
made equivalent to killing in this offence. We
omitted paragraph (e) because we felt this
referred to specific European conditions
which had some meaning there during the
Second World War period, but which are not
likely to arise in Canada and are not the type
of thing we really need to prohibit. Our feel-
ing was that paragraphs (a) and (¢) were suffi-
ciently broad so as to include all the other
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aspects which might arise at some point in
time.

The Chairman: Are you advocating that we
eliminate (e)?

Mr. MacGuigan: Yes, and (b).
The Chairman: And (b)?

Mr. MacGuigan: Yes. I am also suggesting
that it would not make much difference if you
eliminated (d). I cannot see, one way or
another, that it increases the coverage, and it
may cause certain uneasiness in the country.

Mr. Hopkins: Which of these five were
recommended by the committee?

Mr. MacGuigan: (a), (¢) and (d.

Senator Lang: What does “destroy” mean in
your opinion?

Mr, MacGuigan: It would have to be physi-
cal destruction.

Senator Lang: It means “kill”?
Mr. MacGuigan: Yes, it means “kill”.

Senator Lang: Why cannot we say “kill”?
This involves a grammatical redundancy.

Mr. MacGuigan: The difficulty is purely a
grammatical one. I suppose the words were
taken from the international definition, but
the grammatical difficulty is that if you say,
“destroy in whole or in part any group of
persons” there is some grammatical difficulty
in killing a group of persons in part, and I
think it was for that reason we used the word
“destroy’’.

Senator Lang: But it brings in the concept
of trying to break up a group, as opposed to
killing people who are members of it. Using
the words “destroy” and ‘“group” in the same
context, you imply an offence in advocating
the disbanding of the group.

Mr. MacGuigan: I can see it is a possible
interpretation. I think the weight would cer-
tainly be against interpreting “destroy’” mere-
ly as the disbanding of a group, in the sense
the people were dispersed. But that is, logi-
cally speaking, a possible interpretation.

Senator Lang: It is too dangerous a piece of
legislation to leave any doubts in.

Mr. MacGuigan: If the committee were to
feel there was doubt on that point, I think
that is something that could well be cleared
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up because there is no doubt but that we
intended “kill”.

Senator Walker: Paragraph (b) does not
indicate killing; it says,“causing serious bodi-
ly or mental harm to members of the group;”.

Mr. MacGuigan: I object to the inclusion of
().

Senator Walker: If “destroy” means “kill”,
but we have not a legal interpretation it
means that.

Mr. MacGuigan: You are right. The pres-
ence of (b), I suppose, strengthens the inter-
pretation Senator Lang was suggesting as a
possible one for the main part of subsection
2, so I think you have a point there, Senator
Lang.

Senator Hollett: Unless you cut out (a), I
suppose you have to do away with all war.
For instance, in the last war I remember list-
ing a thousand or two men to go overseas,
and I advocated that they go to kill an iden-
tifiable group. I am innocent of anything, am
I not?

Mr. MacCuigan: This raises the other point
I wanted to make about the genocide provi-
sions, and that is the fact that the group
which is mentioned in the bill is not an iden-
tifiable group, as we defined it, but merely a
group. My view would be that a “group” used
in an unrestricted way would include, as
Senator Lang was suggesting in his dialogue
with the previous witness, the Mafia and any
criminal gang, and even Killing the com-
munist Chinese, because it is not restricted to
Canada. My view is it goes too far. The type
of standard we should be establishing would
apply to all groups in our country. I do not
think this would apply to casual utterances
like, “Get the Tigers!”, if you are referring to
the opposing football or baseball team,
because I suppose that would be a jocose

usage.

Senator Lang: It would come under ‘“seri-
ous bodily harm”!

Mr. MacGuigan: Yes, and I think that prob-
lem arises when you have an unrestricted
definition of “group”. It would be very dan-
gerous to pass the bill without having in it a
restricted definition of “group”.

If it were limited to an
not that

The Chairman:
identifiable group in Canada, would
cover the situation?
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Mr. MacGuigan: We did not include the
term “in Canada,” but we certainly intended
that. We used the words, “any section of the
public” and because we used the phrase “of
the public” we felt that it clearly meant the
Canadian public, but it would be in keeping
with our throught to insert the words “in
Canada” to make it more clear.

The Chairman: Does murder cover killing
abroad, or is it only in Canada?

Mr. MacGuigan: I think that murder in all
the sections of the Criminal Code, without
expressly being given extraterritorial applica-
tion, would refer only to “in Canada”.

The Chairman: I agree that was the case
when the Code was drawn in the first
instance, but since that time we have had
extraterritorial jurisdiction given to us.

Mr. MacGuigan: In all instances?

The Chairman: I do not know about all
instances.

Mr. MacGuigan: You mean that constitu-
tionally we have that, but I do not think we
have exercised that in the Criminal Code.

The Chairman: I do not think so.

Mr. MacGuigan: I cannot give you an
offhand answer, but I would be doubtful if
the offence extended beyond the bounds of
Canada.

Since I was talking about the definition of
“group,” and since I have said basically what
I want to say about the genocide offence, I
will proceed to discuss “identifiable group” in
preparation for discussing the two parts of
section 2678. But perhaps before that time
there are some additional comments on the
genocide provisions that some of the honoura-
ble senators want to ask about.

Senator Croll: Go ahead. We will get back
to it, if necessary.

Mr. MacGuigan: Very well. The definition
of “identifiable group” was broader in our
proposals. We proposed six identifying marks,
namely, religion, colour, race, language, and
ethnic or national origin. In its definition of
“identifiable group” the Government omits
religion, language, and national origin. I disa-
gree with each of these omissions, although
with differing degrees of passing.

I feel most strongly about the omission of
religion. The group which has been subjected
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to the most vile attacks in our country is the
Jewish group. I realize that you have already
had representations to the effect that many
Jews do not consider themselves to be Jews
by virtue of anything other than religion,
even though they may not themselves specifi-
cally be practising followers of the religion.
While the English precedent in this area is to
leave religion out, I think we have to bear in
mind the fact that in England the greatest
thrust of hatred is directed against the so-
called black million, and racial prejudice in
England is not specifically directed at the
Jews. But, in Canada, the group that has
been most subject to attack is the Jewish
group, and I think if we were to pass legisla-
tion which did not give them any protection
we would be passing legislation which would
have comparatively little effect.

A few moments ago it was mentioned in
the dialogue with the previous witness that
religion was not a natural fact, that it was
something that someone could acquire and,
therefore, not something that should be put in
a category which contains other matters
which are natural facts. But, religion is a
quasi-natural fact, if I can put it in that way.
Religion does not come to many people in our
country by means of conversion. It comes to
most people by reason of the culture and
family into which they are born. While I do
not want to exclude the possibility of people
changing their religion, it is pretty close to
being a natural fact in, I would say, the bulk
of the population of today’s world, and it is
therefore appropriate to put it in some such
grouping.

Another reason for omitting it would be the
fact, I would think, that obviously every
qualification or every distinguishing mark one
leaves out of a definition of “identifiable
group” the less likelihood there will be of an
infringement on freedom of speech. I think
we have to admit frankly that there is some
infringement on free speech by legislation
such as this. I believe it is a very justifiable
infringement, but you can decrease the mag-
nitude of the problem by cutting down on the
number of these characteristic marks. If you
cut them out altogether perhaps you would be
worse off, but if you cut them down to one
then you do infringe less on free speech. This
may have been in the Government’s mind in
leaving it out.

The Chairman: Speaking of infringement of
free speech, are we not limiting only evil
speech—evil speech and evil thoughts?
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Mr. MacGuigan: Yes, I would certainly
agree with that, but one of the difficulties is
that this is rather like the old distinction
between liberty and licence, when we know
that one man’s liberty is another man’s
licence.

Senator Lang: Or, what is one man’s evil is
another man’s good.

Mr. MacGuigan: One has to be conscious of
the fact that there is a valid dialogue between
different points of view, but with respect to
genocide that is not so. We have drawn this
legislation in such a way as not to have any
dialogue with respect to genocide. There
should be an absolute provision in respect of
genocide, because there is no social interest
served in having a dialogue on the question
of whether or not you should kill people as a
solution to the world’s problems. I distinguish
that sharply from any other questions that
arise.

Senator Lang: Would you give us your
thoughts on the word “language” in that
regard.

Mr. MacGuigan: The omission of the word
“religion” is the one about which I feel most
strongly, but I would certainly be in favour
of keeping the word “language” in. This, of
course, gets us into more ticklish areas in
present day Canada, but my feeling is that
there is a good case to be made for having
ground rules of decency, if you like, in the
social dialogue which occurs. I see no reason,
if we are going to dispute on a linguistic
basis, why we cannot say what we want to
say in polite terms, at least, and a certain
amount of human decency.

Senator Lang: Are we writing ethics or
criminal law? 3

Mr. MacGuigan: One does not write crimi-
nal law without writing ethics. I have taken a
strong position in the other house against
having private matters and private behaviour
controlled by the Criminal Code, but when
you get into matters of public morality, then
that is what the Criminal Code is all about.

Senator Lang: What if these statements are
made in private?

Mr. MacGuigan: The occurrence may be in
private, but my argument would be that it is
still a matter of public morality because it is
a matter which has such serious effects on
people across the country. Matters affecting
the public cannot be restricted to what hap-

Standing Senate Commitiee

pens in a public place. There are certain acts
that may occur in private—I am thinking, for
instance, of a father’s relationship towards his
children; his lack of support of them, or mis-
treatment of them—although those acts may
occur within the privacy of a family setting,
they are of public consequence.

Senator Lang: I assume you are talking
about the homosexual provisions of the Crim-
inal Code. I should like you to bring those
into line with the thinking in subsection 2.

The Chairman: Do you think we would
have some difficulty in identifying the group
on the ground of language?

Mr. MacGuigan: I think there is some

difficulty.

Senator Walker: And not just difficulty.
It would be an impossibility, would it not?

The Chairman: I would think that that is
why it is left out.

Senator Walker: Do you not think that that
is why they left it out?

Mr. MacGuigan: It is not an impossibility
because the Royal Commission on Bilin-
gualism and Biculturalism has laid down
rules as to what constitutes linguistic status,
and what does not. There is something there
which without further specification might
cause problems. It is not the language which
a person actually speaks, or his name, which
determine his status. If a person grows up in
a community with one language, and his
ancestors actually were of another language
which he may still speak, you do have a
question as to what linguistic group he
belongs. But, in that case, whichever linguis-
tic group he were to attack, whether it be his
own or the other, this may still be something
that ought to be prohibited.

I do not know that the indefiniteness of the
group is necessarily a prohibitive problem,
because if someone makes an attack on a
linguistic group, the fact is that he has made
an attack on a group as a linguistic group,
and whether or not he means it to include all
six million people of that group, or whether
he includes only two million, is not really a
crucial point in the determination of his lia-
bility under the section.

The Chairman: Would you give us your
idea of what an ethnic group is?
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Mr. MacGuigan: We used that word in its
common meaning in Canada. For us, it not
only meant people from the continent of
Europe, but we coupled it with national ori-
gin, which I think broadens it a little bit.
“Ethnic” for us has a more restricted meaning
than does “national origin”. I suppose, from
the dictionary viewpoint, there would be no
justification to restricting the term “ethnic” to
people from a particular set of countries, but
that is, in fact, what we do here in Canada.

Senator Lang: You know what it originally
meant, do you not?

Mr. MacGuigan: Yes, I saw the previous
proceedings.

Senator Lang: It meant ‘“Christians”. The
Christians were the foreigners outside the cit-
ies of Greece and came from the Middle East.

Senator Choquette: Before you leave that
point, I should like to ask a question. I think
you told us that the Criminal Code took care
of genocide in a general way. What would
you say if we added to that section that any-
one who promotes or advocates the acts set
forth in the murder section should be guilty
of an indictable offence and liable to five
years imprisonment, rather than putting in
this whole section 2674? What would you say
to that?

Mr. MacGuigan: I think that legally there
might not be very much difference between
that way of doing it and this way, in the
sense of strict interpretation. I would suggest
that the law has a very important educational
function, and certainly one of the very impor-
tant purposes of the legislation is the taking
of a strong moral position by the people of
Canada through their Parliament—if this does
receive the approval of Parliament—on basic
questions such as this. I feel the moral force
we want to summon to disapprove very
strongly of any suggestion of genocide in
today’s world should be underlined, so 1
would say there is a very weighty reason for
not doing that, even though legally speaking
there would be no difference between the
two. .

The Chairman: Is not there a distinction to
be drawn between murder and genocide?

Mr. MacGuigan: There is, yes, but I made
the point earlier that we felt that as far as
actual Kkilling was concerned the present
crime of murder pretty well covers the
ground, in the sense that if you «can get any-

103

body for committing genocide you can get
them for committing murder. After all, any-
body killing people is guilty of murder.

Senator Choquette: What are your views on
the proposed amendment to abortion laws?

Senator Croll: What has that got to do with
killing?

Senator
killing?

Choquette: Is that advocating

Senator Croll: He has already. ..

Senator Choquette: Let the professor an-
swer the question.

Senator Croll: In the first place, I think the
professor has already answered it in the
House of Commons, if you follow the pro-
ceedings of the House of Commons.

Senator Choquette: I don’t care about the
House of Commons.

Senator Croll: Well, you ought to care
about something besides the Senate and find
out what is going on around you.

Senator Choquette: Oh, come on now!

Senator Walker: I object, Senator Croll.
You are the last person in the world who
should be lecturing this man.

Senator Croll: I have been sitting around
this table longer than you two have. I have
been sitting here for a long time.

The Chairman: Order! Will you please ad-
dress the chair.

Senator Croll: I have been in the Senate for
too long to listen to that.

Senator Walker: I have been ashamed of
you the whole way through this sitting.

Senator Croll: I hope you have.

Senator Walker: You are the phoniest per-
son in the Senate. You are a hypocrite.

Senator Prowse: Oh no. Mr. Chairman. ..
The Chairman: Order!

Senator Croll: Coming from him that is a
compliment.

Senator Walker: We all know about your
background.

Senator Croll: My background?
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Senator Walker: Yes, your background.

Senator Croll: I wish you would tell me
about it.

Senator Prowse: On a point of order...

The Chairman: Gentlemen, stop it. We
have business to transact, and a very serious
piece of business too.

Senator Choquette: I have asked a serious
question, Mr. Chairman.

The Chairman: Senator Choquette has the
floor.

Senator Choquette: I asked a question and
I am expecting an answer.

Mr. MacGuigan: I answered that question
in my speech in the House of Commons, in
which I said I strongly disapproved of abor-
tion. I also said at the same time, for reasons
I will not elaborate today, what my reasons
were for choosing the lesser of two evils and
supporting the Government legislation. I
would be pleased to send you a text of my
remarks.

Senator Choquette: Thank you.

Senator Lang: You disapproved of advocat-
ing abortion.

The Chairman:
work, gentlemen.

Let us get back to our

Senator Prowse: When we discuss provid-
ing protection against the promotion of geno-
cide, if you relate that purely to murder itself
is not the difficulty that murder is an act
committed against an identifiable individual,
and we are dealing here with the result of the
act rather than the exact act itself.

Mr. MacGuigan: Yes, this is true. We lose
the whole meaning of what we are doing if
we put it just in terms of murder.

The Chairman: That is why I asked if there
was not a distinction between murder and
genocide. -

Mr. MacGuigan: In our present national
context the phrase “national origin” I suppose
is a difficult one because we have, as you all
know, different meanings of “nation” and
“nationality” going around. This may be one
reason why it is better to omit the word.
Perhaps there is another word such as “eth-
nic” or the phrase ‘“country of origin” that
could express the same intent.
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Senator Lang: I wonder how this is trans-
lated into French.

Senator Prowse: Do you have anything to
improve on what you say in the report at
page 70, where you state:

“Identifiable group” means any section
of the public distinguished by religion,
colour, race, language, ethnic or national
origin.

In your opinion, would any of these things
improve this definition?

Mr. MacGuigan: I am sufficiently immodest,
Senator Prowse, to think that our report can-
not be improved upon!

Senator Prowse: I am inclined to agree
with you.

Mr. MacGuigan: In section 2678 there is
provision for two different offences. The first
is the one described as “Public incitement of
hatred,” which is doing something in a public
place that has the effect of inciting hatred.
There are provisions of the Criminal Code
presently that come close to this. The ones
relating most directly to it are sections 64 and
67, which deal with unlawful assembly, and
then section 160, subsection (a) (i), which is
the offence of causing a disturbance. Unlawful
assembly is defined in section 64 and made an
offence in section 67. The difficulty with
unlawful assembly is that it requires proof
that three or more persons had assembled
with intent to carry out the common purpose.
This was used against the Nazi group in
Toronto, but they were acquitted on the
charge under section 67, because the common
intent could not be proved. The onus here is
very difficult to meet, because it involves the
Crown’s knowing, not just what happened at
the meeting, but the relationship between the
accused men before the meeting and what
may have transpired between them. The
Crown has then, in effect, to prove a kind of
conspiracy, which is very difficult to
establish.

Section 160 probably covers very much the
same ground at what we propose. Conceptual-
ly section 160 provides that:

Every one who...causes a disturbance
in or near a public place,...by using
insulting or obscene language...is guilty
of an offence punishable on summary
conviction.

It is probable that “insulting language”
includes the type of abuse that we  would
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proscribe under section 267B. There is a pos-
sibility insulting language might be taken in
purely an individual sense and would not be
taken to refer to a group as a whole. I think
the odds are that it would probably cover the
same ground.

Senator Lang: There is no breach of the
peace required in that.

Mr. MacGuigan: No, this is a problem with
section 160 because “a disturbance” is not a
phrase which has a common law history. The
phrase which has had is “a breach of the
peace,” and it may be that causing a disturb-
ance is something less than a breach of the
peace. Shouting, for example, just shouting
itself, may be considered to be causing a dis-
turbance, and there could be a conviction, I
think, under section 160 where there was
nothing which would very closely approach a
breach of the peace as the common law has
understood that phrase. I must say that I find
section 160 to be a very unsatisfactory section
from the viewpoint of civil liberties as well as
from its indefiniteness in regard to these mat-
ters. This part of it is a kind of catch-all.
Some of the rest of section 160 has a long
common law history. This part of section 160
was added and I am not aware of any tradi-
tion of interpretation which would enable us
to be very certain of its interpretation.
Indeed, it is seldom appealed because it is
punishable only on summary conviction.

Now, it has been alleged that what we pro-
pose would deny free speech by making what
could be called retaliatory disorder an
offence. When a speaker arises to speak, he
might be convicted just because of the audi-
ence’s reaction to him. One could think of a
situation in which political or religious op-
ponents of a speaker would congregate to-
gether specifically for the purpose of having
him thrown in jail by causing a disturbance
at the time.

Senator Lang: Martin Luther caused a lot
of disturbance. That is an unfair question to
you.

Mr. MacGuigan: I think it is a fair ques-
tion. Martin Luther King I think probably
caused even more disturbances.

Senator Lang: Seriously, they could be lia-
ble for a charge under this section. 3

Mr. MacGuigan: Not under the one we are
proposing, they could not.

Senator Lang: Why?
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Mr. MacGuigan: I think they could under
the present section 160. This is one of the
things which, as a civil libertarian, concerns
me about the possible interpretation of sec-
tion 160. Under our proposal the speaker
must communicate statements which incite
hatred or contempt. He is not to do something
very positive which would be judged by a
reasonable man to being guilty of inciting
hatred or contempt.

Let me pause at this point. I have not men-
tioned this before. In regard to these words,
hatred or contempt, I regard the inclusion of
the word contempt as one of our more mar-
ginal decisions, and I do not think very much
would be lost if “or contempt” were dropped.
The original phrase was “hatred, contempt or
ridicule” and this is in the present section of
the Criminal Code on defamation. We are
here talking about a concept of group defa-
mation. We thought ridicule was too weak to
carry over and maybe contempt is also too
weak. The only thing that should clearly be
retained is hatred. We have maintained “con-
tempt” by way of maintaining an old common
law formula. Not much would be lost if it
were dropped. What would remain are the
proposals which proscribe statements which
would cause hatred.

The Chairman: Hatred and contempt mean
about the same thing, do they not?

Mr. MacGuigan: Well, I am not sure that
they do any more. There is certainly a sense
in which they do, but when you try to get the
shades of a meaning today of a word like
contempt I think you can see it as being
much less than hatred. You might have con-
tempt for a person. In a way contempt is
worse because it may mean that you have a
less favourable judgment about the person’s
ability. It may convey that meaning, but it
also means you do not dislike him as much.
There is more dislike involved in hatred than
in contempt, it seems to me.

Senator Walker: You could have contempt
for a person, but still feel sorry for him.

Mr. MacGuigan: That is true.

Senator Prowse:
hardly would.

If you hated him you

Mr. MacGuigan: Yes. I suggest the Commit-
tee recommendations are limited in scope in
four ways, so that when a Martin Luther
King rises to speak he cannot lose his right
to do so by the reaction of the audience.
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First there is criminality only for state-
ments communicated in a public place and
secondly, the statements must be such as to
create hatred or contempt for identifiable
groups.

The Chairman: It must incite them.

Mr. MacGuigan: The identifiable group pro-
tected is limited to certain defined sections of
the public. Finaly the statements must be of
such a character as to be likely to lead to a
breach of the peace. The significance of the
world “is likely to” is that the police have the
option of stopping the thing before the speak-
er has actually been shot or knifed by some-
body. In other words, the furor may simply
be beginning, but if he has said things...

Senator Lang: Anticipatory arrest.

Mr. MacGuigan: Anticipatory to the total
reaction of the audience, but not to his hav-
ing said hateful things. He must first utter the
hateful things. A situation arose in the Jordan
v. Burgoyne case under the new legislation in
England, and the police, after the original
utterances of Jordan, were able to get him
out of the way. They were able to do this
before he was assaulted by the people that
were there. Those of you familiar with the
happenings in Toronto in recent years where
there have been riots involving up to 5,000
people in Allen Gardens realize that this
could very well be an important power for
the police to have. As a matter of fact, one of
the things I want to suggest...

The
power?

Chairman: You say unnecessary

Mr. MacGuigan: I would say an unneces-
sary power, yes.

Senator Haig: What is the definition of a
public place?

Mr. MacGuigan: A public place is defined
by both the Cohen Committee and this legis-
lation as any place to which the public have
access as a right or by invitation expressed or
implied, this is the definition of public place
found elsewhere in the code and repeated
here only because it applies exclusively to a
particular section of the code. We were using
it in a different part and repeated the same
definition.

Senator Haig: If I rented a hall and invited
people to come to hear a vicious speech,
could I be arrested?
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Mr. MacGuigan: I believe so, yes. For one
thing, in this case we do not say public place
“means’, we say public place “includes”, so
the definition is not necessarily restricted just
to the wording here used, but I think that a
rented hall would be a place where the public
are invited. It does not have to be open to
every Tom, Dick and Harry, but enough of
the public is invited to make it a public gath-
ering. A more difficult situation would be
where you have a meeting in your house, in
an ordinary house. This would probably in no
circumstances be a public place.

I suppose if you were a Nazi leader and
had built a big hall onto your house this
might be considered a place of public assem-
bly. It certainly would not include the ordi-
nary living room situation.

The Chairman: Unless the public has
access, a right or invitation expressed or
implied.

Mr. Hopkins: If everybody is invited.

Mr. MacGuigan: If everybody were invited,
yes.

The Chairman: The public.

Mr. MacGuigan: If you had 12 people invit-
ed to your living room T do not think this
would make it a public place.

Senator Prowse: If you would announce
publicly that you were home at such and such
a place between 8 and 10. ..

Mr. MacGuigan: In that case it would make
your house a public place, that is if you were
having a public party of some kind.

So I would say that the four requirements
which I suggested have to be present before
there is liability under section 2678(1) mean,
all in all, that there must be a causal connec-
tion between the speaker’s words and the
ensuing disturbance, or at the least the
probability of an ensuing disturbance, and
that the result must be foreseeable and prob-
able in the light of the provocation. A dis-
turbance must be at the very least the proba-
ble consequence, and it would be of course
judged by a reasonable man.

It is clear from the English case of Jordan
v. Burgoyne, where Colin Jordan was con-
victed, that it does not have to be presumed
that the audience was reasonable. If you are
speaking to a group of ‘concentration camp
survivors and you say things to them which
would incite them to retaliation against you,
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you might stir up the audience, although you
would not be guilty without objectively caus-
ing hatred.

You have to take the audience as you find
them, that is like the old tort rules that you
take your victim as you find him. It cannot be
supposed that the audience is a group of
abstract philosophers who have had no con-
cern or feeling for the situation. So, there is
with respect to the consequences a complete
judgment that is made and it is not just an
abstract judgment.

With regard to the question of causing
hatred, the statements which are made have
to be objectively, in the judgment of a rea-
sonable man, capable of causing hatred and
obviously not just subjectively causing it.

Senator Lang: Or at least a reasonable
policeman.

Mr. MacGuigan: I was assuming that a
reasonable policeman would fall into the cate-
gory of a reasonable man.

Senator Lang: A very large assumption.

Senator Walker: In the Criminal Code,
causing a disturbance, does not that go pretty
far? They do not have to have a donnybrook

before the police can make an arrest, do
they?

Mr. MacGuigan: No.

Senator Walker: And it has to be just on
almost anything which can be termed or
defined as causing a disturbance, rather than
some chap up there inciting a erowd. Do you
think we need to go any further than that at
the present time?

Mr. MacGuigan: On the broadest possible
interpretation of section 160, we do not need
to go further for anything that can happen in
public, as it is only an offence punishable on
summary conviction.

I must say I personally hope that section
160 will be amended, taking into account the
kind of qualifications that we are putting into
this section. What we are putting in is much
safer than what is in section 160, because it is
more carefully defined. This is an indictable
offence as well. I would hope that the Gov-
ernment would take cognizance of the situa-
tion and would propose an amendment which
would limit in some way the effect of section
160 as it applied to this type of situation.

Senator Prowse: Where section 160 has
been used for as long and as often as it has, it
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has come to have an obviously precise mean-
ing as far as police law enforcement is con-
cerned, has it not?

Mr. MacGuigan: Yes.

Senator Prowse: And it is becoming even
narrower even than it was.

Mr. MacGuigan: In the usual magistrate’s
court context, it is, yes. And I think it is
probably doubtful that a prosecutor would
use it in the larger sense. In that way, one
might find it harmless, but I would be happi-
er if the Government would amend the
section.

Senator Prowse: And make it more safe.

The Chairman: Well, we have not section
160 before us at the moment. In the interest
of progress, we have discussed section
2678B(1) at some length. Are you satisfied that
we pass that as it stands?

Mr. MacGuigan: I would like to say one
more thing about it, if I may, Mr. Chairman.
That is, if the Government of Canada does
not take action with respect to this problem
of public order, it is likely to find that city
councils across the country will either be
forced into taking action or think they are so
forced.

I want to refer to the Toronto situation. I
wrote an article some years ago in the Sas-
katchewan Bar Review in regard to what
occurred in Toronto in 1965-66. There was a
very serious situation which occurred as a
result of meetings, which were held by a
young Nazi leader there. The city council felt
at one point that they had to end their open
parks policy and as a result of that the Nazis
were subsequently refused permits for meet-
ings in the parks. Later on the city council
thought the better way to approach it would
be to make a park by-law which would in
effect amend the Criminal Code, namely, that
no person shall use abusive language in a city
park, and so on. At that point they were
willing to permit the use of the parks again,
but when they established this rule of con-
duct, a magistrate later found it to be under
federal jurisdiction because they attempted to
control what was happening in the park.
Beattie, the Nazi leader in Toronto, was
arrested under it and was later acquitted by
the magistrate on the ground that this council
by law was ultra vires and came under the
federal Criminal Code.
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I would suggest that if we do not take some
action here, we risk the continuance of this
type of thing, and also that vigilante groups
may take the law into their own hands,
because they see a genuine problem here to
which the law does not appear to be respon-
sive, since section 160 does not appear to take
cognizance of it, even if in an extended sense
it could do so.

I think this is a matter in which there
should be a national decision by the Parlia-
ment of Canada, rather than one on which
the city councils across the country should try
to make their own laws.

Senator Walker: What happened as a result
of that?

Mr. MacGuigan: He was acquitted on that,
but later on he was charged and convicted of
something else.

Senator Walker: What was it? Was it under
section 160?

Mr. MacGuigan: I do not honestly recall
that, because I had ended my article—I wrote
the article in 1966 and ended my article
before Beattie had been tried on the later
count and I have not done the research since
that time. I do recall that he was convicted of
something else. The facts of the matter could
be found out.

Senator Walker: He is out of business now.

Mr. MacGuigan: He is not, in fact he is
back in business again now, through the tele-
phone. He has not stayed out of business.

Senator Lang: What we are really doing is
we are saying now that, because of the seri-
ousness of the situation we are not any longer
going to use the police force against the riot-
ing crowd, but we are going to arrest the
person who is causing the crowd to riot. We
are shifting the focus.

Mr. MacGuigan: I would not accept that
suggestion, senator, although that is what we
would be doing in this particular provision.
But it is a matter of considerable distress to
me, as a matter of law interpretation and law
enforcement, that in at least one of the cases
in Toronto, it was only Beattie who was
arrested—and not some of the crowd who had
been causing the disturbance. They should
have been arrested also. What they were
doing was also illegal under the Criminal
Code. We do not have to pass any legislation
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to make them guilty. There may be difficulty
in getting the police to enforce it.

I am suggesting that one of the reasons that
makes the crowd so violent is the feeling that
there is no other way of getting at the person.
They think that if they do not get him, he
gets off. I think that this adds fuel to the fire
of their passions.

Senator Lang: We may be getting to the
stage where people would pretty soon be able
to organize a riot against some people for the
purpose of getting him arrested—and this is
not an unknown technique.

Mr. MacGuigan: Of course, I suppose that
he could temporarily be taken into custody,
but he is tried by the court. ..

Senator Lang: While he is in custody, he is
in jeopardy, his speech is over.

Mr. MacGuigan: Yes, his speech is over,
that is right.

Senator Croll: But the policeman’s job is
over, too, when he appears before the magis-
trate and gives the reasons why he did it—he
has not got a long life with the police force.

Senator Lang: This was the technique used
by the Nazis in the early days in Germany, to
suppress people speaking out against them.

Mr. MacGuigan: Yes. I trust our police
force here to a greater extent than that,
although 1 believe they can be subject to
pressures.

Senator Croll: And our judiciary, too.
Senator Lang: The speech is over.

Mr. MacGuigan: Yes, that particular
speech. As I said before, when it gets before
a judge, the judge may set the man free, but
the police, acting in concert with the crowd,
have prevented the speech being made. While
I do have some apprehension about the police
in relation to their consciousness of civil lib-
erties, that is not one of them precisely. I
think the police tend to have very good judg-
ment on that kind of thing.

Senator Lang: That is a matter of opinion.
We are talking about law here.

Mr. MacGuigan: Yes.

Senator Lang: I am' trying to underline
here that we are on a slippery path in this
area. .
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The Chairman: Gentlemen, there is not
very much innocence about a speaker who
incites hatred or contempt against an identifi-
able group.

Mr. MacGuigan: With respect, Mr. Chair-
man, Senator Lang’s point is not that the
speaker would have said this but that by
alleging that he said it the crowd could have
him arrested by the police, if the police com-
plied with the crowd. They could stop his
speech.

Senator Prowse: Some slicker could come
along and say he heard the guy say something
wrong and the police would come along and
arrest him before he could make his speech.

The Chairman:
according to this act.

They could not do it

Senator Lang: We are talking about the
practical application of the law.

The Chairman: Its misapplication.

Senator Lang: The practical application of
the procedures under this section.

The Chairman: We must go on, because
time is passing and we want to hear from Mr.
MacGuigan on some of the other clauses. I
ask Mr. MacGuigan whether, after this dis-
cussion, which has been of considerable
length and has been very deep, are we not
safe in passing this section as it now stands?

Senator Lang: What does “safe’” mean?
The Chairman: Well, wise.

Senator Walker: I thought we were going
to decide that.

Senator Lang: I thought that was the com-
mittee’s job.

Senator Walker: We should not ask the
witness that. That is our decision to make.

The Chairman: Put it in another form:
Have you any objection to this section as it
now stands becoming the law of Canada?

Senator Prowse: Mr. Chairman, I think at
this stage, if we have heard all the witness
has to offer on this section, we should go on.
We are only taking evidence. We are not
making any decisions at this point, with all
respect, sir. 3

The Chairman: Very wel.

Mr. MacGuigan: Were you asking me that
question, senator, or the committee? If you
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are asking me, I am quite prepared to say
that I see no reason why you should not pass
this section.

The Chairman: All right, thank you. Let us
get on to another section.

Mr. MacGuigan: Finally, the third offence,
which it seems to me is really the principal
thrust of our committee report, in the sense
that it is really here that we are breaking
new ground in the law in a most decisive
way, that is, with an offence which we might
call by the name of group defamation. This is
the concept, even though that is not the way
the crime is described in the Code.

Group defamation was unknown to the
Common Law. We have had for centuries, of
course, law on defamation, but not law on
group defamation. We have only had defama-
tion with respect to individuals. The reason
for this is that the law itself did not take
cognizance of groups themselves. Groups
were something unknown to the Common
Law. The Common Law did not understand
groups. As a matter of fact, the people of past
ages did not understand groups in the way
we are able to do now through social psy-
chology. We now know, for example, that it
is an important part of a man’s psychological
makeup that he belong to a particular group,
depending, of course, on the naturalness of
the group and the meaningfulness of the
group to him. In the case of a meaningful
group, his membership is something which is
very meaningful. It is not something which
just happens. In the case of the groups that
we are here concerned with, it is a matter of
their innate importance.

The committee proposed to extend the tra-
ditional Common Law with respect to defa-
mation against individuals to defamation
against groups, or rather to individuals in
their capacity as members of groups. It used
to be that, if you said group “X” was charac-
tenized by  certain non-desirable traits, the
law—and this is in fact still the law—would
not attribute those traits to any man who
happened to be a member of the group, and
therefore would say that this was not a harm-
ful statement because it did not affect any-
body. But now we know that when this type
of statement is made about a group it is
something which the members of the group
also feel is made about themselves, depending
upon the closeness of the group to them. It is
as a result of our 20th century understanding
of groups that we now see the need for legis-
lation in an area where we previously had no
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concept of it. We can even project in long-
range terms for the rest of the 20th century
and the 21st century and say that there is
probably no greater problem in the world
than that of group prejudice and group dis-
crimination: being against somebody and hat-
ing him because he happens to be a member
of a particular group.

If there is one thing we have to deal with
very effectively in our law and social policies
in this century and the next, it is this problem
of group censorship, prejudice and defama-
tion against people merely because they are
members of a particular group.

Most important countries of the world now
have legislation against group defamation,
with Canada and the United States being two
of the exceptions. But in the United States
the Supreme Court has upheld the constitu-
tionality of such legislation in the case of
Beauvharnais v. Illinois, under the United
States Bill of Rights, and there is no legal
reason why such legislation should not be
passed.

Senator Lang: How could they uphold its
constitutionality, if they had no such
legislation?

Mr., MacGuigan: There was an Illinois by-
law, or it may have been a city of Chicago
by-law, which they were concerned with at
that time. I have the impression that it is no
longer in effect. I cannot verify that, but I do
have that impression. Certainly, if it is in
effect, there are not yet many other examples
in the United States, but two or three years
ago legislation which would have made group
defamation a crime in New York was passed
by their legislature, but it was vetoed by
Governor Rockefeller.

The principal problem in the United States
is that this is a matter which comes under
each individual state because their criminal
law is not a federal power and therefore it is
not something which can simply be done by a
national piece of legislation. It has to be done
by each state. There may be some states that
have this law.

Senaior Walker: Was it ever brought up in
New York again?

Mr. MacGuigan: I cannot tell you that. I
must admit that I have not done research on
this subject for about two years.
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Senator Walker: Do any states in the
American union have a bill similar to this
one, or one with similar sections?

Mr. MacGuigan: I am not aware of any.
Senator Walker: There are none.
Mr. MacGuigan: I am not aware of any.

The Chairman: You are addressing yourself
to subsection (2).

Mr. MacGuigan: That is right.

The Chairman: I see here that it is by
communicating statements. Would that
include recordings?

Mr. MacGuigan: Yes. “Statements” is
defined to include words either spoken or
written, gestures, signs or other visible
representations. I think spoken words would
include recordings, but, certainly, if it were
decided to make that more explicit, it could
certainly be defined to include recordings.
The word ‘“communicating” we used instead
of the traditional Common Law word publish-
ing. Having read Marshall McLuhan, we felt
that communication was a more contempo-
rary word than publishing. The common
interpretation of publishing is that it is print-
ed. The real legal meaning is to communicate
in any way, but it was decided to use the
word communicate instead.

Senator Walker:
tapes, would it?

Mr. MacGuigan: I think it would.

That would cover the

Senator Walker: On a telephone? Have you
considered whether the Bell Telephone are
right in suggesting they have no power at the
present time to stop the renting out of tele-
phones for people to use in this shocking
way?

Senator Lang: It is just a gadget.

Mr. MacGuigan: I have read their state-
ment and I have read the proceedings of your
hearings. I have not done any research,
however, so I cannot pass any opinion on it.

Senator Lang: If I may, Mr. Chairman, I
would like to request an opinion from the
Department of Justice as to the liability of
the Bell Telephone Company to provide a
recording device on the telephone to any sub-
scriber who asks for it.

The Chairman: Irrespective of what he is
putting over the line?
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Senator Lang: Yes. I think this is important
because my general knowledge would lead me
to believe that a common carrier like Bell
Telephone is obliged to put in telephones or
provide them wunder certain circusmtances,
but I cannot conceive of its being obliged to
attach a recording device to it simply because
a subscriber asks for it. We could very easily
seek a legal opinion that would clear up that
point.

The Chairman: But I am wondering what
business that is of ours.

Senator Lang: We have had evidence from
a Bell Telephone witness at a previous hear-
ing that that was the case, and I would like
to know if that was correct, and I would like
to have a legal opinion on it.

The Chairman: I have no doubt the Depart-
ment of Justice has taken cognizance of the
statement made to us on that occasion, and it
is for them to determine whether or not a
prosecution should be laid against the Bell
Telephone Company. Could we justify asking
such an opinion in view of our responsibilities
towards this particular bill?

Senator Lang: I would think so, because we
have had an opinion expressed here that
without different legislation they would have
no power to withhold the attaching of such an
instrument. Now I would question that opin-
ion and I would like to have the opinion of
the Department of Justice on it.

The Chairman: Is the committee satisfied
that I should ask the Department of Justice
for an opinion of this kind?

Honourable Senators: Agreed.
The Chairman: Very well, I will do so.

Mr. MacGuigan: I will try to conclude my
remarks fairly briefly. I was speaking about
the fact that Canada and the United States
were the two main exceptions up to now with
regard to group defamation, but we do have
the persuasive example of Great Britain
where not only the Publie Order Act of 1936
provided an example of what is now being
proposed in subsection (1) of this clause, but
the Race Relations Act of 1965 covers what is
proposed in subsection (2). In both cases the
British versions are much more extreme than
what is here proposed and go much further. I
am not going to defend it, but the British
have felt that they could go further than we
have gone without infringing upon what they

consider to be the most important aspect of
freedom of speech.

Senator Lang: But all prosecutions are sub-
ject to a fiat being first obtained from the
Attorney General?

Mr. MacGuigan: This was one of the mar-
ginal decisions for us, but we more or less
recommended that no conclusions—well, the
last paragraph of our report reads as follows:

The Committee considered the advisabili-
ty of requiring the consent of the Attor-
ney-General of the Province or of Canada
to each prosecution instituted under the
legislation proposed in order to prevent
frivolous or unwarranted prosecutions,
and without making any recommenda-
tion, we draw the Minister’s attention to
this possibility.

So, we did not make any recommendation
and I should not say we favoured it, but
certainly there is nothing inconsistent in the
report with doing that, and I personally think
it would be a very good idea.

Senator Walker: There is nothing in the bill
for such a check?

Mr. MacGuigan: No.

Senator Walker: Would you be in favour of
such a check?

Mr. MacGuigan: Yes, and I would say the
committee teetered on the brink of making
this recommendation but it did not do so.

I do not think we need to rest the case for
legislation on the example of other countries.
I think we have had the experience in Cana-
da since 1963 of a wide-spread dissemination
of hate propaganda in very many forms,
some of it indigenous and some imported,
much from the United States. We have had
huge public meetings in Toronto, especially,
which have revolved around people who have
attempted to propagate hate materials, hate-
ful statements. Accordingly, most of them
were not there by way of agreement, but the
fact is they were there and there were conse-
quences which resulted from this. This is part
of what Senator Lang was talking about in
the beginning.

I think I really would be infringing on the
time you have allowed me if I went into all
those instances, but they are all set out in one
of the early chapters of your report and I
think you will find that is a very useful sum-
mary, up to that time. However, I would say
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that even more important than the quantita-
tive aspect is the qualitative question, if I
may use that term with respect to such
odious materials as these hate materials.

In recent years social psychologists have
discovered the effectiveness with which all
kinds of persuasive communication can touch
people in their attitudes. We commonly
believe that anything can be sold if it can be
effectively marketed. Social psychologists
have at least a suspicion—and really more
than that—that this is just as true of hate as
anything else, and studies made by the
Ontario Human Rights Commission have sug-
gested that racial and religious prejudice are
very widespread in Toronto and that that city
might be considered fertile soil for the
growth of race hatred. It is very hard to
make judgments such as that, and I do not
advance that one with any great confidence,
but it is a judgment which has been made as
a result of a particular study, and I think we
have to give it certain weight.

The fact is that in this area, despite all the
researches of social scientists, we do not
know how much damage can be done. We do
know enough to know that when we attack
people’s group allegiances, we are treading on
something pretty basic to their nature, and
we have not only the danger of arousing the
majority of the population against a minori-
ty—and this is a very serious danger, espe-
cially in a situation where you have a social
crisis—but we also have the danger of des-
troying the minority’s feeling for themselves.
This is something which has not really been
studied in Canada, and I cannot tell you
much about Canadian experience, except that
there was a newspaper study in Toronto of
Jews, which indicated they had an underlying
feeling of uncertainty and apprehension.

In the United States these effects have been
studied fairly thoroughly in the Negro com-
munity, and one thing which gives emphasis
to black power is that these people are going
against the normal effect on their group and
are becoming proud to be black. Negroes in
America have not been proud to be black but
have been ashamed to be black. Negro chil-
dren, given a choice between a black and a
white doll, always take the white doll, which
indicates the feeling of lack of worth they
have.

We know it is likely to be fairly serious,
from what we do know about its influence on
people; and the protection of the target group
from propaganda is, to my mind, much more
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important than the desirability of protecting
the minority, in a physical sense, from what a
majority may do to it, because I think we can
rightly feel in a country like Canada it is
going to take an awful lot to stir up the
majority in any violent way against one of
our groups. Perhaps I am unduly complacent
in feeling that, but I think that this is not the
greatest worry in this field. To me the grea-
test worry is what is being done to the target
group. This is well documented in the litera-
ture of social psychology, but, not being a
social psychologist, I would be attempting to
cover very inadequately what someone else
can cover in more detail if I were to say
anything about it. But, you can read the
chapter on this in the report, and also Dr.
Kaufmann’s excellent study in order to get
some idea of the seriousness of the problem.

Senator Walker: So far as public manifesta-
tions are concerned, the only example is that
provided by Beattie about five years ago.

Mr. MacGuigan: Yes. Well, he is not the
only one. Others were involved with him, but
his is the principal example.

Senator Croll: No, Beattie has been per-
forming right until recently.

Mr. MacGuigan: Yes, that is right.

Senator Croll: There is a performance
going on now in Vancouver that is even more
ferocicus. Are you aware of that?

Mr. MacGuigan: No, I was not aware of the
Vancouver situation. I would not agree that
this is restricted to five years ago, but I think
Beattie has been the principal actor in this
type of agitation in Canada.

Senator Walker: There has been no disturb-
ance since the incident in Allen Gardens,
when he was arrested. That is my point. I
know he is working on this telephone bus-
iness, which is a shocking thing, but there
have been no public disturbances as a result.

Mr. MacGuigan: I have the impression that
the City of Toronto has kept these people
from having meetings. I think that is why
there have been no meetings.

Senator Walker: Quite so, even though it is
quite illegal.

Mr. MacGuigan: It may not have been
legal, but it has been sugcessful.

Senator Lang, in the beginning, was inquir-
ing as to the background of the legislation. I
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am not sure that I really appreciate to what
he was referring, but I can say, as a member
of the committee, that this legislation did not
come.to us from any outside source. Not only
did it not come from outside the committee,
but it .did not come to us from another coun-
try. This was really an indigenous product. It
was something that we worked out as a result
of slow and careful deliberation, and I think
you can say that the terminology of our
recommendations is quite unlike anything that
exists in England, for example, or that which
exists in our own Criminal Code with respect
to- defamation. With all respect to the original
drafters of the Criminal Code I think there
should be in it an unqualified defence of the
truth, and with pardonable pride of author-
ship I hope that this is something that will be
added to that section of the Criminal Code.
This is something that was really the product
of the committee itself.

Senator Lang: How was the committee

struck?

Mr. MacGuigan: I cannot tell you why the
committee was struck.

Senator Lang: You see, it antedates Beattie.
Governments do not just strike committees
out of the blue.

Mr. MacGuigan: The problem was there in
Canada, but as to the reason for the appoint-
ment of the committee—

Senator Lang: I could understand it if there
were a lot of riots, and we were in a desper-
ate situation, but at the time the committee
was struck I do not think there was a public
demand for— -

Mr. MacGuigan: Well, there was a distribu-
tion “of literature. All I can recall is being
called by the then Minister of Justice on a
Sunday afternoon, he said that he was gath-
ering together a group, which included this
interesting fellow, Pierre Trudeau, which he
hoped would engage in a study of the
problem.

Senator Croll: Do you not recall that at the
time there was a great deal of this sort of
literature in Canada. It had been coming in
from the United States, and had almost
reached the point where it was flooding the
country, and it was felt—I think it was in
1963 or 1964—

Mr. MacGuigan: We were invited to
bgc__o:m’e»'q__x_exvpbers in, I think, November of
29939—3 -
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1964. The appointment was announced in
January, 1965.

Senator Croll: At that time these men had
almost come to the point of riot and they
decided to set up the committee.

Mr. MacGuigan: The factual background is
in our report and I need not delineate it. Cer-
tainly all these things happened. I cannot tell
you the reasons the administration had for
deciding to do this other than the fact that
there were factual incidents which led them
to do it.

The Chairman: May I say that Dean Cohen
will be before us, not before the recess but
very shortly afterwards. He is thoroughly
familiar with what took place prior to the
formation of this committee. Senator Lang’s
statement at the commencement of our sitting
this afternoon on what preceded the appoint-
ment of this committee is cogent. However,
let us wait till we have somebody here who
really took part in it in those days.

Senator Fergusson: Is it not the custom for
Canada to pass legislation implementing Unit-
ed Nations conventions we have signed and
ratified without having something to provoke
the passing of legislation?

The Chairman: You might go so far as to
say they ought to do so.

Senator Lang: Perhaps I could elucidate. I
think the witness made it clear to us that this
has nothing to do with the convention. Our
obligations under the convention are already
satisfied by our code. I think we have been
misled by previous witnesses on this.

Mr. MacGuigan: Except that I added I
thought it was in the spirit of the convention.

Senator Lang: In the spirit of it but in fact
it is not an obligation imposed by the fact of
our being a signatory to the convention.

Mr. MacGuigan: That is my understanding.

Senator Croll: Further to the question why
the committee was appointed, if you turn to
page 11 of the Cohen Report and continue on
to at least page 25, the reasons why the com-
mittee was established are given; they are
ample reasons and very specific.

Mr. MacGuigan: At least they give the
reasons why it could have been established.
I do not want to get into a discussion of the
reasons or motives for appointing the com-
mittee. There are a lot of factual reasons. I
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do not know whether they were sound
reasons or not; presumably they were.

There are two or three smallish things I
would like to add. Since the Canadian Labour
Congress have done me the honour of reading
some of my views on this section into the
record already I do not think I need repeat
them. I should like to comment on one or two
rather smallish things.

In the two exculpatory clauses, paragraph
«a) is original. Paragraph (b) is merely taken
from the phrase used with regard to criminal
defamation. The defences allowed by the code
for criminal defamation are in that part of
the code beginning with section 247. We take
that phrase from the law of criminal defama-
tion. Personally I am not very happy with
that law. I think it could be cleaned up, but
since it has existed for many centuries in the
common law perhaps it had better await a
general revision of the Criminal Code.

The part that concerns me especially is the
clause “the public discussion of which was for
the public benefit”. I am not sure that should
be a consideration. The important part is “on
reasonable grounds it is believed to be true”,
so we have not only the breathing space
allowed by the truth itself, but a surrounding
ambit of doubt where a reasonable man could
believe the things were said to be true even if
in fact they could be shown were not.

The Chairman: Would you advise we strike
out “the public discussion of which was for
the public benefit”?

Senator Lang: I would suggest that that
section is the crux of the precedent.

Mr. MacGuigan: That would be my fear and
I have not done all the research on that
phrase which would allow me to make an
enthusiastic recommendation, but it would
certainly be my inclination to do that. I think
the only other thing that I wanted to com-
ment on was the onus which the two exculpa-
tory clauses put on the defendant. He must
establish that the statements communicated
were true or on reasonable grounds or he
believed them to be true. I do not think that
the committee felt with any great fervor that
it was desirable to put this burden on the
defendant. The burden could just as easily be
on the other side, but it did seem to us that
on balance it is better to put the onus on the
defendant. After all these are facts peculiarly
within his knowledge and he believes them to
be true on reasonable grounds. It has to do
with his state of mind and certainly he is
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much more acquainted with it than the Gov-
ernment would be. Also with regard t6 some
of the statements which are made and which
are perfectly outrageous and to which theére is
no shadow of authenticity, it would hardly beé
fitting to require proof of falsehood unless the
defence raised the question. For example, it
is a well established fact that the protocols of
the Elders of Zion are a forgery. If this is to
be brought up by any court it should be
brought up by the defendant in an attempt to
prove théy are genuine.

Senator Lang: The courts can take judicial
notice can they not?

Mr. MacGuigan: They might in that case,
although it is not a fact of which theré is
common knowledge. There are many peoplée
who know it, but it is not quite like the
things of which the court most usually takes
judicial notice.

Senator Walker: The shift is the onus to the
prisoner or accused; a dangerous precedent.

Mr. MacGuigan: It is done of course in
other sections.

The Chairman: It is criminal libel.
Mr. MacGuigan: Yes, I think it is.

The Chairman: The judge rules that the
article is capable of a libelous meaning and
the onus is then on the defence.

Mr. MacGuigan: By section 261 of the code
the onus is put on the person who tries to
make truth a defence.

The Chairman: That is very ancient, 200 or
300 years old.

Senator Prowse: Would not the principie be
to the effect here that a man is making a
statement where he says I believe this to be
true and am putting it out as true. I do not
hold it unreasonable under those ecircum-
stances to say, all right, but show us where it
is true if you can.

Mr. MacGuigan: I do not myself believe it
is unreasonable. I support it as it is written
here. But I have participated in many public
meetings with other civil libertarians in
which this point arose. I do not think it
would destroy the effectiveness of the legisla-
tion if it were changed. Personally, I think it
is much better the way it is.

I believe, Mr. Chairman, that covers the
matters I wanted to bring to your attention in



Legal and Constitutional Affairs

answer to your kind invitation. I certainly
will be pleased to discuss any further matters
you want to bring up. I have no further
eomments to make on my own.

The Chairman: Senator Lang has a point.

Senator Lang: I would like to go back
again, if I may. In relation to the amendments
to the Criminal Code now being considered
in the other place and the general principle in
econnection with the homosexual provisions
where we are getting the nation out of the
bedrooms of the state or of the citizens, in
this section 2 we are putting the state right
back in the living rooms of the citizens by
applying the law not only to statements com-
municated in a public place, but statements
communicated in any place. This I believe is
an extension of the law as it exists in England
which protects communications made in pri-
vate or amongst associations or people that
have some common interest in a subject. It
seems to me here that not only we are adopt-
ing a principle contrary to that, behind the
revisions to the code, but one that is an
extension of the English legislation.

The Chairman: The defence, you know,
may always be privilege, and that brings in
what you are speaking about.

Senator Lang: Or maybe consent.

Mr. MacGuigan: I am checking the English
legislation,

Senator Lang: In the homosexual section,
Mr, Chairman.

Mr. MacGuigan: I am checking the English
Race Relations Act. I believe it may not sup-
port the suggestion. It is generally restricted
to what happens in public, although I think
that section 6(1)(a) of the British Race Rela-
tions Act would go further than that. If I may
just read it, it says:

A person shall be guilty of an offence
under this section if, with intent to stir
up hatred against any section of the pub-
lic in Great Britain, distinguished by
colour, race or ethnic or national origin,
he publishes or distributes. written matter
which is threatening, abusive or
insulting,
The word “publishes™ in the traditional com-
mon law meaning includes any kind of com-
munication, It is not restricted to written
matter, and I think this word “publishes”
would include any kind of distribution. The
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section refers to written matter; it obviously
does not refer to conversation, but I think it
could certainly refer to something which a
person had written and had handed to anoth-
er in his own house.

Of course, there might be problems of
proof in such a case, but I think that it would
be considered to be publishing written matter
to write or to type something and give it to
someone who is not in a public place. I think
this would be prohibited by the English
legislation.

Senator Lang: We had a witness before us
from the Justice Department and my note
and my recollection is not exactly clear about
it

Mr. MacGuigan: Perhaps my opinion is
different from his on this matter. I did read
his testimony over and I did not catch that
point. I would assume that this is probably a
debatable legal point. In fact, we would have
to have an opinion of an English legal expert
on this, to give us something more decisive.

I am losing the general tenor of your ques-
tion, senator.

Senator Lang: What I am coming at is, in a
philosophical way, whether this act is sound
in extending group libel from that which is
communicated in a public place to that which
is communicated in a private place.

The Chairman: Is that true, is that the
fact? You are doing that? Let me ask you this
question.

Can you tell us whether the usual defences
of privilege would apply to these provisions,
if we put them in the Crimininal Code?

There are certain privileges in the libel act,
but they are nearly all newspaper libels. But
there are common law privileges, privileges
between husband and wife, privileges
between employee and employer, privileges
for communications, justifiable communica-
tions, for specific purposes or under specific
conditions.

There are quite a number of them. I have
not got them all in my mind. They are appli-
cable in a libel action, a criminal libel action
as well as a civil libel action. Would they
apply to this section? Do you know that? Can
you answer that?

Mr. MacGuigan: Well, my opinion would be
that they would not apply here; that they are
maintained in the Criminal Code with regard
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to defamatory libel respecting an individual
in sections 247 and following of the Code;
that they do apply to that area but that they
would not apply here. They would be negated
by this the way it is written. We did not take
them into account. Our assumption was that
they did not apply.

Senator Lang: Mr. Chairman, I note here
for the record that the words “in any public
place” which qualify the offence under sec-
tion 2678(1) do not appear in subsection (2).

The Chairman: That is true. Therefore the
libel may be at any place so far as subsection
(2) is concerned.

Senator Prowse: A person may rap on
your door and when you tell him to come in
he may then start in. Or he may come round
with a printed statement and leave it in your
mail box or he may simply shove it under the
door or just drop it in your yard or out in the
street. We cannot let legislation go if there
are not safeguards in it, but it seems to me
with respect to the wilfulness and the whole
tone of subsection (1) that it is intended to
take care of a person trying to incite a crowd
in a public place, where there is likely to be a
breach of the peace. In the second part I
think we are getting down to a case where we
are dealing with people distributing hate lit-
erature. Perhaps it is not specific enough, but
I think that is what it gets at.

Senator Lang: It is group defamation.

Senator Prowse: This would be the type of
thing, but I do not think it is intended to cut
in on private conversation between people. If
it goes that far, perhaps it goes too far.

Mr. MacGuigan: I would like to answer
Senator Lang’s point in a philosophical way,
since he has put it to me in those terms. He
has also put it in the context of the distinc-
tion between public and private morality,
which is running through many of the new
proposals to reform the Criminal Code,
although, as I suggested in my speech in the
House of -Commons, if we took this as our
principle, we would have to revise much
more of the Code than we have done up to
this point. I do not think something is a mat-
ter of private morality merely because it
occurs in a house involving only two people. I
suppose, on the other hand, it is probably a
matter of public morality if it occurs on the
street. That is the simpler case. But every-
thing that occurs in a private place and has
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the appearance = of
conversation. . .

being a  private

Senator Lang: They might be consenting
haters.

Mr. MacGuigan: I think there are many
things which occur in a private context which
could be considered to be matters of such
public interest that they would simply be
matters of public morality. I mentioned ear-
lier the case of the father’s behaviour towards
his children and his family duty to support
them, and we have that written into the
Code. He has to supply them with necessities.
On the face of it, these things might seem to
be matters of private morality, but they are
not private morality.

I would argue that what takes this out of
the category of private morality is the refer-
ence to the social group. Even if only two
people are involved, this is not just a conver-
sation in which only these two people are
affected, because it involves the interests of a
whole group. Now, this is a difficult concept
because libel itself is difficult to justify and
slander is even more difficult since it is an
immaterial thing. If I, in my house, libel Mr.
X, if I am talking to Tom Jones and I libel
Mr. X, this is a circumstance in which, con-
ceivably, I could be convicted of criminal
defamation, depending on what I said, and I
might also be open to a civil action.

This is a difficult area to discuss because of
the fact that the injury is so intangible. I
might argue by analogy that to injury to an
individual in such circumstances, even though
he is not there and it is between two people
in comparatively private circumstances, there
is just as much injury to the group, when the
discussion involves a group, rather than an
individual.

Senator Choquette: But we have this
defence available to an accused now; he may
show the truth of his statement. Now surely
we cannot say that the truth of the statement
will justify the wilful promotion of hatred.

Mr. MacGuigan: We do.

Senator Choquette: We do in this section,
but would you say that the public interest
ever justifies the willful promotion of hatred?
This is a dangerous act.because we have
these defences to it. You may have a man
who will say “I am going to look into the
truth of the matter; I'm going to study every
statement I make or publish in writing” and
while he is in fact promoting hatred, he'can
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go to court and show the truth of his state-
ments. As I say, this is a dangerous act,
because you are making such a defence
available to an accused who has wilfully pro-
moted hatred.

Mr. MacGuigan: 1 think, senator, it
depends on one’s scale of personal values, I
put truth very high in my personal scale.
Therefore I would say that if what a man has
uttered is actually true, even if it has the
effect of creating hatred, this should be a
valid defence to a criminal action. As far as
the individual is concerned I would not take
away the fact that the individual who has
been libelled has certain rights in civil
actions. But it seems to me that if the matter
is true, a criminal court ought not to convict.
I would take the same attitude with regard to
group defamation. If the statements made
about the group can be documented histori-
cally or scientifically, while it may lead to a
certain amount of discord at the time, it
should not be prevented from being said. An
interesting case in point is that of Daniel
Patrick Moynihan in the United States who
has been subjected to a great deal of criticism
by negroes because he has written an adverse
description of negro family life. So far as I
am aware what he has written is true, and
has been adequately documented to show its
truth. His study is of great social interest, and
I would say that that aspect of it is more
important than the aspect of promoting
hatred. In the long run the only thing that
can create lasting hatred is something that is
false.

Senator Croll: There is no qualification on
truth. A thing is either true or it is not true.

Mr. MacGuigan: Yes.

Senator Croll: So where is the problem?
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Mr. MacGuigan: As I understand it the
senator is suggesting that by allowing such a
defence we are opening the flood gates to
hatred because people will be saying true
things about other people that will stir up
hatred.

Senator Lang: In civil law malice wipes out
the defence of truth of their comment. If you
follow that reasoning you would have to look
at the defence of truth which could be wiped
out by proving malice.

Mr. MacGuigan: That is right. By dealing
with all these things you could get a very
complicated piece of legislation.

Senator Prowse: But does not the fact that
it is wilful constitute the criminal element,
and the necessity for proving intent within
the framework of the law places a burden on
the Crown, and that would take these matters
out of the ordinary kind of conversation. It
would seem to me that this would have the
same effect as showing something is malicious
in civil libel.

Senator Lang: In other words, you could
prove you were drunk and did not really
mean it.

Senator Prowse: As a matter of fact, that is
good for murder even, in case anybody is
interested.

The Chairman: Well, gentlemen, are we
pretty well through? If we are, I want to say
thank you to you, Mr. MacGuigan, for a very
fine presentation. You have given it a great
deal of thought, and you have certainly
helped us in our work.

Mr. MacGuigan:
enjoyed it.

The Chairman: So have we enjoyed it.

Thank you, senator; I

The committee adjourned.
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ORDERS OF REFERENCE

Extract from the Minutes of the Proceedings of the Senate, Wednesday,
January 22nd, 1969:

“The Order of the Day being read,

With leave of the Senate,

The Honourable Senator Leonard resumed the debate on the motion
of the Honourable Senator Roebuck, seconded by the Honourable Senator
Croll, for the second reading of the Bill S-21, intituled: “An Act to
amend the Criminal Code”. '

After debate, and—

The question being put on the motion, it was—

Resolved in the affirmative.

The Bill was then read the second time.

The Honouralbe Senator Leonard moved, seconded by the Honour-
able Senator Fergusson, that the Bill be referred to the Standing Senate
Committee on Legal and Constitutional Affairs.

The question being put on the motion, it was—

Resolved in the affirmative.”

Extracts from the Minutes of the Proceedings of the Senate, Thursday,
February 13th, 1969:

“With leave of the Senate,

The Honourable Senator McDonald moved, seconded by the Honour-
able Senator Langlois:

That the Standing Senate Committee on Foreign Affairs and the
Standing Senate Committee on Legal and Constitutional Affairs have
power to sit during adjournments of the Senate.

After debate, and—

The question being put on the motion, it was—

Resolved in the affirmative.”

“With leave of the Senate,

The Honourable Senator McDonald moved, seconded by the Honour-
able Senator Langlois:

That the Standing Senate Committee on Legal and Constitutional
Affairs be authorized to examine and report to the Senate from time to
time on any matter relating to legal and constitutional affairs generally,
and on any matter assigned to the said Committee by the Rules of the
Senate, and

That the said Committee be empowered to engage the services of such
counsel and technical, clerical and other personnel as may be necessary
for the foregoing purposes, at such rates of remuneration and reimburse-
ment as the Committee may determine, and to compensate witnesses by
reimbursement of travelling and living expenses, in such amounts as the
Committee may determine.
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The question being put on the motion, it was—
Resolved in the affirmative.”

Extracts from the Minutes of the Proceedings of the Senate, Tuesday,
March 11th, 1969:

“With leave of the Senate,

The Honourable Senator Langlois moved, seconded by the Honour-
able Senator Martin, P.C.:

That the Standing Committee on Legal and Constitutional Affairs
be empowered to sit while the Senate is sitting today.

The question being put on the motion, it was—

Resolved in the affirmative.”
ROBERT FORTIER,
Clerk of the Senate.

6—4



MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS
TuEsDAY, March 25th, 1969.

Pursuant to adjournment and notice, the Standing Senate Committee on
Legal and Constitutional Affairs met this day at 2 p.m.

Present: The Honourable Senators Roebuck (Chairman), Bélisle, Cho-
quette, Cook, Croll, Eudes, Fergusson, Haig, Hollett, Lang, Macdonald (Cape
Breton), Prowse, Urquhart and Willis.

The following witnesses were heard:

1. Reverend Richard D. Jones, President, Canadian Council of Christians
and Jews;

2. Association of Survivors of Nazi Oppression: Mr. Paul Goldstein,
National President, and Mrs. S. Citron, Chairman, Toronto Division.

At 4 p.m. the Committee adjourned to the call of the Chairman.

ATTEST:

L. J. M. Boudreault,
Clerk of the Committee.
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THE SENATE

THE STANDING SENATE COMMITTEE ON LEGAL
AND CONSTITUTIONAL AFFAIRS

EVIDENCE

Ottawa, Tuesday, March 25, 1969

The Standing Senate Committee on Legal
and Constitutional Affairs, to which was
referred Bill S-21, to amend the Criminal
Code (Hate Propaganda), met this day at 2
p.m.

Senator Arthur W. Rosbuck (Chairman) in
the Chair.

The Chairman: Honourable senators, I have
a number of things I wish to bring to your
attention before we commence hearing evi-
dence. For instance, I have a letter from Mr.
Andras, Director of the Legislation Depart-
ment of the Canadian Labour Congress. I
wish to put this on the record:

You will no doubt recall that when the
Canadian Labour Congress appeared
before you in connection with Bill S-21,
you questioned us about 267a in its pres-
ent form, with particular reference to the
lack of any definition of “any group”.
You asked whether the Congress would
give favourable consideration to the
insertion of a definition into Section 267a
which would define a group as one which
is identifiable (if I remember correctly),
on the basis of colour, race, religion or
national origin. Our reply at the time was
that we felt such a proposal was sound
but that we would wish to consider it
more carefully afterward. We have since
done so and I am able to inform you that
we would still support such a proposal. I
presume you will convey this information
to your committee.

I also have a letter from Mr. Carl Mollins,
who was the reporter who made the mistake
in text and blamed Senator Hollett for some-
thing that had been misunderstood by some-
body else. He writes me an apology and says:

I learned today that I committed a
serious error of identification this week
in attributing remarks wrongly to Sena-

tor Hollett in a report on the Committee
on Legal and Constitutional Affairs.

I have apologized to Senator Hollett
and, because you are chairman of the
committee, I wanted you to know how
much I regret my lapse, especially
because of the embarrassment caused
Senator Hollett.

He says, “I feel very badly about this epi-
sode,” and he signs “Carl Mollins.”

An Hon. Senator: Is that The Citizen, sir?

The Chairman: “The Parliamentary Press
Gallery” is the heading of the letter. He does
not say Canadian Press and he mentions no
newspaper, but it was of course the Canadian
Press and in that way got into many
newspapers.

I have a letter which perhaps I should call
your attention to, received from James Wil-
liam MacLellan, Associate Editor of The
Paper—The Paper is underlined—Sir George
Williams University, in which he is strongly
opposing the passage of Bill S-21.

He says:

I beg of you to oppose this bill in the
name of freedom and democracy.

Senator Haig: Who is that signed by, Mr.
Chairman?

The Chairman: MacLellan is his name.
Senator Haig: Who does he represent?

The Chairman: He describes himself this
way: James William MacLellan, Associate
Editor, The Paper, Sir George Williams
University.

Senator Prowse: It is obviously personal.

The Chairman: It is obviously personal. I
do not know if I should call it to the attention
of the committee, but I have done so. Senator
Lang will recall that he asked me for an
opinion from the Department of Justice. I
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have taken care of that to some extent and I
have this memorandum:
Mrs. Jones, secretary of Mr. Scollin, of
the Justice Department, called to say that
Mr. Maxwell—

The deputy minister to whom I wrote asking

for the information—
the deputy minister, has referred your
letter re the Bell Telephone Company to
Mr. Scollin. In your letter you asked for
information regarding the Ilegal right,
power and authority of the Bell Tele-
phone Company with respect to the use
made of its private lines.

Senator Lang asked for this information.
Mr. Scollin wishes to discuss this request
with others in his department and will be
unable to provide you with the informa-
tion in time for your meeting tomorrow,
March 25.

I told Mrs. Jones that we expected to resume
our hearings on April 15 and she assured me
that Mr. Maxwell would have the information
ready prior to that date. I have not only
described what Senator Lang wanted, but I
sent the transcript covering the request, and
the discussion that went with it.

I understand Senator Prowse has something
to put before us.

Senator Prowse: Honourable senators, I
received a letter from Mrs. Ostapchuk, who is
the executive director of the Vancouver Civic
Unity Association. Copies of the letter have
been circularized to members of the commit-
tee, as agreed.

The Chairman: My thought is that we
should read this particular paragraph or page
because it has such wide significance.

Senator Croll: Oh, no, Mr. Chairman, I
oppose putting it on the record.

The Chairman: Have you seen it?

Senator Croll: I have. You sent it to every-
body. I got it in the mail. The ravings of
some maniac must not be put upon our
record. Any man who has read it would not
think that the man is in his right mind who
talks in that fashion about everyone. I do not
think we ought to provide him with a record,
surely.

The Chairman: You have all read it?

Standing Senate Commitiee

Senator Croll: People later on will quote
and say “I was quoting from Hansard,” if we
have this sort of thing.

Senator Prowse: May I say that if it were
circulated to the committee it would show
that this type of thing is going on right now
and that it is directed to a group that might
not be as discriminating in their reading.

I do not feel it would serve any great pur-
pose to put it in the record. I am concerned
about putting such things in the record
because of such possible use of the record by
other people. So long as it is in the hands of
the committee, it has served the purpose it
was intended to serve, in other words, it is
information before us. It is something which
each member can look at when he is making
up his individual mind. I certainly would not
wish to have my name on the record associat-
ed with putting this thing on the record.

The Chairman: Is that the general feeling
or consensus of the committee?

Senator Haig: If it is not going to be put on
the record, why was it sent to all of us?

The Chairman: There is no question about
it, you have all to read this. It is much too
important to disregard.

Senaior Prowse: The letter was addressed
to me, from that angle, from last year, in that
they assumed that I was the chairman of the
committee now, which I am not. I sent it on
to the committee and I suggested that it at
least be circulated to the members of the
committee. The chairman concurred in that.
Whether the committee wants it on the record
now is its own affair. My feeling is that if it
is in the hands of the members it is some-
thing that will help all of us to make up our
minds when we come to the final decision.
But I am a little bit concerned about putting
things like this into the record, because I
have seen too many instances of people tak-
ing an official publication and saying, “Look,
this appeared in Hansard, or in some official
Government record.

Hansard is available to everyone, and not
everybody is as discriminating as we have
been owing to the experience we have had.

Senator Haig: Mr. Chairman, I withdraw
my objection.

The Chairman: Very  well. It will not go in
the record. The fact is that Mrs. Emily
Ostapehuk, Executive Director of the Van-
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couver Civie Unity Association, sends the
copy to Senator Prowse. I might also add that
Mr. B. G. Keyfetz, of the Canadian Jewish
Congress, has also sent a copy of the docu-
ment to me. I understand that Senator
Prowse knows this Mrs. Ostapehuk.

Senator Prowse: No, I do not know her, sir.
But before sending this on to you, I took a
look at the people on the letterhead and on
there I noticed Honourable George Pearkes, a
patron, Senator Norman MacKenzie, the
honorary Chairman, and then on down a list
of people who seemed to me substantial
enough that we could assume this was a re-
sponsible organization.

The Chairman: Mr. Pearkes is a patron and
our former Senator MacKenzie is the honour-
ary Chairman. And, as you say, there are
quite a large number of no doubt distin-
guished people in the marginal list.

Now, honourable senators, we have two
groups of witnesses to hear today.

Senator Choquette: Mr. Chairman, before
you call on any witnesses, may I clear up a
point in this committee? You will recall that
the first witness we heard Ilast week
expressed himself in French. His name was
Gerard Rancourt. At that time I pointed out
to the committee that of the 17 or 18 senators
present only about five could follow Mr. Ran-
court in French. I suggested to him that if he
had an English version of his speech he
should distribute that to all senators. That
was done after my suggestion. Then I even
went further to co-operate with the witness
by suggesting that, if room 356 upstairs, the
one above this one, was not occupied at the
time, we could probably avail ourselves of
the simultaneous translation system in it. But
it ended there.

Now, I wish to point out a piece of irre-
sponsible reporting. The French paper La
Presse, which is the most circulated French
newspaper in Canada, has published an arti-
cle—which, I might say, was brought to my
attention only yesterday together with letters
of protest against me. The article reads:
“Senator Choquette criticizés Gerard Ran-
court who is expressing himself in French,”
and the article and these letters that I have
received now are to the effect that there is no
longer any need of French Canadians.to be
elected to the Senate. Therefore, I would like
something from the Chairman to say that my
motive was not what this newspaper article
claims. ? '

The Chairman: Not only your motive was
not, but your action was not. I was purely a
matter of procedure so that everyone would
understand what the witness had to say.
While we have a simultaneous translation
equipment in the committee room upstairs,
we had no one at that moment able to per-
form the task, and so we had to proceed as
we did. The witness spoke in French, to
which you had no objection whatsoever, nor
indeed, had any of us. As I pointed out, a
witness has a right to speak in French before
a committee of the senate at any time if he so
desires. However, as I said, he spoke in
French and we had an English copy of what
he said so that those who could not speak
French could at least understand what was
being said. It was, as 1 say, a purely
mechanical procedure which was dealt with
effectively, as you had suggested. You did not
criticize a witness for speaking in French;
your motive was that his message be under-
stood. I support entirely what you say now,
Senator Choquette.

Honourable senators, we have two groups
coming to help us today. One is the Associa-
tion of Survivors of Nazi Oppression and the
other is a representative of The Canadian
Council of Christians and Jews. The Council
is represented by its president, the Reverend
Richard D. Jones, and Mr. Jones assures me
that his memorandum is short. I discussed the
matter with the other delegates and it seems
reasonable that we should ask him to speak to
us first.

I might add that Reverend Mr. Jones is not
only the president of The Canadian Council
of Christians and Jews but he is the organizer
of it, the power behind the throne, shall I
say. He is the energy that has developed that
organization into a very large and important
element in our society. I heard him very
recently when we were organizing a council
of that body for the city of Ottawa when he
made a most interesting, informative and
very spirited speech. I therefore I have very
much pleasure in introducing to honourable
senators the Reverend Richard D. Jones,
President of the Canadian Council of Chris-
tians and Jews.

Reverend Richard D. Jones, President,
Canadian Council of Christians and Jews:
Honourable senators, my brief is a very brief
brief, and I would like with your permission
to take just a minute to mention why I have
asked to be allowed to speak to you. I am not
an authority on the law, of course, and I am
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not even a trained sociologist or psy-
chologist. But for the last 21 years, 15 of them
as a Canadian citizen, I have given all of my
time to work in the field of group relations
throughout this country, and my only reason
for asking to come is the fact that after this
long experience I feel I have had a fairly
close relationship with this field in our
country.

The Chairman: And you might add to that
that you are invited to be here.

Mr. Jones: Thank you very much, sir.

Honourable senators, the Canadian Coun-
cil of Christians and Jews is a civic
organization of religiously motivated per-
sons seeking through educational means to
eliminate tensions arising out of religious,
ethnie, racial or cultural differences. While its
members are drawn from the major religious
groups, they function as individuals and not
as official representatives.

Its by-laws state:

the purpose of the Canadian Council of
Christians and Jews is to promote justice,
amity, understanding and co-operation
among the many racial, religious, ethnic
and culture groups in our country, and to
analyze, moderate and finally eliminate
intergroup prejudices which disfigure and
distort religious, business, social and
political relations, with a view to the
establishment of a social order in which
the religious ideals of brotherhood and
justice shall become the standards of
human relations.

The Canadian Council of Christians and
Jews was organized in 1947 with a budget of
$15,000 and a staff of one person—I was it!
Today, it operates on a budget of almost
$400,000, with a staff of 20 working out of
offices in Vancouver, Calgary, Winnipeg,
Toronto, Montreal and Halifax.

The Chairman: And what about Ottawa?

Mr. Jones: We do not have a professional
here, but from each of our regional offices we
have a number of chapters that are responsi-
ble to that particular regional office, so I
would say there are probably 40 chapters of
the organization throughout the country.

The Chairman: And none of those is in this
city?

Mr. Jones: One was formed just on Thurs-
day in this city.

Standing Senate Committee

You have received many briefs, regarding
Bill S-5 and now Bill S-21, by lawyers,
members of the judiciary. However, this brief
has been prepared and is being presented to
you by one who has spent over 20 years
working full time in the field of intergroup
relations. It was prepared at the request of
the mnational executive committee of the
Canadian Counrcil of Christians and Jews.

Bill S-21 should be enacted into law
because: there are certain individuals in our
society that only the law can keep from
spreading a doctrine of hate through the dis-
tribution of literature, through public
addresses, through the use of the telephone. I
quote from a letter received some time ago,
giving a post office box number in Scarbor-
ough, Ontario.

A mutual friend informed us you are
a dedicated opponent of Jewish com-
munism.

He is half right—the communism part!
Drop us a line and an organizer will visit
you to explain our activity here in Toron-
to. We are mailing out thousands of cards
and leaflets to obtain mass membership.
You will be asked to vote for anti-Jewish
candidates, boycot Jewish goods, ete.

You will note his spelling has not been too
good.

We believe in the superiority of the
Aryan race as proved by his great culture
and civilization. The negro races have
never developed a civilization, discovered
any new invention, written a great sym-
phony or even originated an alphabet.
They are on a much lower level than the
whites. We believe in sending all negroes
back to Africa whence they came.

On the Jewish question our policy is
much stricter. We demand the arrest
of all Jews involved in communist
plots or zionist plots, public trials and
executions. All other Jews should be
immediately sterilized so that they could
not breed more Jews. This is vital
because the Jews are criminals as a race,
who have been active in anti Christian
plots throughout their entire history.

In the week of March 10 of this year you
could dial a phone number in Toronto and
listen to @a recorded message concerning
“Jew-lovers”, “Jew-lawyers”, “JewRonto”.
The message ends with an invitation to Allan
Gardens on April 20, 1969 “to honour the
birthday of the greatest man ever born on
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this planet, Adolf Hitler, Jews beware—our
tongue is sharp.”

The files of the Canadian Council of Chris-
tians and Jews contain many samples of hate
literature and letters from people who have
received it. The circulation of such literature
serves to feed a small group of bigots who
nourish their hate on it; more important this
literature hurts the innocent whom it attacks
whether it be aimed at Jews, Indians,
Negroes, or members of an ethnic or religious
group. It also encourages those with no firm
convictions about justice and fair play, who
feel they have been mistreated by our society,
to look for a scapegoat.

There may be a feeling among some that
while there has been distribution of hate lit-
erature, while there are a few individuals
who preach a gospel of hate, there is no cause
for concern. Let us keep in mind that in
periods of economic depression, and pro-
nounced political unrest, the dissemination of
hate propaganda has a tendency to increase.
International situations may well create and
intensify hatred of groups in our own
country.

The law will act to restrain those who
would promote hatred and it would help to
give a feeling of security to those who have
suffered from hate pedlars while living else-
where or even here in Canada.

Bill S-21, if enacted into law would restrain
the pedlar of hate and it would give legal
grounds to a corporation such as Bell Tele-
phone Company or other concerned parties on
which to act. Such legislation would protect
us from the tirades of cranks and racists who
seek to disunite the nation. It would put our
country on record as saying it is wrong to
wilfully disseminate hatred in our nation.
Unless action in law is taken it appears we
are not concerned and sanction the behaviour
of those who spread hatred. Such legislation
would let the people of this nation and every
other nation know where Canada stands.

Bill S-21 would assist the Canadian Council
of Christians and Jews in'its educational pro-
gram—an educational program which has
prepared many people of this nation to
endorse and obey legislation to outlaw geno-
cide and hate-mongering. No law can be
effective unless it is accepted by the great
majority of our people. I firmly believe that
the Canadian Council of Christians and Jews
in its twenty years of promoting educational
programs, in the field of intergroup relations,
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has made discrimination and the prejudice on
which it feeds unpopular in this country.

We have pointed out to hundreds of thou-
sands of our fellow Canadians through public
addresses, seminars, and summer courses in
universities that discrimination is economical-
ly costly, that it is an evil according to the
teachings of the world’s great religions, that
it is against the principles of a democratic
government, and that it harms those against
whom it is directed, and also those who prac-
tise it.

We have opened the channels of communi-
cation between those who differ in race,
colour, creed, and ethnic origin, and have
tried to break down the “glass curtain” that
exists in our country—a curtain through
which we can see each other, but one that
prevents us from coming to know each other.
We have made it possible for thousands of
high school students from nine provinces of
Canada—students who were Negro, Indian,
Catholic, Protestant, Jewish, Hindu or Mos-
lem, and of many ethnic backgrounds—to
exhange visits of one-month duration with
French-speaking, Catholic students from the
Province of Quebec. We have promoted
Christian-Jewish dialogues, ecumenical gath-
erings of clergymen, seminars of industrialists
and labour leaders on “Equal Opportunity for
All Canadians”. We have encouraged
bilingualism.

Through these eflorts many Canadians have
been prepared to accept and abide by Bill
S-21, if enacted by the Government of Canada
into law. We of the Canadian Council of
Christians and Jews will be surprised and,
may I say, tremendously disappointed if more
than a handful of people ever come to trial
for breaking such a law.

However, it will be effective for us to be
able to say, not only are the great majority of
Canadians, the teachings of the world’s reli-
gions, but the law itself is on our side. Thus
we endorse Bill S-21 that prohibits the
advocacy of genocide, the incitement of
hatred in public places likely to lead to a
breach of peace, and the wilful promotion of
hatred and contempt against any identifiable
group.

The experience in Europe before and dur-
ing World War II stands as a lesson to us. We
must always be alert to the promotion of
hatred. We must ever defend the sanctity of
the human personality. And we urge you,
honourable senators, to make every effort to
enact Bill S-21 into law.
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The Chairman: Are there any questions you
would like to ask the Reverend Jones?

Mr. Jones: I might add that I will be seeing
Mrs. Emily Ostapchuk tomorrow. I will be
speaking in Vancouver tomorrow. She is one
of the people who will be at the meeting
where I will be speaking.

The Chairman: You have told us about the
growth of your organization from one with a
very small budget to one of $400,000. Could
you give us some idea of your membership?

Mr. Jones: We have approximately 10,000
members across the country. That is, people
who make a contribution to the organization.
I would say about 10,000.

Senator Belisle: Is there such a thing as an
annual fee to belong to the organization.

Mr. Jones: Not a definite annual fee, such
as $2, $5 or $10. There is no definite stated
annual fee. The largest donation I have ever
received is $5,000. Then again, on one occasion
in Toronto when speaking to students, in a
part of Toronto with a great cross-section of
population, the students passed round the hat
and picked up $5. I think that is the most
sacred money I ever received.

Senator Belisle: I think the organization
has done a very good job.

Senator Croll: Some of the committee may
know what you are doing, but I wonder if
you would take a few minutes to describe
some of the work in which you are engaged,
particularly inter-group work amongst stu-
dents in various parts of the country. I think
that has something to be said for it.

Mr. Jones: About 13 years ago we started
with an exchange of 10 students from Toronto
with 10 students from Montreal. Last year we
moved 3,000 from the nine provinces of Cana-
da, 1,500 into the Province of Quebec. Each
student was matched with a French-Canadian
student of similar age, hobbies, background
and interests. The exchange was for four
weeks plus travel time. We chartered a num-
ber of trains last summer to move these
students and it was a very exciting project.
For instance, we had a special train going
from Toronto to Montreal and picking up
students along the way; a special train from
Vancouver which picked up all the way
across the country; we had another train from
Halifax; from Newfoundland we ran, not a
train—not the Bullet—but a special plane into
Quebec City. We moved 3,000 students.
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It is interesting to see how aloof they are
at first. I introduce them to one another, say-
ing “Richard Jones, meet Rocket Richard”,
and the two boys will shake hands, look stu-
pid and go away. I would introduce two girls,
Marie-Anne Duchénes to Nancy Jones and the
two girls would put their arms around each
other and look stupider and go away. You
would see them a month later and the change
would be fantastic. It is a real thrill to watch
what happens to these young people.

The first Protestant teacher in the College
of Ste. Anne de la Pocatiére was a boy that
had gotten through this exchange and taught
history at the College Ste. Anne in French.
This was a boy raised in Cooksville, Ontario.
I could name dozens of teachers in Ontario
who got their interest in French through the
exchange and improved their French, and so
on. I feel it is a marvellous project. Thank
you, senator.

The Chairman: If there are no more ques-
tions, I want to say this to you, Reverend Mr.
Jones. We are grateful to you for having
come here and we appreciate highly the
memorandum you have read. It was given as
a public service for which we all thank you
and I am sure all the members of my com-
mittee join in what I have said.

Mr. Jones: Thank you very much, sir.

The Chairman: Will Mr. Goldstein and Mrs.
Citron come forward. Honourable senators,
ladies and gentlemen, our next group of wit-
nesses represent the Association of Survivors
of Nazi Oppression. They will be represented
by Mr. Paul Goldstein, the National Presi-
dent, and by Mrs. S. Citron, the Chairman of
the Toronto Division. I cannot tell you a great
deal about the association, but our first
witness will be Mr. Goldstein, and I under-
stand he will do so.

Mr. Paul Geldstein, National President for
the Association of Survivors of Nazi Oppres-
sion: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. May I first
introduce some of the other delegates present
here and members of our association.

We have Mr. Schweitzer on the left, Mr.
Krasuski from Toronto, Mrs. Placzek, who is
the President of the Women’s Division of the
association from Montreal, Mrs. Laks, Treas-
urer of the Women’s Division from Montreal,
my wife, Mrs. Goldstein, Mr. and Mrs. Airst
from Toronto, Mr. I. Weisfeld, Vice President
of the association, Mr. George Fine, the other
Chairman of the association, and Mr. Paul



Legal and Constitutional Affairs

Orlan, who is a member of the Executive of
the association and also of Montreal.

Mr. Goldstein: Mr. Chairman and honoura-
ble senators, I would like to say this in
French:

[Translation]

It is impossible, in the time allowed me, to
present the brief in both languages. However,
it will be my pleasure, to answer in French to
any questions that you will see fit to ask in
that language.

[English]

Regarding the association, let me read from
our publication “The Voice of Survivors”
some excerpts from the constitution of our
movement. This will give some idea of what
we are about.

This is the 1966 edition and on the front
page and centrefold are some illustrations of
the commemoration of the liberation of
Europe from Nazi oppression by the Canadian
armed forces and other allied forces.

This historic liberation rally took place
here on this Parliament Hill of this Parlia-
ment in the presence of Prime Minister
Pearson and members of the cabinet, and of
the armed forces.

As there were some honourable senators
present, like Senator Connolly (Ottawa West),
and Senator Coll, who, as a matter of fact, lit
one of the torches in memory of the one
million children who perished in the
holocaust.

At that time there were 5,000 people gath-
ered on Parliament Hill, including members
of the association from Montreal, Toronto,
Ottawa and from some places out west as
well.

The purpose of the association is best de-
seribed in our constitution. I need not read the
preamble. The constitution says:

By the grace of God and in the democratic
spirit of Canada, we shall:

1. Preserve the memory of the millions
of Victims of Nazi terror.

2. Remember the members of the
Armed Forces of the Free World who
fought so courageously the Nazi Peril
and gave their lives for our Liberty.

3. Keep alive the history of the Nazi
Terror and the heroic Resistance that
kept on fighting against it under all cir-
cumstances, so that it should never be

" forgotten for generations to come.
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4. Alert the Public against Neo Nazi
Activities in whatever form and by what-
ever name, and awaken the public opin-
ion in view of the rising Neo Nazi move-
ments in the world today in order to pro-
mote an overall understanding of the
danger of Nazism, by keeping the Com-
munity well informed and aware.

.......................................

6. Promote and participate in necessary
representations to the appropriate Gov-
ernment bodies in regard to antisemitic
outbreaks and the rise of Neo Nazi move-
ments in Canada and elsewhere.

7. Fight for Legislation which will
make it illegal for any Nazi or Nazi-like
movement to exist in Canada and which
will make it criminal in conformity with
the Genocide Convention of the United
Nations Organization, for anybody to
foster ideas of race hatred and mass
murder. .. . '

9. Apply all the necessary means to
combat any Nazi-type manifestations in
every rational way, in cooperation with
all democratic institutions in Canada,
who are aware of the danger, so that the
enemies of democracy shall not destroy
democracy through the use of Democratic
privileges in Canada.

10. Develop the highest standards of
citizenship in ourselves, by encouraging,
carrying on and participating in activities
of a national, patriotic cultural and
humanitarian nature; in furtherance of
the best interests of our Community and
of our country, Canada.

The motto of our association is the word
“Remember”. “NEVER FORGOTTEN—NEV-
ER AGAIN”. Our slogan is, “HOMAGE TO
THE DEAD WARNING TO THE LIVING”.

In membership we have in the three cities
and in other communities in Canada well
over 5,000 members who are dues-paying
members. We have a large number of sympa-
thizing people who turn out at our mass
events. The qualifications for membership are
as follows, and I quote:

Any person, Male or Female, 18 years
of age or over at the time of his applica-
tion, who is of good moral character, and
who is himself a Survivor of Nazi
Oppression, whether Former Inmate of
one -or more Nazi Concentration Camps
or Ghettos, or Nazi Labour Camps, or a
former Underground Fighter or Partisan,
who took part in fighting the Nazis dur-
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ing World War II, or who was uprooted
by the Nazi Oppression or forced to
escape persecution by hiding or leaving
his country of Origin at the time, or a
person who can demonstrate the wil-
lingness to support our activity and
whose spirit, ideals and actions are in
harmony with the aims and objectives of
this Association as expressed in the
Preamble of this Constitution and in the
spirit of the Venerable Traditions of a
Democratic Canada.

Article I states:

The non political character of this
Association shall be strictly maintained
as long as this Association is in existance.
No direct or indirect political affiliation
with any political party or movement,
and no political activity shall be ever
allowed.

This condition of non political align-
ment is the basic condition of existence
of this Association, and shall never be
amended, altered or repealed directly or
indirectly at any time.

This, in a nutshell, is the basis of our
association, Mr. Chairman. Any elaboration
you wish me to make, based on questions, I
shall be glad to do. Does this suffice, in your
opinion, Mr. Chairman?

The Chairman: I think so. Thank you.

Mr. Goldstein: Now, Mr. Chairman and
honourable senators, as to the matter under
consideration, having followed the proceed-
ings of this committee very closely, we wish
to express our appreciation for the seri-
ousness, sincerity, and thoroughness with
which the members of this committee have
tackled the complex matter before them.

We perhaps differ from the other witnesses
who have appeared before this committee in
that we represent a segment of the population
which has lived through the kind of horrors
which the proposed legislation intends to
prevent.

However, since it is not our purpose to
induce sentiment for your fellow citizens who
have survived a nightmare of oppression and
slaughter which can never be assessed in its
true and full dimensions, we will refrain
from baring to you the physical and mental
scars which still mark every single survivor
of the Nazi holocaust. Instead, it is our pur-
pose, in being here, to redeem some construc-
tive value from that maddening and frustrat-
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ing toll of human lives, by offering for your
consideration such conclusions from the dark-
est page in human history as may assist this
committee in arriving at the most equitable
solution possible.

We can easily spare the time and patience
of all concerned by not belabouring the facts
and evidence with which both you and we are
by now already too familiar.

We are referring to the legislation similar
to the one under discussion already in exis-
tence in a number of highly civilized coun-
tries such as Great Britain, Sweden, France,
Norway, The Netherlands, Italy, the Federal
German Republic, Denmark, Greece, Austria
and India.

The Chairman: May I ask at this time what
is your authority for this statement. Where
did you find out, for example, that Great
Britain, Sweden and France and so on have
passed legislation similar to the legislation
now before us?

Mr. Goldstein: At the time that Mr. Klein
introduced Bill C-21, in order to provide the
background material, I personally visited
every consulate and, where necessary, the
embassies of countries where we had read
such material was available. I personally
explained to the ambassador or the consul
that we needed copies of the material. I might
add that in many instances the consuls them-
selves were not aware that their countries
had such legislation. However, they
researched it and gave it to me and in fact I
received exact copies which form a part of
the background material for Mr. Milton Klein
when he introduced the first bill in the series
of bills we are familiar with.

The Chairman: Thank you. I am glad I
asked that question.

Mr. Goldstein: We are also referring to the
background material and contents of the Unit-
ed Nations Genocide Convention; to the Bills
introduced in recent years in the House of
Commons, especially the Klein-Walker Bill of
February 20, 1964 and Mr. Nesbitt’s Bill of
June 16, 1965.

We are referring to the debates of the
Foreign Affairs Committee of the House of
Commons in 1964 and 1965, as well as to the
material in the report to the Minister of Jus-
tice of the Special Committee on Hate Propa-
ganda in Canada.

There are, of course, a considerable num-
ber of important people in favour of the prin-
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ciple of legislation to combat incitement to
hatred. Those include, aside from those men-
tioned during the proceedings of this commit-
tee of Tuesday, February 25th 1969, and aside
from the members of the special committee
set up by the late Justice Minister Guy Fav-
reau a significant number of prominent
members of Parliament belonging to the diff-
erent parties represented in the House, who
have signified their affirmative stand in their
replies to our inquiries

We have also noticed a two-fold develop-
ment in the reactions of those who were,
from the start, staunchly opposed to any form
of group libel legislation.

On the one hand are those who, having
taken the trouble of thoroughly investigating
the various aspects of this complex issue,
eventually did change their mind, and decid-
ed that such legislation is necessary, feasi-
ble and workable, without infringing on the
vital tenets of our democratic system. Fore-
most in this category is our present Prime
Minister the Honourable Pierre Elliott
Trudeau.

On the other hand are those who still main-
tain that such legislation, however conceived,
would be a threat to freedom of speech; while
a smaller but not less vocal number hold, in
addition, that there is no evidence in Canada
of sufficient hate propaganda to warrant any
such law.

On the issue of freedom of speech, every
enlightened person is aware that there can be
no unlimited freedom of speech in an orderly
society. We already have laws against libel,
slander, sedition, incitement to violence and
so on. The question therefore is not, “Should
freedom of speech be curtailed in a democrat-
ic society?” but, “Where does one draw the
line?” Viewed in this light, the subject
touches the very seams of the mosaic fabric
which constitutes our multi-ethnic mnation.
For, this being a country of minorities, we
cannot forget the distum that, “The treatment
of minorities is the barometer by which to
measure the moral health of a society”.

The four freedoms termed essential by
President Franklin D. Roosevelt in a speech
to Congress on January 6, 1941, were freedom
of speech and expression, freedom of wor-
ship, freedom from want and freedom from
fear and persecution. Now, if we accept these
freedoms as essential to our way of life, it is
evident that to exist side by side a proper
balance has to be maintained. We hold that
one freedom cannot be exercised at the
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expense of another, that the moment one
freedom infringes on another it has reached
the point where it has to be held in check.
For instance, no one puts into question the
principle of freedom of worship, yet we
would never allow, in its name, the practice
of cannibalism or human sacrifice by a religi-
out sect, for obviously such practice would
violate freedom from fear and persecution on
the part of those singled out for the offering.
Similarly, the moment freedom of speech is
abused to the extent of violating the freedom
from fear and persecution on the part of any
identifiable group as defined in the bill—sub-
ject to reconsideration of the term “reli-
gion”—the line has to be drawn.

Events in this century have shown that
hate propaganda is a condition sine qua non
for the preparation of a segment of the popu-
lation for the persecution of minorities with-
out hatred, and there can be no hatred on any
organized level without planned incitement.
The Nazi propaganda machine needed to
oplerate on an intensive, permanent and mass
scale to cast its target vietims in an image
which would permit rationalization of their
extermination.

To allow identifiable groups in this country
to be exposed to group libel and hate propa-
ganda would amount to the gravest possible
injustice and would cause the dislocation of
the harmony between the various ethnic
groups constituting our country. The lesson of
history has taught the vulnerable minorities
not to accept any such threats to their surviv-
al. However, there can be only one effective
remedy available to any group threatened in
a democratic society—the protection of the
law. Should the legal system mnot afford such
protection, the threatened group would be
obliged to take matters in its own hands.
When survival is at stake the choice is
between legal recourse or violence.

Therefore, the existence of the law is no
longer a matter of choice but of necessity;
first, as a safeguard, second, as a most effec-
tive educational instrument. For no social
injustice has ever been corrected without the
benefit of appropriate laws, be it in the field
of child labour or in the area of civil rights.
In every instance, the outlawing of a social
evil deprives it of the respectability and
legitimacy which the absence of a prohibitive
law affords it and gives law abiding citizens,
who are in the vast majority, proper stand-
ards of right and wrong.

As far as the formula is concerned, there is
no doubt in our minds that the legislators of
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this country are just as capable as those of
Great Britain, Sweden, the United Nations, et
al, to formulate a law that would curtail the
abuse of freedom of speech, without limiting
its free expression. For that matter, we find
Bill S-21, although desirable in principle,
rather weak and ineffectual by the inclusion
of such defences for the hatemonger as to
render conviction highly unlikely, if not
impossible.

There are at least three loopholes in the
proposed bill. First, it has to be proved that
the incitement to hatred is likely to lead to a
breach of the peace so as to constitute an
offence.

The Chairman: Now, wait a minute. Can
we discuss the last statement before you go
on? You say that there are at least three
loopholes in the proposed bill, and that first
it has to be proved that the incitement to
hatred is likely to lead to a breach of the peace
so as to constitute an offence. Does that not
refer, witness, to section 2678 (1), “Everyone
who, by communicating statements in any
public place, incites hatred or contempt
against any identifiable group where such
incitement is likely to lead to a breach of the
peace, is guilty of”, and so on. Now, it is to
that section you are speaking, is it not?

Mr. Goldstein: Yes.

The Chairman: But have you overlooked
the second subsection of that section 26787
Subsection (2) says that everyone who, by
communicating statements, wilfully promotes
hatred or contempt against any identifiable
group is guilty of, and it lists the offences.

You see, there is no likelihood of a breach
of the peace provision there.

Mr. Goldstein: No. This'is where we come
to the other two loopholes, Mr. Chairman.

The Chairman: Well, go ahead, then.

Mr. Goldstein: Conversely, should a judge
decide in a particular case that the public
incitement of hatred was not likely to lead to
a breach of the peace, the hatemonger would
get off scot-free.

The Chairman: Would he in subsection (2)?
There is no such provision in subsection (2).

Mr. Goldstein: Subsection (1) talks about a
public place and subsection (2), of course,
would overrule subsection (1), but our ques-
tion is why is subsection (1) included?
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Senator Prowse: You have two different
things entirely. Subsection (1) and subsection
(2) are completely different. The person could
be charged under either of those two sections,
and these documents, for example, that we
referred to earlier today would be caught
under subsection (2). Now, subsection (1) is
intended to give the police the opportunity of
stepping in and preventing a situation which
appears to be becoming explosive from
exploding.

Mr. Goldstein: Does it not appear from the
report and the background material that
there can be no present action by the police,
that the thing can only be judged after the
event?

Senator Prowse: This is not the same legis-
lation as set out in the other bill. We have
gone beyond what it recommends. This goes
beyond the recommendations of the Cohen
Report.

Mr. Goldstein: Who is going to decide if
there is likely to be a breach of the peace?

Senator Prowse: Policemen on the spot.

Mr. Goldstein: Is this going to be a part of
the bill?

Senator Croll: It is in the bill now.

Mr. Goldstein: So, if the policeman decides
there is not going to be a breach of the peace,
he can let the people continue.

Senaior Prowse: If the situation is such
that there is not going to be a breach of the
peace he can let the man continue.

Mr. Goldstein: That is a loophole, then.

Senaior Prowse: The moment he gives the
statement, the policeman can arrest him on
the basis of subsection (2), the communication
of hatred.

Mr. Goldstein: In other words, the bill is
just as effective without subsection (1).

Senator Prowse: No. Under subsection (2)
you have to let him go ahead and blow up the
place before you can arrest him. So the
policeman has to make the judgment on the
statement itself. But under subsection (1),
where the situation is that the policeman
thinks that an explosion is about to occur,
then he can take the person away because it
is likely to result in a breach of the peace.
The policeman does not have to wait for the
explosion to occur.
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Mr. Goldstein: If he takes an affirmative
stand, then there is no problem. But should
he use the same leeway the other way, the
thing can get out of hand.

Senator Prowse: How do we do this to give
you the protection you want, then?

Mr. Goldstein: In all the laws in the other
countries—for instance, may I just get out the
Swedish law for a moment?

Senator Croll: What difference does it make
what the law is in other countries? We are
dealing with our own law here in the light of
our experience, and we have had as much
experience with law as has Sweden or almost
any other country with the exception of Great
Britain.

Mr. Goldstein: Well, to answer Senator
Prowse’s question, if a man incites to hatred,
whether there is going to be a breach of the
peace or not should not make a difference.

Senator Prowse: But you get him either
way. You get him under subsection (2) if not
under subsection (1).

Mr. Goldstein: If this is the case, then the
objection is not valid.

The Chairman: I would think your objec-
tion is not valid, the way you have written it
at least. You have not given sufficient
thought to the fact that there are two enact-
ments here, one where a person makes a
statement in a public place likely to lead to a
breach of the peace, in which case there are
no defences, it not mattering whether it is
true or untrue because he has interfered with
the King’s peace; the other one being where
he publishes a libel that is not likely to lead
to a breach of the peace but is a promotion of
hatred, in which case he has the defences to
which you have referred. So there may be
two charges laid.

Mr. Goldstein: I will be the happiest person
to find that the effectiveness of the bill will
be such that the first clause will not be a
loophole. I would be all for it in that case.

Senator Croll: The Government has pre-
sented this bill. The Government wants a bill.
You have got ten or a dozen lawyers and
- other people here who know more than law-
yers. This is not an exercise for us. The
intention is to get a bill that works. So you
give us that much credit and go on reading
your brief, please. ’
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Mr. Goldstein: Secondly, the promoter of
hatred cannot be convicted where he estab-
lishes that his statements are true or, and
this is the third escape clause, that their pub-
lic discussion was for the public benefit and
that on reasonable grounds he believed them
to be true.

The Chairman: Now, let me add there that
that is only the case where there is not a
likely breach of the peace.

Senator Prowse: That is only a defence to
subsection (2).

Mr. Goldstein: However, we do not wish to
jeopardize the possibility of unanimity in
favour of the principle of the bill by fostering
dissent about its effectiveness. We would be
quite satisfied to see Bill S-21 adopted in its
present form and to let its efficacy be tested
by the courts.

The other objection to which we wish to
address ourselves holds that there is no evi-
dence of enough hate propaganda to warrant
legislation.

Obviously, there are some who have not
yet been exposed to hate propaganda, nor
seen any. It is easy to become smug about the
danger when one was born into a majority
group which never had to pay a blood tax for
its existence. And what does it matter wheth-
er those in favour of the proposed legislation
are Christian or Jewish, black or white? What
does it matter, if the overwhelming majority
of the legislators in Great Britain, France,
Sweden, Norway, Denmark, The Netherlands,
Italy, Greece, India, the Federal German
Republic, where such laws already have
been passed, are non-Jewish?

What does it matter, if on the Special
Committee on Hate Propaganda, which
unanimously recommended the passage of
Bill S-21, Jewish members were in the minor-
ity also? What matters is whether the ar-
guments advanced are valid or not.

Nevertheless, the objection that legislation
is not needed, because there is not sufficient
evidence of hate propaganda in Canada, is
invalid on several other grounds as well.

First, the fact that someone has not seen
any hate propaganda does not prove that it is
not there or that it should not be eradicated.
Would those among us who never witnessed a
murder or handled marijuana take the stand
that therefore murder or narcotics should not
be outlawed?
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However, and forgive me for ‘introducing
this personal note, as one who has been deep-
ly involved during the last ten years in the
combatting of hate propaganda and hate
movements, and who has devoted a full year
away from work and income to investigate
the problem when it nearly got out of hand at
the end of 1965, I can personally testify and
show you that during that period hate propa-
ganda in huge quantities and emanating from
many quarters, was injected into our society.
I am ready at your convenience to pass this
material around and to elaborate on its origin
and contents. Even had there been only a
minimal quantity of such material circulated,
the objection would still be inwvalid, for we
are dealing here with a principle of public
morality unaffected by quantity.

Once we accept and tolerate even one sam-
ple or incidence of evil we have already lost
the battle, because from there on its growth
becomes only a matter of degree and socio-
economic ecircumstances, unpredictable and
therefore beyond our control.

The activities of hate groups of both the
extreme right and the extreme left in recent
years in this country, conspicuously in evi-
dence during the last federal elections, when
our own Prime Minister was a target, and
more recently on certain campuses indicate
that the Canada of 1969 is not an isolated
island in a world-sea of hatred and violence.
Our generous immigration policies of the
post-World War II era and the almost
unbelievable innovations and accelerations in
the communications field have brought in
their wake the seeds of the despicable hate
doctrines which had such ravaging results
elsewhere.

We are dealing here with the greatest and
most lethal communicable disease of the cen-
tury. We do not wait for the better known
physical contagious diseases to reach epidem-
ic proportions before we immunize our popu-
lations against them. Similarly, we cannot
allow the epidemic disease of race hatred,
which has exacted a far greater toll in human
lives than any other mass scourge in this
century, even the slightest breeding chance.

While we have faith, honourable senators,
that you will do justice to the form of the
law, we plead that you will give equal weight
to the demands of social realities and help
secure the passage of the bill before you.

The Chairman: Thank you very much for
that. Now, are there any questions, ladies and
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gentlemen, that you wish to ask? If not, may
I present Mrs. Citron. She is the chairman of
the Toronto group, and this group, as I have
already said, is the Association of the Survi-
vors of Nazi Oppression. Mrs. Citron, would
you come forward, please? May I introduce,
ladies and gentlemen, the chairman of the
Toronto group.

Mrs. S. Citron, Chairman, Toronto Group,
Association of Survivors of Nazi Oppression:
I really have nothing to add to what Mr.
Goldstein has already said. I am in full agree-
ment with everything in the brief, however,
if there are any questions I would be happy
to answer them.

The Chairman: Have you run into actual
incidents of hate propaganda?

Mrs, Citron: Now, or in the past?

The Chairman: The more recent ones have
been the more interesting ones, but if you
have something to tell us along those ].mes we
would be glad to hear it.

Senator Hollett: Excuse me, Mr. Chairman,
if the witness would speak a little bit louder.

Mrs. Citron: I will try, thank you. Only in
the recent years. I will not go into what has
happened during the war. I am sure that
most of you gentlemen and ladies are famil-
iar with that and I certainly do not wish to
drag that out. It has been pointed our recent-
ly by Reverend Mr. Jones that there were
various forms of hatred that has been cir-
culated and there was an invitation issued I
believe for April 20 for Allen Gardens,
where other such incidents took place during
the past few years. We have had a Mr. Beat-
tie up here in regard to hate propaganda.
This is more or less the extent with which I
have been lately exposed to hate propaganda.
As Goebbels himself said, if a lie is repeated
often enough, it will eventually be believed
and this is basically the objection that we
have.

The Chairman: Yes.

Mr. I. Weisfeld, Vice President, Associa-
tion of Survivors of Nazi Oppression: I would
like to help Mrs. Citron. In regard to the Bell
Telephone incident in Toronto which
occurred. ..

Senator Croll: We have heard the evidence
on that.

The Chairman: Did you have any experi-
ence with the telephone broadcast?
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Mrs. Citron: Well, the telephone number
was made available to me, but of course for
some strange reason I preferred not to listen
to the message. I am sure I know the content
without hearing it.

The Chairman: Well, thank you then, if
that is the submission.

Mr. Goldstein: In order to elaborate on the
answer about the evidence of hate propagan-
da, I had mentioned that I was prepared to
show you the material that had entered our
country and was published here as well. Since
you raised the point, if I may, I would like to
produce some of this.

Senator Croll: Mr. Goldstein, I do not think
we raised the point, nor do not think we want
to see it. We certainly do not want to see it
on the record. We are not here to propagate
propaganda. We are grown people and we
know what goes on, and we know that it does
exist and it exists in volumes. You add noth-
ing to the cause by putting it on the record
here.

Mr. Goldstein: With all respect, you did
raise the question to Mrs. Citron, whether she
had any experience or evidence of hate
propaganda.

The Chairman: That does not put it on the
record, the text of the propaganda. I have
ruled twice against doing so.

Senator Haig: Let us take it as an admitted
fact that there is hate propaganda being
spread around Canada and we do not want to
see it.

Senator Prowse: We do not want it on the
record where somebody can pick up the
record and say, “Look, here is an official
document and this is what it says.” This is
the position we are in.

Mr, Goldstein: If there is any technical way
of showing this without it appearing in the
record I will be glad to do so.

Senator Croll: After all, you live with facts.
There was some suggestion that'there is not
much of it around. Well, suddenly Senator
Prowse gets one from Vancouver that is
mailed as from a Red Feather organization. It
just so happens that it is there. We see it
from time to time and we know it is around;
we have all seen it. As Senator Haig said, for
all purposes it is admitted. There is no use in
flogging the issué; it is there.
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Senator Prowse: Perhaps I can put it this
way. Mr. Goldstein, is the material you have
substantially different from the material
reproduced in the Cohen Report?

Mr. Goldstein: Yes. It is not all contained
in the Cohen Report.

Senator Prowse: But is it substantially dif-
ferent or is it the same type of thing?

Senator Choquette: There is a lady here
who wants to say something.

The Chairman: Certainly, we will be glad
to hear from anyone who is here.

Mrs, I. Airst, Member, Association of Sur-
vivors of Nazi Oppression: On the question of
any recent personal experience with hate
propaganda, I would like to say that I have
recently been a victim of hate propaganda.
When Mr. Beattie was given permission to
speak in Allan Gardens there was no law to
say he was not allowed to go there and incite
hatred and say what he had to say. As a
result, we went out to hear what he had to
say. The police department was called out,
with police on horseback, on motor cycles and
on foot, to protect Mr. Beattie so that he
could spout his hate propaganda. There was
no law to protect us against this hate, but
there was a law to protect him in order that
he could spout it. As a result, I personally
was injured; my foot was crushed by one of
the police horses protecting Mr. Beattie’s
right to incite hatred against us.

Senator Croll: They were not there for that
purpose. They were there to give him the
right of free speech. Until he opened his
mouth they did not know what he would say.
He had to open his mouth, and once he did
he wound up where he belonged, in jail. He
was charged and acquitted on a legal
technicality.

Mrs. Airst: But I was hurt before the man
had a chance to speak.

Senator Croll: That I do not know. That is
unfortunate. That is what the police were
there for at that time. When you speak of
incidents. ..

Mrs. Airst: It is not an incident. It is a
personal experience that happened recently
as a result of a man being allowed to spout
hatred without any legislation to prevent it.

Senator Croll: We had all that evidence
before. The Beattie record has already been
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before us. I do not know who gave the evi-
dence. I think it was the Justice Department.

The Chairman: Yes, Mr. Scollin told us the
story, and we have the judgment of the court
that there is no law in Canada against what
was happening at that time, the libel of a
group.

Senator Prowse: I wonder if Mr. Goldstein
would like to leave that material with you,
Mr. Chairman.

The Chairman: I think that is the solution.

Senator Prowse: Then if it is felt it should
be privately circulated, it can be made avail-
able to the members of the committee, who
can see it without it being put on the record.

Senator Lang: Did this material originate in
Canada or abroad?

Mr. Goldstein: Part of the material origi-
nated in Canada. One 'of the main sources of
this material was the now defunct Parti de
L’Unité Nationale du Canada of the late
Adrien Arcand. There is a wealth of material
from that source. I have copies of their publi-
cations, copies of their programs and copies
of books they published. I personally went to
see Mr. Arcand at his house and spent a
hialf-day with him to take a closer look at his
method and his way 'of proceeding. I also met
relatives of Mr. Arcand’s family to see how
they operated.

There are local branches of the internation-
al Nazi movement. I have a letter here from
Colin Jordan, the Nazi leader in Great Brit-
ain, appointing people in Montreal as
representatives. I have that here in my
possession. I also have propaganda letters
coming here from Sweden. I have them in my
brief case and can show them to you. It so
happens that subscribers to a German lan-
guage Montreal newspaper received it. Obvi-
ously there was some clerk who gave out the
names of the subscribers and some of them
received this material. There is material
emanating previously from Alabama from
the National Christian Mosaic, which
moved its headquarters to Atlanta, Georgia. I
have material from the late Lincoln Rock-
well’s party as well. There are ‘also ethnic
group cells of Fascist description. All ethnic
groups have a majority of decent, loyal,
lawabiding citizens, but they also have
extremist wings of Fascist groups.
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We have a film of a meeting of a Hungari-
an Fascist group in Montreal at the time of
the Bellefeuille episode when André Belle-
feuille from Sorel wanted to start his
Canadian Nazi party. This is the kind of
material we refer to. People like Laurier
Lapiérre started a movement to follow it with
publicity to prevent it holding meetings. If
you ask me how, I will gladly answer; if not
we will pass that subject. We used legal ways
to prevent the holding of these meetings.

For instance, there was a meeting to be held
by the National Unity Party on January 22 last
year at one of the biggest halls in Montreal. It
was to be attended by people from across the
country participating at $3.50 a dinner. We
managed to prevent this meeting taking place.
It was a very pleasant sight to see a reporter
with a camera on his shoulders being turned
away from the closed door, otherwise there
would have been another Fascist hate move-
ment spread on the news services. These are
the kinds of thing we talk about of which we
have first-hand information.

Senator Prowse: Do you have any objection
to following my suggestion of leaving that
material with the Chairman so that it can be
made available to the committee, for our own
information? Nobody wants to make this com-
mittee a medium for circulating it.

Mr. Goldstein: That would be perfect. It
was not my intention that it should become
part of the record when I said I could show
it. I was not aware that there were two ave-
nues of presenting it to you. I did not intend
to propagate it. You realize that, Senator
Croll.

Senator Croll: Of course I realize that. I
was turning something over in my mind
when you referred to a representative of the
CBC being turned back from this meeting.
Are you sure that was not arranged by the
CBC for news purposes?

Mr. Goldstein: He was obviously there to
cover the event.

Senator Prowse: You tell us you have a
way of preventing this, completely legally
and effectively.

Senator Croll: Tell us.

Senator Prowse: No, do not tell us how.
You just keep right on doing it.

Mr. Goldstein: The only thing is that the
time and expense involved is something that
cannot be borne indefinitely by private citi-
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zens and it should be done by the state if
possible.

Senator Prowse: I agree.
Senator Croll: A law is a law.

Mr. Goldstein: It can be done for a short
period but not indefinitely.

Senator Prowse: There is no sense in telling
people how you do it because that makes it
easier for them.

Mr. Paul Orlan, Member of the Executive,
Association of Survivors of Nazi Oppression:
If honourable senators wish to hear it, they
may be interested to know the fear that we,
as members of Survivors of Nazi Oppression,
have of this sort of hate propaganda and
incitement spreading. We know from first
hand what it can bring about, and what it has
brought about to each and every one of us
sitting here. We are only a small group of
survivors, but if honourable senators are inter-
ested we can give our reasons and our
credentials.

The Chairman: Mr. Goldstein will see me
perhaps tomorrow, when we will have a dis-
cussion and look through what he has in his
brief case. If that is so, honourable senators,
the Chair will entertain a motion to adjourn.

Senator Lang: Before adjourning, Mr.
Chairman, there are two men I feel the com-
mittee should hear. Both are very prominent
in the field of civil liberties. One of them, a
man who has practised law, who is a practis-
ing lawyer in the field of civil liberties and
has been all his life, is Glen Howe of Toron-
to; the other man, whom I feel this committee
should hear, is Frank Scott who was at one
time Dean of Law at McGill University. He is
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now with the B and B Commission. In his
early life he was prominent in political cir-
cles. Besides being an academician he is a man
who has practised law in the civil liberties
field. He carried the case of the Quebec pad-
lock law to the Supreme Court of Canada.
Both of these men are very knowledgeable
about this bill and about the field with which
we are concerned. I feel that in all fairness to
the committee members, these two men
should be asked to ‘testify before the
committee.

The Chairman: I presume it is the will of
the committee that we invite these two gen-
tlemen to appear.

Hon. Senators: Agreed.

Senator Choquette: I might say, Mr. Chair-
man, that so far we have had only people
who are 100 per cent for this bill. Surely
there are some people who would like to be
heard who are against it.

The Chairman: I have invited everybody I
know to be opposed to it.

Senator Lang: Mr. Chairman, I think it is
very important for us to get a balanced pres-
entation before the committee, which I think
is not the case to date.

Senator Croll: I am not on the steering
committee, but have you turned down anyone
who has asked to appear, Mr. Chairman?

The Chairman: No. I have invited others
who have not come.

At any rate, is it your wish to adjourn?
Hon. Senators: Agreed.
The committee adjourned.
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ORDERS OF REFERENCE

Extract from the Minutes of the Proceedings of the Senate, Wednesday,
January 22nd, 1969:

“The Order of the Day being read,
With leave of the Senate,

The Honourable Senator Leonard resumed the debate on the motion
of the Honourable Senator Roebuck, seconded by the Honourable Senator
Croll, for the second reading of the Bill S-21, intituled: “An Act to
amend the Criminal Code”.

After debate, and—

The question being put on the motion, it was—

Resolved in the affirmative.

The Bill was then read the second time.

The Honourable Senator Leonard moved, seconded by the Honour-
able Senator Fergusson, that the Bill be referred to the Standing Senate
Committee on Legal and Constitutional Affairs.

The question being put on the motion, it was—
Resolved in the affirmative.”

Extracts from the Minutes of the Proceedings of the Senate, Thursday,
February 13th, 1969:

“With leave of the Senate,

The Honourable Senator McDonald moved, seconded by the Honour-
able Senator Langlois:

That the Standing Senate Committee on Foreign Affairs and the
Standing Senate Committee on Legal and Constitutional Affairs have
power to sit during adjournments of the Senate.

After debate, and—

The question being put on the motion, it was—

Resolved in the affirmative.”

“With leave of the Senate,

The Honourable Senator McDonald moved, seconded by the Honour-
able Senator Langlois:

That the Standing Senate Committee on Legal and Constitutional
Affairs be authorized to examine and report to the Senate from time to
time on any matter relating to legal and constitutional affairs generally,

7—3
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and on any matter assigned to the said Committee by the Rules of the
Senate, and

That the said Committee be empowered to engage the services of
such counsel and technical, clerical and other personnel as may be
necessary for the foregoing purposes, at such rates of remuneration and
reimbursement as the Committee may determine, and to compensate
witnesses by. reimbursement of travelling and living expenses, in such
amounts as the Committee may determine.

The question being put on the motion, it was—
Resolved in the affirmative.”

Extracts from the Minutes of the Proceedings of the Senate, Tuesday,
March 11th, 1969:

“With leave of the Senate,

The Honourable Senator Langlois moved, seconded by the Honour-
able Senator Martin, P.C.:

That the Standing Committee on Legal and Constitutional Affairs
be empowered to sit while the Senate is sitting today.

The question being put on the motion, it was—
Resolved in the affirmative.”

ROBERT FORTIER,
Clerk of the Senate.
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MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS

TuEesDAY, April 22nd, 1969.

Pursuant to adjournment and notice, the Standing Senate Committee on
Legal and Constitutional Affairs met this day at 2 p.m.

Present: The Honourable Senators Roebuck (Chairman), Choquette, Cook,
Croll, Eudes, Fergusson, Flynn, Gouin, Haig, Macdonald (Cape Breton), Mc-
Elman, Phillips (Rigaud), Urquhart, Walker, White and Willis.

In Attendance: E. Russel Hopkins, Law Clerk and Parliamentary Counsel.

The following witnesses were heard:

1. Canadian Civil Liberties Association: Mr. Eamon Park, vice-president,
Dr. Wilson Head, vice-president, Professor Graham Parker, Special Counsel
and Miss Jill Armstrong, executive-assistant.

2. Professor H. W. Arthurs, Associate Dean, Osgoode Hall Law School of
York University.

3. The Manitoba Human Rights Association: Mr. Melvin Fenson, Mr.
Walter Hlady and Mr. G. E. Martin.

At 5:15 p.m. the Committee adjourned to Thursday, April 24th, 1969, at
2 p.m.

ATTEST:

L. J. M. BOUDREAULT,
Clerk of the Committee.
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THE STANDING SENATE COMMITTEE ON LEGAL
AND CONSTITUTIONAL AFFAIRS

EVIDENCE

Ottawa, Tuesday, April 22, 1969

The Standing Senate Committee on Legal
and Constitutional Affairs, to which was
referred Bill S-21, to amend the Criminal
Code (Hate Propaganda), met this day at 2
p.m.

Senator Arthur W. Roebuck (Chairman) in
the Chair.

The Chairman: Honourable senators, it is 2
o’clock and we have a big program for this
afternoon, so let us commence. Three groups
will be making presentations to us, and I
think we can devote an hour to each of them.

Before we hear the first submission I have
something to bring to the attention of the
committee. Honourable senators may remem-
ber that Senator Lang—and I am sorry that
he is not here; he told me that it would be
impossible for him to attend this afternoon—
asked for an opinion from the Department of
Justice in regard to the position of the Bell
Telephone Company. The company has said
that it cannot stop people using their lines for
blackguarding purposes. I undertook to sub-
mit the question to the department, and on
March 21 I wrote to Mr. Maxwell, Deputy
Minister of Justice, in these words:

At a meeting on Tuesday last, of the
Senate Standing Committee on Legal and
Constitutional Affairs, when we were
examining Bill S-21, in connection with
Hate Propaganda, one of the members,
Senator Lang, requested that an opinion
be asked from the Department of Justice
as to the legal right, power and authority
of the Bell Telephone Company with re-
spect to the use made of its private lines.
At a previous meeting of the committee,
a representative of the company assured
us that because of the terms of their
charter and other statutory law, the com-
pany was required to supply telephone
accommodation to any citizen who
applied and had no power to exercise

censorship over what passes over the pri-
vate line, so long as it does not violate
laws such as being blasphemous or
indecent.

I enclose an excerpt from the official
record of the meeting in question, in
which you will observe that the senators
generally concurred in Senator Lang’s
request for the department’s opinion. If
this request meets with your approval,
could you let me have your reply by...

and I set a date with which he could not
comply. However, I now have his reply, and
I shall read it all into the record:

I apologize for not replying sooner to
your letter of March 21, 1969, in which
you informed me that the Standing Com-
mittee on Legal and Constitutional Af-
fairs has asked for the opinion of the
Department of Justice as to the legal
right, power and authority of Bell Cana-
da with respect to the use made of its
private lines. You point out that at a
previous meeting of the committee a
representative of the company expressed
an opinion as to the company’s obliga-
tions under the terms of its charter and
other statutory law.

As I am sure you will understand, I
would be most pleased to give your com-
mittee any assistance within my power
and indeed, in connection with the pres-
ent bill, I think we have provided every
assistance possible within the limits of
the duties and authority of the depart-
ment. I regret, however, that I am not in
a position to give the opinion requested,
particularly as it involves expressing
views in relation to the specific statutory
rights and obligations of a private person
or corporation.

Constitutionally and historically, as
well as under the express terms of
the Department of Justice Act, the
Minister of Justice and Attorney General
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is the official legal adviser of the Govern-
ment and of departments and agencies of
Government. Consequently, it is not his
function or duty, and therefore not the
function or duty of his deputy or any
other of his officers, to give legal advice
to a committee of Parliament. Moreover,
they would find themselves in an impos-
sible conflict of duty if they were called
upon to advise a Parliamentary commit-
tee with respect to a matter on which
they have advised or may be asked to
advise the Government. There is the fur-
ther circumstance that legal advice given
by the Department of Justice or by the
Attorney General of Canada would not
necessarily be accepted as binding upon
Parliament or any committee of Parlia-
ment and would not necessarily be treat-
ed as conclusive in relation to the issues
involved. ;

The foregoing principles have been tra-
ditionally established and recognized and
have on various occasions been stated by
my predecessors. In these circumstances,
I am sure you will understand that I do
not feel free to depart from them in this
case.

I do not suppose there is any comment in
connection with that; that is final.

Senator Haig: He is just not going to give
an opinion.

The Chairman: That is all, so you cannot
quarrel with his opinion!

As I said, we have three very important
delegations here this afternoon. It was
arranged nicely among ourselves that I
should call on the Canadian Civil Liberties
Association to make the first presentation. We
have here, very fortunately, Mr. Eamon Park,
whom I have known for many, many years.
This will not be the first passage between us,
I can assure you. He is Vice-President of the
Canadian Civil Liberties Association. We also
have Dr. Wilson Head, who is a Vice-Presi-
dent as well, and Professor Graham Parker,
Special Counsel. I am sure they will arrange
among themselves who addresses us and the
order in which they address us.

We have been making it a practice to
adjourn at 3 o’clock in order to put in an
appearance in the chamber. The Senate will
be meeting while we are in session, but the
senators like to go into the chamber and
make the bow to the Speaker and then return
to the committee. It has worked satisfactorily

Standing Senate Committee

so far; everybody has come back, I am glad
to say. It is understood that at five minutes to
three we will adjourn for, say, twenty
minutes and then continue.

Would the representatives of the Canadian
Civil Liberties Association now come for-
ward? Mr. Park, do I understand you are
leading?

Mr. Eamon Park, Vice-President, Canadian
Civil Liberties Association: I will lead off for
the Canadian Civil Liberties Association,
honourable senators. We have presented you
with a formal brief outlining our point of
view, with the intention that I should perhaps
read the brief, after which if there are any
questions on it you might call upon myself or
any of my colleagues to reply.

The Chairman: That is perfectly satisfacto-
ry if you would proceed.

Mr. Park: Honourable senators, like most
others in this country, the Canadian Civil
Liberties Association is deeply troubled by the
dilemmas which are posed in the hate propa-
ganda problem. This issue sets two of the
most cherished values of a democratic society
in conflict with each other. The right of free
speech runs into conflict with the right to live
in dignity. Civil libertarians, of necessity, are
committed to both.

We seek to protect the dignity of our
minority groups against the fear and anxiety
which are generated by the revival of Nazi
obscenities. We seek simultaneously to pre-
serve and perpetuate the right of all Canadi-
ans to speak their minds. Believing as we do
that both of these values are vital but that
none of our values is absolute, the problem
with any legislative proposal is how to secure
the best balance between the right to speak
one’s mind and the right to live in dignity.
There is one additional wvalue which -civil
libertarians, like most other Canadians, are
determined to safeguard. That value is social
peace. In a situation of physical disorder and
violence, no one can enjoy meaningfully free-
dom of speech or a dignified existence.

A word about the special status of freedom
of speech. Even though it is not an absolute,
it is neverthless the value which distinguishes
our form of government from all others. The
right of free speech enables us to mobilize the
support of others to rectify the wrongs for
which we seek redress. The assumption is
that unjust governments and unjust policies
are not as likely to survive in an atmosphere
of free public debate. In this sense, freedom
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of speech is central to democratic govern-
ment. It is the freedom on which our whole
complex of freedoms depends.

By its very nature, freedom of speech
implies certain risks. In order to generate
support for our grievances, we might ignite
passions and tempers. In fact, our most vital
social reforms have often been accompanied
by bitter social tension. Herein lies the dilem-
ma—too much tension can spawn violence;
too little tension can prolong injustice. Our
problem is how and where to balance these
risks. Legislation on hate propaganda drama-
tizes the continuing dilemma of democratic
society.

The most controversial concept in the cur-
rent Bill is found in Section 267B which
creates an offence for inciting ‘“hatred or
contempt” against persons because of race,
ethnicity, etc. Many useful utterances in a
democratic society incite what could be de-
scribed, at the very least, as bitter feelings.
The dividing line between creative tension
and destructive hate will often be very diffi-
cult to draw. For example, if a French-Cana-
dian nationalist were to denounce English
Canadians for the exploitation of French Can-
ada, could it be said that he was inciting
“hatred or contempt” of English-speaking
Canadians? If an Indian were to heap blame
for his poverty upon the white man, could he
be said to be inciting “hatred or contempt”
for white people? If a Jew were to indict all
of Germany for the atrocities of the Nazis,
would he be inciting “hatred or contempt”
against Germans?

Whether or not one agrees with the kinds
of views which we have used in the foregoing
examples, it would be unfair, unwise, and
undemocratic to make them illegal. Yet, we
run the risk that the formulation, “hatred or
contempt”, could lead to precisely such a
result.

Moreover, we fear that the defences which
are provided in the Section may not be ade-
quate to protect many legitimate exercises of
free speech. The defence of truth will have
very little application in view of the fact that
most utterances in the political arena deal
with opinion rather than fact. The immunity
conferred upon subjects of “public interest”
gives the courts far too much power to set the
framework of democratic political polemics.
On the basis of what criteria and in the light
of what kind of evidence will the courts
determine whether a matter is in the public
interest”? § :

Section 267 B (1), while containing the
same problem regarding the interpretation of
the words “hatred or contempt” adds an addi-
tional problem in prohibiting incitements
which are “likely to lead to a breach of the
peace”. The difficulty with this is that it
punishes the speaker not only for inciting vio-
lence against others, but also for attracting
violence to himself. If, to use one of our
examples above, a Canadian Indian were
denouncing the sins of the white man in a
place where there was substantial anti-Indian
prejudice and it was likely that he would be
attacked for what he said, he, the Indian,
might be guilty of an offence. Surely, this is a
risk we do not wish to take. History has
taught us that so often tomorrow’s social
reform grows out of today’s verbal attack.

Similar problems are contained in Section
267C. For an analysis of these dangers, we
reproduce the words of Prof. Walter
Tarnopolsky:

The dangers inherent in the new
offences proposed by Bill S-49 (as it was
then) are even more serious when one
considers Section 267C. It provides that
a publication, copies of which are kept
for sale or distribution, may be seized
under warrant issued by a judge ‘who
is satisfied by information upon oath
that there are reasonable grounds for
believing’ such publication is ‘hate
propaganda’, i.e. a ‘writing, a sign
or visible representation that advocates
or promotes genocide or the communica-
ton of which by any person would consti-
tute an offence under Sub-section 2, sec-
tion 267B’. The owner and author of the
publication seized may appear to be
heard, but ‘if the court is satisfied that
the publication is hate propaganda’ it
may order its forfeiture. Booksellers
beware! Clearly, all copies of “Mein
Kampf” would have to be moved if kept
only for sale for members of a Political
Science class. What about Alan Paton’s
“Cry the Beloved Country”? Doesn’t it
wilfully promote hatred against the domi-
nant white race in the Union of South
Africa? What about the writings of James
Baldwin? Is it not possible that some
judges would be ‘satisfied’ that some of
his works constitute wilful promotion of
hatred against white Americans?.. it is
not absoluely clear that defences set out
in Section 267B (3) would be available to
prevent forfeiture under Section 267C.
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Furthermore, this defence under Sec-
tion 267 B (3) is available only when an
accused can also prove that on reasonable
grounds he believed the statements to be
true. Who is it that must prove in forfei-
ture proceedings that on reasonable
grounds he believed them to be true? Is
it the owner of the book or the author?
What about the defence of the truth?
What would be required to show that the
statements contained were true?*

The small citation marks which I have used
throughout indicate where identification
appears at the end of the brief.

Thus, it is clear that Sections 267 B and C
involve great risks to the free speech of a
wide variety of people, many of whom bear
no resemblance to the Nazis or hate mongers
who sparked this bill. Are these risks justified
by the evidence of trouble or potential trou-
ble to the target groups and the social peace
of this country? The Cohen Committee, itself,
has declared that the hate-mongering problem
in Canada cannot be described “as one of
crisis or near crisis proportions”.? Thus we
face no “clear and present danger”.

If T may add—and I think this represents
the views of the Committee—the situation at
the beginning of 1965, when the Cohen Com-
mittee was established, was more serious, in
our judgment, than the situation which
prevails at this moment. We think that the
Canadian public has responded in its own
way to the dangers which possibly were
before us prior to the establishment of the
committee.

What of potential dangers? In our view,
while we do have a problem of discrimination
and inequality in this country, the breeding
ground for extremism is not very fertile. We
believe that this is verified by our experience
with human rights legislation.

Almost invariably, when the Ontario
Human Rights Commission, one of our most
active Government bodies in the field of race
relations, has uncovered an act of discrimina-
tion, the discriminator has surrendered. Out
of several thousand complaints only about
fifty have required public boards of inquiry.
In these instances, the establishment of public
hearings into the discriminatory conduct led
only twice to the accused being prepared to
fight on. In every other case, the accused
settled with the Ontario Human Rights Com-
mission and made amends for the acts of
discrimination. The comments of Dr. Daniel
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G. Hill, Director of the Ontario Human

Rights Commission, are worth noting:
...there has been an overwhelming dis-
position on the part of most of the
accused to settle with the Commission
after a Board has been announced. ...the
majority of people with whom we deal
preffer to settle or demonstrate acts of
good faith.

The fact that those who practice racial dis-
crimination having capitulated so readily sug-
gests that, despite our problems, the Canadian
public is essentially receptive to human rights
and antagonistic to racial discrimination. If
this were not so, surely we could expect
greater resistance from our racial discrimina-
tors. Thus, we can more readily accept Dr.
Hill’s conclusion:

...the Canadian public is relatively
immune to extremist, anti-Semitic and
other ‘hate’ materials.

Being non-absolutists, if we were satisfied
that the social climate of this country were
presently and potentially more conducive to
the revival of Nazi strength, we might have
no serious objection to Sections 267 B and C
in their present form. Nor would we object
very strongly, if we believed that these sec-
tions would restrict only the invective of the
hate monger without endangering the utter-
ances of others. It is always a question of
balancing risks. In our view, the social cli-
mate in this country at this time does not
warrant taking all of the risks which we have
indicated to the free speech of non-Nazi
groups in this community.

Moreover, we are not satisfied that the
provision with which we are dealing would
provide such adequate protection to the target
group. Even if, or especially if, legal action
were somehow confined to the Nazi element
that precipitated the introduction of this bill,
we fear the consequences for the target group
which is supposed to be protected. So long as
truth and reasonable belief in the truth of the
impugned statements are defences to one of
the charges, we can expect the hate mongers
and Nazis to get into the witness box and
harangue the court with their anti-Semitic
invective. With the assistance of the proposed
legislation, there would be a judicial forum to
propagate racist obscenity. In consequence,
we might anticipate a far larger audience for
ethnic hate than any which the hate monger
is at present able to command.
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The only provision of this bill to which
there could be no serious objection on our
part is the principle contained in the
proposed Section 267 A prohibiting the pro-
motion and advocacy of genocide. We find it
difficult to conceive of a situation where any
social benefit would result from the right to
advocate genocide. That being the case, it is
our view that in such situations freedom of
speech might undergo some modification
because of our social interest in securing the
right to live in dignity for the target group
and the maintenance of peace and harmony
for the entire community. We note, of course,
that no defence of truth or reasonable belief
in the truth is available on a charge of
advocating genocide.

However although the principle contained
in this section is not objectionable, some of
the detailed provisions may constitute an
unnecessary risk to freedom of speech. For
example, Section 267 A (e) would make it an
offence to advocate “forcibly transferring the
children of the group to another group” with
the intent of destroying the group. Could it be
argued that the proposals to impose integrat-
ed education upon the children of Doukhobors
or Indians, for example, might fall within
this prohibition? The risk contained in this
subsection is that a court might be persuaded
that the proposal to transfer children in such
a way is intended to “destroy” a culture, i.e. a
group. Clearly, whatever one thinks of com-
pulsory integrated education, the advocacy of
it in such circumstances should not constitute
a criminal offence. In our view, the concept
of genocide should be limited to physical
destruction.

As we have indicated, there is not enough
evidence of danger to the social peace or to
the target groups to warrant taking the risks
to freedom of speech inherent in the balance
of the bill. Prior to the publication of the
Cohen Report, there were other recommenda-
tions for dealing with the problem of hate
propaganda. In this connection, we refer to
submissions which had been made in 1953 by
the Canadian Jewish Congress and in 1965 by
the Canadian Labour Congress. At that time,
those organizations proposed legislation which
would make it illegal to publish statements
which were designed to incite violence or
disorder against groups and their members
because of the group’s race, religion, colour,
ancestry, nationality, place of origin, ethnici-
ty, or language. Clearly, the formulation “vio-
lence or disorder” runs fewer risks to useful
social debate than the formulation “hatred or
contempt”. r :

The proposal was made as an extension to
the concept of sedition which already appears
in the Criminal Code. Some years ago, judi-
cial decision defined sedition in such a way
that only Government authority was protect-
ed from the incitement to violence and
disorder. In view of the fact that inter-racial
violence is a tactic often employed by
totalitarians in their quest for power, there
might be no serious objection to the extension
of sedition in this way.

Another reason for our reluctance about the
bill in its present form grows out of our con-
viction that there are alternate weapons
available to contain the extremists. We
believe that the emphasis should be directed
not primarily at outlawing the words of the
hate monger, but rather at improving the
social context in which he seeks to operate.
Our efforts should be focussed essentially
upon further immunizing the Canadian public
from the message of the hate monger.

In this connection, we recommend strength-
ening human rights legislation and adminis-
tration around the country. A stronger pro-
gram against discriminatory deeds will weak-
en the impact of bigoted words.

Before looking at specific measures by
which we can strengthen our general human
rights activities, let us examine something of
the character of our inter-group situation.

The key racial problems in today’s Canada
arise less from extremist name-calling than
from basic inequality. Generations of dis-
crimination have left us a legacy of
inequality.

Note, for example, the observations of soci-
ologist Rudolph Helling regarding his survey
on minority groups in Windsor, Ontario:

Only a few Chinese are employed out-
side of the traditional food and personal
service areas.

Yet Helling also points out: “The majority of
the Chinese are relatively poor”. On Negroes,
Helling says: “...Negroes are underrepre-
sented in skilled and technical occupations
...There are few other occupations with
apprenticed skills which employ Negroes”.
John Porter’s classic analysis “The Vertical
Mosaic” points up this basic inequality:
The immigrants of non-British or non-
U.S. origin got into the economic elite
scarcely at all. ...As far as ethnic back-
ground is concerned, it is clear that pref-
erence for recruitment to the economic
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elite is for English-speaking people of
British origin.

It is trite knowledge in Canada that this
holds true even in the Province of Quebec
with its overwhelming French population. A
minority of Anglo-Saxons continues to occupy
the central positions of economic power in the
private sector of Quebec’s economy. Porter
also points out that the Jews, one of the most
“highly educated” groups in the country, “are
scarcely represented at the higher levels of
Canada’s corporate institutions.”

In the case of Canada’s native Indian popu-
lation, inequality has reached a desparate
state. Recent surveys tell us that in Canada:

Seventy-five percent of Indian families
live on an annual income of $2,000 or
less; forty-seven percent on $1,000 or less.
Indians require welfare at ten times the
national average and their pre-school
children are dying at eight times the
national average.

In the words of a recent Indian submission to
the government:
Unhappily we must report that the last
100 years have visited an unimaginable
deterioration in the life of the Indians of
this country. A once proud and industri-
ous people have suffered a degree of
poverty, unemployment, disease, mortal-
ity, and discrimination out of all propor-
tion to its members.

The welfare of our target groups and the
ultimate social peace of this country are far
more threatened by these conditions of ine-
quality than all of the hate literature com-
piled in the Cohen Report. Indeed, we note
that the Cohen Report itself has indicated the
need for Canadians to address themselves to
these problems. Unfortunately, however, the
bill before us purports to deal with the less
vital aspects of the problem.

At the moment, the Fair Employment Prac-
tices Branch of the Department of Labour has
a very small full time staff with which to
enforce the Canada Fair Employment prac-
tices Act. As a result, the enforcement duties
are left to labour conciliators throughout the
country to handle on a part time basis. Offi-
cials of the Central Mortgage and Housing
Corporation enforce the anti-discrimination
provisions of the National Housing Act, also
on a part-time basis. In our view, part-time
enforcement conveys half-hearted interest. If
government does not exhibit more interest,
we cannot expect the community to do so.
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Indeed, on a number of occasions, even gov-
ernment officials have been found violating
our human rights legislation. Recently, both
the Jewish Labour Committee of Canada and
the National Human Rights Committee of the
Canadian Labour Congress uncovered evi-
dence that officials of the Canada Manpower
Centres were processing discriminatory job
orders.

A more vigourous government initiative is
required. We propose that the federal govern-
ment station full-time human rights staff in
key centres throughout the country. The role
of the staff would be to go into the communi-
ty and, in co-operation with provincial agen-
cies, promote positive compliance with our
fair practices laws. They should publish and
distribute literature to employers, personnel
managers, placement agencies, manpower
centres, builders, real estate agencies, educa-
tional institutions, churches, unions, mass
media, minority groups, etc. Such literature
should persuasively inform all segments of
our society of their rights and duties under
this legislation. Government staff should
initiate face-to-face meetings, conferences,
and seminars in the more vital areas of our
community. They should appear also at school
assemblies, trade conferences, and meetings
all over the country, conveying the message
of human rights and racial equality.

Government human rights administrators
should also embark upon ‘“positive opportuni-
ty” programs. Without waiting for com-
plaints, they should go to industry, minority
groups, and other community leaders in an
attempt to recruit voluntary co-operation for
positive programs designed to increase oppor-
tunities for minority groups. This means co-
ordinating job opportunities and minority
group candidates. With the prestige of gov-
ernment brought to bear, there is a good
chance that many employers, community
leaders, and trade unionists will agree to sit
down with minority group agencies and work
out a program of placing people as opportuni-
ties arise. The role of government would be
to open the channels of communication and
bring all parties together. Subsidies should be
made available to those employers willing to
provide on-the-job training to compensate for
deficiencies in educational background, Eco-
nomic development programs should be
undertaken in areas suffering from “regional
disparities”. The key to the success of such a
program is that government must initiate.
Subsidy programs and economic development
opportunities will lie dormant unless someone
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specifically promotes their use. Government
must be the catalyst.

Government must also sponsor scientific
research into the difficulties and problems of
intergroup relations. Out of this increased
knowledge and information will grow new
techniques for combatting discrimination and
promoting equality in this country.

The objective is for government resources
virtually to saturate this nation with a con-
cern for human rights and racial equality.
Clearly, this is not a plea for tender lectures
on the merits of brotherly love. Rather, it is a
call to involve the entire community in action
to bring about conditions of equality. What
we hope to achieve is a situation where all
over the country people of different groups
and backgrounds will be engaging in face-to-
face co-operation to solve common problems.
Such co-operative efforts involving black,
white, Indian, non-Indian, Protestant, Catho-
lic, Jew, employer, trade unionist, the old, the
young are bound to have a spill-over effect.
Enlightened attitudes, acceptance of and re-
spect for differences, are more likely to
emerge from enlightened behaviour, actual
cooperative experience.

With all segments of our community
involved in activities promoting the condi-
tions of equality and dignity, the Nazi and the
hate monger will be operating in a virtual
vacuum. In this way, we can simultaneously
weaken neo-Nazi influence and strengthen
human rights performance. All of this with
far less risk to freedom of speech.
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Mr. Chairman, thank you very much for
the opportunity to present our views to your
committee.

The Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Park. Dr.
Head, have you something to add?

Dr. Wilson Head, Vice-President, Canadian
Civil Liberties Association: No, Mr. Chair-
man, but if there are questions I would be
very happy to answer them.

The Chairman: Yes. Professor Parker, have
you anything to add?

Professor Graham Parker, Special Counsel,
Canadian Civil Liberties Association: No, Mr.
Chairman, but I am prepared to answer ques-
tions also.

The Chairman: Members of the committee,
have you questions to put to these witnesses?

Senator Walker: May I, Mr. Chairman, con-
gratulate Mr. Park on a well-reasoned and
well-rounded out presentation backed up by a
great deal of valuable authority. I particular-
ly note page 4 where he says:

The Cohen Committee, itself, has
declared that the hate-mongering prob-
lem in Canada cannot be described “as
one of crisis or near crisis proportions”.
Thus, we face no “clear and present
danger”.

You were saying, Mr. Parker, that you
thought the climate was better than it was
when the Cohen report was written three
years ago. I share that view. Would you be
good enough to tell us if you know of any
incident in Canada in the last three years,
outside of Beattie, which would indicate there
is a need for this legislation?

Mr. Park: Offhand I cannot recall any spe-
cific incident. Maybe some of my colleagues
can. I think there have been a number of
problems involving racial discrimination in
various parts of Canada, but I think most of
those that have arisen are capable of solution
and handling by the wvarious human rights
codes. I think that to the extent that those
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human rights codes have been strengthened
we are better off. Other than that of Beattie,
I know of no specific additional situations.

I do think that there was a time when
every one was very much concerned, and had
we been speaking to you in 1965 our brief
might have had a different tone. Our feeling
now is that the situation is more in hand.
Whether the exposure of Beattie and what he
stands for has conditioned the Canadian pub-
lic to be aware of the situation, I do not
know, but our feeling is that a continuing of
that educational process plus the strengthen-
ing of human rights activities that we indi-
cate we desire is a better way of proceeding
at this time. There is no situation of crisis.
We would not say that in a situation of seri-
ous crisis something of this sort of legislation
is not needed. I think what we are saying is
that we are sympathetic with the purposes of
the legislation, but we are concerned that the
form the legislation has taken may inhibit
certain other forms of expression that are
desirable in our political situation. In the case
of Beattie perhaps we are taking a sledge
hammer to smash a gnat, and it will come
back to harm us in other areas.

Senator Walker: Is it not remarkable to see
the way in which the Canadian public has
ameliorated in its attitude towards groups?
This thing of hatred—which is perhaps the
best word to describe it—is really dying out
in Canada, is it not?

Mr. Park: I would hope it was. I would not
be absolutely sure that there were not situa-
tions in which at least contempt for certain
racial groups continues to be a problem in
Canada. I would think that even in the crisis
we have had between French and English
Canada there has been an amelioration of
feelings across the country.

Dr. Head: I wonder if I might say a word
about this? I would be very concerned about
the fact that some of the more recent happen-
ings which probably would be covered by this
were affected. There are uprisings by young
students on campuses; Indians are demanding
their rights and demanding ‘“Red Power”; a
certain number of blacks in this country are
demanding “Black Power,” and that might be
affected by this kind of legislation. Obviously
these people are not advocating genocide or
anything else, but they are speaking their
own will, sometimes in inflammatory lan-
guage. These people who feel they have been
dispossessed, exploited, manipulated and
discriminated against do not speak in say,
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silk-stocking afternoon-tea type of language,
and that kind of thing could be pointed to as
suggesting that they were inciting violence
etc. I am convinced that many of these people
are expressing feelings that are honestly and
very, very strongly held. I think in some
ways what they are saying is, “The only way
we can get the Canadian public to respect
and react to what we are saying is by saying
it in inflammatory language.” I would hate to
see the Canadian public subject this to an
inhibiting test and try to suppress a very
healthy expression of discontent.

Senator Choquette: The writings all over
the wall of the Canadian Indian Pavilion at
Expo were reproaches by the hundreds to the
white people, saying: “We opened our hearts,
tents and houses to you, and what did you give
us in return?” There was a whole list of
grievances against the white people. Would
that be considered as inciting hatred against
the whites? That is just an added example to
what you have already said.

The Chairman: Could whites be considered
a group?

Mr. Park: I would think they could.

The Chairman:
extravagant.

Perhaps it is rather

Mr. Park: In a very broad expression.
The Chairman: I would think so.

Mr. Park: I suppose in the United States at
the moment to the black person “white” is an
expression of a group.

The Chairman: Are there any further ques-
tions or observations?

Senator Macdonald: Could the witness tell
us something about the Canadian Civil Liber-
ties Association, its aims and objects and how
many people it represents?

Mr. Park: It is an association dedicated to
the protection and expansion of civil liberties
for Canadians, and it is concerned with the
extension of those rights. It has existed now
for a number of years. It has been served by
a number of very distinguished persons in its
offices. Professor Mark MacGuigan, now
Member of Parliament for Windsor-Walker-
ville, was one of the former presidents. The
president at the moment is the Honourable J.
Keiller Mackay.

Senator Walker: He would be very much
against a bill like this, would he not? :
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Mr. Park: I cannot speak for him personal-
ly, but he is one of the officers of our associa-
tion. Others are Professor H. W. Arthurs,
Faculty of Law, Osgoode Hall, June Call-
wood, Professor G. Horowitz, Faculty of
Political Science, University of Toronto,
Reverend Donald Gillies, Mr. Julien Porter,
Dr. Martin O’Connell, Professor D. P. Gau-
thier, and Dr. Wilson Head, who is present here
today. A large number of both academics and
legal people are on the board.

I may say that this brief was very thor-
oughly considered by a large attendance of
the board, and it was revised and rewritten
several times. It is not somebody’s snap judg-
ment about the subject. The final wording of
the brief, I would say, represents an over-
whelming opinion of our board, whose mem-
bership I think I could reasonably claim is
highly qualified in this field. It is their over-
whelming point of view that is expressed in
the brief I presented here. I would not say
100 per cent, but I would say of the people
who sat in on the discussions and that would
be a large part of our board, represents at
least 95 per cent viewpoint.

The Chairman: Have you a membership?

Mr. Park: Yes, there is a membership. Miss
Armstrong is the executive assistant. There
are individual memberships and the board is
elected by annual meetings. Most of the cen-
tral activity is in the City of Toronto. There
are associated groups with us in other com-
munities in the country.

Again, Miss Armstrong could tell us better
of those particular ones.

The Chairman: What is the membership,
Miss Armstrong?

Miss Armsirong, Executive
Canadian Civil Liberties Association: Mr.
Chairman, and honourable senators, it is
approximately 300 to 400 at the present time.

Assistant,

The Chairman: I think I am a member

myself.

Miss Armsirong: Yes, you are, sir, and in
good standing. The association had its begin-
ning after the Second World War. On the
west coast a group of Japanese Canadians
were being persecuted and driven from their
property, and the association was begun by a
small group of dedicated lawyers. Mr. Irving
Himel and a board of directors thought of
rejuvenation about four or five years ago
with generous grants, one from the Atkinson
Foundation. .
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Mr. A. Alan Borovoy has been on our staff
for about a year now. A fully-qualified law-
yer, he has had 10 or 12 years’ experience in
the field of civil liberties and human law. He
has carried briefs on behalf of many disad-
vantaged groups, most of which briefs have
been successful. He organized in 1965 the
march of Kenora Indians upon city hall.
Forty or fifty Indians took part in that march,
and every demand in their brief was met.

He also organized the Afro-Negroes about
1965 and since then the slum of Afroville has
been razed and better housing has been erect-
ed. Negroes, more importantly, have a strong
social base upon which to function and oper-
ate equally in our society. As Mr. Park point-
ed out, our board of directors comprises a
very broad spectrum of professional areas.
He, of course, is the very well-known labour
leader. We have sociologists, social workers,
lawyers, academics of every discipline,
philosophy, history, law, and so on, as well as
a number of practising lawyers who are very
well known in their fields of criminal law.

We have writers, journalists, and just
about every area of human affairs that would
be representative of the people whom we are
serving.

The Chairman: What has not been brought
out is the fact that Mr. Himel—who at that
time I think was president of the organiza-
tion—suggested to the Senate an inquiry
into human rights and fundamental freedoms.
That inquiry occupied our attention for two
sessions some years ago and resulted in a
very valuable report.

Senator White: When there are court cases
which your association feels involve an issue
of civil liberties, do you have the legal staff
to take care of it or assist the accused?

Mr. Park: We have, as has been suggested,
Mr. Alan Borovoy, the Executive Director of
the Civil Liberties Association, who is also a
lawyer. He has acted in a number of cases.

The facilities of the association itself are
limited, as far as being able to provide legal
services, though we have done so in a num-
ber of cases and we have always acted as a
referral case for anyone who feels they have
a civil rights case.

Mr. Borovoy has acted as counsel in a num-
ber of discrimination cases over the years,
before the Ontario Human Rights Commis-
sion, which deals with what are believed to
be violations of the human rights code.
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" Senator White: Suppose there should be
such a tragedy that this bill should pass and
become law, if there are any charges laid,
apart from genocide, under the bill, would
you express an opinion as to whether or not
your association should feel they should come
to the assistance of the accused?

Mr. Park: I do not want to make an out-
right commitment.

Senator White: Just your own opinion?

Mr. Park: My own private opinion is that
we would entertain them, if there were any-
one facing prosecution and we thought that,
under a bill such as this, or any other bill for
that matter, there was a civil rights issue
involved. We would certainly interest our-
selves in it. The battery of lawyers who are
on our board is composed of the kind of peo-
ple who would be concerned about that kind
of case and I am sure would interest them-
selves in it, even from the individual point of
view, as well as from the association point of
view.

The Chairman: Thank you very much.
There are no further questions. We wish to
express our thanks to you for a thoughtful
address. You may be sure that it will be
carefully considered by our committee.

We will adjourn now for twenty minutes,
so that members may attend the sitting of the
Senate.

(Short recess)
Upon resuming:

The Chairman: Honourable senators, we
have again a quorum and in view of the
pressure of numbers this afternoon I think we
should proceed at once.

I have the pleasure of introducing Profes-
sor H. W. Arthurs, Associate Dean of Osgoode
Hall Law School. I am sure that we will have
a very fine address from him. Professor
Arthurs, the audience is yours.

Professor Harry W. Arthurs, Associate
Dean, Osgoode Hall Law School of York
University: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Honour-
able senators, I should like to repay the
honour this committee does me in affording
me this opportunity to testify by doing so in a
frank, and I trust, a useful manner. At the
outset, I must say that I have no illusions
about the popularity of the position I am
going to take, either with respect in this
Committee, or in the country at large. I am

here today as an opponent of legislation
which is the product of the report of a com-
mittee of which the Honourable Prime
Minister was a member, which is sought by
significant and diverse religious, social, and
political groups in our community and which
is endorsed by many men and women whom I
respect, and whose motives and intellectual
abilities I admire.

Let me add, should this be necessary, that
although I appear today as an opponent of
the Bill to outlaw hate propaganda, I am no
friend of those who disseminate it. I am
Jewish, and indeed I am a sometime member
of the legal committee of the Canadian
Jewish Congress. Needless to say, I do not
appear as their spokesman on this particular
issue. Likewise, I am a Vice-President and
founding member of the Canadian Civil
Liberties Association, but they have made
their own submissions indicating their reser-
vations about this legislation, and it is not as
an officer of that organization that I appear
today.

I interpolate to say that in all candour I did
have something to do with their brief and you
may detect certain similarities between my
submission and theirs.

Rather, I am here as a citizen who is con-
cerned to preserve both liberty and amicable
group relations in this country, but who fears
that much harm will be done to the former,
with little benefit to the latter, by the
proposed legislation.

2. Free Speech in Canadian Society

I will not claim the time of this Committee
in order to expound the absolute centrality of
free speech in a parliamentary democracy. It
is the means by which—through debate and
persuasion, through appeal to public opin-
ion—changes in social, economie, political,
and religious values are sought and some-
times secured. It is equally obvious that these
changes, brought about through orderly pro-
cesses, depend upon the existence of a “mar-
ket place of ideas” in which contending wares
vie for the attention and affection of
citizen-consumers.

It is likewise trite to observe that many
ideas, once thought wrong or even pernicious,
have become commonplace and even
meritorious. Nor is it always possible to cull
from the rich crop of absurdities and even
falsehoods which are propounded by those
who speak and write -in public, those few
germs of insight and revelation which move
civilization ahead. It has been wisely observed
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that “many truths ride into history on the
back of error”.

To this point, I am sure, there will be no
disagreement between us. “But”, to approach
the watershed “free speech is not an abso-
lute”. Conceded. What then ‘justifies interfer-
ence with free speech? In my view, free
speech should only be interfered with to the
extent necessary to preserve the very fabric
of society against a “clear and present
danger”.

No doubt it will be said—and has been
said—that the law already interferes in many
ways with freedom of speech. Reference has
been made to the law of criminal libel, to
criminal code prohibitions against blasphemy,
to the tort of defamation, and to a host of
other inhibitions upon the right of public
appeal. I would respectfully submit that this
Committee should view such existing re-
straints as a ground for impugning the Bill,
rather than for endorsing it.

The recent trend of our law has been to
expand the area of free speech, rather than to
contract it. Until recently, dissemination of
information about birth control was prohibit-
ed because it gave offence to some sectors of
the community; until recently, various forms
of artistic expression were labelled porno-
graphic and suppressed; until recently, those
in a position of authority could (and occasion-
ally still do) vindicate their commitment to
existing social values by invoking the law of
criminal and civil libel or contempt of court.
But gradually the burden of these restraints
is being lifted; gradually we are coming to
realize that the people can and must be trust-
ed, that political or moral or social good taste
cannot be enshrined in law, and that those
who pose as our custodians and protectors
may gradually come to dominate and inhibit
us. This development is the hallmark of a
healthy and self-confident democracy.

In short, I am not much impressed with the
argument that speech is not “free” now, and
therefore can be made even less so. The very
existence of present restrictive laws is the
reason for not adding to them.

3. Is There Evidence to Support the Enact-
ment of Criminal Legislation Against Hate
Propaganda?

The Special Committee on Hate Propagan-
da clearly did not find that there existed in
1965, at the time of its report, a ‘“clear and
present danger” to Canadian sogciety. To quote
but one of the many statements to this effect
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in the report, the committee stated at page
59:
The amount of hate propaganda presently
being disseminated and its measurable
effects probably are not sufficient to justi-
fy a description of the problem as one of
crisis or near crisis proportions.

The Committee, of course, went on to indi-
cate that there was a risk that “given a cer-
tain set of socio-economic circumstances ...
public susceptibility might well increase sig-
nificantly”. By its own admission, then, the
committee appears to indicate that if there is
any danger to Canadian society it is neither
“clear” nor ‘“present”.

It is now almost 3} years since the com-
mittee reported. During this period of time,
proponents of the Ilegislation have been
unceasing in their efforts to have it adopted,
and have been thwarted (apparently) only by
the fact that this Bill has had to joust for
priority on the legislative timetable with other,
more pressing, matters. Nonetheless, the last
3% years have added a new and significant
dimension to our understanding of the situa-
tion. For during this time, without the repres-
sive effect of criminal legislation, the trickle
of hate propaganda—it was never a torrent—
has shrunken to the point where it is no more
than a residual and putrid puddle.

Far from infecting the Canadian public
with the virus of hate, this brief racist epi-
sode appears to have generated some degree
of resistance in the Canadian body politic.
Opinion-makers, religious, political and social
leaders, and ordinary men and women,
showed their sense of revulsion, and their
determination that Canada shall not be a
breeding ground for hatred. If this determi-
nation is not always as firm or as outspoken
as it might be, it is sufficient to warrant a
vote of confidence from the “target” groups in
society, and to offer a basis for further devel-
opment. Far from asserting any influence on
the affairs of state, the hatemongers have had
to endure the spectacle of seeing one of the
authors of the report of the Special Commit-
tee become the Prime Minister of Canada,
and another a member of the federal House
of Commons. Far from attracting to them-
selves a growing number of militant support-
ers, the hatemongers have dwindled to an
even more insignificant number than that
detected by the special committee.

Should we not, then, learn the lessons of
experience? The Canadian public can and
should be trusted to vigorously resist attempts
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to indoctrinate it in attitudes of hatred.
Even in the face of serious national and inter-
national tensions, it has not succumbed to the
appeals of those who would wish to exploit
confusion and controversy.

‘But, it might be argued, it is possible that
future circumstances might arise in Canadian
society which would be more receptive to the
spread of hatred, and at that point it will be
too late to enact legislation. In this connec-
tion, an analogy is often made to the demo-
cratic Weimar republic, which was in the
space of only a few years overthrown by the
racist Nazi regime. To this point there are
two responses.

First, Canada of 1969 can in no way be
compared to Germany of 1919 or even 1929.
We have not just come through a catastrophic
war, a social and political revolution, an eco-
nomic collapse, or a sudden class upheaval.
We are not a country lacking in democratic
traditions, new to parliamentary institutions,
or beset by totalitarian subversives of the left
and the right. In short, none of the conditions
which produced the downfall of the Weimar
republic and the rise of the Nazi party are, or
are likely to be, present in Canada. In factual
terms, any comparisons between these two
countries, if intended to conjure up the spec-
. tacle of a Canadian Third Reich, must be
dismissed out of hand.

Second, the whole notion of a ‘“clear and
present danger” test is that we should not be
persuaded to surrender our freedom in order
to make ourselves secure against dangers
which may never come to pass. This seduc-
tive appeal of “it just might happen” would
lead us down a path from which there is,
logically, no turning back. For many people
(although I do not believe their fear is jus-
tified) there is a “clear and present danger”
that Canada will fall prey to American milita-
rism, or to the terrorist tactics of certain
separatist elements in Quebec. What
extremist measures might not be justified in
the eyes of these individuals in order to sup-
press the “danger” which they fear so much?
In other words, it is my submission that the
justification, if any, for legislation inhibiting
freedom of speech (which this Bill is conced-
ed to do) must be found in an objective state
of facts, rather than in the subjective appre-
hensions of some parts of the community.

4. Criminal Legislation is an Ineffective and
Inappropriate Method of Fighting Hate
Propaganda
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Assuming that this honourable committee
rejects the arguments that I have made on
the grounds of principle, and on the issue of
proof, I should like to make a pragmatic
analysis of why I feel penal legislation is the
wrong way to attack hatemongering.

In the first place, by courting prosecution,
and by using the trial as the means of gaining
public attention, the hatemonger may in fact
gain considerable advantage, even if he is
ultimately convicted. As will be seen, certain
features of the proposed bill afford the hate-
monger an opportunity, publicly sanctioned,
to conduct his defence by a further propaga-
tion of his perverted ideas. Moreover, convic-
tion and imprisonment may well be sought
and welcomed by the hatemonger, not merely
because it confers upon him a spurious air of
martyrdom, but as well because he is driven
by dark compulsions which make him per-
ceive himself as the victim of society and its
values. In effect, then, far from diminishing
the incidence of hatemongering, prosecution
may actually increase it.

Second, as our experience with communism
indicates, if we outlaw certain forms of
speech, however distasteful, we may simply
drive the speakers underground. Bolstered by
the allure of the illicit and the comradeship
of co-conspirators, the number of hatemon-
gers might actually grow. On the other hand,
there is something to be gained from permit-
ting hatemongers to speak publicly. For some
disturbed individuals, the opportunity to do
so would afford a catharsis, and reduce any
compulsion to engage in more serious and
harmful acts. More importantly, the hatemon-
gers would be identified, and would be
subject to the constant scorn and ridicule of
the general community, thus further dis-
couraging them.

Third, while I concede that an effort has
been made to draft the bill tightly, I share
with many people the genuine fear that even
in its present terms it may be used to silence
individuals and groups whose cause might be
either innocuous, or, indeed, highly meritori-
ous, but whose methods are found to be dis-
tasteful by those who are in a position to
initiate prosecution. To some extent the risk
here highlighted will be developed in an
analysis of the actual terms of the legislation.
However, as a general matter it is true that
Canadian courts have not been particularly
sensitive towards free speech values. There is
no reason to expect that the present bill will
receive a more libertarian interpretation than
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have other statutes designed for limited pur-
poses, which have in fact been applied to
inhibit free speech in Canada.

Fourth, it is a notorious article of any
totalitarian faith that public order and social
cohesion must override free speech and dis-
sent. While I certainly do not suggest that
those who favour this bill are in any sense of
the word supporters of such a totalitarian
attitude, it does strike me as being particular-
ly ironic that we seek to protect liberty by
diminishing it. We are, in effect, creating a
precedent for repression, should an unhappy
day ever arrive when less benevolent and
liberal legislators occupy the benches of
Parliament.

Finally, I come to the point, which, in my
view, is more significant than any other. I
believe that the use of criminal legislation to
control activity which is deemed to be hurtful
and anti-social rests upon a miscalculation
about the efficacy of criminal law. To take
but three examples, we were not able to
diminish drunkeness by prohibiting the sale
of alecoholic liquor; we have not been able to
curb the use of narcotics by a vigorous cam-
paign of policing; and we have not managed
to stifle various manifestations of sexuality
by censorship or the threat of criminal sanc-
tions. We err when we concentrate our atten-
tion upon those who disseminate, rather than
those who consume. If hate propaganda falls
upon the ears of a hostile audience, it will
have no effect. If it falls upon the ears of
people who suffer social or economic depriva-
tion, whose education in citizenship and
democratic values is deficient, then it may
well take root.

If the bill were merely destined to be inef-
fective, this might be reason enough to avoid
enacting it. But there is actually, I believe, a
risk that the passage of this criminal legisla-
tion may inhibit effective educational mea-
sures in the Canadian community.

If this bill is enacted, the general communi-
ty reaction will be “now there is a law, and
the business of combating hate propaganda is
the job of policemen and magistrates”. Not so.
The job of combating hate propaganda is, and
always must be, the job of every citizen., To
enact a law is to invite the citizen to slough
off his responsibilities, to hand over to his
paid servants the moral burden which is his
alone. I would prefer to see individuail citi-
zens—from the highest to the lowest—con-
stantly confront and shout down the hate-
monger and the bigot, rather than permit
them to bask in the illusion that the forces of
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law and order, by prosecuting a few sad
individuals, have obliterated prejudice.

5. The Bill as Drafted Contains Serious Flaws

An article by Dean Walter Tarnopolsky of
the Faculty of Law, University of Windsor,
which was published in the University of
British Columbia Law Review and which Ido
hope has been brought to the attention of this
committee, traces a number of serious prob-
lems inherent in the language of the bill. I
propose in this submission merely to highlight
one or two of the points made by Dean Tar-
nopolsky, and perhaps to contribute one or
two additional points.

I do not deal at length with Section 276a.
By and large, advocacy or promotion of geno-
cide is offensive because it involves the doing
of violence to a group and its members, rath-
er than the mere utterance of words which
are distasteful to them. I would merely
observe that such phrases as ‘“deliberately
inflicting on the group conditions of life
calculated to bring about its physical destruc-
tion” might well be employed to describe even
benevolent measures, such as those undertak-
en in relation to the resettlement of economi-
cally deprived communities, or integration of
Indians or Eskimos into an urban society.
Naturally, there will be some argument about
the term “deliberately’”, but I think that
much clarity could be added to the section if
it were made clear that what is intended to be
outlawed is the doing of physical harm to
individuals, rather than dissolution of the
group per se. I would also express some con-
cern at the failure to define the nature of the
“groups” being protected. While many absurd
illustrations could be put, I merely make the
point that Parliament should avoid creating
serious crimes whose scope cannot really be
anticipated.

Turning to Section 2678, my first concern is
with subsection (1). There is a risk that a
speaker might find himself in violation of the
section by reason of his outspoken views, not
because he desired violence, but because his
audience did. This section, in effect, creates a
“heckler’s veto”, so that those who object to
the message given may not merely silence a
speaker, but in fact may make him subject to
prosecution, by their failure to behave. I
therefore think that a clear line should be
drawn between the speaker who has violence
as his objective, and the speaker who is a
victim of it. This distinction is critical for the
protection of minority groups who appeal
against real or imagined injustices visited
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upon them by the majority. For example, one
can easily envisage an Indian or Negro
spokesman who denounces the white race in
bitter and contemptuous terms which fall
within the reach of section 2674, as a result of
which he is attacked by an angry crowd of
whites. Naturally, it is possible to take the
lofty attitude that such minority group
members should speak in polite and measured
tones, in conformity to the standards laid
down in the bill. But this rejoinder not only
ignores the realities of political oratory and of
the intensity of their grievance, but as well
changes the rules in the middle of the game.
At this moment in history when so many
minority groups are, for the first time, assert-
ing their claims to human dignity, we ought
not suddenly to deny to them the luxuries of
intemperate self-expression in which we have
indulged ourselves for so long.

Subsection (2) is also open to serious objec-
tion. There is no limitation as to the time,
place, or circumstance of the communications
which are forbidden. Surely we do not wish
to come to the point where casual conversa-
tion, or even formal communication, within
the confines of a self-restricted group
becomes a matter for regulation. If the crimi-
nal law has “no place in the bedrooms of the
nation”, it likewise has no place in its par-
lours, or even its meeting halls. The section,
as drafted, invites snooping, an informer sys-
tem, and ultimately an awareness by each
citizen that words spoken by him may be
reported to “Big Brother”.

The defence afforded by subsection (3),
which was apparently intended to preserve
the libertarian credentials of the proponents
of the bill, in my view does no such thing.
Truth or falsity, or belief in truth and falsity,
the two defences afforded, are virtually
irrelevant to an evaluation of social, religious,
or political controversy. Opinion, not fact, is
the stuff of speeches. Subjectivity, not objec-
tivity, is of the essence of response. If the
medium is today conceded to have greater
impact than the message, then it would follow
that the Tight to resort to non-verbal, and
even non-rational, communication may be
more important than the right to be permit-
ted to speak “truth”. Moreover, as has been
indicated, to frame a defence in the terms of
this subsection is to invite the hatemonger to
use the trial as the occasion for demonstrating
his belief—which may be as genuine as it is
jrrational—that minority groups are guilty of
some great offence against society, or deserv-
ing of some particular form of ill-treatment.
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Yet, to deny the hatemonger this opportunity
is to deny him even the minimal defence
afforded by this bill. Thus, a trial under this
provision might well turn into a circus of
hate and a public exhibition of psychopath-
ology.

Section 267c is an unusual attempt at pre-
censorship. It is potentially unfair both to the
prosecution and to the accused. If the pub-
lisher of impugned material is a reputable
person acting in good faith, then the fact that
he is ultimately acquitted, perhaps after a
lengthy trial and one or more appeals, is of
little consequence; he will have been denied
the opportunity to distribute his publication
at the moment when he had counted upon
doing so, perhaps as part of a regular pub-
lishing schedule. On the other hand, the
unscrupulous publisher, if acquitted, is in a
position to exploit prosecution as a device for
luring readers; even if he is convicted, more-
over, public curiosity may well be whetted,
thus inviting clandestine circulation of
material which may have escaped confisca-
tion, or been reproduced elsewhere. “Banned
in Boston” has become a by-word for the
inefficacy of the procedure proposed in Sec-
tion 267c.

Finally, I would draw the committee’s
attention, without superfluous comment, to
such matters as the shifting of the onus from
the Crown to the accused in section 2678, and
the possible deprivation of a jury trial in an
area of activity which historically has been
the greatest concern of juries under the Brit-
ish system of justice.

6. What to do about Hate Propaganda?

If criminal legislation is undesirable and
ineffective, and if the proposed bill has seri-
ous flaws, does it follow that nothing should
be done about hate propaganda? No one could
responsibly take this position.

It is undeniable that there exists a capacity
for hate against individuals, against groups,
against the “system,” amongst all of us.
Whether from some psychological distur-
bance, or from a fantasized or genuine aware-
ness of injustice, all of us have the unhappy
tendency to condemn, to ridicule, and even
perhaps to harm other human beings by rea-
son of their association with a group.

What I propose is that within the limits of
our resources, we bend every effort towards
eliminating real injustices, towards explain-
ing and exploding fantasies, and towards
stimulating respect for individuals and their
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differences, and for the use of orderly pro-
cesses for the resolution of grievances.

Under the federal citizenship power, it
seems to me that the Government of Canada
could, and should, undertake a vigorous pro-
gram of public information and education.
This program might take a variety of forms:
speeches, declarations and proclamations by
parliamentarians and public servants; a
vigorously-administered federal Human
Rights Code; co-operative programs involving
churches, labour unions, employers, ethnic
and service groups; promotion of exchanges
in Canada and abroad, so that people from all
walks of life can learn respect for the differ-
ing values of others; and—most difficult—
eradication of poverty and cultural depriva-
tion in many parts of the country.

All of these, especially the last, involve the
long run rather than the short run. But we do
have a short run because Canada is not now,
nor is it likely soon to be, a fertile ground for
the hatemonger. All of these, especially the
last, involve the commitment of considerable
human and financial resources. But we have
these resources, and we are already commit-
ted, in substantial measure to the elimination
of poverty and inequality. Whatever other
motivations this program may have, it
undoubtedly will help to eliminate the dan-
gers at which this bill is aimed.

I do not believe that government can act
alone or even act with greatest effect in this
field. Much of what needs to be done must be
done by private citizens. Acting in their own
neighbourhoods, whether in an organized
fashion, or in simple private discourse,
individuals must undertake to confront and
vanquish prejudice. But if government does
nothing save amend the Criminal Code, it
will have done nothing to stimulate this all-
important activity by citizens. These amend-
ments may simply recede into well-deserved
obscurity, there to join the band of bigots
whose conduct led to their enactment.

With respect, the yardstick by which Par-
liament’s genuine concern for group relations
in this country will be measured is the extent
to which it proposes, and enacts, authentic
measures to promote good citizenship and not
the fervour with which it enacts conventional
penal legislation to punish bad c1tlzensh1p

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

The Chairman: Thank you, Professor Ar-
thurs, for a very thoughtful presentation. Are
there any questions from the senators?
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Senator Cook: Mr. Chairman, first of all I
beg to congratulate Professor Arthurs. I take
a different view from him but this is a very
persuasive brief and it has shaken me
considerably.

Speaking as one who has not had too much
experience with the Canadian courts, profes-
sor, on page 9 you say:

However, as a general matter it is true
that Canadian courts have not been par-
ticularly sensitive towards free speech
values. There is no reason to expect that
the present Bill will receive a more liber-
tarian interpretation than have other stat-
utes designed for limited purposes, which
have in fact been applied to inhibit free
speech in Canada.

That is to me an extraordinary paragraph
or statement. Would you like to elaborate on
that?

Professor Arthurs: Surely. During the
decade from 1950 to 1960 the Canadian
Supreme Court, particularly, went through I
think what most legal scholars would say was
a libertarian phase. There was a series of
judgments, perhaps beginning with an impor-
tant judgment by Mr. Justice Rand in relation
to the law of sedition in which it was in effect
held that the law of sedition applied to direct
and overt subversion of the Government,
rather than other anti-social acts.

There was a series of libertarian decisions
during that decade. Prior to that time and
subsequent to that time, as I will illustrate in
a moment, the trend of decisions was quite
otherwise.

Let me give you a few concrete examples.
There was a case called Regina v. Campbell
decided by Chief Justice McRuer who, as we
all know, as a man wearing another hat now
is Chairman of the Royal Commission on
Civil Rights in Ontario. Certainly he has cre-
dentials which one would say were quite
impeccable in terms of respect for free
speech.

In the Campbell case, Campbell, a poet,
committed the awful offence of speaking in a
public park without a permit. The argument
was put to the learned chief justice first of all
that indeed it was not only without a permit
but in contravention of a total ban on speech
in a public park. The argument was advanced
and rejected that a municipality had no such
power to prohibit speech in a public park. It
was dismissed summarily by the chief justice
and the decision confirmed by the Court of
Appeal.



To take another example: recently in the
Province of New Brunswick—I think I can
speak about this case because it is no longer
sub judice—a young and foolish student made
a derogatory comment about the administra-
tion of justice in that province, admittedly
foolish and derogatory. It was found neces-
sary to haul that young man before the court
and sentence him to ten days in jail under the
law of criminal contempt.

Now, I can say in all candour I must dis-
close that the Civil Liberties Association
defended him, and as an officer of the
association I was involved in this controversy.

I think the point was not whether he was
right or wrong; the point was not even
whether the court was right or wrong. The
point was that the court really did exhibit
very little interest in the argument, no
interest, to the point of virtually summary
conviction, that people have the right to be
wrong; they have the right to say rude things.
Of course, as you know, the contempt power
is unconfined by any provision of the eriminal
code. This was used quite without compunc-
tion to put this young man in jail for ten
days.

I could multiply these illustrations back
and forth across the country. I may say in all
fairness that the Supreme Court of Canada
has been somewhat kinder towards libertari-
an values than many of the provincial courts,
but we could catalogue a good many of these
cases which are not so clearly right or clearly
wrong. We could say that on legal grounds
the decision had to be otherwise, but they
were borderline cases in which the court,
with respect, seems to fall off always on that
side of the fence which is contrary to the free
speech value.

Senator Walker: What section of the code is
that to which you refer about the young man?

Professor Arthurs: He was not charged
under any section of the code. Unfortunately,
from my point of view, it was just contempt
of court with the summary power of
zonviction.

The Chairman: You would not abolish the
rule with regard to contempt of court
expressed in speeches or otherwise, would
you?

Professor Arthurs: The English courts have
developed a law of contempt that says basi-
cally this, that the repute of the ecourts is
sufficiently well established in the community
that if one does no more than comment
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adversely, however adversely and however
intemperately, on the court’s administration
of justice, then that is not contempt. We no
longer need the law of contempt to ensure the
survival of the court’s repute. If, on the other
hand, the contempt is of such a type as to
disrupt the administration of justice, that is
by carrying on in the court room or interfer-
ing with the execution of the court order,
then that, of course, is probably subject to
the law of contempt.

The Chairman: You would not stand for
free speech in that regard would you?

Professor Arthurs: Certainly not. One could
not permit disruption of proceedings.

Senator Croll: Was the contempt charge in
New Brunswick not exactly what you de-
seribe as something less than mere opinion?

Professor Arthurs: No. The young man in
question, sir, wrote an article in the student
newspaper.

Senator Croll: Yes.

Professor Arthurs: In which he said that
the courts of New Brunswick were identified
with a certain ruling leader in New
Brunswick.

Senator Croll: No. He went a lot further
than that. I remember reading the article.

Professor Arthurs: In any event, I think
you will agree with me that it was an article
appearing in a newspaper. There was no
thought of standing up in a court room; there
was no interference with the process of the
court. It was certainly an attack on the court,
an intemperate and foolish attack on the
court, but there was no interference with
process.

Senator Choquette: There was the famous
case of the Witnesses of Jehovah that went to
the Supreme Court of Canada. Again it was a
terrible article in pamphlet form, “Quebec’s
Burning Hate.” Again the Supreme Court of
Canada in that case said that it did not
infringe upon freedom of speech.

Professor Arthurs: Actually, senator, if we
are thinking of the same case, that was one of
those cases in the fifties in which the
Supreme Court did take the other position,
the libertarian position, but certainly in the
lower courts the Quebec courts did not.
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The Chairman: How do you distinguish,
professor, between the present bill, which
would ban hate propaganda as against
groups, and libel or slander as against
individuals? Would you abolish the rules of
libel and slander because they interfere with
free speech?

Professor Arthurs: I would like to make
several responses to that, Mr. Chairman. In
the first place I would certainly abolish the
criminal code provisions as opposed to the
tort division relating to defamation. I would
unequivocally say that it is no business of the
State to regulate the private relationsips
between people in that fashion.

Now, recently the United States Supreme
Court evolved a doctrine beginning with a
case called New York Times v. Sullivan in
which the New York Times was sued for one
million dollars by a sheriff in a county in
Virginia because it published a paid adver-
tisement, signed by a group of New York
citizens, condemning that local sheriff for
mistreatment of civil rights demonstrators. It
apparently made certain false allegations
against him, and the newspaper was sued
civilly for libel.

The judgment, of course, was recovered, as
one might expect in the Virginia court, and
the case found its way ultimately to the
Supreme Court in the United States, which
articulated the doectrine that libel without
malice of a public official is not actionable.

Now, how did they define malice? Malice is
the wilful misstatement of facts known by the
speaker to be true. Even careless misstate-
ment is conceded to be part of the risk of
public debate, that with great controversial
publications even exposure to unfavourable
and occasionally untrue statements is part of
the risks of the game.

I am sure someone will immediately draw
my attention to a case which has often been
cited in the course of your proceedings and in
submissions to you, the case of Beauharnais
v. Illinois, Illinois, in which in 1951 the Unit-
ed States Supreme Court sustained an Illinois
statute of the same general character as that
now before you. ik

I have discussed this at length with a num-
ber of American constitutional experts and it
is their unanimous opinion as expressed to
me, admittedly in informal conversation,-that
the Beauharnais case would not be followed
today. It was in fact a product of a peculiar
moment of the court’s history in the early
fifties which, as you will recall, was called
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the MecCarthyite period during which the
libertarian attitude of the courts had dimin-
ished very considerably.

There are a number of cases, of which the
New York Times v. Sullivan is only one, but
there are a number of other leading cases
which leave the unanimous feeling that the
Beauharneis case was just a freak and really
has no chance whatsoever of being followed
in the United States Supreme Court today.

So that for all of those reasons I would say
that an individual criminal libel law is an
invidious thing. It involves the State on the
side of one party to a controversy. Particular-
ly in this context it does not do anything to
recompense the target of the libel for any
actual harm suffered by him and yet it does,
as I say, mobilize the course of power.

The Chairman: Of course that has to
involve the element of the disturbance of the
public peace. It is not criminal libel unless it
does; is that not right?

Professor Arthurs: I am not so sure that is
right. My understanding from the Cohen
Committee’s legal analysis is that their
proposals—and I believe the proposals now
before you—would not require that element.
Certainly Section 2678 does not require it.

The Chairman: No, I was talking about
criminal libel, the present law of criminal
libel.

Professor Arthurs: I do not believe that to
be true but I could be wrong, senator. I
would be happy to stand corrected on that.

The Chairman: No, I am not correcting you
on points of law.

Professor Arthurs: No, but I always respect
the opinions of my seniors at the bar, sir; I
could well be wrong.

Senator Walker: On page 13, Mr. Dean, the
penultimate paragraph:
If the criminal law has “no place in the
bedrooms of the nation”, it likewise has
no place in its parlours, or even its meet-
ing halls.

I take if from that that you mean if the
amendments to the Criminal Code, which are
coming over here shortly, legalizing abortion
and homosexuality, if we are getting so free
in our interpretation of our freedoms that we
allow that sort of thing and yet in the hate
Bill for simply matters of speech we con-
demn, it is a paradox is it not?
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Professor Arthurs: It is to me, Senator
Walker.

Senator Walker: That is what you have in
mind, is it not?

Professor Arthurs: Yes.
Senator Walker: I think it is shocking.

Professor Arthurs: If I might make that
just a little clearer: If one looks at section
2678, subsection (3), the defences section,
there is to me a grave anomaly in that the
communication, as I have indicated, which is
an offence under subsection (2), is not limited
by time, place or circumstance. That is, one
person sitting in a living room saying some
very distasteful thing to another which incites
hatred against a group within the definition
section may well find himself charged and,
indeed, convicted under that section unless he
could bring himself within subsection (3), the
defences section.

Senator Walker: Quite so.

Professor Arthurs: Subsection (3)(b) pro-
vides that he may escape conviction if he
establishes that his statements were relevant
to any subject of public interest, the public
discussion of which was for the public
benefit, and that on reasonable grounds he
believed them to be true.

Now, here we have just convicted a man
for speaking privately, yet we require him to
establish that public discussion of those mat-
ters is for the public benefit in order to
escape conviction. So that, anomalously, the
man who speaks publicly in this way is in a
better position to claim this defence than the
man who speaks privately.

If the sponsors of the bill do genuinely
feel—and I believe their belief is genuine—
that certain kinds of public discussion may
leave a residue of hatred which cannot be
erased, and if in effect I were to lose the
argument here, I would at least ask that some
attempt be made to confine regulation to the
public forum and not to the private forum,
conceding the difficulty of drawing the line of
hate, just for the reason that you have put.

Senator Cook: Has similar legislation not
been passed in other countries?

Professor Arthurs: I think that is a fair
point. I think almost all of the countries
which have passed legislation of that sort are
in Europe or in continents outside North
America, outside the Anglo-American system
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of jurisprudence. Those countries have had a
totally different social experience than we
have had. Group relations, for example, in
France, in Germany and in Italy cannot in
any sense be compared.

Senator Cook: The United Kingdom?

Professor Arthurs: I think the United King-
dom is a fair case. Let us look at the United
Kingdom today. The United Kingdom, as we
all know from reading the newspapers, is in a
fearful state at the moment because, first of
all, I suppose they are paying the price for an
excess of liberality, if one wants to put it that
way, for being colour blind for so long. In
fact they deliberately closed their minds to
what many people urged was a growing prob-
lem. One could not admit the existence of the
problem and take remedial measures, educa-
tional measures, without conceding that some
part of the British public was bigoted.

I spoke to a young man the other day, a
colleague of mine, Jeffrey L. Jowell, who has
written extensively and researched extensive-
ly the British legislation. He tells me that the
implementation of anti-discrimination legisla-
tion in England was long delayed because of
the unwillingness of the government of the
day to recognize that the situation was such
as it happened to be, that such a problem
could exist in their fair land.

I am not suggesting that we adopt that
ostrich-like posture. Quite the contrary, I sug-
gest that we confront that very directly and
do something effective about it. That is one
point I would make.

Secondly, Britain of course is a country
that was, for example, in the late thirties in
effect under siege. When the first legislation
was passed regulating the wearing of uni-
forms, military drilling, various antecedents
of the present racial relations which were
used to attack people like Colin Jordan, the
British nazi—that legislation was applied in
the late thirties when a totally different situa-
tion was then confronting them.

It would be my submission that the country
to which we are most to look for guidance is
that of our friends south of the border, with
whom we do in fact share many econom-
ic and social ties, whose newspapers we read
and who as we see, for better or for worse,
stimulate concerns here which exist there.

Now, I say if the United States has pre-
served its nerve to the point where no one
there, including, I may say, the American
Jewish Congress, is advocating legisiation of
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the type here being advocated, if they can
preserve their nerve in the face of the intense
social upheaval and racial upheaval that is
going on in that country, then we can surely
preserve ours, at the same time striking in a
meaningful, sensible way at the possibility
that there might be some seeds of this, and
eradicating them.

Senator Cook: What did you say about the
American Jewish Congress?

Professor Arthurs: It has not sought this
kind of legislation.

Senator Walker: Is it correct to say that not
one American State has enacted such
legislation?

Professor Arthurs: To my knowledge, sena-
tor, the only one would be Illinois, whose
statute was tested and, as I indicated, sus-
tained in the 1951 United States decision.
Now, I truly believe that that would not be
sustained today given the court’s subsequent
jurisprudential development.

Senator Walker: Even in New York, where
there are two-and-a-half million Jews, New
York State refused such legislation?

Professor Artihurs: I do not know that they
refused it, sir; I only know that they do not
have it on the books.

Senator Croll: Do I understand you that
only Jews want this legislation?

Professor Arthurs: By no means, sir.

Senator Croll: That is what you have been
saying for about ten minutes.

Professor Arthurs: I would like to make my
position clear.

Senator Croll: Make it very clear.

Professor Arthurs: I would like to make it
unequivocally clear that there are many peo-
ple who are neither Jews, nor Indians, nor
Negroes, nor adherents to any minority
group, who for reasons I think of compassion
or concern for democratic values, are
amongst the foremost advocates of it.

I make no bones about it. I said in my
opening statement that I respect their sinceri-
ty and I respect their intention. There is no
self-interest in their position, but I say to you
that the mere fact that they take that position
in good faith is not enough in itself reason for
adhering to that position. I think one must
test it.
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Senator Choquette: Professor, very little
has been said so far about the easiness with
which literature can be seized. I am going to
ask you this question. Do you not think that it
should be made much stricter? That is, that
the attorney general in every case should give
instructions to the local crown attorney to
seize that literature, rather than require that
an individual who feels that a group has been
insulted or aggrieved go with an affidavit to a
local judge and obtain an order for seizure?

Professor Arthurs: I think this much is true,
if I can formulate a kind of broad proposi-
tion: The further you get away from a local
and perhaps homogeneous community which
feels strongly about a particular issue, the
greater chance there is that there will be a
level head prevailing.

In my view, for example, many of the
worst offences against civil liberties do take
place at the local level and, as one ascends in
terms of having a larger group and in terms of
a bigger set of values, the chances are that the
broad constituency will say, “Now hold on a
moment, let us not rush too fast.”

So, I would say certainly I would feel happi-
er, if the bill did pass, to know that the
provincial attorney general or the federal
minister of justice at least had to give his
consent to prosecution, as indeed we already
have in many statutes, such as The Combines
Act where we have a very elaborate proce-
dure, for example, for deciding whether or not
to initiate prosecution or, by definition,
seizure.

Senator Walker: Mr. Dean, there is one
point that worries me and I am going to ask
you whether we should have something in
this bill to curb it. I refer to the terrible
gramophone record conversations on the Bell
Telephone. If you call a certain number you
hear the most defamatory language. I think
Beattie was behind it and he will not be
doing it for a little while. What can be done
to correct that? You know what I am refer-
ring to do you?
Arthurs:

Professor I am familar

with it.

Yes,

Senator Walker: You are encouraged to dial
a number and as soon as you dial the number
you get this awful message; this is demagog-
uery and I do think that something should be
done to cut it out. We had a vice president of
the Bell Telephone Company who claimed
that his company finds it impossible under
its charter to refuse such a person.



‘154

Professor Arthurs: Of course, I express the
same concern as you do; I feel it deeply.
Perhaps one can take some comfort in the
fact that the message is only heard by those
who seek it. I suppose there is that, but to
say to Bell, not to any public official, “You
shall be the judge of what is conveyed over
your wires and over your equipment” is to
me to put too much power in the hands of
Bell.

If we are to stop it, if we are to use the
coercive power of law to stop it, then I would
prefer to see it done by regular processes of
law and not by allowing Bell to pick and
choose who shall and who shall not have
access to its facilities.

So I would say that if you are determined
to put a stop to it, use the bill, prosecute it,
seize it if you must, but do not give that
power to a private corporation.

The Chairman: Thank you, Professor Arth-
urs, you have given us a very thoughtful
presentation. I am sure I can express this as
the opinion of the entire committee. We are
grateful to you for having come to Ottawa to
make this presentation.

Professor Arthurs: Thank you very much,
sir.

The Chairman: Honourable senators, the
last item on our agenda is a presentation by
the Manitoba Human Rights Association,
represented by Mr. Melvin Fenson, Mr. Walt-
er Hlady, and Mr. G. Martin. If you
gentlemen will come forward we shall be

very pleased indeed to hear your
presentation.
Mr. Glenn E. Martin, Manitioba Human

Righis Association: Mr. Chairman, honourable
senators, I have been asked to lead off on this
brief, which the honourable senators have
before them together with copies of the
exhibits. I am wondering, Mr. Chairman, if I
could give you the originals of these exhibits
to be passed among the members of the
committee?

Senator Walker: I think we have them,
have we not?

Mr. Martin: You have copies only, Senator
Walker. These might be of interest to the
committee because these are the original
documents.

The Chairman: We will take it that your
copies are true copies.
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Senator Walker: I vouch for Mr. Martin

making true copies.

Mr, Martin: First of all, I am very pleased
to be with you today. I am purposely going to
skip portions of this brief so that we can get
down to the meat of the situation. It is before
you and I will try to cover as much as I can.
(Exhibits referred to in the following brief,
filed with the Committee)

The Manitoba Human Rights Association
appreciates the opportunity to renew its
representations on this vital problem. In this
brief we shall demonstrate that hate propa-
ganda is being distributed in Western Canada
among various ethnic and religious groups
and we will cite examples of published
materials and public statements which may
reasonably be regarded as fomenting con-
tempt and hatred of Jews and Catholics,
Negroes, Doukhobors and native Indians. The
information contained in the brief of Febru-
ary, 1968, (Exhibit “A”) is still valid insofar
as it gave evidence of activities under various
categories of hate propaganda in Winnipeg
and Western Canada.

Swastikas and anti-Semitic Slogans [visible
representations]:

In our 1968 brief, pp 2 to 4, we cited 15
examples of the painting of swastikas and
anti-Semitic and nazi slogans on synagogues,
schools, homes, places of business and the
Manitoba Legislative Building between April,
1966 and February, 1968 (Exhibit “A”). We
suggested that these incidents come within
the terms of Section 267 (b) Subsection 1 of
the proposed legislation and under the defini-
tion of subsection 5 (¢) which declares: “ ‘State-
ments’ includes words either spoken or writ-
ten, gestures, signs or other visible represen-
tations.” We suggest that swastikas and anti-
Semitic or nazi-like slogans painted on walls
are visible representations which could cause
“incitement. . .likely to lead to a breach of the
peace”.

Distribution of Hate Propaganda:

Several incidents of distribution of hate
propaganda related to Section 267(b) Subsec-
tion 2 of the proposed legislation were record-
ed in the 1968 brief. (pp. 4, 5, Exhibit “A”)
Some of this material came from sources
cited in the report of the Department of Jus-
tice on Hate Propaganda in Canada published
in 1966. One of these items was a tract, origi-
nating in Minneapolis, Minn., and preaching
hatred of the Roman Catholics (Exhibit “A”,
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p. 4 and copy of tract attached to Exhibit
“A”).

A significant incident reported in the 1968
brief (Exhibit “A” p. 5) involved the arrest of
two men in Winnipeg who were found to be
carrying membership cards in the Canadian
Nazi Party, and had a quantity of anti-Jewish
and anti-Negro literature in their rooms.
These men were convicted of vagrancy, given
six months suspended sentence and 24 hours
to leave Winnipeg. This incident took place in
July, 1967. The Winnipeg Tribune commented
editorially, (July 14, 1967) that the magistrate
did the best he could as there is no law
against hate literature, and added the follow-
ing pertinent remarks:

Unfortunately the decision may be
misinterpreted as sending the pair to go
peddle their hate elsewhere, but not in
Winnipeg. This is not the court’s fault.
It’s Ottawa’s. The court could not take
into account conduct, however repugnant,
against which no charge could be laid.
For a quarter of a century Parliament
has been vacillating on this subject of
organized hate-mongering. It has provid-
ed no guidance for the police or the
courts. Until it makes up its mind one can
only hope the hate merchants keep falling
foul of vagrancy ordinances and munici-
pal bylaws.” (attached to Exhibit “A”)

Additional Examples of Hate Propaganda in
Western Canada:

(1) In the week of March 17th, 1969, two
examples of continued distribution of hate
propaganda came to our attention. In the first
instance three anti-Semitic leaflets were
received by “Healthful Living Digest”’, a Win-
nipeg publication. These leaflets (Exhibit “B”)
came from Sweden in an envelope post-
marked February 24th, 1969, and listing the
sender, Einar Aberg, another of the dis-
seminators of hate propaganda named in the
1966 Report of the Special Committee on Hate
Propaganda in Canada. The three leaflets
enclosed in this envelope were as follows:

1. The Real War Criminals (dated 1969)

2. Behind Communism stands—the
Jew (undated)

3. Whose is the Hidden Hand? (dated
1958)

Einar Aberg is listed as the editor of all
three of these leaflets, which quote from
other sources including the Canadian Intelli-
gence Service, Flesherton, Ont., Canada.

155

(2) Gene Telpner, A Winnipeg Tribune
columnist, reported on Thursday, March 20th,
1969 (Exhibit “C”) that someone has been
busy distributing U.S. nazi party handbills to
Metro Winnipeg homes. Subsequent to the
publication of this item in his column Mr.
Telpner received an unsigned letter dated
April 2, 1969 (See Exhibit “C”) addressing
him as a “Zionist swine”, attacking him for
publishing the item in question, and repeating
many of the statements which would obvious-
ly come under the heading of “group defama-
tion” under the definition of the proposed
legislation. Mr. Telpner has reported to our
committee that he receives crank letters, most
of them unsigned, at least once a week and
about one of every three includes anti-Semitic
references. Only once in the past six months
did he receive a letter of this type which
carried a signature.

(3) Early in 1967 Col. A. L. Brady, the
Commander of the Saskatchewan District of
the Canadian Armed Forces in Regina,
received an anti-Semitic letter from France
over the name of George Ross Ridge, written
in French. The first two sentences of this
letter (Exhibit “D”) state:

En ma qualite’ de professeur d’univer-
site’ americain actuellement en exil, j’ai
le devoir d’attirer votre attention sur la
conspiration juive internationale.

Aux Etats-Unis la conspiration est
dirigée par J. Edgar Hoover du F.B.I.,
avec I'appui des terroristes juifs du B’nai
B’rith.

(English Translation)

In my capacity as an American uni-
versity professor in exile I feel obligated
to draw your attention to the Jewish
international conspiracy.

In the United States this conspiracy is
directed by J. Edgar Hoover of the F.B.L.
with the support of the terrorist Jews of
the B’nai B’rith. ..

It is hardly necessary to interpret or elabo-
rate on the views of Mr. George Ross Ridge,
nor for that matter, on those of the other
disseminators of racist propaganda cited to
this point. (Exhibit “D” attached) The Human
Rights Association feels that anti-Semitic and
racist propaganda of this type, no matter how
ridiculous and unbelievable it may appear to
enlightened individuals, continues to have a
dangerous effect among unenlightened and ill-
informed sections of the population. It is par-
ticularly dangerous when it influences the
minds of children.
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A proprietor of a small store in Winnipeg
has reported having difficulties with some of
the children in his neighbourhood. (Confiden-
tial Exhibit “E”). In February, 1969, some of
these youngsters, ages 11 and 12, have hand-
ed him a series of obscene notes containing
anti-Semitic epithets among other things,
which they obviously wrote themselves. This
is cited as one example of the extent to which
anti-Semitic and racist poison can and does
penetrate. (Exhibit “E” is marked ‘confiden-
tial’ because this case is still under study).

Another example of a hate letter sent
through the mail, which probably comes from
a child or a young person, is included with
Exhibit “E”. This tends to confirm that the
“swastika” is recognized as a symbol of
hatred and a warning of death.

With further regard to the swastika symbol
(also found in the photographs of the daub-
ings on synagogues and other buildings, in
Exhibit “A”, and on the leaflet of the Nation-
al Socialist White People’s Party, in Exhibit
“C”) we have evidence that the swastika is
used by such groups as the Parti National
Socialiste of Levis Que., and by a group
called Hell’s Rejects of Brownsburg, Que.
Both groups tried to order swastika crests in
Winnipeg (Confidential Appendix “F”’)

Fomenting Hatred Among Ethnic Groups:

Just before Christmas, 1968, a Ukrainian
language leaflet slandering Prof. J. B. Rud-
nyckyj, Head of the Slavic Studies Depart-
ment at the University of Manitoba and a
member of the B. & B. Commission, was dis-
tributed in Winnipeg. (Exhibit “G”). We are
aware that the proposed Bill S-21 is not
intended to protect individuals who are
already protected under the slander and libel
provisions in the criminal code. However, a
brief excerpt from this leaflet will suffice to
show that there is a connection between an
attack on an individual and group defama-
tion. The excerpt in translation is as follows:

Rudnyckyj went to Israel to find there
his own people. He bought there a piece
of land and hoisted a flag with the star of
David. Is this not a scandal and a shame?
Jaraslav’s old Gods are all with Jewish
long curls. He and his friends in Jerusa-
lem are planning an all world govern-
ment in Israel. He will be very happy
when strolling on his property in the
morning he will see everywhere his
friends all circumcized.

Standing Senate Commitiee

This Ukrainian language leaflet may be
seen not merely as an attack upon Prof. Rud-
nyckyj, but also as an effort to foment hatred
of the Jews among the Ukrainians.

Another example of the fomenting of
hatred among ethnic groups recently came to
our attention from Vancouver. A leaflet has
been circulated in B.C. headed “Intimation to
Sons of Freedom and Other Doukhobors”.
(Exhibit “H”). This brochure declares that
there is no longer a government in Canada
“pbut a pitiful obedient humiliated group of
lackies, who perform and execute the orders
of SUPER GOVERNMENT—JEWS THE
ZIONISTS”.

This leaflet is signed by one James Malcolm
Smith and blames Zionist agents for all the
troubles of the Sons of Freedom.

The attack against Prof. Rudnyckyj cited in
Exhibit “G”, and the incitement directed
towards the Doukhobors in Exhibit “H”, are
two examples of the manner in which the
so-called “World Jewish Plot” is adapted to
the Canadian scene. This idea comes from
“The Protocols of Zion” which is regarded as
the most infamous forgery in world history.

For the past five or six years Eric Butler,
an Australian and self-styled authority on
world affairs, has been touring Canada, lec-
turing under the auspices of the “Christian
Action Movement”, and more recently using
the name ‘“Canadian League of Rights”.

Eric Butler wrote a book shortly after the
second World War entitled The International
Jew—The Truth about the Protocols of Zion,
The title-page of this book (Exhibit “J”) does
not list a publisher and it is undated. There is
however a sticker attached to the title-page
listing the name and address of the “New
Times Specialty Book Service” of Melbourne,
Australia. The New Times is Butler’s
publication.

A 32-page reprint from Butler’s book was
reported to be in circulation in 1965 from
British Columbia and from the State of
Washington. A copy of this same reprint
turned up last week in Winnipeg (Exhibit
“J”) with a Vancouver postmark but no re-
turn address. At the bottom of the last page
of this book p. 166 (Exhibit “J’’) there is an
unusual disclaimer from the printer as fol-
lows:

In printing this work on behalf of Mr. E.
D. Butler, the printers, R. M. Osborne
Limited, of 95 Currie St., Adelaide,
desire it to be known that the views
expressed therein are those of the author
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and do not necessarily represent their
views.

In the book Butler asserts that the use
made by Hitler of the Protocols of Zion is
proof of their validity. In his introduction he
states:

It is quite beyond dispute that the cen-
tral core of international finance is con-
trolled by Jews (page 3, Exhibit “J”)

A little further on Butler adds:

It is essential that we refuse to allow
the alleged ‘anti-semitism’ of Hitler and
his associates to color our investigation of
‘The Protocols’...

. .Hitler’s policy was a Jewish policy;
it helped to further the declared aims of
International Jewry...” (Exhibit “J” p.4)

In April, 1968, when Eric Butler came to
Winnipeg as the spokesman of the “Canadian
League of Rights” the Manitoba Human
Rights Association publicized Butler’s racist
background to organizations which had invit-
ed him to speak. The announced topics of his
public lectures in Winnipeg included Viet
Nam, Rhodesia and “Saving the Common-
wealth”. Butler uses these innocuous topies to
develop an audience who may later be
interested in the more injurious aspects of his
racist and anti-Semitic philosophy. A copy of
the letter on Butler’s background issued by
the Manitoba Human Rights Association in
1968 is attached to this brief. (Exhibit “I’)
Also attached are pages from Butler’s book
on The International Jew (Exhibit “J”) which
corroborate the quotations included in the
letter.

Butler was interviewed on a C.B.C. Win-
nipeg Public Affairs program, “The View
From Here”, Thursday, April 11, 1968. The
following exchange took place with one of the
interviewers, Prof. Jack Stevenson, Philoso-
phy Dept., University of Manitoba:

Stevenson: I would like to bring up the
statement made by yourself in New
Times Journal relating to the Jewish peo-
ple. I have here a quote from you “Ever
since their active participation in the cru-
cifixion of Christ the Jewish leaders have
worked ceaselessly to undermine and de-
stroy the Christian faith. They...still...
believe that the Jewish leaders are des-
tined to rule the world”.

Butler: That is correct. I wrote that 20
odd years ago. I am not repudiating or

* apologizing but I have got to explain that

statement in the context in which it is
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made. May I ask you a question, are the
Jews a race?

Stevenson: The Jews are a people.

Butler: What’s the difference between a
race and a people?

Stevenson: All speaking at once, and
Mr. Stevenson insisting that Butler an-
swer the question.

Butler: I agree that I wrote that, and I
don’t repudiate it, but when I speak
about Jewish people—I can develop that.

A little later on in the interview there was
a further question and answer exchange as
follows:

Stevenson: Did you write a book enti-
tled “The International Jew—The Truth
about the Protocols of Zion”?

Butler: Yes.

Stevenson: Do you stand by the views
expressed in that book?

Butler: Those views were expressed 20
years ago. I have continually pointed out,
as I hope every scholar does—

Stevenson: You are a scholar?

Butler: Well, I try to be one. In that
book, and I said so 20 years ago there
was a fact and I have pointed this out.

Senator Choquetie: Where is Flesherton,
near Toronto?

Senator Walker: It is down near Sarnia.
Mr. Martin: The brief continues:

Spreading of Contempt against Negroes:

The Canadian Intelligence Service pub-
lished at Flesherton, Ontario promotes racist
propaganda directed against the Negroes. The
January, 1969 edition published a paper ‘“The
Creation and Exploitation of Race Myths”,
delivered by the same Eric D. Butler, at a
seminar in Toronto last August sponsored by
the “Canadian League of Rights” on the topic
Race and Revolution’. (Exhibit “M”)

Eric Butler seeks to develop a pseudo-
scientific rationale for the kind of color preju-
dice which has led to serious racial discrimi-
nation against Negro and black people in
other countries and can only help to reinforce
prejudiced attitudes in our own country,
thereby fomenting contempt and hatred for
our own coloured minorities.

It is important to cite the views of a British
scientist, Dr. David Stafford-Clark, a consul-
tant physician in psychological medicine to a
number of leading hospitals in England and
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to the Institute of Psychiatry at the Universi-
ty of London. In a paper presented in 1965 at
a British Conference on Immigration (Con-
ference on “Immigrant or Citizen?” by the
National Committee for Immigrants, at Lei-
cester, September 17 to 19, 1965) Dr. Clark
made some very pertinent comments about
the causes and effects of prejudice. Here is
what he said:

Prejudice is so important that if we do
not deal with it, it will deal effectively
with all of us. Prejudice injects into our
attitude towards other people, towards
other causes, or other ideas, a fear which
can become terror, a hostility which can
become hatred, an injustice which can
become unendurable.

It is always true that prejudice
between people depends wupon their
capacity to perceive some kind of differ-
ence between themselves and others.
Colour of the skin is such an obvious
difference that it is not surprising that it
can lead to the crudest kind of preju-
dice—both ways. Nevertheless, it is true
that biologically the human race is all
one species, although the divisions within
that species are part of the variety and, I
would say, the beauty of human
diversity.

Obviously there are differences of cul-
ture, of education, of background and of
language, just as there are differences of
climate, custom and tradition. But these
are less important than the recognition
that all races are endowed in basically
similar amounts with all the vices, vir-
tues, hopes, fears and regrettably with
that self-centredness which no human
being can escape because it is part of the
human condition. b

Cruelty and bestiality in the way
human beings treat each other are not
always confined to those who have the
upperhand, for we are all in this and we
are all to blame. To make racial preju-
dice the basis of a philosophy, or to per-
vert it into a foundation for a religious
belief, is to commit yet one more atroci-
ous, terrible tragic crime against all the
standards that men between them have
ever managed to erect.

When we call for the adoption of Bill S-21
we look upon it as one important measure to
stop the spread of hatred and contempt in our
country which can result in cruelty and bes-
tiality towards identifiable groups on the

ground of race, colour or religion. We are
also painfully aware that racial and religious
discrimination can and does lead to atrocious
crimes by man against man. This strengthens
our conviction that the provision regarding
genocide in Bill S-21 is justified.

Mr, Waliter Hlady, Manitoba Human Rights
Association: Mr. Chairman, I will continue
with the brief from this point.

Attitude to Native Indians:

In a study of the Canadian History text-
books used in Manitoba schools, undertaken
in 1964 by the Community Welfare Planning
Council of Winnipeg, it was reported that five
textbooks selected for the study showed great
improvement in treatment accorded to Indian
people over the books of a generation ago. It
disclosed, however, that there were still start-
ling errors of omission, as well as of commis-
sion, and cited attitudes of contempt towards
ancient Indian religious beliefs and customs.

Some significant quotations from the
Manitoba textbooks deserve our considera-
tion.

According to Aileen Garland, author of the
Canadian history text ‘“Canada, Then and
Now” (MacMillan of Canada, 1956), Jacques
Cartier is alleged to have written about the
Indians he met on the Gaspe Peninsula as
follows:

They can with truth be called savages, as
there are no people poorer than these in
the world. I believe they do not possess
anything to the value of 5 pennies...
they are great thieves and will steal all
they can—Canada, Then and Now, page 3.

Senator Choguette: Something similar to
that was written about the French Canadians
by Durham.

The Chairman: Jacques Cartier wrote a lot
of bunk when he got back to France.

Mr. Hlady: (Continuing to read) In another
history text, “The Canadian Pageant”, by G.
J. Reeve (former principal of St. John’s
Technical High School, Winnipeg) and R. O.
MacFarlane (formerly with the History
Department of the University of Manitoba)
comments about the Indians are as follows:
(Canadian Pageant, pp20, 21, Clarke, Irwin
and Co. Ltd. 1951)

It is probable that all the American
Indian tribes in the course of their wan-
derings lived for some generations in the
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frozen wastes of Alaska...this experi-
ence. ..deadened their minds; it killed
their imagination and initiative. ..

By reason of his historical background
the Indian was wholly unfit to cope with
the more civilized, more intelligent white
man.

The founder of New France, Samuel de
Champlain, is quoted as saying that Indians
live “like brute beasts (p. 45 in High School
text “Canada—a Nation” by A. R. M. Lower
and J. W. Chafe, Longmans, Green and Co.,
1948 with numerous reprints until 1961).

According to Lower and Chafe the Indians
were “poor savages” (p. 60) and their “concep-
tion of the supernatural was that of cruel and
evil spirits” (p. 48). Moreover “the Indians’
ideas of right and wrong were very different
from those of Europeans. To torture an
enemy was right; to show mercy was, if not
wrong, at least weak ...” (p. 48). And the Iro-
quois are described as “fiendish invaders” (p.
52) and “bloodthirsty savages” (p. 53).

The textbooks study report on the Indians
prepared by the Community Welfare Plan-
ning Council of Winnipeg was presented to
the Curriculum Revision Committee of the
Manitoba Department of Education in 1964.
We are aware that changes in the Manitoba
textbooks are in the process of being intro-
duced. To date however these changes have
only been completed for grade III, and some
of the texts with the offending material cited
are still in use in our schools.

I should put in an aside here that I was a
member of that curriculum committee on
grade III. It took us about three years of
work to introduce a fair and equitable Indian
content in the grade III social studies course.

The Chairman: Your complaint about this
statement about the Indians is that they are
applying the criticism that might have been
justified two hundred years ago against the
Indians to the Indian of today, is that not it?

Mr. Hlady: Yes, because this is what our
children are learning in the schools.

Senator Walker: Are you suggesting that
Bill S-21 is necessary to eradicate that?

Mr. Hlady: No; may I finish this and go a
little further? .

Senator Walker: I would just like to know
what you are dnvmg at, that is all. We have
under consideration this Bill S-21.
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Mr. Hlady: This is one of the dilemmas that
faced our association in developing this brief.
We wanted to point out basically that there is
a lot in our textbooks that promotes this sort
of attitude and it needs to be corrected, and
yet it basically cannot be called hate litera-
ture in the sense of the bill.

Senator Walker: Why bring it up? That is
not part of it. Why do we worry about what
is in the textbooks about what Jacques Car-
tier said, or what some other wild goose said?

The Chairman: We have not heard the
entire brief; let us proceed.

Mr. Hlady: (Continuing to read) Canadians
must face up to the fact that we continue to
promote contempt, if not outright hatred, of
the native Indians. We would like to cite a
recent example of a public statement in this
category.

Early in February of this year the Public
Eye, a public affairs program of the C.B.C.
Television network, presented a discussion of
the problems of Manitoba Indians. One of the
people interviewed was Winnipeg Magistrate
Isaac Rice, whose statement (F'ree Press Clip-
ping Exhibit “L’) contained the following
remarks: “There is something in their blood—
I don’t know what it is—but an Indian and
alcohol just don’t mix”.

The magistrate also stated “I have never
come across a married Indian couple”.

At about the same time an interview with
Magistrate Rice was published in the Manito-
ban, the University of Manitoba student
newspaper (February 14, 1969, See Exhibit
“L). Discussing the causes and treatment of
crime, and particularly the role of liquor as a
cause of crime, Magistrate Rice is reported to
have expressed the feeling that the Indians
are amongst the worst offenders. He is quoted
in the student newspaper as saying “There is
something about the Indian constitution that
makes them unfit to drink liquor”.

After these remarks were made by the
magistrate the Manitoba Indian Brotherhood
announced that it would take legal action to
prevent him from sitting in judgment in the
case of any accused Indian (See Exhibit “L”).
According to Paul Walsh, legal counsel for
the Indian Brotherhood, the aim of this action
would be ‘“to prove that Magistrate Rice did
in fact issue defamatory statements against
Indian people...” The Indian Brotherhood
has also launched legal action against the
CBC and the Manitoban to prevent them
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from making further use of the offendmg
statements.

We cannot state definitely that the state-
ments complained of would be actionable un-
der Bill S-21, but they certainly appear to be
of a kind to incite contempt against the native
Indian people. Mr. David Courchene, the
President of the Indian Brotherhood, has
reported that the television program in ques-
tion resulted in adverse reaction against the
Indian people in Winnipeg. He cited as an
example that the help given Indian students
by the St. James Anglican Church in finding
places for them in the suburban homes of
white families, had been suspended.

The attitudes of contempt towards the Indi-
ans which concern us today may be traced
back to the coming of the first Europeans who
described the Indians as ‘“heathen” and as
“savages”. The prejudices which developed
centuries ago are still encountered, not in
what we recognize as ‘“hate propaganda”
tracts, but rather in history text books as we
have pointed out. Indian representatives on
the Manitoba Human Rights Association sup-
port this brief because they believe that all
ethnic groups should be protected against
group defamation. It should not be necessary
to invoke the law as proposed in Bill S-21 to
protect the Indians from the effects of cen-
tury-old prejudices. It is hoped, however, in
the case of the Indians, that the adoption of
this legislation will have a salutary effect on
those who are concerned with the improve-
ment of our history textbooks.

Senator Walker: You are not suggesting
that such a bill is necessary to improve and
have a salutory effect on the people who are
producing the textbooks? Is the development
of Canada and our attitudes not doing that at
the present time?

Mr. Hlady: I would think so, sir, but I
believe at the same time that legislation of
this kind will also have an effect here.

Doukhobors:

Another minority group whose representa-
tives claim that they have been adversely
affected by a kind of hate propaganda are the
Doukhobors. It is estimated that between 20,-
000 and 30,000 Doukhobors live in Canada.
They are classified into three sub groups
including 1) 5,000 in the orthodox group liv-
ing mainly in British Columbia, 2) some 13,-
000 Independents of whom 8,000 are in Sas-
katchewan; 3,500 in B.C., 1,000 in Alberta and
the remainder throughout the rest of Canada,

and 3) 2,000 to 3,000 “Sons of Freedom” in
B.C. (According to the census figures for 1961,
13,324 individuals classified themselves as
Doukhobors by religion).

Doukhobor representatives claim that mani-
festations of prejudice are directed against all
the Doukhobors as the result of unacceptable
and illegal acts committed by the ‘“Sons of
Freedom” over the past several decades. We
are not asserting that the “hate propaganda”
alleged by the Doukhobor representatives
would be actionable under the proposed legis-
lation. We respectfully suggest, however, that
this Senate Committee would want to be
aware of the precise nature of the Doukhobor
situation.

The main examples of the suggested “hate
propaganda” against the Doukhobors are to
be found in the book “Terror in the Name of
God” by the Vancouver writer, Simma Holt,
published by McClelland & Stewart Ltd. in
1964. (The material on the Doukhobor ques-
tion has been provided by a member of the
committee which prepared this brief, Mr.
Koozma J. Tarasoff, an Independent Doukho-
bor who is a graduate in anthropology and a
specialist in ethnic group studies. Mr. Tara-
soff has been a staff-member of ARDA for the
past several years.)

The primary complaint about Mrs. Holt’s
book is that while it is subtitled “The Story
of the Sons of Freedom Doukhobors” a large
part of its content devoted to the questionable
activities of the Sons of Freedom often uses
the terms “Doukhobor” and “Sons of Free-
dom?” interchangeably. The sharp differences
between the “Sons” and the other Doukhobor
groups are overlooked and as a result all
Doukhobors are held up to contempt. This
contention is at least partially sustained in a
Victoria Times review of Mrs. Holt’s book
(Exhibit “O”) by R. E. L. Watson of the Uni-
versity of Victoria who states:

Mrs. Holt tends to forget that the great
majority of Doukhobors have made a
satisfactory adjustment to Canadian life
and live as good citizens.

A spokesman for the orthodox Doukhobors
in B.C., Peter P. Legebokoff, in a letter criti-
cizing the book in the Nelson Daily News
(Exhibit “0O”), declares:

She (Mrs. Holt) doesn’t differentiate
between the large majority of the Douk-
hobors who are true to their faith and
live peacefully, and the fanatical element
inherent among the Freedomites.
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And Mr. Legebokoff adds:

Simma Holt’s book in a certain sense
could be classed as hate propaganda, by
giving a false and distorted picture.

Mr. Tarasoff, who worked with this com-
mittee, also reviewed the Holt book in an
article published in Canadian Dimension
Magazine. He cites at “least 31 cases of
innuendo, or the attempt to blame or defame
a whole ethnic group of people by omission of
important information, by repetition of
phrases such as ‘the Doukhobor cause’ in con-
nection with burnings, etc., or by deliberately
placing the blame of a few individuals on a
whole group of people.”

He also suggests: “In this respect, Terror in
the Name of God is a form of hate literature
similar to the anti-Jewish literature that is
presently arousing public concern”.

If the proposed legislation had already been
the law of the land when this book was pub-
lished the contents complained of would have
a strong defence against any charge brought
under clause 267B, subsection 3B on the
grounds that it was “relevant to any subject
of public interest, the public discussion of
which was for the public benefit, and that on
reasonable grounds the author believed them
to be true.”

At the same time, however, if the existence
of this provision of the criminal code were
known prior to the writing of the book it
would likely have influenced the author to a
more judicious use of the terminology com-
plained of without affecting the author’s total
concept. It is our view that the amendments
to the Criminal Code embodied in Bill S-21
would thus have a declaratory value.

Mr. Melvin Fenson (Manitoba Human
Rights Association): I will take over the read-
ing of the brief at this point, Mr. Chairman.

Suggested Modifications:

There are two more aspects in relation to
Bill S-21 con which we should like to com-
ment. The first is the matter of support for
the proposed legislation. - We are aware that
this committee has already been advised of
the many organizations who have passed
resolutions favouring the adoption of an
amendment to the criminal code to outlaw
hate propaganda. We have read some of the
proceedings of the earlier sessions of this com-
mittee and have noted that on at least one
occasion a question was raised as to which
organizations have endorsed Bill S-21 in par-
ticular. Most of the organizafions who have
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endorsed this legislation passed resolutions of
support in principle in the period immediate-
ly after publication of the Report of the
Cohen Committee and before the first govern-
ment measure on hate propaganda was intro-
duced in Parliament.

Last year the Manitoba Human Rights
Association undertook to contact all those
bodies who had previously adopted such reso-
lutions, asking them if they continued to sup-
port the proposal as it then stood before Par-
liament, as Bill S-5. We can report that
favourable responses were received from
most of them and there were no unfavourable
responses. We believe, in fact, that most of
those who replied also addressed letters to
Senator J. Harper Prowse, who was the
chairman of the Senate Committee in 1968.
We are submitting several of these letters as
Exhibit “P” attached to this brief. Among
them are letters from the Canadian Federa-
tion of Mayors and municipalities and from
the City of Winnipeg.

We also submit a resolution adopted in
November, 1967 by the Annual Conference of
the Canada Ethnic Press Federation, which
took place in Winnipeg. (See Exhibit “P”).
This resolution in its substantive part states:

That the Canada Ethnic Press Federa-
tion in conformity with the established
principles of the constitution of the said
Federation, does unanimously express
and record its support for the legislation
against hate literature embodied in Bill
S-5.

This resolution also urges all the members
of the Federation which comprise a majority
of ethnic newspapers in Canada

to be constantly vigilant in preventing
the publication of any prejudiced materi-
als which are likely to foment animosity
towards any individual ethnic or religious
group.

The proposed Ilegislation as originally
embodied in Bill S-49 in 1967 was the subject
of discussions by the Civil Liberties and
Criminal Justice Subsections of the Manitoba
Section of the Canadian Bar Association. We
file a summary of the presentation made to
the Civil Liberties Committee of the Bar
Association (Exhibit “Q”) and we present
here a review of the opinions of that body
from the summary of its discussions

The committee felt that despite the
threat to freedom of expression that any
legislation in this area involves, members
ultimately had faith in the administration
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of justice in Canada to exercise wisdom
and moderation in applying the legisla-
tion to achieve its objects.

The committee expressed itself as
being generally in favour of affording the
protection of law to groups that are being
defamed; and it approved in principle
Bill S-49 as it stands, with some impor-
tant changes or amendments.

This delegation of the Manitoba Human
Rights Association fully concurs in the views
expressed in these two points.

The Manitoba committees of the Bar
Association also felt that the consent of the
Attorney General of Canada should be a pre-
requisite to the institution of any prosecution.
The Manitoba Human Rights Association does
not feel that this is an essential requirement.
However, if the Senate Committee chooses to
make such a recommendation we would sug-
gest that it should be possible to obtain
consent for prosecution not only from the
Attorney-General of Canada but from the
Attorney-General of the provinces who are
charged with implementation of the criminal
code.

The Bar Association Committees felt that
the definition of “group” should be spelled
out in greater detail so as not to render its
application to the Jewish group void for
uncertainty.

We would make two specific recommenda-
tions in this connection:

In connection with Section 267A Subsection
(2) on genocide, we urge that the operative
words should be changed to read “with intent
to destroy in whole or in part any identifiable
group of persons”, instead of merely “any
group of persons” as in the present wording
of the bill. ;

Senator Haig: That would mean you would
require two consents, is that right?

Mr. Fenson: Either one or the other.

The Chairman: The attorney general of the
province where the offence was committed.

Senator Haig: You want “either/or”?

Mr, Fenson: Yes.

In Section 267(b) Subsection (5b), we would
urge that the definition of “identifiable group”
be changed to read as follows: “Identifiable
group includes any section of the public dis-
tinguished by colour, race, religion or ethnic
origin”.

Standing Senate Commitiee

The two changes proposed here are to
replace the word ‘“means” with “includes”
and to add the word “religion” after ‘“colour,
race,”.

The Manitoba committees of the Bar
Association took the view that the 5 clauses
in definition of Genocide in Section 267(a) are
much too broad. It is the view of our commit-
tee that it would be sufficient to reduce the
number of specific definitions of genocide
from 5 to 2 including “(a) killing members of
the group” and “(c¢) deliberately inflicting on
the group conditions of life calculated to
bring about its physical destruction”.

The Manitoba Bar Committees supported
the retention of truth as a defence and in this
we concur.

Special note was also taken by the Manito-
ba Bar Committee of the extensive considera-
tion which has been given to this subject by
the Special Committee on Hate Propaganda
which prepared the Cohen Report and by the
Standing Committee on External Affairs. Dis-
cussion in the Manitoba Bar Committees took
place in 1967 at a time when the proposed
legislation had been turned over to a joint
committee of the Senate and House. Since the
legislation has now been placed before Parlia-
ment for the third time and a Senate Com-
mittee is holding independent hearings on it
for a second time, we can only concur and
re-emphasize the view expressed by the
Manitoba Bar Committees in 1967 that all of
these deliberations constitute adequate assur-
ance that Bill S-21 represents the thinking
and conclusions of a body of balanced think-
ers who have had access to sufficient informa-
tion and informed opinion.

One last word with regard to the matter of
genocide. Canada has ratified the Genocide
Convention of the United Nations, but to date
no special steps with regard to implementa-
tion of the Genocide Convention have been
taken. It has been argued that it is sufficient
that we have laws against murder and that
this is adequate protection against genocide.
It should be understood however that murder
is only the culmination of the crime of geno-
cide. Bill S-21 should be adopted in order to
demonstrate to the world that Canada will
put a stop to any measures that could lead to
the destruction of an identifiable group of
people.

We conclude our presentation with the
expression of our sincere thanks to all mem-
bers of the Senate Committee for the oppor-
tunity to participate in these hearings.
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The members of the committee of the
Manitoba Human Rights Association who
worked on the preparation of this brief,
beginning with the members of the present
delegation are as follows: Melvin Fenson,
Walter Hlady, Joe Keeper, Glenn E. Martin,
Charles Huband, Koozma Tarasoff, Rev.
Adam Cuthand, Mrs. M. G. Saunders, Prof. J.
B. Rudnyckyj, Mrs. H. H. Roeder,
Arnold.

The Chairman: Thank you for that brief.
Senator Walker: May I ask a question?
The Chairman: Yes.

Senator Walker: I understand that you
have a special committee on this in the
Manitoba Bar Association, is that correct?

Mr. Fenson: There were two subsections,
the criminal subsection and the civil liberties
subsection, which independently studied Bill
S-49.

Senator Walker: Was this ever approved by
the Canadian Bar Association?

Ay Jy
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Mr., Fenson: I am of the opinion that it
came before the plenary session in Winnipeg
in 1967 and that it was returned to the Execu-
tive for further study.

Senator Walker: That is right.

Mr. Fenson: The bar in Vancouver in 1968
did not raise the subject again.

Senator Walker: That is true. The Manitoba
bar itself has never approved the recommen-
dations of the committee?

Mr. Fenson: No; the two subsections have.

The Chairman: Are there any more ques-
tions? In that case may I convey to you the
thanks of the committee. We appreciate the
fact that you have come all the way from
Winnipeg to make this presentation to assist
us in our labours and to bring wisdom, I
hope, to our actions.

Mr. Fenson: Thank you.

The committee adjourned.
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THE STANDING SENATE COMMITTEE ON
LEGAL AND CONSTITUTIONAL AFFAIRS

The Honourable A. W. Roebuck, Chairman

The Honourable Senators

Argue Gouin McGrand
Aseltine Grosart Méthot
Belisle Haig Phillips (Rigaud)
Choquette Hayden Prowse
Connolly (Ottawa West) Hollett Roebuck
Cook Lamontagne Smith
Croll Lang Thompson
Eudes Langlois Urquhart
Everett MacDonald (Cape Walker
Fergusson Breton) White
*Flynn *Martin Willis

*Ex officio member

(Quorum 7)



ORDERS OF REFERENCE

Extract from the Minutes of the Proceedings of the Senate, Wednesday,
January 22nd, 1969:

“The Order of the Day being read,

With leave of the Senate,

The Honourable Senator Leonard resumed the debate on the motlon
of the Honourable Senator Roebuck, seconded by the Honourable Sénator
Croll, for the second reading of the Bill S-21, intituled: “An Act to
amend the Criminal Code.”

After debate, and—
The question being put on the motion, it was—
Resolved in the affirmative.

The Bill was then read the second time.

The Honourable Senator Leonard moved, seconded by the Honourable
Senator Fergusson, that the Bill be referred to the Standing Committee
on Legal and Constitutional Affairs.

The question being put on the motion, it was—
Resolved in the affirmative.

Extract from the Minutes of the Proceedings of the Senate, Thursday,
February 13th, 1969:

With leave of the Senate,
The Honourable Senator McDonald moved, seconded by the Hon-
ourable Senator Langlois:

That the Standing Senate Committee on Foreign Affairs and the
Standing Senate Committee on Legal and Constitutional Affairs have
power to sit during adjournments of the Senate.

After debate, and—
The question being put on the motion, it was—
Resolved in the affirmative.

With leave of the Senate,

The Honourable Senator McDonald moved, seconded by the Hon-
ourable Senator Langlois:

That the Standing Senate Committee on Legal and Constitutional
Affairs be authorized to examine and report to the Senate from time
to time on any matter relating to legal and constitutional affairs gen-
erally, and on any matter assigned to the said Commiteee by the Rules
of the Senate, and

That the said Committee be empowered to engage the services of
such counsel and technical, clerical and other personnel as may be neces-
sary for the foregoing purposes, at such rates of remuneration and reim-
ment as the Committee may determine, and to compensate witnesses by

: 8—3
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reimbursement of travelling and living expenses, in such amounts as the
Committee may determine.

The question being put on the motion, it was—
Resolved in the affirmative.”

Extracts from the Minutes of the Proceedings of the Senate, Tuesday,
March 11th, 1969:

“With leave of the Senate,
The Honourable Senator Langlois moved, seconded by the Honour-
able Senator Martin, P.C.:

That the Standing Committee on Legal and Constitutional Affairs
be empowered to sit while the Senate is sitting today.

The question being put on the motion, it was—
Resolved in the affirmative.”

ROBERT FORTIER,
Clerk of the Senate.

Extract from the Minutes of the Proceedings of the Senate of Canada, Tues-
day, 22nd April, 1969:

“With leave of the Senate,

The Honourable Senator McDonald moved, seconded by the Honour-
able Senator Bourget, P.C.:

That the names of the Honourable Senators Giguére and McElman
be removed from the list of Senators serving on the Standing Senate
Committee on Legal and Constitutional Affairs.

The question being put on the motion, it was—
Resolved in the affirmative.

With leave of the Senate,

The Honourable Senator McDonald moved, seconded by the Honour-
able Senator Bourget, P.C.:

That the -names of the Honourable Senators McGrand and Smith
be added to the list of Senators serving on the Standing Committee on
Legal and Constitutional Affairs.

The question being put on the motion, it was—
Resolved in the affirmative.”

Alcide Paquette,
Clerk Assistant.

8—4



MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS

THURSDAY, April 24th, 1969.

Pursuant to adjournment and notice, the Standing Senate Committee on
Legal and Constitutional Affairs met this day at 2 p.m.

Present: The Honourable Senators Roebuck (Chairman), Choquette, Cook,
Croll, Fergusson, Haig, Lang, Macdonald (Cape Breton), Phillips (Rigaud),
Smith, Urquhart, Walker and White.

In attendance: E. Russell Hopkins, Law Clerk and Parliamentary Counsel.
The following witnesses were heard:

1. Mr. J. A. Wojciechowski, Canadian Polish Congress;

2. Mr. Glen How, Q.C., Toronto, Ontario, in person.
At 5:30 p.m. the Committee adjourned at the call of the chairman.
ATTEST:

L. J. M. Boudreault,
Clerk of the Committee.
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THE STANDING SENATE COMMITTEE ON LEGAL
AND CONSTITUTIONAL AFFAIRS
EVIDENCE

Ottawa, Thursday, April 24, 1969

The Standing Senate Committee on Legal
and Constitutional Affairs, to which was
referred Bill S-21, to amend the Criminal
Code (Hate Propaganda), met this day at 2
p.m. g

Senator Arthur W. Roebuck (Chairman) in
the Chair.

The Chairman: Honourable senators, we
have two groups to hear from today. We have
with us at the present moment Mr. J. A.
Wojciechowski of the Canadian Polish Con-
gress. I cannot give you very much more
introduction than that, but that is enough I
think.

We will call upon Mr. Wojciechowski.

Mr. Jerzy A. Wojciechowski, Vice Presi-
dent, Canadian Polish Congress: Honourable
senators, I represent the Canadian Polish
Congress, an organization of Canadians of
Polish descent. May I say by way of informa-
tion that according to government statistics
there are about 375,000 Canadians of Polish
origin in the country at the present moment.

I shall read to you the brief which was
prepared by the Canadian Polish Congress
and signed by Mr. Jarmicki, the President. I
am Vice-President of the Congress. The brief
reads as follows:

Honourable senators, this memorandum is
submitted on behalf of the Canadian Polish
Congress, the supreme organization of
Canadians of Polish origin.

As Canadian citizens we hold a firm belief
in democratic ideals, traditions and in our
system of government. At the same time we
are attempting to preserve our Pclish cultural
heritage which, we believe, will make a valu-
able contribution to the multi-cultural fabric
of Canadian society.

The proposals of Bill S-21 now under
review by your committee therefore interest
and concern us deeply, being indicative of

Canada’s determination to keep this country
free of hatred, which has caused so much
destruction in other lands, and to promote the
existence of a free, orderly and decent society
under the law. By this proposed bill, Canada
has an opportunity to establish a definite
national policy aimed at discouraging and
deterring the spread of racial and ethnic
hatred: we, ourselves an ethnic group, can
only find such an aim commendable.

We are not in a position to analyze the
legal aspects of the bill now under considera-
tion—we wish, however, to express our gen-
eral opinion on the proposed legislation.

The bill is divided into three main propos-
als. The first clause proposing to ban genocide
should have found little objection, consider-
ing the horrible manifestation little more than
20 years ago, and yet, an objection has been
raised that the enactment of such a ban could
be construed as a kind of slur cast on the
good name of Canadians, since it is unlikely
that we stand in danger today of witnessing
this kind of incredible heinous crime in this
country. As unthinkable as this offence is, it
would be unrealistic to state positively that it
could never occur under any circumstances.
Its last occurrence, in a country where many
of our citizens were born, is too fresh an
event to eradicate from our minds.

If I might add another personal comment
from my mind, because I have witnessed it.

The Chairman: You have witnessed it?

Mr. Wojciechowski: Yes, I have.

These critics have, however, missed the
vital point in the clause proposed in Bill S-21.
It is not only genocide per se that would be
an offence, but the incitement to and the pro-
motion of genocide. Uttering threats against
an individual, threats of injury, violence, or
death has long been forbidden by our crimi-
nal law. This clause proposes to forbid the
threat or the advocacy of injury or mass
extermination against a racial, ethnic or
national group. What is involved here is pro-
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tection for a group rather than for an
individual, but basically, protection for an
individual and protection for a group are
both really forms of protection for the whole
of society. There is nothing in this, it seems to
us, discrepant or contradictory to the existing
and accepted principles of law or morality, on
the contrary, collective protections are what
distinguish a civilized from a barbaric society.
To urge the idea of genocide, to incite hatred
or injury against any identifiable group is
monstrous, and if the law at present does not
cover these breaches it is high time, honoura-
ble senators, to rectify the oversight.

The second proposal forbids the incitement
to hatred against racial, ethnic or national
groups that would lead to a breach of the
peace. After discussing the subject with mem-
ber organizations we were faced with the
assumption that this law already exists on our
statute books. Is not incitement to violence
and talk that leads to disorder already forbid-
den under the law? Not in the circumstances
stated above. This is a gap in our jurispru-
dence which should be bridged. All of us, as
supporters of civil liberties, have agreed that
the law should not and cannot condone vio-
lence and the advocacy of violence. The
enactment of this clause would bring this par-
ticular phase of public disorder into the
framework of what is already covered by our
existing laws.

The third clause, dealing with the wilful
communication of untrue statements, knowing
them to be false and not for the public
benefit, which promote hatred against an
identifiable group, is the part of the bill that
introduces something new. But, on -closer
examination, it is not based on a novel
philosophy. We punish people for perpetrat-
ing financial fraud, for misrepresentation. We
have pure food laws that protect the consum-
er. Manufacturers and food processors cannot
arbitrarily label their products, claiming that
a product contains an ingredient, when it
actually does not. A certain kind of packaged
beef cannot be marketed as bacon, nor can
the packaging be misleading in order to
deceive the consumer. Drug manufacturers
are strictly regulated in labelling their prod-
ucts. Stock prospectuses are very carefully
watched to protect the public against fraud.

And yet, honourable members of the
Senate, when we depart from the pocketbook
we lose that fine concern for the public: we
are ready to permit the wildest lies, the most

pernicious falsifications, the most offensive
and hate-instilling forgeries to pollute our
atmosphere and to poison our climate of opin-
ion. Must our laws be concerned primarily
with matters of the purse? Why should there
be strict regulation of consumer goods, and
yet total anarchy in the more important area
of public weal, affecting the happiness of mil-
lions, where slander and hatred are allowed
to flourish unchecked? This outmoded laissez-
faire attitude has survived in this sphere long
after it has been discredited everywhere else.
This is a piece of legislation which is long
overdue.

Without doubt, other briefs have dealt with
the safeguards that Bill S-21 contains. These
safeguards indicate that whoever drafted the
Bill is quite sensitive to the demands of free-
dom of speech—something we strongly favour
and value. The idea that the truth of any
particular statement may be used by an
accused as his defence certainly recommends
itself to us as a legitimate and desirable safe-
guard, being cognizant of the fact that in
cases of seditious libel, obscenity and scurrili-
ty, this is not the case in our present law.
This safeguard ensures that the law would be
directed only against those statements that
are wilfully false: the ‘public benefit’ provi-
sion ensures that no one would be penalized
for expressing an opinion within the context
of a discussion in good faith on public affairs.
It is our understanding that the Bill does not
propose to interfere with speech or publica-
tion, but that it proposes to provide a
recourse for ethnic, racial and religious
groups against wilfull slander, and of such a
proposal we cannot but heartily approve.

Honourable Chairman and members of the
Senate Committee, our position rests on the
belief that a great future lies in store for
Canada, a future wherein all its races, ethnic
groups and creeds will find a way to live
harmoniously and peacefully. Law is one of
the most persuasive educative factors there
is. When fair employment and accommoda-
tion laws were introduced in Ontario and in
other provinces, the complaints were wide-
spread that the law would prove ineffective,
that it would not change people’s emotions
and prejudices, and that it would be impossi-
ble to prove discrimination. Yet despite all
these misgivings the legislation has worked.
Has it done away with prejudice? Of course
not. It was not intended to. Its task was to
diminish the external manifestations of
prejudice—discrimination in jobs, in housing
and in accommodation. In this purpose. it has
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achieved considerable success and no one now
suggests the repeal of these laws. They have
proved educative.

We feel there is a direct analogy with Bill
S-21. The bill will not eradicate bias and big-
otry—that is not its purpose. But it can
remove the external active reflection of that
internal bias—the promotion of genocide, the
incitement to disorder and violence and the
preaching of racial and religious hatred. This
will also, in time prove educative.

For these reasons we earnestly urge the
adoption of Bill S-21 and trust hopefully that
your recommendation to Parliament will be a
positive one.

The Chairman: Thank you for that, Mr.
Wojciechowski. Are there any questions that
the senators would like to ask the witness?

Senator Macdonald: I wonder, Mr. Chair-
man, if the witness would give us some idea
of the Canadian Polish Congress, who they
are, their aims, and so on?

Mr. Wojciechowski: The Canadian Polish
Congress, as I said, is the central organization
of all organizations of Canadian Poles. The
members of this Congress are not individuals,
but organizations. Individuals are members of
the Congress through their organizations;
there are about 280 or so organizations par-
ticipating in the Canadian Polish Congress of
all sorts, business groups, professional
groups, veterans’ associations, and so on.

The purpose of the Congress is to offer,
first of all to the Canadian Poles, a sort of
meeting ground, a sounding platform, to
represent to the authorities this ethnic group
whenever it is necessary to make representa-
tions, and in general to further the develop-
ment of what we consider are valuable ele-
ments of Polish character integrated into the
Canadian, say fabric, the fabric of Canadian
life. That I would say is in a very general
way our aim.

Senator Walker: Thank you very much for
your presentation. When did you come to
Canada; after the war?

Mr. Wojciechowski: It will be 20 years in
July.

Senator Walker: Yes, 20 years. Is it correct
to say that what you are telling us today is
because of  your experiences in the old
country?
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Mr. Wojciechowski: Yes, very much so. It
happens that during the extermination of the
Warsaw ghetto I lived about 50 yards from
the ghetto wall, so I witnessed it.

Senator Walker: Yes, so your idea is that
reciting that experience and bringing it to our
attention, that something like it may happen
here at some time?

Mr. Wojciechowski: I do not think it will,
but I also know how easy it is to store up
hatred; I saw this being done by the Hitler
propaganda before the war and during it.

Senator Walker: Yes, exactly, but you will
be glad to agree with me that in your experi-
ence in Canada you have not experienced
anything like this?

Mr. Wojciechowski: Not at all.

Senator Walker:
That is all.

Thank you very much.

The Chairman: Are you in law?

Mr. Wojciechowski: No, I am a Professor of
Philosophy at the University of Ottawa.

The Chairman: I think I can say thank you
on behalf of the entire committee, Mr. Woj-
ciechowski. You have performed a public ser-
vice in bringing this to our attention. I
understand from what you say that the pre-
sentation of a brief such as this is within the
constitutional purposes of your organization?

Mr. Wojciechowski: Very much so.

The Chairman: And that you represent in
these various organizations, did you say
175,000?

Mr. Wojciechowski: We are 375,000.

The Chairman: Three hundred and seven-
ty-five thousand people of Polish origin?

Mr. Wojciechowski: Polish descent, yes.

The Chairman: Many of whom have lived
here for a long time?

Mr. Wojciechowski: Yes, many who have
lived here for, let us say, more than one
generation.

The Chairman: Yes, and so far as you
know they are unanimously in agreement
with what you have said?

Mr. Wojciechowski: So far as I know. This
has been discussed. There may be some
individual dissent, but this represents the
opinion of the organization.



The Chairman: Thank you very much, sir.

Honourable senators, we have another
witness today, Mr. Glen How. I fancy I need
no introduction on his behalf. He has been
very well known in this country and has
taken some very prominent positions of which
I think you are all more or less familiar. He
is here today representing himself.

Mr. W. Glen How, Q.C.: That is correct.

The Chairman: And I am sure you will all
be glad to hear from him.

Senator Walker: Is this the

counsel?

Queen’s

The Chairman: Yes, sir.

Mr. How: Honourable senators and Mr.
Chairman, I am appearing here primarily as
a lawyer who is deeply concerned about the
effect this proposed bill can have, and I may
tell you will have, on the law of Canada.

While the learned chairman has suggested
that you are all very familiar with my back-
ground, I think he overdoes it in kindness.
May I just say that I have been for 25 years
general counsel for the minority group known
as Jehovah’s witnesses. During that period I
have appeared either personally or in consul-
tation on most of the major civil liberties
cases that have been decided in this country.
In consequence I have special experience, not
only because of what one can learn oneself,
but also from hearing outstanding members
of the bar representing the Attorneys General
of the various provinces. At the same time I
have also had the privilege of appearing
before the Supreme Court of Canada and
other courts of appeal throughout the country
whereon have sat some of the finest minds
that have ever come to the bench and bar in
this country.

So when I speak to you, gentlemen, I do
not pretend that I thought of all these things
myself, but it is rather I seek to assist you
with a distillation of what has been learned
from many of these other fine minds over this
period.

Now, just coming directly to the matter at
hand, may I make this brief introductory
statement, because I have had a little experi-
ence and I have done some writing on this
subject, and I would file a copy of my article
with the learned chairman before I leave.

The point is this. ..

Standing Senate Committee

Senator Walker: Is this your brief; did you
write this yourself?

Mr. How: Yes I did, that is correct. I have
a number of references which I believe you
will find valuable.

Senator Urquari: How long have you been
with the Jehovah’s witnesses’ organization?

Mr. How: For 30 years, sir.

Senator Lang: Before you proceed, Mr.
How, could you give us a rough, ball park
estimate of how many civil liberties cases you
have been involved in as counsel or assisting
counsel during your practice?

Mr. How: It would be very hard to remem-
ber; I may tell you, Senator Lang, that at one
point we had 1,800 cases going at one time in
the cities of Montreal and Quebec, and in
other provinces.

Senator Phillips (Rigaud): That would
involve a uniform legal principle?

Mr. How: That is right.

Senator Phillips (Rigaud): So it was really
one legal case.

Mr. How: Not quite, sir; I will tell you
why.

Senator Phillips (Rigaud): No, I do not
want to take up time with why, but broadly
speaking would it not be fair to say that the
1,800 cases involved the determination of one
legal point?

Mr. How: Not quite, sir, no. The first major
case that we had in the Supreme Court of
Canada, myself, was the case of Boucher vs.
The King, 1951, Supreme Court Reports, page
265.

Senator Walker: Did Rand write the judg-
ment there?

Mr. How: He wrote one of them; that case
was up twice. We heard it once and the
Supreme Court judgment was left in an
uncertain state after five judges heard it. I
moved for a rehearing before the Supreme
Court and it was heard before nine judges
and this time we were successful in having
that case dismissed with the result that about
125 other cases fell with it.

So that partly answers your point.

Senator Walker: What was the principle
involved in that case?
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Mr. How: The charge there was publishing
a seditious libel. That was the charge, but the
principles underlying seditious libel really are
very close to the very issues that are dealt
with in this bill here, because in simple lan-
guage it comes to this: What is a man allowed
to say? What can you address the public
about and what are the limits of your right of
expression? Now, that was the principle that
was up for consideration in the Boucher case.

This particular branch of the law has a
very interesting history and the case was of
extreme importance. I may explain that there
were certain principles of the law of sedition
that were accepted for a very long time, in
fact right up until the Boucher case. I have
set these out in my factum and I will just
refer you to the actual language that was
formerly accepted. You will find this at page
21. This is a very key point, really, for your
deliberations, if I may respectfully so submit.

Right at the centre of the page you will see
an (a), a (¢) and a (d). The point is this was
the test, this was the legal definition of what
a person could say under the law of sedition
and it was an offence to bring into hatred or
contempt or to excite disaffection against the
person of Her Majesty, or the Government
and Constitution. ..

Senator Phillips (Rigaud): May I interrupt
you, please? You are delving into your brief
on the basis of going into the subject-matter,
as I understand it, of seditious libel?

Mr. How: That is correct.

Senator Phillips (Rigaud): And relating it to
the old obscure background of the star cham-
ber, with which the honourable senators are
familiar?

Mr. How: That is right.

Senator Phillips (Rigaud): Do you mind
conditioning us as to where the law of sediti-
ous libel relates itself to the subject-matter of
the bill presently before us? I fail to see
where the problem of genocide and inciting
the hatred and the publication of untruthful
matters has any analogy to the law of sediti-
ous libel. Maybe I for one will follow you in
the study of the very interesting subject of
sedition, with which incidentally we are most
familiar, if you will be good enough to at
least convince us that the law of seditious
libel warrants our study, rather than the
study of this bill. !
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Senator Walker: My understanding is that
you are giving us the star chamber law,
which was the law until the Boucher case; is
that not correct?

Mr. How: That is right, sir, and that is the
reason why it is extremely important, Senator
Phillips, because I will tell you in short and
simple language.

Senator Phillips (Rigaud): Please do.

Mr. How: This bill is designed to reverse
the decision of the Supreme Court of Canada
in the Boucher case.

Senator Phillips
what?

(Rigaud): Designed to

Mr. How: To reverse the decision; I should
not perhaps say ‘“designed”. I should say the
effect of this bill is to reverse the decision of
the Supreme Court in the Boucher case and
reinstate the dragnet definition of the star
chamber in Canada.

Senator Phillips (Rigaud): Would you be
good enough, instead of indicating what
would be the result of the enactment of this
bill on the Supreme Court decision—I would
incidentally say that the best authority to
deal with that subject-matter would be the
Supreme Court itself, to determine whether
its findings should or should not be reversed,
if this bill were passed.

Mr. How: How do you expect to get this
bill in front of the Supreme Court of Canada?

Senator Phillips (Rigaud): May I put a
question?

Mr. How: Yes, sir.

Senator Phillips (Rigaud): I will repeat the
question: Where does the subject-matter of
seditious libel bring any relevancy or analo-
gous matters that require our present study
of the law of seditious libel in order to help
us to determine the merits of this bill?

Mr. How: I will be very pleased to, if you
will allow me, Senator Phillips. Your question
is well taken and I am happy to give you an
answer.

Senator Phillips (Rigaud): Thank you.

Mr. How: Because the proposition is simple
enough. I do not care what you call it; let us
not be led aside by labels.

The substantive question for consideration
here, as it was in these other cases also, is
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what are the definitions and what are the
limitations as to what people can say as a
matter of information and communication to
other citizens and what are the relevant con-
siderations on the opposite side from the
standpoint of maintaining public order? This
is the fundamental question of all civil liber-
ties issues.

Senator Phillips (Rigaud): May I put this
question to you: Are you suggesting in the
presentation of your brief and your line of
argument that the Parliament of Canada is
not entitled to pass legislation which would
have the effect of setting aside the reasoning
of the Supreme Court of Canada?

Mr. How: I have made no such statement,
senator.

Senator Phillips (Rigaud): I thought you
said that you were basing on that your
remarks, your presentation and your objec-
tions to this bill, because I see in your con-
clusions that you do object to this bill?

Mr. How: Yes, that is right.

Senator Phillips (Rigaud): That the net
result of this legislation would be that, to
have the effect of setting aside the judgment
of the Supreme Court of Canada.

Mr. How: That is correct.

Senator Phillips (Rigaud): Would you direct
yourself to my question. What is your answer
to the proposition that the Parliament of
Canada has the right to consider and pass
legislation even though the effect would be to
set aside the reasoning of the Supreme Court
of Canada?

Senator Lang: Mr. Chairman, I do not
think we are bringing in the question of the
competency of Parliament. I think Senator
Phillips is going a little far when he suggests
that the witness is saying Parliament is not
competent to do this.

Mr. How: My present position, gentlemen,
is simply this. It is not a question of permissi-
ble power, it is a question of advisable power.
We are at the present time, I suggest, in an
advisory position, which is the proper posi-
tion of this committee, and it is my purpose
to urge to the committee that this proposed
legislation is most inadvisable.

The technical question of whether or not
Parliament has power to pass it is a very fine
constitutional line which I do not think it
falls upon us to settle.

Senator Croll: Why? Is there some doubt in
your mind?

Mr. How: If you, Senator Croll, will exam-
ine some of the comments of Mr. Justice
Abbott of the Supreme Court of Canada and
also Mr. Justice Rand in the Saumur case,
you will find that the question that Parlia-
ment could ever go so far in enacting legisla-
tion as to essentially destroy the operation of
democratic government.

Senator Croll: And this destroys democratic
government?

Mr. How: No, but sir, with great respect,
let us be fair; I did not say it did. You asked
me a technical, constitutional question.

Senator Urquhari: Let him talk about his
brief then.

Senator Walker: He was until he was inter-
rupted and he has been interrupted ever
since he started.

Mr. How: May I say, honourable senators,
that I appreciate your great interest and I
know that this is, if I may be vulgar, what is
known as a gut issue; this is hitting at the
substance of the operation of this nation and I
appreciate your concern. I am glad to have
yvour questions, but I think if you will allow
me I may be able to be of assistance.

Senator Choquetite: Mr. How, we have
heard several briefs and we know, as many
lawyers do, that we could argue on one sent-
ence of your brief and cross-examine you at
great length and we would not finish by six
o’clock this evening, or six o’clock tomorrow.

Now, the custom so far has been for a
witness to read his brief from beginning to
end. I think you are on dangerous ground
when you start at page 21 and you are being
cut down to one single line. I suggest that you
follow the custom that has been followed
until now, I might be wrong, but I do not
think you would get into as much trouble as
you are now getting in if you were to read
your brief from beginning to end, and then
invite questions.

The Chairman: If the Chair might be heard
in this connection, that would probably be the
most expeditious method of procedure.

At the same time the Chair here on this
occasion has no desire to interfere with any
senator who wishes to ask a question; that is
always open to the members in this kind of
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sitting. This witness is eminently able to take
care of himself, so I think if we proceed
along those lines and you read what portion
of it you care to, Mr. How, not the whole of it
unless you wish to do so.

Mr. How: Honourable senators, in the light
of the kind suggestions that have been made
to me, if I may turn to the brief I may,
departing very slightly from the helpful
suggestion of Senator Choquette, summarize
some of the points which I have set out at
more length. I just want to make this initial
comment, because there has sometimes been
quite a lot of misunderstanding in relation to
this proposed legislation. Whenever anybody
criticizes it or disagrees with it, although it
may be on the most strictly legal grounds, it
is sometimes and I have myself been accused
and quite falsely of being anti-Semitic and I
do not think that is fair. Just like you have
had some prominent Jewish lawyers come
here before this Committee and disagree with
the bill; I think that speaks for itself.

I may say too that it has sometimes been
said that the Jewish people are the only ones
that are concerned about this matter because
they are the ones that suffered primarily
under the concentration camps. I may tell you
that Jehovah’s witnesses are an international
organization who also suffered, very deeply,
and therefore we are most concerned about
this whole problem.

Senator Phillips (Rigaud): In the same ratio
of six million in the gas chambers?

Mr. How: We did not have six million.

Senator Phillips (Rigaud): I just wanted to
know what proportion of six million did you
have?

Senator Walker: Is that a point in this
argument?

Senator Phillips (Rigaud): Instead of stick-
ing to the brief we have been going into the
question of the Jehovah’s witnesses. I am
ready to meet the witness on that ground. As
long as he remains relevant I will be as cour-
teous as possible, if he will stick to his brief
and the subject-matter of this bill.

Mr. How: Sir, this is in the brief and that
is why I am dealing with it. I must just refer
to Professor Ebenstein of Princeton Universi-
ty who in his book The Nazi State mentions,
and I quote him at the top of page 2 that:

When the witnesses did not give up the
struggle for their religious convictions, a

campaign of terror was launched against
them which surpassed anything perpe-
trated against other victims of Nazism in
Germany... The sufferings of Jehovah’s
witnesses in the camps were even worse
than those meted out to Jews, pacifists or
communists. Small as the sect is, each
member seems to be a fortress which can
be destroyed but never taken.

Relevant to your comment, Senator Phil-
lips, I draw to your attention the third item
on page 2 under Nazi persecution, which
quotes from page 196:

Foremost among the opponents of
Nazism were the Jehovah’s witnesses of
whom a higher proportion (97 per cent)
suffered some form of persecution than
any of the other churches. No less than a
third of the whole following were to lose
their lives as a result of their refusal to
conform or compromise. In contrast to
the compliance of the larger churches,
the Jehovah’s witnesses maintained their
doctrinal opposition to the point of
fanaticism. ..

This is simply to illustrate a point, gentle-
men. The quotation is there and I will not go
on in detail; I am just doing it for this rea-
son, to know that Jehovah’s witnesses have
suffered under Nazis and under concen-
tration camps and are very opposed to any of
those practices. We have deep sympathy with
the Jewish people who feel this way about it
and I exactly understand why they feel this
way.

The only thing is, gentlemen, no matter
how we feel about it we cannot reverse histo-
ry and we have to look at the statute which
we have got in front of us to determine
whether or not it is a good statute, whether
or not it is going to be advisable, regardless
of what may have happened over history. We
can learn from history, but we cannot reverse
it.

The Chairman: And we do not want it to
be repeated.

Mr. How: Indeed we do not want it to be
repeated; that I agree with.

Senator Urquhari: Are you able to substan-
tiate the statement that the sufferings of
Jehovah’s witnesses in the camps were even
worse than those meted out to Jews, pacifists
or communists?

Mr. How: Sir, that was the comment of
Professor. .. i
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Senator Urquhari: I know it was, but are
you able to support it?

Mr. How: Only from my knowledge I can
say this, sir, from what I have read and what
I have learned, from being in Germany and
meeting those of my associates who were in
the concentration camps.

The point is this: it is a brutal record that a
person who is Jewish, they could put him to
death, but he could not stop being Jewish
because that is the way he was born, but with
Jehovah’s witnesses you can resign and they
put these people in concentration camps
always ready to let them out if they would
sign a document abjuring their faith.

Therefore they have got people under these
circumstances who were refusing to bow to
the Nazi state and therefore every kind of
inhuman torture that could be devised was
used in order to break them. That is the
reason.

Now, the other thing. ..
Senator Urquhart: Is that documented?

Mr. How: It is documented, sir, and in
some of these volumes and we have more
detailed documentation that I can provide if
you are interested.

Senator Urquhart: But you have not them
here today.

Mr. How: I have not them here today
because I simply quoted these outside
authorities.

Senator Walker: Is Ebenstein not a great
Jewish professor?

Mr. How: I understand that Ebenstein is a
well known Jewish professor.

Senator Urquhari: I understand that; I
asked if it can be supported, that is all.

Mr. How: Yes, it can be supported, sir, but
this was only an incidental matter today so I
did not go into it in detail.

Senator Lang: I suppose that we can accept
quotations from authorities without question-
ing the validity of those authorities.

Senator Urquhart: Who does?
Senator Lang: The court does.

The Chairman: I suppose part of the perse-
cution to which your people were subjected

was the misrepresentation of them; am I right
in that?

Mr. How: It was the actual violence; we
were not worried about the misrepresenta-
tion, because we believe in free speech and if
somebody misrepresents we will answer them
and we are perfectly willing and able to
answer them, but we do not want any special
laws to restrict anybody from making their
statements and their arguments. That is how
false prophets and false arguments are an-
swered, by giving them a straight answer, not
by trying to silence them. That is my answer
to that.

Now, gentlemen, coming down to the next
step I come now to the direct consideration of
where I submit the things we have to take
into account in looking at this bill are. In
other words, this proposed bill has to be
examined in the light of the overall context
of the Canadian situation and its operation.

Now, it is my respectful submission as far
as the Cohen Report is concerned that they
have concentrated, if not a hundred per cent,
to a very large percentage on the mischiefs,
the problems that might arise by the exercise
of expression of communication. They have
failed, in my respectful submission, to give
reasonable weight to the value that we have
from the exercise of a free press and people
expressing their opinions.

I do not make any effort and I do not know
if anybody else does to defend this kind of
trashy material, but the point is let us not in
an effort to stamp out what is irrelevant and
ineffective be stampeded into passing a law
that can be used to stop a lot of other materi-
al that may be quite valuable. I am not com-
ing at this juncture to the specific terms of
the bill; I will get to that later, but I am just
saying this as a principle.

Now, I quote first on page 4, Chief Justice
Duff where he talks about the government in
this country. This is from his judgment in the
Alberta case and he says that:

The statute contemplates a parliament
working under the influence of public
opinion and public discussion. There can
be no controversy that such institutions
derive their efficacy from the free public
discussion of aflairs, from criticism and
answer and counter-criticism, from attack
upon policy and administration and de-
fence and counter-attack; from the freest
and fullest analysis and examination
from every point of view of political
proposals . ..
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Then he goes on to say:

Even within its legal limits, it is liable to
abuse and grave abuse, and such abuse is
constantly exemplified before our eyes;
but it is axiomatic that the practice of
this right of free public discussion of
public affairs, notwithstanding its inci-
dental mischiefs, is the breath of life for
parliamentary institutions.

Now, I pause there, gentlemen, to under-
score the expression notwithstanding its inci-
dental mischiefs. Anything that you have that
is useful is going to be open to some abuses.
Everybody uses automobiles; we are glad to
see them, it is a wonderful way of travelling
around, but if people get impaired and drive
wildly they can do damage with them, but if
you try to concentrate and focus on the des-
truction of all the incidental mischiefs the net
result is that you also destroy the value of the
exercise of the freedom itself.

Senator Phillips (Rigaud): May I put a
question to you on that, because I think you
are now relevant to the issue: Do you object
to legislation which determines the speed at
which an automobile may travel?

Mr. How: I do not object to that, sir.

Senator Phillips (Rigaud): Just answer my
question; you do not object to the speed law?

Mr. How: No, sir.

Senator Phillips (Rigaud): Therefore, why
should you object to the qualification of the
right of free speech in certain circumstances
when you do not object to a law against loco-
motion that is excessive?

Mr. How: All right; may I answer, sir?

Senator Phillips (Rigaud): Yes, I would like
the answer to that?

Mr. How: I will answer it; I do not object
to the speed laws they already have because I
think they are reasonable.

Senator Phillips (Rigaud): Never mind if
they are reasonable.

Mr. How: Do you mind if I answer, sir?
You asked a question, may I answer?

Senator Phillips (Rigaud): Yes, please do?

Mr. How: Thank you. The point is, sir,
reasonable speed laws such as we have I have
no-objection to but if they pass a speed law
that says no motor vehicle may be driven on
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the highway at more than three miles an
hour, I am certainly going to object. Reasona-
ble regulation nobody objects to, but unrea-
sonable regulation has already been held by
the Privy Council in Virgo v. The City of
Toronto to be prohibition, and so that type of
speed legislation would in essence be prohibi-
tion of driving automobiles. I may say that
overdoing legislation of this kind under the
guise of regulation would be in effect prohibi-
tion of freedom of speech; that is really the
answer to this whole proposition.

Senator Phillips, if I may say in fairness I
think we both recognize, or certainly I do and
I am sure you do, that there has to be a
certain range of regulation; there is no ques-
tion about that. What we are trying to deter-
mine is what is the reasonable range and in
order to determine what the reasonable range
is surely we have to look at the overall context
of our constitution as well as the history of
the cases where some of our finest judges
have sought to determine what the limits are;
that is the subject-matter of this hearing.

The Chairman: May I ask, witness, what
would you say would be the reasonable limit
of the regulation of free speech in the matter
of protection of identifiable groups?

Mr. How: The reasonable limit, Mr. Chair-
man, and I will come to it very shortly, is
exactly what is set out in the Criminal Code.
There is not a thing wrong with it. Mr. Jus-
tice Varcoe, the late Deputy Minister of Jus-
tice, said that all the problems that are dealt
with in the international United Nations rul-
ing on this question, I have forgotten the
technical name of it, that they are all dealt
with in the Criminal Code now, and I take
that position, that it is reasonable to apply
what is in the Criminal Code. I want to say
this, that the people who have been doing the
arguing, who have been presenting all the
briefs here, the main motivating force has
been the Canadian Jewish Congress and I
have asked them repeatedly why do you not
take a case; why do you not try even one
case, because some of their counsel have
recommended it and it has not been done. In
my respectful submission, nobody has a right
to come before Parliament and say we need
some new laws until they have made a rea-
sonable and sincere effort to enforce the laws
that we have.

That is my submission on that point.

The Chairman: Would you tell us what
there is in the Criminal Code upon which the
identifiable groups can rely?
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Mr. How: Yes, I will be very pleased, but
do you want me to go to that now?

The Chairman: No, I do not want to inter-
fere with your presentation at all, but I wish
you would do that in the course of your
address.

Mr. How: Yes, I would be very pleased.
Now, gentlemen, I would like to come next to
the case you will find on page 5; this is an
English case that emphasizes the same point,
the case of Wason vs. Walter concerning free
press:

...though injustice may often be done,
And I am sure some of the papers here are
most unjust:

and though public men have to smart
under the keen sense of wrong inflicted
by hostile criticism, the nation profits by
public opinion being thus freely brought
to bear on the discharge of public duties.
In other words, let us not underrate or
underweight the positive values that freedom
of expression and a full play of public opin-
ion can bring us.

Senator Urquhart: Did this case have to do
with freedom of the press?

Mr. How: Yes, sir.

Senator Urquhari: What was the main

issue?

Mr. How: I must be honest, sir; it is some
time since I read the case itself.

Senator Urquhari: This is not arbiter dicta
of the case?

Mr. How: No, I do not believe so; it is part
of the ruling, part of the consideration of the
court at that time. It is some time since I
read it.

The Chairman: I was going to ask you on
this point, was that case not based upon libel
or slander?

Mr. How: I believe so, yes.

The Chairman: So there is law with regard
to libel and slander which he was discussing
at that time?

Mr. How: Yes, of course.

The Chairman: So that the hostile criticism
to which he referred was outside the scope of
either libel or slander.
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Mr. How: I cannot answer that now. I seem
to have picked out the principle there. I can
get the case and look at it if you might be
interested.

I would like to take time to read the next
case because it gets down to the fundamental
aspects. Before doing so, may I first present
something for filing. I mentioned an article I
had written on this subject which appeared in
Maclean’s magazine of January 2, 1965. With
your kind permission, Mr. Chairman, I would
like to file this.

The Chairman: With the permission of the
committee, let it be filed.

Mr. How: Perhaps copies could be made
available to the honourable senators.

The Chairman: We will try to arrange that
so that each one will get a copy.

Mr. How: Honourable senators, coming
back to the brief which I prepared, may I
draw your attention to page 5 where there is
an outstanding analysis of the principles that
should be taken into account in determining
the limitations of freedom of expression. This
is the case of Whitney v. California, an
American case; the decision was by Mr. Jus-
tice Brandeis. He is a famous Jewish judge in
the United States.

Senator Phillips (Rigaud): Would you call
him a Jewish judge, Mr. How, or would you
call him a citizen of the United States?

Mr. How: No sir, I think he was both.

Senator Phillips (Rigaud): I find it a little
difficult to follow your descriptive terminolo-
gy in your presentation.

Mr. How: I am sorry if you find it difficult
to follow, sir; I will be glad to explain it
further if it would be helpful.

Senator Phillips (Rigaud): Yes; excuse the
interruption.

Mr. How: The reason that this is specifical-
ly relevant here is this: That in a free state
the problems related to freedom of expression
are the same; it does not really make that
much difference which side of the border you
are on. This is a very deep and thoughtful
analysis. I will just read it:

Those who won our independence
believed that the. final end of the Sate
was to make men free to develop their
faculties and that in its government the
deliberate forces should prevail over the
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arbitrary. They valued liberty both as an
end and as a means. They believed liber-
ty to be the secret of happiness and cour-
age to be the secret of liberty.... But
they knew that order cannot be secured
merely through fear of punishment for
its infraction; that it is hazardous to dis-
courage thought, hope, and imagination;
that fear breeds repression that repres-
sion breeds hate; that hate menaces sta-
ble government; that the path of safety
lies in the opportunity to discuss freely
supposed grievances and proposed reme-
dies; and that the fitting remedy for evil
counsels is good ones. Believing in the
power of reason as applied through pub-
lic discussion, they eschewed silence
coerced by law—the argument of force in
its worst form. Recognizing the occasional
tyrannies of governing majorities, they
amended the Constitution so that free
speech and assembly should be
guaranteed.

Fear of serious injury cannot alone jus-
tify suppression of free speech and
assembly. Men feared witches and burnt
women. It is the function of speech to
free men from the bondage of irrational
fears... Every denunciation of existing
law tends in some measure to increase the
probability that there will be violation of
it... But even advocacy of violation,
however reprehensible morally, is not a
justification for denying free speech
where the advocacy falls short of incite-

ment, between preparation and attempt, -

between assembling and conspiracy, must
be borne in mind.

Senator Phillips (Rigaud): Do you mind
amplifying what in your opinion is the mean-
ing of Mr. Justice Brandeis when he empha-
sizes that it is not a justification for denying
free speech where the advocacy falls short of
incitement; what do you think, Mr. Justice
Brandeis meant by that?

Mr. How: It is very simple, sir. Incitement
is direct action, clear and present danger. In
other words, if I have a mob here of unem-
ployed and we see a millionaire coming out of
a club across the street and I say, “Let us get
him, boys,” that is incitement. But if I am
addressing a group in a hall and I say. “Gen-
tlemen, I advocate that we go out somewhere
and start getting organized to change this sys-
tem of things,” now, that is advocacy,
because you are saying let us get organized.
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Incitement is direct action: now, that is
what is meant by clear and present danger.

Senator Phillips (Rigaud): If a speaker says
to people in the hall, “I personally dislike all
people with curly, brown hair and I suggest
we immediately get organized and kill all
people with curly brown hair;” would you
judge that as leading to incitement?

Mr. How: Well, when you say leading to
incitement, yes it is leading to incitement.

Senator Phillips (Rigaud): Would you
regard it as being within the exception to
which Mr. Justice Brandeis refers in this
leading case?

Mr. How: Well, Mr. Phillips, the point
would be this: In all these things there is no
one single fact that governs; that would
depend on the crowd that you are talking to
and the circumstances of the time as to
whether or not it is advocacy or incitement. I
understand your point. It is very well taken
and I do not disagree with you. If I may read
the rest of this I think it contains the answer.
Your point is well taken, sir.

Senator Phillips (Rigaud): May I come back
that in my opinion it does not contain the
answer to my question.

Mr. How: Sir, you are entitled to your
opinion.

Senator Phillips (Rigaud): Thank you.

Mr. How: Reading

But even advocacy of violation, however
reprehensible morally, is not a justifica-
tion for denying free speech where the
advocacy falls short of incitement,
between preparation and attempt,
between assembling and conspiracy, must
be borne in mind.

I am sure the words “the difference” have
been omitted inadvertently.

In order to support a finding of clear
and present danger it must be shown
either that immediate serious violence
was to be expected or was advocated,—

Senator Phillips (Rigaud): Or advocated; or
was advocated. Will you be good enough to
draw the attention of the senators to that.

Mr. How: Yes, but remember it is immedi-
ate serious violence; it is not something in the
remote future, it is immediate serious
violence.
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(Reading)

—or that the past conduct furnished rea-
son to believe that such advocacy was
then contemplated.

Those who won our independence by
revolution were not cowards. They did
not fear political change. they did not
exalt order at the cost of liberty. To
courageous, self-reliant men, with
confidence in the power of free and fear-
less reasoning applied through the pro-
cesses of popular government, no danger
flowing from speech can be deemed clear
and present, unless the incidence of the
evil apprehended is so imminent that it
may befall before there is opportunity for
full discussion. If there be time to expose
through discussion the falsehood and fal-
lacies, to avert the evil by the processes
of education, the remedy to be applied is
more speech, not enforced silence.

...The fact that speech is likely to
result in some violence or in the destruc-
tion of property is not enough to justify
its suspension. There must be the proba-
bility of serious injury to the State.

Now, the essence of that is that it is really
a study in political science, and I simply say
all those same principles equally apply in
Canada. The minute you apply those princi-
ples then this whole allegation of the Cohen
Committee simply falls to the ground,
because they are so far from being anything
even faintly resembling a clear and present
danger. Further, that even if there were, this
bill goes much beyond any of the right prin-
ciples respecting freedom of speech and the
press that Mr. Justice Brandeis has
enunciated.

Senator Lang: The bill actually uses the
word advocate, not incite; in other words, it
falls squarely within the point he is making
in that second paragraph.

Senator Phillips (Rigaud): The bill refers to
the word advocate, Senator Lang, but leading
to the possibility of genocide.

Mr. How: Yes, but leading to the possibili-
ty, and “possibility” is so broad and uncertain
that it simply winds up that the prosecutor
does not have to prove anything at all.

Senator Phillips (Rigaud): We are very
happy to rely on Mr. Justice Brandeis’ mind.

Mr. How: I am pleased, because Mr. Justice
Brandeis points out that if there is time to
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expose to discussion the falsehood, the
remedy to be applied is more speech and not
enforced silence. As far as this material, this
so-called hate literature that has been pro-
duced, it is so far from convincing anybody
that there is lots of time to reply.

The very fact that the material the Cohen
Report discussed was in 1964 and the country
has been getting along just dandy up until
now, speaks for itself, that there is no present
and clear danger within the principles Mr.
Justice Brandeis enunciates.

Senator Phillips (Rigaud): Are you suggest-
ing there should be no law against theft
because there is no present danger in any
given place?

Senator Lang: A trust company was
robbed last week, Mr. Phillips; it is quite a
present danger.

Mr. How: I think the proper answer, sure-
ly, is this: We have a good law against theft
and the fact that a theft has been committed
is no reason for abolishing the law and mak-
ing a completely new law. We have law and I
am for it.

Senator Phillips (Rigaud): Would you give
me the law if I say to an audience I would
like to kill and I think it would be a desirable
thing to kill, as I said before, people with
curly brown hair, or whatever I said; would
you give me some section of the law in the
Criminal Code which you have described in
effect as being wholly effective?

I am not a criminal lawyer, so would you
be good enough to give me the section of the
Criminal Code under which I could get after
such a person?

Mr. How: Yes, I certainly can; I have got
the Criminal Code here.

Senator Phillips (Rigaud): Would you give
me the section?

Mr. How: Yes, section 160 would convict
him right now.

Senator Phillips (Rigaud): Would you read
it for me, where you think that under that
section I could reach that man?

Mr. How: Yes, I would be very pleased if
you will let me read it; you will find this on
page 13. S

Senator Phillips (Rigaud): In the Criminal
Code or in your brief?



Legal and Constitutional Affairs

Mr. How: In the brief:

Every one who not being in a dwelling
house causes a disturbance in or near a
public place, by fighting, screaming,
shouting, swearing, singing or using
insulting or obscene language.

Certainly if I stand up in a public place
and say to an audience we ought to go and
kill all the Jews right now, if that is not
insulting language, I do not know what it is,
and the man is going to be convicted.

Senator Phillips (Rigaud): So that with sin-
cere conviction on your part you tell me as a
practising lawyer for 50 years that section 160
is a section on which I can rely to bring a
person who wants to kill all people who have
curly brown hair to justice; is that your
answer to me?

Mr. How: Now, with the greatest of re-
spect, senator, let us be fa r; what you have
just said is not what you said before.

Senator Phillips (Rigaud): I will repeat the
question. If I listen to a man in a public
assembly who says that he is in favour of and
asks all people present there to agree with
him that it is desirable to kill all people who
have curly brown hair, do you say that sec-
tion 160 is the section of the Criminal Code
that I can invoke in order to bring that man
to justice?

Mr. How: In many cases I believe it would
be; there may be some exceptions.

Senator Phillips (Rigaud): All I can say, my
dear witness, is that you have insulted my
intelligence beyond reason.

Senator Urquhart: And mine too.
The Chairman: What is the penalty?

Senator Lang: I think, Mr. Chairman, if I
am not mistaken, and I would like Senator
Phillips to hear this: if I am not mistaken it
can be easily found. Beattie, the notorious...

The Chairman: Nazi.

Senator Lang: So-called Nazi, a demented
kid, was convicted under section 160.

Senator Phillips (Rigaud): I do not care
who was convicted under any section; I put a
specific question and I want a specific answer.

Senator Lang: That is what he said.

The Chairman:
know.
20061—2}
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Senator Lang: Not under section 160; Beat-
tie was up before the courts twice.

Senator Cook: He might have used other
language, insulting language.

Senator Urquhari: Murderous intent is
another thing; it is quite different from
insulting language.

Mr. How: I do not know what the penalty
is; it is not set out in this section. It must be
set out somewhere else. I would like to check.

Senator Phillips (Rigaud): You have
answered my question; thank you very much.

Mr. How: Thank you, senator.

The Chairman: Before we leave this,
witness, may I ask a question or two?

Mr. How: Yes, sir.

The Chairman: This was spoken at a time
when political change was in order and had
been taking place and was in discussion. Was
that not what he had in mind when he spoke
about free speech, and so on, and advocacy—
was he not talking about changes in the situa-
tion of the country rather than the abuse of
individuals?

Mr. How: This was a criminal case that he
was talking about, where this Whitney had
been charged under the Criminal Syndicalism
Act of the State of California with having
said something which was in essence—the
exact language I cannot come back to at the
moment—going to upset the state.

The Chairman: Upset the state, yes.

Mr. How: So he was here dealing from the
standpoint of political science with what the
limitations are, what the principles that ought
to be taken into account are.

My proposition, in short, is simply this:
there are two considerations that have to be
weighed. Cne is the consideration of freedom
of expression and the value that it has to the
state; the opposite side is the danger from the
standpoint of insult, tumult and disturbance
of the civil state. These are the two balancing
considerations.

Senator Cook: This amendment is not
directed to protect the state; it is directed to
protect a group. The state can look after
itself.

Mr. How: That is the theory of it.
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Senator Cook: It is not the theory of it: it is
the purpose of it.

Mr. How: The purpose, but the point is,
sir, that when we draft legislation you and I
may have a certain idea of what the purpose
is, but before we finally determine it we have
to look at it from the standpoint of the
experience of application of these various
statutes, in order to ascertain what the effect
is going to be. The effect of legislation is
often miles from the purpose people had in
mind.

This is something that I know the honoura-
ble senators are well aware of and the point I
am getting at is that there are two balancing
considerations and in my submission the
negative side of freedom of the press has
been so over-emphasized that they have
ignored the positive side and that this bill
goes so far that it will substantially ruin the
positive benefits that we get from freedom of
expression in this country.

Senator Urquhart: Mr. Chairman, might I
‘ask Mr. How...

The Chairman: Senator Urquhart has the
floor.

Senator Urquhart: Would this legislation, if
it is enacted into law, affect the activities of
the Jehovah’s witnesses across Canada?

Mr. How: That I could not be sure of, sir. I
would think this, that this legislation is so
vague and indefinite that it would place in
the hands of every Crown prosecutor the
power to prosecute many people for saying
things which are in no sense a danger to
anyone, because it is so indefinite. It is so
indefinite the result is wholly arbitrary legis-
lation. I will come to the line-by-line consid-
eration of it subsequently.

Senator Urquhart: I am asking you this
now to clarify the point in my mind. So you
cannot give me a definite answer on that?

Mr. How: Sir, what a prosecutor is going to
do I cannot say, but I will tell you this, it
would certainly be a danger to every newspa-
per editor, to every public speaker, to every
politician and to Jehovah’s witnesses, and to
anybody who wants to get up and deal with a
controversial issue of the day. This would be
a pervasive threat.

Senator Urquhart: So you say.

Mr. How: Not what I say, sir; that is what
the legislation says.
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Senator Urquhart: No, that is how you are
interpreting the proposed legislation.

Mr. How: That is how I read it.

Senator Urquhari: You are a solicitor for
the Jehovah’s witnesses, are you?

Mr. How: That is right.

Senator Urquhart: In reading your brief
you name is just W. Glen How, Q.C. on the
front.

Mr. How: Yes.

Senator Urquhart: And at the end you say
respectfully submitted, W. Glen How, Q.C.

Mr. How: Sure.

Senator Urquhari: Now, we do not know
who you are acting for, whether you are sub-
mitting this brief on your own behalf?

Mr. How: I am.

Senator Urquhari: Are you acting for the
Jehovah’s witnesses and being paid to pre-
pare this brief?

Mr. How: I am not; I prepared this docu-
ment and spent my own time at my own
expense because I am thoroughly concerned
about the damage that I think can be done by
this legislation.

Senator Urquharit:
yourself?

Mr. How: I sure did.

Senator Urquhart: Now, the other thing I
would like to ask you...

But you prepared it

Senator Lang: And he is not acting for
Jehovah’s witnesses; is that clear?

Senator Urquhart: He said he is the solici-
tor for them.

Senator Lang: He said he is not acting for
Jehovah’s witnesses before this committee.

Senator Urquhart: He said he is the solici-
tor for Jehovah’s witnesses.

Mr. How: That simply explains, senator,
the background of my special knowledge in
this field, because of the litigation I have
been engaged in over 25 years, but I am
coming here to deal with it from the stand-
point of a practising barrister.

Senator Urquhart: But you are the solicitor
for them?
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Senator Lang: I am the solicitor for the
CPR:

Senator Urquhart: I know.

Senator Lang: But that does not mean that
every time I get up I am acting for the CPR.
I think it is a very improper implication com-
ing from a fellow member of the bar, Mr.
Chairman.

Senator Urquhari: You can draw your own
inferences, Senator Lang; I think your
comments are very improper.

Senator Haig: I would like to indicate here
to the members of this committee that Mr.
How is the counsel for a client which happens
to be Jehovah’s witnesses. Now, he has come
here with his own knowledge of the problem
affected here as his own personal advocate.

The Chairman: And may I add at his own
expense; am I right in that?

Mr. How: Yes.

' Senator Walker: And with the reputation of
being one of the great counsel of Canada.

Senator Urquhart: Mr. Chairman, I want
this to be perfectly clear: I was not casting,
and I want to make it perfectly clear, I was
not casting any reflection on Mr. How’s abili-
ty; I just wanted to clarify the point whether
he was acting for Jehovah’s witnesses.

Now, if I may be permitted to ask one
other question. All through the brief it
appears to me that his case was built around
the persecution that has taken place against
the Jews over a long period of years. Now, I
want to know why he has tied his own case,
the case for the Jehovah’s witnesses or any
other organization, particularly to the Jewish
problem.

The other comment I would like to make is
this. ..

Mr. How; Might I answer you, sir? You
asked a question. May I answer you?

Senator Urquhart: Yes, certainly you can
answer. :

Mr. How: Yes; I want to make it clear that
I am not appearing as counsel for the Jeho-
vah’s witnesses; I am appearing for myself. I
have said that already, but I want to make it
clear on the record.

The next thing you asked is why I dis-
cussed the matter of the Jewish persecution

179

in the course of this. The answer is very
simple. This bill was brought in on the basis
of the Cohen Report; the Cohen Report is
wholly talking about the Jewish persecution
and therefore the supporting evidence sur-
rounds that.

Senator Phillips (Rigaud): Would you like
to leave those words in your remarks ‘“wholly
deals with the Jewish question”?

Mr. How: Yes.

Senator Phillips (Rigaud): Is that your re-
sponsible statement after reading the Cohen
Report?

Mr. How: Well, thank you, Mr. Senator; I
will say that it is 90 per cent dealing with
that.

Senator Phillips (Rigaud): Yes; now, how
would you weigh percentages? In terms of
numbers of pages or subject-matter dealt
with in the report when you say 90 per cent?

Mr. How: Senator, I will be happy to sit
down with you. ..

Senator Phillips (Rigaud): Is it on weight of
pages or subject-matter dealt with in the
Cohen Report?

Mr. How: May I answer, sir, or do you not
want an answer?

Senator Phillips (Rigaud): Sure I want an
answer; that is why I put the question.

Mr. How: I will be glad to sit down with
you when this committee is finished and go
over the pages with you line by line, but
right now there are other, more important
things that I want you to hear.

Senator Phillips (Rigaud): In other words,
you do not wish to answer my question?

Mr. How: I have answered.

Senator Phillips (Rigaud): You answer by
not answering it.

Mr. How: If that is your opinion, you are
entitled to it, sir.

Senator Walker: I enjoy these questions,
but I hope we will have the chance to hear
the witness through.

The Chairman: Just before you take up
another matter, Senator Phillips asked you
what was in the Criminal Code upon which
vou relied in the case of somebody advocating
the murder of everybody with brown curly
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hair. I find that in section 160 of the Criminal
Code, which I have before me, it says “is
guilty of an offence punishable on summary
conviction.” If, therefore, you will turn now
to section 694 (1) of the Criminal Code, it
reads this way:

Except where otherwise expressly
provided by law, everyone who is con-
victed of an offence punishable on sum-
mary conviction is liable to a fine of not
more than $500 or to imprisonment for
six months or both.

So that advoecating murdering people with
curly hair might bring you the extreme pen-
alty of six months.

Mr. How: Yes, that is right. May I just say
one thing further concerning the point made
by Senator Urquhart: In my respectful sub-
mission to this tribunal, and I have already
said this in print, the reason that I am con-
cerned about the position of the Jewish peo-
ple in particular in relation to this is that as
has already been established in evidence
before this committee, the Canadian Jewish
Congress has been asking for legislation of
this kind since 1953.

Furthermore, as was evidenced by the
previous witness here this afternoon and by
repeated comments in the Cohen Report,
what is really happening in this overall situa-
tion is that people are trying to point to what
happened to the Jews in Germany and to use
that as a basis for trying to make new laws in
Canada. My point in answer is simple enough:
When you begin to find that situation here it
will be a good time to deal with it, but we
are so far from it that I feel it necessary to
pinpoint where this real argument is coming
from in order that the geographical location
will become evidentially irrelevant.

Senator Cook: You are quite right if one
refers to what happened to the Jews in Ger-
many. That is the worst case and it is an easy
one, but there are lots of persecutions that
happen in the world against Negroes and
many other people.

Senator Lang: Against Jehovah’s witnesses.
Senator Cook: Yes.

Senator Walker: There were four people in
1955 who were offenders: Arcand, Taylor,
Beattie and Thompson. Are any of them left,
except Beattie, and he is in the hospital?

Mr. How: Those are the four people that
are mentioned in the Cohen Report. Of those

four people Adrian Arcand is dead; Taylor
has defected; I believe Beattie is in the hospi-
tal, and this fellow Taylor is still operating
out in the country near Toronto, at Gooder-
ham, Ontario.

Senator Urquhari: Mr. Chairman, getting
back to Mr. How’s reply, he said that the
request for this legislation came from the
Canadian Jewish Congress and other interest-
ed groups, and his brief certainly is centered
around the atrocities that were perpetrated
on the Jewish people, but he comes before
this Senate Committee today opposing this
very legislation.

Mr. How: Because this legislation will not
help.

Senator Urquhart: Let me finish.
Mr. How: I am sorry, sir.

Senator Urquhari: Coming before this
tribunal today, or this committee I should
say, condemning this very type of legislation
which actually would support the very
answer that you gave me in rebuttal to the
question that I put to you.

Mr. How: Sir, that may be your judgment.

Senator Urquhart: It is my answer, it is the
answer you gave to my question.

Mr. How: The answer to your question as
far as this legislation is concerned is that it
will not help anybody; it will damage minori-
ties and majority alike.

Senator Urquhari: That is what you think.

Mr. How: That is what the legislation
proves. May I go on?

Coming to page 7, I draw to your attention
the comment of Mr. Justice Jackson in the
middle of the page:

The danger that citizens will think
wrongly is serious, but less dangerous
than atrophy from not thinking at all...

Coming down further, to the bottom of the
page, Rand in the Switzman case:
..The aim of the statute. ..

That is the Padlock Act of Quebec:

..The aim of the statute is, by means of
penalties, to prevent what is considered a
poisoning of men’s minds, to shield the
individual from eXxXposure to dangerous
ideas, to protect him, in short, from his
own thinking propensities.
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That was the purpose of Duplessis’ legisla-
tion, to protect people from their thinking
propensities, from dangerous ideas, and that I
respectfully submit is the same fundamental
basis of this legislation.

Senator Cook: On that point there is similar
legislation to this in other countries, is there
not?

Mr. How: In some other countries, sir, yes.

Senator Cook: There is in the United
Kingdom?

Mr. How: That is true.

Senator Cook: Can you give us any
instances where that legislation has operated
to throttle free discussion, to throttle the
newspapers and generally act in a reprehensi-
ble way?

Mr. How: There is one case that I have
read about; this is the same one that is
referred to several times here. Professor Mac-
Guigan referred to it, I think. Osborne is the
name of the case and the facts, as I under-
stand them, are that before the man got to say
anything he was arrested on the ground that
what they thought he was going to say was
likely to cause a breach of the peace. Now, I
ask you, sir, who put a...

Senator Cook: What happened after that?

Mr. How: After that I understand he was
convicted on the ground that perhaps...

Senator Urquhari: That he said nothing.
Mr. How: As I understand it.

The Chairman: Was there an appeal on that
case?

Mr. How: All I know about the case is
what I read of the facts in some of the com-
mittee proceedings here.

The Chairman: That has no application
whatsoever. to the bill that we have under
discussion.

Mr. How: Sir, with great respect...

Senator Lang: Mr. Chaimian, the case to
which the witness is referring is an English
case under the Race Relations Act.

Mr. How: Yes. Senator Cook was asking me
if I knew of any cases under that act and that
is the only one that I can think of.

If I may continue these propositions, the
cases that I have submitted that establish this
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proposition that I am especially concerned
about, which is that in worrying about possi-
ble damage we ought to take the balanced
view that Mr. Justice Brandeis did and not be
carried away with concern for the bad things
that people might say. People say bad things
and very often there is a backlash; instead of
convincing all they do is bring enmity against
themselves. My basic proposition is in balanc-
ing these two interests do not underrate the
importance of freedom of expression; that is
the substance.

The Chairman: Would you apply that,
witness, to libel law and slander?

Mr. How: Libel and slander laws have a
place, but it is a very limited place. The
defamatory libel section in the Criminal Code
has not been used for years and years; it is
simply not being used.

The Chairman: But it is there to be used.

Mr. How: It is there to be used, but it has
no great relevancy to our society or it would
be used a little more.

The Chairman: I was referring more to
civil actions, at least that was in my mind,
than the criminal one, but the criminal is
there nevertheless. Do your remarks not
apply to the civil remedies that one has when
he is an individual and where free speech is
used to malign him untruly?

Mr. How: No, the civil libel laws in this
country have never seriously damaged or
inhibited freedom of speech as far as I can
see. I have no objection to them; we have got
them. The country is developing, there is
plenty of freedom of speech, so I do not see
how the libel laws have damaged us.

The Chairman: If you do not object to our
slander and libel laws, which limit free
speech in that way, why do you draw a dis-
tinction between slandering and libelling
groups?

Mr. How: But, sir, this is not civil law we
are talking about; this bill is talking about
putting people in prison if you say something
that anybody thinks is a libel or a slander.

The Chairman: The criminal libel provi-
sions of the Code provide penalties of that
kind too.

Mr. How: That is correct and they are not
used and I think it is fairly obvious why they
are not used, because people believe in free-
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dom of speech these days and they have fall-
en into desuetude because nobody, I suggest,
would take very kindly as a rule to defamato-
ry libel actions on behalf of individuals; that
is why they do not take them.

Senator Phillips (Rigaud): Are you support-
ing the reasoning that because they are in the
Criminal Code therefore people are more
careful?

Mr. How: I do not believe so.

Senator Phillips (Rigaud): That is not your
line of reasoning?

Mr. How: I do not believe so.

Senator Phillips (Rigaud): Do you feel that
they are falling into desuetude simply
because they are dying of old age and not
because they are warning people that they
are there?

Mr. How: No, I do not think so. Would you
say, Mr. Phillips—

Senator Phillips (Rigaud): Do you think
that there would be the same situation in
Canada if there were no provisions in the
Criminal Code dealing with defamatory libel
and slander?

Mr. How: Yes.

Senator Phillips (Rigaud): You think we
might as well repeal those sections?

Mr. How: Senator, a law that is not used is
obviously not serving any great function, is
it?

Senator Phillips (Rigaud): Are you suggest-
ing that because people are not charged with
murder, because there are no murders, there-
fore the section in the Code dealing with
murder should be repealed?

Mr. How: But there are lots of murders and
they are being charged, so that is an obvious
answer.

Senator -Lang: You asked for that senator;
that was leading with the chin.

Senator Urquhari: Mr. How, is that your
candid opinion of the Cohen Report—at the
bottom of page 8?

Mr. How: Yes, it sure is. The Cohen Report
pays lip service to freedom but in fact has
built up a bogey.

Senator Urquhart: Freedom of the press?

Mr. How: Yes, freedom of the press. In
fact, it has built up a bogey of public concern
with virtually no evidence to support it; that
is exactly my opinion.

Senator Urquhari: That is your own pers-
onal opinion?

Mr. How: That is the opinion which is sup-
ported by the report, and I am going to deal
with the report in detail as I progress along.
That is my position. I will deal with the spe-
cific terms of the report as we go along.

May I come now to page 11, where I have
set out sections of the Criminal Code. First,
on the subject of right of expression, we
come to seditious words at the bottom of page
11. You will see that this is confined to that
which publishes or circulates any writing that
advocates, the use, without the authority of
law, of force as a means of accomplishing a
governmental change within Canada. Now,
that specifically talks of a governmental
change, but if people begin to advocate vio-
lence, for example to murder, using violence
to force the government to get rid of all the
people with curly hair, or something of the
kind, then it certainly would come right with-
in that statute.

The Chairman: Is that not a limitation on
free speech?

Mr. How: Of course it is. I do not say there
should be no limitation on freedom of speech.
All I say is we have gct plenty right now;
why make more?

I may say one thing: the Cohen Report
keeps repeating time after time, “Well, you
cannot say that there ought not to be any
limitations on free speech.” Nobody in Cana-
da ever said so. So they keep on firing salvo
after salvo at a non-existent strawman.
Nobody has ever alleged in this country, to
my knowledge, and certainly I never have,
that the government has no power to limit
free speech.

I come now to section 61, which is the
exception section under sedition at page 12, at
the bottom. This also would be available in
some of these circumstances. This is unlawful
assembly:

An unlawful assembly is an assembly
of three or more persons who, with intent
to carry out any common purpose, assem-
ble in such a manner or so conduct them-
selves when they "are assembled as to
cause persons in the neighbourhood of
the assembly to fear, on reasonable
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grounds, that they will disturb the peace
tumultuously, or will by that assembly
needlessly end without reasonable cause
provoke other persons to disturb the
peace tumultuously.

Now, some of these public speeches could
under the right facts and circumstances be
declared illegal under section 64. Section 65,
of course, is the riot section. It goes a little
further.

Then mailing obscene matter. This has
already been held by the decision of Mr. Jus-
tice Wells and those sitting with him on the
Postal Committee, or whatever the tribunal is
called, that the literature being mailed out by
Mr. Stanley was in fact illegal within the
meaning of section 153 and was properly pro-
hibited through the mails. So there is a deci-
sion that already holds some of this activity
to be illegal under the Criminal Code.

The Chairman: And are you in favour of
it?

Mr. How: Yes.

Senator Lang: Do we need any more than
that section?

Mr. How: I would say certainly not; we do
not need any more. Why not make effective
use of what we have?

There is plenty of law right here. Under
section 160, I have already given my view
that in some circumstances some of these
speeches or this insulting language could very
well be convicted under that section.

Now we come to another one that in my
submission opens the door to prosecution of
some of these publications, which is section
166, spreading false news:

Every one who wilfully publishes a
statement, tale or news that he knows is
false and that causes or is likely to cause
injury or mischief to a public interest is
guilty of an indictable offence. ..

Certainly denouncing a group or threaten-
ing a group of people and disturbing other
people is a public interest. There is no ques-
tion about it. People who do this by distribut-
ing false material can be convicted under that
section, and in my submission quite a number
of these documents could quite readily be
caught under that section. Again no effort has
been made to apply it.

We come now to the blasphemous libel sec-
tion, section 246. ‘

Senator Walker: Does that cover the Proto-
cols of Zion?

Mr. How: I believe the Protocols of Zion,
Senator Walker, could very well be caught
under section 166, spreading a false statement
or tale, and also under the blasphemous lebel
section.

The Chairman: Is there any interpretation
of this public interest?

Mr. How: No, there has not been yet, sir,
because no cases have occurred. The only
case to my knowledge of that is a case that
took place in Saskatchewan or Alberta in the
early part of the century where an American
who was a little disgruntled with his position
in Canada set up a sign saying “Settlers not
wanted in Canada, do not settle here.” This
was at a time when the Immigration Depart-
ment was trying to get settlers into Canada,
so they prosecuted him. So that must have
been considered contrary to the public
interest, and I would think that really if
something of this kind was put before the
courts that the courts would take a very
broad and sensible view of what is the public
interest.

Certainly you would have a hard time on
the oppsite side of saying that much of this
drivel has any reasonable support or any
public interest on its side.

I have come to blasphemous lebel.

Senator Walker: That is section 246, sub-
sections (1) to (3) of the Criminal Code?

Mr. How: Right. If I may pause before
going on to the blasphemous libel section, I
draw to your attention to subsection (3),
which says:

No person shall be convicted of an
offence under this section for expressing
in good faith and in decent language, or
attempting to establish by argument used
in good faith and conveyed in decent lan-
guage, an opinion upon a religious
subject.

It should be “any opinion”. I believe that is
an error. The point is that in your defence
under this section is good faith, in decent lan-
guage or establishing by argument. Therefore
these accusations, some of which are against
the Jewish religion, which nobody could pre-
tend were in good faith or decent language,
would have no protection under subsection
(3). They might very well be convicted under
the blasphemous libel section.



184

Again no effort has been made to use the
Criminal Code to employ that which we
already have.

Coming now to the defamatory Ilibel
section.

The Chairman: But you know this is
confined to a religious subject, not to people
who hold a religious belief.

Mr. How: That is true, but the Protocols of
Zion, from what somebody has told me about
it—I have not read it—is a book that is con-
sidered highly objectionable and which talks
about the Jewish religion—these old wild sto-
ries about using the blood of murdered Chris-
tians for part of the rites of their reli-
gion. Well, now, that is a terrible thing for
anybody to say. I do not think anybody in his
right mind is going to read it, so if he has
published that stuff he certainly would not
have any defence under subsection (3). I keep
coming back to wondering well, why have
they not been prosecuted?

Now we come to the next part, under
defamatory libel.

Senator Walker: Would this grab hold of
Beattie and the Bell Telephone business?
Where does he come in under this? Have you
got anything to cover Beattie, who has those
terrible broadcasts?

Mr. How: First, as far as Beattie is con-
cerned, I would suggest that his speeches in
Allan Gardens could quite possibly have been
convicted either under section 54 or section
160.

As far as the telephone record that he had,
and which was discussed at some length
before this honourable committee, the answer
to that is very simple. The only people that
are going to hear that telephone call are those
that call and want to hear it. It is not being
broadcast to all the people and, as a matter of
fact, if so much publicity had not been given
by his opponents the chances are that himself
and several other people would be the only
ones that would know about it and, indeed,
nobody I suggest with any intelligence would
be listening to it anyhow.

But there is another answer to that, which
is very simple. The Bell Telephone cancel
service which is being used for obscene lan-
guage and for unlawful purposes, and I sug-
gest the Bell Telephone Company could very
well cancel Beattie’s service and put the onus
on him to go to court and try to get a
mandamus.

Standing Senate Commitiee

Senator Walker: The Bell Telephone sent
their vice president to say this could not be
done. Have they ever tried to do it?

Mr. How: As far as I am aware they never
tried it. I read his evidence very carefully
and he did not suggest they ever tried it.
That is just the problem, Senator Walker.
There is plenty of recourse here and nobody
seems to be trying it. They are all holding
back, trying to dump the burden on Parlia-
ment and on this committee to look after
them.

Senator Walker: What do you suggest we
should do about Beattie? That is bad busi-
ness. I would like us to ignore the Beattie
affair.

Mr. How: As far as Beattie is concerned, I
think it should be drawn to the attention of
the Bell Telephone Company that the very
type of material he is putting over the tele-
phone has already been held in the Post
Office inquiry to be illegal under the Criminal
Code, and that the telephone company is in
violation of its duty when it cooperates in
supplying service which is a violation of the
Code. It would be their duty to cancel the
man’s service and then wait and let him try
and reinstate it. In other words, there are
practical ways of dealing with this if they
want to try it.

Senator Urquhart: Who bells the cat then?

Mr. How: The Bell; the Bell has got the
bells if they feel free.

The Chairman: Have you read the judg-
ment handed down by the magistrate in the
Beattie prosecution?

Mr. How: Which one, sir? There have been
several.

The Chairman: The important one was
when he met in the park and was charged
before the magistrate.

Mr. How: Charged with what, though? Ex-
cuse me.

The Chairman: He was charged with violat-
ing a bylaw; the magistrate held that there
was nothing in the code that enabled the
prosecution of that man at that time.

Mr. How: But the point is that the so-called
code he was charged under was a city by-
law; it was a city bylaw code, not the
Criminal Code they were talking about. It does
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not take a very good student of the law to
reason that it was not a bylaw that ought to
have been used in that case; it was the Crimi-
nal Code.

The Chairman: But the magistrate went
much further than that; he said that there
was nothing in the Criminal Code under
which he could be prosecuted.

Mr. How: The magistrate is entitled to his
opinion, sir, and if he gave me that opinion,
sir, I would promptly go to appeal where i
could get a more authoritative decision.

Senator Walker: He was finally convicted,
was he not, of something?

The Chairman: That was later on.

Mr. How: He was acquitted in that case
because I believe that later on Mr. Justice
Hartt held that the bylaw was inapplicable,
and he was perfectly right. The proper con-
trol of these things is under the Criminal
Code, and there are lots of sections there. All
it takes is a little ingenuity.

Senator Walker: What section could he
have been convicted under?

Mr. How: He could have been very readily
convicted under two of those sections that we
have discussed already: unlawful assembly
and section 160, causing a disturbance. If he
finally got down to it and began to publish a
statement, tale or news that he knew was
false he could have been caught under section
166. If he went too far against a specific
group he could very well be trapped under
section 248, under defamatory libel.

In that regard I am reminded that the
argument under this section has always been,
“Well, the Jews as a class could not take
action under section 248.” With great respect
I am not wholly convinced of that and there
is a case against it, which is the case of
Ortenberg v. Plamondon, a case taken in the
City of Quebec.

Senator Choquette: We were told about
that by one of the witnesses; that is the case
dating way back to 1913?

Mr. How: That is right.

Senator Choqueite: Where somebody had
made a certain speech against Jews and there
were only a few in Quebec City?

Mr. How: Yes.

Senator Choquette: So it was just like iden-
tifying a group who went and broke windows.

Mr. How: That is true.

Senator Phillips (Rigaud): Mr. How, may I
just put one question to you? It arises out of
your reference to section 166 at the bottom of
page 13 of your brief:

Every one who wilfully publishes a
statement, tale or news that he knows is
false and that causes or is likely to cause
Y. . .

If I followed your reasoning in the Whitney
v. California case, quoting Mr. Justice Bran-
deis, you pressed the point that an expression
of opinion should not be a crime unless we
think there is actual incidence of the crime it
is time enough to deal with it when we are
facing the crime.

Mr. How: That is right.

Senator Phillips (Rigaud): One of your
objections to the bill as drafted was that it
projects itself into the future from the point
of view of an incitement or an expression of
opinion that may lead to something.

Mr. How: That is right.

Senator Phillips (Rigaud): Do you not have
in section 166 a precedent there for a crime
resulting from the statement that does not
commit injury but is one that is likely to
cause injury, and does that not invalidate
considerably the emphasis that you have
placed in your treatment of that Whitney v.
California case, aside from the references that
I made to incitement and other factors
already quoted by me in the Justice’s
opinion?

Mr. How: May I answer you?

Senator Phillips (Rigaud): Of course; I am
not trying to embarrass you. I am just trying
to enlighten myself and my fellow senators.

Mr. How: I appreciate that. Senator Phil-
lips and other honourable senators, this sec-
tion already goes further than good law
requires, and the mere fact that there is a
precedent—there are lots of bad precedents in
the law. That is why we have learned senators
like yourselves to review it from time to
time and try to straighten it out.

Senator Phillips (Rigaud): So, in other
words, you consider section 166 as law badly
drafted?

Mr. How: That one particular item, yes.
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Senator Phillips (Rigaud): You have an-
swered me. I do not agree with you, but you
have answered me.

Mr. How: Senator, that is the advantage of
a free state; we have a right to disagree with
each other.

Senator Phillips (Rigaud): You are consis-
tent in conforming to your position that you
can only rationalize it by saying that section
166 is bad law.

Mr. How: With great respect, sir, that is
not, I submit, a fair summation. I will tell
you this: When you stick to the proper princi-
ples of law, then some of these things fall on
one side or the other. It is not my position. It
is the position that good law requires, and I
am obliged to stick to that and I hope to stick
to it.

Coming now to page 14, defamatory libel,
section 248, my point is, and I was assisted by
the learned Senator Choquette, that it has
always been thought that this section could
only be used by an individual and not by a
group. I suggest that the Ortenberg v. Pla-
mondon decision puts a question mark around
that. I will give a further situation, to take an
example such as Beattie. I do not know what
he said. Let us assume he makes a speech to
this effect: he is surrounded by people and
among them are some Jews and he says,
“You Jews are no good to Canada. You ought
to run out of the country”—and the usual
diatribe they get off with.

Now, there is a group of people right there.
They are the ones affected, and certainly that
statement could very well be a defamatory
libel against an individual in that group. Of
course, a libel has to be written, but let us
assume a situation where, it is something
written, and written to a limited and defina-
ble group.

The Chairman: It would be slander; it is
not libel.

Mr. How: Oh, yes, it would be slander, but
this is only limited to libel in this section.

Then we come to section 366, intimidation.
This is something where I have myself prose-
cuted some people who have made threats
against Jehovah’s witnesses in different parts
of the country. This is a very useful item for
any minority that finds itself threatened. It is
quite a useful section of the Code, and while
we do not have all this man’s words in front
of us, you know perfectly well that if you let

one of these wildeyed rabble rousers just talk
for a while he will talk himself behind bars.
The mistake is made in not letting him talk;
let him talk first and then, once he has said
it, it is time enough to move. They have
moved too fast.

Next we come to obstructing a person in
the use of property. This is a broad section in
the Code:

Every one commits mischief who wil-
fully obstructs, interrupts or interferes
with the lawful use, enjoyment or opera-
tion of property.

That is a very, very broad statement. Let
us suppose that a Jewish person is in his own
home and somebody comes and shoves
through the door, or hands him, or otherwise,
one of these documents, puts it in his home,
saying that the Jews ought all to be killed, or
some of these other terrible allegations. I
think you might very well find this section
quite useful.

The point is this has not been tried, but
these broad sections open plenty of scope to
put a stop to these things.

Senator Walker: Are there no cases to find
redress under any of these sections?

Mr. How: Not to my knowledge, sir.

Senator Cook: I must say you are not
impressing me by all the time referring to the
fact that the Jews do this, the Jews do that,
or the Jews do something else. Other mino-
rity groups will be affected by this legislation.

Mr. How: Sir, with great respect, I am not
trying to pick on any group, but the hate
literature that has been put in the Cohen
Report is practically all against the Jews.
That is why I am dealing with it; this is the
target area.

Senator Phillips (Rigaud): I think that is a
pretty good expression, the target area.

Mr. How: Yes, I appreciate that.

Senator Phillips (Rigaud): It is
dramatically put.

very

Mr. How: That is why we are talking about
it; we have to deal with the reality of things.

Senator Phillips (Rigaud): Targets are usu-
ally associated with the use of rifles.

Senator Urquhari: That comes back to my
original comment, that everything seems to
revolve around the Jews.
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Mr. How: I did not write the Cohen Report.
Senator Urquhart: You wrote this.

- Mr. How: I wrote this, not the Cohen
Report.

Senator Phillips (Rigaud): We are not talk-
ing about that; we are talking about a bill,
not the Cohen Report.

Mr. How: Section 407 deals with counsel-
ling offences; section 408 deals with conpira-
cy; section 717 allows us to take proceedings
if we fear that another person is going to
cause personal injury.

Then, under section 22, at the bottom of
page 16, is counselling offences. It is my re-
pectful submission that there is plenty of law
in the Criminal Code and it should be used.

Senator Walker: You refer to counselling
offences under section 22?

Mr. How: Yes.

Senator Walker: That is pretty broad, is it
not?

Mr. How: Very broad, very broad; coun-
selling any illegal action against any group of
people whether they are curly headed, black
haired, black skinned or otherwise.

On page 18 is an important decision in the
United States Supreme Court because it
points out that it is not only what is done
under a statute that is a danger to freedom of
the press, but that a broad, vague and uncer-
tain statute is itself a constant menace to
people who may have important things to
communicate. They have struck down this
statute in this case as being unconstitutional,
not because it was used but because of the
pervasive threat, or what they call the chill-
ing effect.

In other words, the duty of the law in a
democracy is to keep the door open. We want
people to talk; we want to get the value or
otherwise .even of their opinion. At least if
their opinions are as bad as some of these
people, at least we will know who they are,
but once you shut them up you just give
them the glamour of an underground move-
ment and it helps them.

I come to section IV, beginning at page 19.

I would like to telescope this, because we are

running over time. First may I draw your

attention to page 20, and this passage from
May’s Constitutional History:

The law of sedition which covers the

area of Ireedom of expression was so
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loose and so uncertain that the result was
that every one was a libeller who out-
raged the sentiments of the dominant
party.

In other words, an uncertain law is a con-
tinuing threat to everybody.

Now, that was the law in this country up
till the Boucher case. I set out the old Star
Chamber Regulations on page 21. Then on
page 22 I come to what I regard as a key
point. Professor Chafee in analysing the
Burns case, that is the old definition used up
to the Boucher case:

...is so loose that guilt or innocence
must obviously depend on public senti-
ment at the time of the trial.

Now, here is the point. When law is so
loose that you do not have to point to any
wrong a man did and all you have to do is to
rely on public sentiment, does it not become
obvious that you cannot have law so loose
and uncertain that it wavers back and forth
with public sentiment? That is what happens
when you have vague and uncertain laws.
That is why in the Boucher case this old law’s
vagueness was struck down.

I turn now to page 23. Mr. Justice Rand
points out that the old law talked about ill
will, and as he says at the middle of this
quotation:

—what is the degree necessary to crimi-
nality? Can it ever, as mere subjective
condition, be so? Controversial fury is
aroused constantly by differences in
abstract conceptions;

In other words, the point is that when you
are dealing with a human emotion the law
cannot reasonably or specifically make a clean
distinction of human emotion so that we can
decide at what point it crosses over from
criticism to disapproval, to ill will or to hos-
tility, or to contempt or to hatred. How are
law courts going to determine anything as
uncertain as that? When you start putting this
sort of thing in front of the courts you get
back to what Chafey said, “Guilt or innocence
is just a matter of public sentiment.” That is
the effect of loosely drafted legislation.

Now, Mr. Chairman, I would like to come
specifically to this legislation. My further
analysis of the Cohen Report I have put
under Part V on page 24. If you wish, I can
do that or I can come back another day and
discuss the rest of this matter. I will leave
myself in the hands of the committee.
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Senator Walker: Could I move that they be
included as part of the record if the witness
does not have time to finish dealing with
them here?

The Chairman: As I understand it the
witness is filing this memorandum with us.

Senator Walker: I would like to see it as
part of our proceedings because if he had
time he would give it all to us today. I would
like to see it as part of our record.

Mr. How: I would like to present it and
have it filed.

Senator Walker: If that suits the chairman
and the other members of the committee.

The Chairman: I would not mind putting in
certain parts that the witness would like to
have in, but it is rather a long memorandum
to print.

Senator Lang: I think the witness is refer-
ring to Part V and not to the whole brief.

The Chairman: That is Part V on page 24.
How long is that?

Mr. How: I would like to put in pages 24
to 39.

Senator Walker: We do not need those
examples, do we? They are mainly newspa-
per reports.

The Chairman: No.

Mr. How: I think the examples are very
pointed because they point out that the pub-
licity these people get helps them more than
any of their leaflets, and it demonstrates also
that it is balanced common sense which is the
quickest way to put a quietus on this thing.

Senator Walker: Before going further,
could we have a ruling from the chairman?

The Chairman: I do not like to take so
much space in the record.

Senator Lang: We have taken lots of space
already.

The Chairman: That is true. It is a long
record.

Senator Cook: If you put page 30 in, would
that be sufficient?

Mr, How: Yes.
The Chairman: Pages 24 to 30.

Mr. How: Then I would like to have pages
33 to 39 in the record also. They are quite
useful.

The Chairman: But we cannot publish
newspapers in our record. We will put in
from page 24 to page 30 inclusive.

Senator Walker: And then to page 39?

Mr. How: Pages 33 to 39?

The Chairman: And pages 33 to page 39.
Mr. How: We are omitting pages 31 and 32?

Senator Walker: I agree with the chairman.
We can get too much of this. We shall put in
up to page 30 and then pages 33 to 39.

Hon. Senators: Agreed.

[For text of Mr. How’s memorandum, see
Appendix]

Mr. How: Now I would like to come down
to the details of the bill. Section 267a says:
Everyone who advocates or promotes
genocide is guilty of an indictable
offence ...

Now, everyone who advocates genocide is
already guilty of an indictable offence by
counselling under sections 22, 407 and 408 of
the Criminal Code. So this adds nothing; it
is just repetitive and useless legislation.

Senaior Walker: In other words, there are
three sections of the Code that provide what
the proposed section 267a proposes to do; is
that correct?

Mr. How: Subsection (1).

Senator Cook: If the two sections of the
Code do not provide, you have no objection
to that being in there, though?

Mr. How: I would still object. I do not
think that advocacy per se ought to be an
offence, for the reasons outlined by Mr. Jus-
tice Brandeis.

When it gets to incitement, then it is time
for the Criminal Code to take effect. May I
illustrate? You will recall the words of
Professor MacGuigan. Among other things, as
I recall his testimony, he said that this could
not even be discussed in a private home. It is
not only a private statement but it is made in
even a private home, and I say that when the
Criminal law of this country starts tuning in
on private conversations in private homes
then we are getting to be too much like the
thought police. When they do something in



Legal and Constitutional Affairs

publie, then they are going to be caught
under one of these sections. In your private
home let the people have any opinions, good,
bad or indifferent. The crazier people’s opin-
ions are, the fewer people they are going to
convince, so let them talk; it has its own
solution in many cases.

Now I come down, if I may, to subsection
(2). This in my respectful submission is
extremely dangerous because of its vague-
ness. First it says that while genocide is the
selling point, that is not what it says after
that, because it says:

.. any of the following acts committed
with intent to destroy in whole or in part
any group of persons:

Now, what is any group? Let me illustrate.
Are the Roman Catholics a group? If I say
that you ought to leave the Roman Catholic
Church, it is not for your benefit, or if the
Roman Catholic says to the Protestant,
“Leave the Protestant Church, you can only
get salvation in my church.” This is a legiti-
mate area of controversy, but here this may
be considered intent to destroy in whole or in
part any group because it does not say de-
stroy in what way. Is it destroying by leaving
the group? Or if I say do not belong to the
Liberal party, or the Tory party in a particu-
lar area. Here I have got somebody and I
have met a few of them in my time, who
were so disturbed, that were so religiously
addicted to one party or another, then some-
body comes along and says that he told those
people to leave the Tory party, he was in-
flicting mental harm on the members of this
group because they got so upset about it.

So you come into court; it is a perfectly
legitimate statement but he can be caught
under this vague statute, so the result is. ..

Senator Urquhari: You would have a hard
job convicting with that.

Mr. How: Sir, if you read some of the
things people have been convicted on. ..

Senator Urquhart: I know; I am talking
about what you just said.

Mr. How: Then why do they not specify
what “destroy” is talking about? It is so
vague it could mean anything. Let ‘us take
another example ..

" Senator Urquhart: Vagueness is the law in
most cases.
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Mr. How: Yes, vagueness is the law. It does
make for a lot of legal fees, sir, and that is
why good legislators ought not to write vague
laws; they ought to have something that the
people can understand so that they know
what they are doing.

Senator Urquhart: Maybe we should hire
you as a full-time drafter of legislation.

Senator Walker: That would be a good
idea.

Mr. How: As a matter of fact, sir, I would
not mind redrafting this legislation and I
would do it in about 30 seconds. With the
greatest of respect, you have had other good
men who have been here and said the same
thing.

Senator Urquhart: But not in 30 seconds.

Mr. How: I am just telling you how I
would redraft it. Let us take another. illustra-
tion. They talk about deliberately imposing
measures intended to prevent births within
the group. Let us suppose a doctor in a cer-
tain municipality, in Quebec we will say,
believes in contraceptives and many of the
local people according to their religion do not.
He urges that they should do this, and some-
body comes along and says, ‘“Well, you know
that at some remote time in the future this
group is going to be destroyed by preventing
births within the group.” Remember, there is
no limitation to time, there is no incitement;
it just has to be any time that anybody in the
remote future can imagine a tendency.

You all know that people can certainly
draw on their imagination when they are out
to get somebody. So my submission is that
this whole section is very uncertain; it is too
vague; it can catch people for perfectly inno-
cent comments.

Further, when you look at it, the law as we
draft it surely has to be related to some fact of
life. So where have you got anybody deliber-
ately inflicting on a group conditions of life
calculated to bring about its physical destruc-
tion? Where have you got forcible transfer-
ring of children from one group to another
group? Do you want to convict the Govern-
ment of British Columbia for putting the
Doukhobor children in school?

The Chairman: You know that this does not
apply to that.

Mr. How: Then what have we got it in here
for? What are we talking about, senator?
That is just the point. We are writing legisla-
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tion absolutely in the air, having no applica-
tion to the realities of life in Canada in this
year 1969.

Gentlemen, you busy men in this Senate
know perfectly well that there are lots of real
and present problems that need to be dealt
with, instead of going around imagining
situations that do not exist in order that we
can write law to cover something that might
happen some time and probably never will
happen.

Senator Urquhari: May I suggest that you
might be imagining a lot of situations too?

Mr. How: Senator Urquhart, I have tried a
lot of these cases; with great respect, you
have not.

Senator Urquhari: I have tried a lot of
these cases.

Senator Walker: And he is a very able
counsel and also the leader of a party in his
own province, so I stand behind him.

Mr. How: I did not mean to impugn your
ability, sir; I am just saying that in these
types of cases you find some pretty weird
types of arguments being made by prosecu-
tors. Really a vague, indefinite statute is a
prosecutor’s delight; he can just prosecute
anybody he does not like. That is the history
of repressive legislation; it has always been
used by oppressive government to silence
people who usually had a too-pointed ecriti-
cism to make. That is the history of this type
of legislation.

Senator Walker: Are Spain and Portugal a
good example of that?

Mr. How: Spain is a good example; Hitler’s
Germany was a good example. The reason all
these things could happen was that they had
no free press, they could not answer.

Portugal and Russia are good examples;
Czechoslovakia as of today is a good example.
There are lots of examples. Every totalitarian
country iries to muffle criticism, and very
often it is by vague, indefinite laws left to be
misused by the majority in power.

Coming now to section 267b on the next
page, we are talking about:

Every one who, by communicating state-
ments in any public place, incites hatred
or contempt against any identifiable
group where such incitement is likely to
lead to a breach of the peace,...
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Now, it does not say likely to lead to a
breach of the peace against whom. Suppose I
make a statement that is very unpopular, and
a mob of other people come and attack me.
Now, tell me, do we have freedom of speech
in this country or do we have freedom of
speech only to the point where somebody else
is sufficiently concerned to get a mob to
attack the speaker?

Senator Phillips (Rigaud): Mr. How, as I
understand it you are still on the first section;
we are dealing with (a), (b), (¢), (d) and (e).

Mr. How: Sure, I came over to the next
section.

Senator Phillips (Rigaud): The last one:

...forcibly transferring children of the
group to another group.

You used the British Columbia instance,
and so on. Are you not overlooking, as a
lawyer, the fact that (a), (b), (c), (d) and (e)
must be read in the light of clause (2), where
it says:

In this section ‘genocide’ includes any
of the following acts committed with
intent to destroy in whole or in part any
group of persons:

Under statutory interpretation the acts con-
templated by (a), (b), (c), (d) and (e), which
are in some instances admittedly broad, must
relate themselves to sections (1) and (2) in
order to make sense.

You do not need to make sense in (a), kill-
ing members of a group, but when you get to
the question of causing serious bodily or men-
tal harm to members of the group, admittedly
if you refer only to mental harm and you left
that alone, but it has to be related to the
concept of genocide. Genocide is described as
acts committed with intent to destroy in
whole or in part any group of persons.

Now, once you get the fundamental direc-
tion given to the section that the purpose
thereof in order that it constitutes a criminal
offence is that there must be present intent to
destroy in whole or in part a group of per-
sons, your argument with respect to vague-
ness falls to the ground, surely?

Mr. How: With the greatest of respect, sir,
“destroy” is left in such an uncertain state
that it can mean practically anything.

Senator Phillips (Rigaud): Surely in the
English language, or the French language—to
take the English language, do we need any-
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thing more specific than the statement intent
to destroy?

Senator Lang: Yes, senator; the more spe-
cific word to be used there, which was
intended and I suggested it before, is “kill”.

Senator Phillips (Rigaud): I am thinking of
the broad aspect when you take a subsection
other than the relationship to sections (1) and
(2), and there your whole argument falls to
the ground. Cadit quaestio, as the lawyers
say; it falls to the ground because you have
the clarity and position of the intention to
destroy, in whole or in part, any group of
persons.

My heavens, I have been reasonably famil-
iar with the English language since I was five
years old and I think I know the meaning of
the words “to destroy a group of people.”

Senator Lang: Is there anything wrong
with the word “kill”?

Senator Choquette: In the French text it is
“le fait de tuer.”

Senator Phillips (Rigaud): In French, as my
learned friend Senator Choquette, my col-
league at the bar, points out, it reads “le fait
de tuer”, the intent to kill.

Mr. How: Then let us put “intent to kill”.

Senator Phillips (Rigaud): As a matter of
fact, you know perfectly well it is a reasona-
ble interpretation. If there is any doubt in the
mind of the court, the court will take the two
versions in order to get the intent.

Mr, How: Let us not leave any uncertainty,
but go a step further, sir: once you have got
them under the counselling section. So the
whole value of this just becomes repetitive.

Senator Phillips (Rigaud): That is a differ-
ent point. I am trying to get it into the record
that the point you made previously may or
may not have validity. The defences may
have validity; I personally think they do not,
but that is beside the point for the moment. I
am only directing myself to that part of your
brief where you are now stating that you
object to the bill as drafted because of its
vagueness.

The Chairman: Gentlemen, may I intervene
for just a moment. It is our practice to
adjourn at five o’clock. I am puzzled to know
what we should do. :
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Senator Lang: Let us continue until this is
completed, Mr. Chairman.

Senator Urquhart: How long are you going
to take, though?

Mr. How: There are two more sections that
I would like to deal with.

The Chairman: Could you give us an esti-
mate of how long you will need?

Mr. How: If you can give me 20 minutes.

Senator Lang: I think if we can estimate
the time it is going to take for the interrup-
tions, Mr. Chairman, we will know better.

The Chairman: Let us not interrupt the
witness too much then and we will make it a
limit of half-past five. It is now five minutes
past five. Will that be satisfactory, witness?

Mr. How: Yes, sir. Let us go to section
2678B:

Every one who, by communicating
statements in any public place, incites
hatred or contempt against any identifi-
able group where such incitement is likely
to lead to a breach of the peace, . . .

In my submission, the part about likely to
lead to a breach of the peace is too open and
uncertain. You have to say incitement of
hatred or contempt against any identifiable
group where such incitement is likely to lead
to a breach of the peace against such group.
Once you get to incitement then if you are
inciting people to attack a group this would
become an offence under counselling assault,
or counselling an unlawful assembly, or a
riot. So again, once you clarify it you find
that it is already in the Criminal Code.

Coming down a little further, under subsec-
tion (2):

Every one who, by communicating
statements wilfully promotes hatred or
contempt. ..

We have already dealt with the uncertainty.
When do you cross from criticism to disap-
proval, to contempt or to hatred? Contempt
has always been a matter of civil law. Do we
not have a fairly orderly society? Where is
the situation that says that Canada is in such
an uproar we have got to stop people from
talking? With great respect, there is simply
no foundation, no foundation in fact in alleg-
ing that 21 million people are in any way
threatened and that the peace of this country
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requires these limitations which the very
vagueness and uncertainty of makes a ready
weapon for abuse.

Now the next bit: they were very proud of
the fact that under subsection (a) the state-
ments communicated were true. Now gentle-
men, we are all aware that that on paper
sounds like a good and an invaluable addition.
The whole point is though that in controver-
sial matters you have got certain facts, you
have got certain opinions and you have got
certain conclusions that you draw.

So the facts are something that you prove;
the opinions and conclusions are a matter of
opinion. Some honourable senators here of
good judgment and information feel that they
ought to belong to the Liberals; some other
honourable senators, equally honourable and
with equal information, think that they ought
to belong to the Conservatives. Which is true;
which is the truth?

The whole point is you are getting into an
area that is largely opinion; the courts are not
the forum for debating uncertain matters of
intellectual probity -and. intellectual honesty.
You are putting into the criminal law some-
thing that quite probably may have value in
an educational program, but to say that this
is criminal law, this as a proper part of the
criminal court I suggest, with respect, is just
poor law.

I must say in this connection that I want to
draw particularly to your attention the fact
that the committee itself talked in large mea-
sure about the educational value of the legis-
lation that they are proposing and which is
the same legislation- here. This is on page 35
of my memorandum. The committee suggests:

Moreover, technical arguments against
Canadian implementation do not take into
account the educational value of such
legislation.

Since when is the Criminal Code a school
book? The Criminal Code, honourable sena-
tors, sets the low point of human behaviour
beyond which we send people to the peniten-
tiary. Since when do. we start writing general-
ized sections in the Code because we think it
is educational? This is criminal law nonsense.

Senator Phillips (Rigaud): Do you not
regard, Mr. How, the two defences that are
indicated, amongst others, are sufficient? The
two mentioned are that the person can plead
that the statements communicated were true
and (b):

Standing Senate Committee

That they were relevant to any subject of
public interest, the public discussion of
which was for the public benefit, and
that on reasonable grounds he believed
them to be true.

Do you not think that that is a matter for
judicial analysis and decision?

Mr. How: Sure it is subject to judicial
analysis, but it is also subject to fact and the
only time these statutes are ever used against
anybody is when they are unpopular. So you
find a jury that disagrees with you and the
judge says, “Well, do you think it is a matter
of public interest?” And the jury says, “Well,
of course not,” and if the prosecutor did not
know that he would not have put the case in
the first place.

As a matter of fact, when we had all our
cases in Quebec those cases that came before
French juries were convicted and the very
same document before English juries was
acquitted. Does that prove that there was
anything wrong with the system? It does
prove that we had bad law.

Senator Phillips (Rigaud): It certainly
proves that we have to have bilingualism and
proper interpretation in the courts.

Mr. How: There was no problem about
interpreters, sir, but this was bad law and
this is more of it. So it is my submission that
this is all too uncertain; similar to an 1dent1ﬁ-
able group is too uncertam

Also another weakness there is the fact that
all-a prosecutor has to do is lay the charge.
The whole onus is put on the other person. So
suppose you are discussing, for example, say,
the impact of Roman Catholicism on econom-
ics, and you talk about Italy, Mexico and four
other places. So you come to prove the truth;
what do you do? Bring witnesses from all
these places? The point is you are putting in
the criminal courts a type of intellectual
argument that frankly has no place in the
criminal law.

Senator Phillips (Rigaud): In connection
with your reference to Roman Catholicism, it
must include the ingredients of inciting
hatred or contempt and it must lead through
such incitement likely to a breach of the
peace. Your expression that Roman
Catholicism has an efféct on economics or does
not educate children within the framework of
a capitalistic system. .
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Senator Lang: With respect, that is not
true; under subsection (2) there is no breach
of the peace required.

Mr. How: It says “likely to lead to a breach
of the peace” and “likely” may mean at any
idefinite time in the future.

Senator Lang: Under clause (2), as I was
pointing out, Mr. Chairman, there is no
breach of the peace mentioned.

Senator Phillips (Rigaud): I think you are
right, Senator Lang; subsection (2) is broader
than the first one.

Mr. How: That is right. Now let me come
down to something that is even more com-
pletely insupportable, section 267c. Section
267c is a situation where:

A judge who is satisfied by information
upon oath that there are reasonable
grounds for believing that any publica-
tion, copies of which are kept for sale or
distribution in premises within the juris-
diction of the court, is hate propaganda,
shall issue a warrant under his hand
authorizing seizure of the copies.

Now, I draw to your attention that under
section 267c there does not have to have been
a conviction. We will take a situation where
one of you honourable senators in the days
when you were running for office discovered
that the man in the opposite party committed
some serious corruption. You have this
material printed for the benefit of the elec-
tors. So what does he do? When he hears
about it he goes in front of a judge simply
on an affidavit, and the judge orders your
material seized. It is sized. They hold it until
after the date when it is any good, and then
say, “Fine, now the onus is on you to come to
court to prove your innocence” and you do
not even know what you are charged with.
This completely reverses the onus of proof,
and in my submission is most insupportable
from a statutory standpoint.

So that it is my submission further that we
have just to come back to it; in summary we
have plenty of law. The fact is that this
material and its distribution hit a high point
in 1964 and has backed off ever since. So
when the influence and the effectiveness has
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backed off, then the answer is simple enough.
What do we want legislation for at this stage
of the game? If there ever was any excuse for
it, the excuse has disappeared in the
meantime.

Senator Walker: You mean if there was a
demand then, there certainly is not now?

Mr. How: That is correct, sir.

Senator Walker: Would you answer me
this: This committee that wrote under Dean
Cohen, had any one of these men ever had
any experience in court in criminal law, ever
taken a case?

Mr. How: As far as I can understand they
were all academic lawyers of no appreciable
practical experience; none of them had ever
even taught criminal law, and I suggest it has
never been shown that any of them ever had
any experience in taking any serious criminal
case. So they did not have, in my respectful
submission, any serious academic qualifica-
tions and they did not have any practical
experience. They only called one witness.

Senator Walker: Really?

Mr. How: This committee called one
witness only and that witness himself admit-
ted that he was not competent to judge.

Senator Walker: What did he say? Do you
mean he damned his own evidence?

Mr. How: He did. At page 33 of my memo-
randum I quote Harry Kaufman’s own state-
ment. It is at page 230 of the Cohen Report.
You will find it at page 33 of this memoran-
dum. He says specifically:

The writer is not competent to judge
the possible legal side effects of legisla-
tion applicable to the problem at hand.

So the committee had no practical experi-
ence with the criminal law. The witness they
relied on admits he is not competent, and
when you get to the end of the analysis of the
Cohen Report his competence shouts from the
record, with great respect.

Thank you, honourable senators.

The Chairman: That was quite a siege. I
congratulate you on standing up to it very
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well indeed. I am not saying that I agree with
you, but I certainly admired your presenta-
tion.

Everybody knows the position I take with
regard to this bill, but notwithstanding that I
am congratulating this witness on his
presentation.

Mr. How: I appreciate your kind comments,
sir, and I will be more appreciative when I
find you registering your vote in the light of
what good judgment obviously calls for.

The meeting adjourned.
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APPENDIX
MEMORANDUM

The Cohen Report is shallow and impractical
and reveals a failure to understand even the
function of criminal law in our society. The
report strains at the evidence and ignores
logic as it travels to its unfounded conclusion.

The Cohen Report is abstruse and strained
in its reasoning, shallow and insupportable in
its evidence and wholly illogical and imprac-
tical in its conclusions and recommendations.
While the report deals with criminal law and
claims enough special expertise in the crim-
inal field to justify admittedly “newer con-
cepts of law” (58)* in this area, it has yet to be
shown that any single one of the Committee
members has ever had any practical experi-
ence in acting as counsel on even one serious
criminal case. None of these law professors
has ever even taught criminal law to students!

The highly unrealistic and impractical
approach of the Committee brands its report
as from an ivory tower, quite out of touch
with the cold, reality of life.

Only one witness was called by this superfi-
cial study. This was Professor Kaufman whose
confused, rambling and needlessly discursive
study strains to prove what is well known to
every reasonably well-informed high school
pupil. Its contradictions make it worthless,
yet it is the sole support for many of the
Committee recommendations which in conse-
quence completely fall to the ground.

There is one redeeming feature of this
report and that is the competent analysis by
Professor McGuigan. While he has read and
analyzed the cases he has failed to reconcile
the decisions by finding the basic rationale
that governs this field of the law.

ANALYSIS
(i) Page 6
People came to talk of individual free-
dom as if it were an_absolute right sub-
ject to no limits at all.

No one in Canada has ever even made such
an argument. It would appear that only one
man of any authority in the United States
(Mr. Justice Black) has ever even made such
an argument in the United States. Nobody
who reads our criminal code could even sen-

‘*Page references in this section will be to the
Report.

sibly make such an argument. The Committee
sets up this non-existent straw man and pro-
ceeds four times in two pages to attack this
non-existent argument.

(ii) The successes of modern advertising,
the triumphs of impudent propaganda
such as Hitler’s, have qualified sharply
our belief in the rationality of
man. .. The triumphs of Facism in Italy,
and National Socialism in Germany
through audaciously false propaganda
have shown us how fragile tolerant liberal
societies can be in certain circumstances.

The foregoing statement frankly plays fast
and loose with history. Who seriously pre-
tends that Germany was ever a ‘“tolerant lib-
eral society”? Prior to 1918 Germany was ruled
under the Kaiser. The “master race theory”
was being pushed down the Germans’ throat
under Bismarck and the Kaiser and the Prus-
sian junkers class that was in control of Ger-
man education right up until World War I.
There was nothing liberal about Germany dur-
ing that period and all dissidents and some of
their best brains had to escape to the United
States. The Weimar Republic only operated in
any serious stance from 1921 till 1931. Then
the Nazis took over. Germany never had a
chance to learn democracy. The country had
no tradition of a free press. Equality of treat-
ment for the people was utterly contradicted
by the “master race” theory that had always
been taught.

Additionally, ever since the days of the
Crusades the Roman Catholic church in
Europe had taught anti-semitism. Hitler
undoubtedly culminated a terrible history.
However, his propaganda did not create the
situation. He came in at the end of a period
of 1500 years of anti-semitism and proceeded
to culminate it with a vicious and sadistic
conclusion. It is wholly unrealistic to pretend
that Hitler in his few brief